JMIR Medical Education

Impact Factor (2024): 3.2 Volume 8 (2022), Issue 3 ISSN 2369-3762 Editor-in-Chief: Blake J. Lesselroth, MD, MBI, FACP, FAMIA

Contents

Review

XSL•F⊖ RenderX

Examining the Effectiveness of Web-Based Interventions to Enhance Resilience in Health Care Professionals: Systematic Review (e34230)	
Catherine Henshall, Edoardo Ostinelli, Jade Harvey, Zoe Davey, Bemigho Aghanenu, Andrea Cipriani, Mary-Jane Attenburrow	3
Original Papers	
Aligning the American Health Information Management Association Entry-level Curricula Competencies and Career Map With Industry Job Postings: Cross-sectional Study (e38004)	
Susan Fenton, David Marc, Angela Kennedy, Debra Hamada, Robert Hoyt, Karima Lalani, Connie Renda, Rebecca Reynolds	18
Practices, Perceived Benefits, and Barriers Among Medical Students and Health Care Professionals Regarding the Adoption of eHealth in Clinical Settings: Cross-sectional Survey Study (e34905)	
Long Nguyen, Lien Nguyen, Tham Nguyen, Vu Trong Dam, Thuc Vu, Hao Nguyen, Giang Vu, Carl Latkin, Roger Ho, Cyrus Ho	27
Patterns of Skills Acquisition in Anesthesiologists During Simulated Interscalene Block Training on a Soft Embalmed Thiel Cadaver: Cohort Study (e32840)	
Graeme McLeod, Mel McKendrick, Tedis Tafili, Mateo Obregon, Ruth Neary, Ayman Mustafa, Pavan Raju, Donna Kean, Gary McKendrick, Tuesday McKendrick	38
Assessment as Learning in Medical Education: Feasibility and Perceived Impact of Student-Generated Formative Assessments (e35820)	
Ritu Lakhtakia, Farah Otaki, Laila Alsuwaidi, Nabil Zary	59
Implementing Remote Collaboration in a Virtual Patient Platform: Usability Study (e24306) Jan Kiesewetter, Inga Hege, Michael Sailer, Elisabeth Bauer, Claudia Schulz, Manfred Platz, Martin Adler	73
A Stroke Rehabilitation Educational Program for Occupational Therapy Students and Practitioners: Usability Study (e35637)	
Valerie Newcomer, Megan Metzinger, Sydney Vick, Caroline Robertson, Taylor Lawrence, Amanda Glass, Lauren Elliott, Ansleigh Williams 8 3	
An Innovative Use of Twitter to Disseminate and Promote Medical Student Scholarship During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Usability Study (e33767)	
Gary Allen, Jenna Garris, Luan Lawson, Timothy Reeder, Jennifer Crotty, Johanna Hannan, Kori Brewer.	94

Defining Potentially Unprofessional Behavior on Social Media for Health Care Professionals: Mixed Methods Study (e35585)	
Tea Vukuši Rukavina, Lovela Machala Poplašen, Marjeta Majer, Danko Reli , Joško Viski , Marko Mareli	101
The Use of Telegram in Surgical Education: Exploratory Study (e35983) Marcus Soon, Laura Martinengo, Junde Lu, Lorainne Car, Clement Chia.	122
The Role of Metacognitive Beliefs in Predicting Academic Procrastination Among Students in Iran: Cross-sectional Study (e32185) Yahya Safari, Nasrin Yousefpoor.	133
Using Mobile Virtual Reality Simulation to Prepare for In-Person Helping Babies Breathe Training: Secondary Analysis of a Randomized Controlled Trial (the eHBB/mHBS Trial) (e37297)	
Beatrice Ezenwa, Rachel Umoren, Iretiola Fajolu, Daniel Hippe, Sherri Bucher, Saptarshi Purkayastha, Felicitas Okwako, Fabian Esamai, John Feltner, Olubukola Olawuyi, Annet Mmboga, Mary Nafula, Chris Paton, Veronica Ezeaka	141
Comparing the Psychological Effects of Manikin-Based and Augmented Reality–Based Simulation Training: Within-Subjects Crossover Study (e36447) Shannon Toobey, Alisa Wray, John Hunter, Jan Waldron, Sobell Saadat, Megan, Boysen-Osborn, Gabriel, Sudario, Jonathan, Smart, Warren	
Wiechmann, Sarah Pressman.	151
Informatics in Undergraduate Medical Education: Analysis of Competency Frameworks and Practices Across North America (e39794)	
David Chartash, Marc Rosenman, Karen Wang, Elizabeth Chen.	165
Use of Social Media for Implementing Diagnoses, Consultation, Training, and Case Reporting Among Medical Professionals to Improve Patient Care: Case Study of WeChat Groups Across Health Care Settings (e26419)	
Lai Tso	179
Assessing Medical Student Readiness to Navigate Language Barriers in Telehealth: Cross-sectional Survey Study (e36096)	
Leena Yin, Fiona Ng, Mateo Rutherford-Rojas, Mia Williams, Susannah Cornes, Alicia Fernandez, Maria Garcia, Elaine Khoong	193

Viewpoint

Opioid Use Disorder Education for Students and the Future of Opioid Overdose Treatment (e37081)	
Neha Balapal, Amala Ankem, Saishravan Shyamsundar, Shuhan He	161

Examining the Effectiveness of Web-Based Interventions to Enhance Resilience in Health Care Professionals: Systematic Review

Catherine Henshall^{1,2,3,4}, MA, PhD; Edoardo Ostinelli^{2,3,5}, MD; Jade Harvey², MSc; Zoe Davey⁴, MSc, PhD; Bemigho Aghanenu¹, BSc; Andrea Cipriani^{2,3,5}, MD, PhD; Mary-Jane Attenburrow^{2,5}, BA, MBBS

⁵Department of Psychiatry, University of Oxford, Oxford, United Kingdom

Corresponding Author:

Catherine Henshall, MA, PhD Oxford School of Nursing and Midwifery Oxford Brookes University Headington Campus, Marston Road Site Jack Straw's Ln, Marston Oxford, OX3 0FL United Kingdom Phone: 44 7768 918298 Email: <u>chenshall@brookes.ac.uk</u>

Abstract

Background: Internationally, the impact of continued exposure to workplace environmental and psychological stressors on health care professionals' mental health is associated with increased depression, substance misuse, sleep disorders, and posttraumatic stress. This can lead to staff burnout, poor quality health care, and reduced patient safety outcomes. Strategies to improve the psychological health and well-being of health care staff have been highlighted as a critical priority worldwide. The concept of resilience for health care professionals as a tool for negotiating workplace adversity has gained increasing prominence.

Objective: This systematic review aims to examine the effectiveness of web-based interventions to enhance resilience in health care professionals.

Methods: We searched the PubMed, CINAHL, PsycINFO, and Ovid SP databases for relevant records published after 1990 until July 2021. We included studies that focused on internet-delivered interventions aiming at enhancing resilience. Study quality was assessed with the Risk of Bias 2 tool for randomized controlled trial designs and Joanna Briggs Institute critical appraisal tool for other study designs. The protocol was registered on PROSPERO (International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews; CRD42021253190). PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) guidelines were followed.

Results: A total of 8 studies, conducted between 2014 and 2020 and involving 1573 health care workers, were included in the review. In total, 4 randomized controlled trial designs and 4 pre- and postdesign studies were conducted across a range of international settings and health care disciplines. All of these studies aimed to evaluate the impact of web-based interventions on resilience or related symptoms in health care professionals involved in patient-facing care. Interventions included various web-based formats and therapeutic approaches over variable time frames. One randomized controlled trial directly measured resilience, whereas the remaining 3 used proxy measures to measure psychological concepts linked to resilience. Three pretest and posttest studies directly measured resilience, whereas the fourth study used a proxy resilience measure. Owing to the heterogeneity of outcome measures and intervention designs, meta-analysis was not possible, and qualitative data synthesis was undertaken. All studies found that resilience or proxy resilience levels were enhanced in health care workers following the implementation of web-based interventions. The overall risk of bias of all 8 studies was low.

¹Oxford School of Nursing and Midwifery, Oxford Brookes University, Oxford, United Kingdom

²Warneford Hospital, Oxford Health National Health Service Foundation Trust, Oxford, United Kingdom

³Oxford Precision Psychiatry Lab, National Institute for Health Research Oxford Health Biomedical Research Centre, University of Oxford, Oxford, United Kingdom

⁴Oxford Institute for Nursing, Midwifery and Allied Health Research, Oxford Brookes University, Oxford, United Kingdom

Conclusions: The findings indicate that web-based interventions designed to enhance resilience may be effective in clinical practice settings and have the potential to provide support to frontline staff experiencing prolonged workplace stress across a range of health care professional groups. However, the heterogeneity of included studies means that findings should be interpreted with caution; more web-based interventions need rigorous testing to further develop the evidence base.

Trial Registration: PROSPERO CRD42021253190; https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display_record.php?RecordID=253190

(JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e34230) doi:10.2196/34230

KEYWORDS

resilience; health care professionals; depression; psychological stress; internet; mental health

Introduction

Background

Internationally, "emergency" levels of staff burnout and stress have recently been described and are linked to decreased job satisfaction, absenteeism, and increasing numbers of health care staff leaving their professions [1]. Health care professionals are facing increased pressure to provide high-quality, complex patient care while dealing with staff and infrastructure shortages and chronic, excessive workloads [2-4]. The potential impact of continued exposure to workplace environmental and psychological stressors on the mental health of health care professionals is substantial and is associated with increased depression, substance misuse, sleep disorders, and posttraumatic stress [5]. This picture exists across global health care settings, with staff burnout linked to poor quality health care and reduced patient safety outcomes [6]. The challenges outlined have intensified over the last 18 months owing to the COVID-19 pandemic, with the shock waves initiated undermining the resilience of health systems and the people working within them [7]. Health care professionals have had to support the delivery of expert patient care while rapidly responding to considerable health care challenges, such as understaffing, sickness, personal protective equipment requirements, rapidly changing clinical care policies, and increased patient care demands [8,9]. The psychological impact of delivering health care during COVID-19 has been substantial, with health care professionals working during the pandemic reporting increased levels of stress, distress, anxiety, fear, and depression [10-13]. Rates of burnout among nurses have risen as high as 80% globally during the pandemic [14] and an American study found that physicians' feelings of burnout reached 61% [15]. As such, the development of strategies to improve the psychological health and well-being of health care staff and mitigate future burnout have been highlighted as key priorities [16,17]. A recent commentary published by the Lancet recommended a series of actions to mitigate this crisis among the health care workforce. These actions included health care practitioners being provided with regular Balint group sessions to discuss clinician-patient relationships with colleagues in comfortable environments, as well as access to resilience training programs for frontline health care staff [18].

The concept of resilience for health care professionals as a tool for negotiating workplace adversity has gained profile over the last decade, with increased importance placed on its benefits [5,19,20]. The term resilience is a dynamic construct that has been framed in several different ways [21]. However,

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e34230
```

conceptualizing resilience as "coping successfully despite adverse circumstances" recognizes that the tools that health care professionals use to remain resilient are affected by the daily challenges they encounter [22]. The purpose of this review is to measure changes in resilience that relate to relevant psychological constructs such as workplace stress and anxiety. As such, resilience can be defined as an individual's ability to "adjust to adversity, maintain equilibrium, retain some sense of control over their environment, and continue to move on in a positive manner" [22,23]. Fostering resilience has been highlighted as important in promoting psychological health and well-being, as well as having additional benefits for the recruitment and retention of health care staff [5,22,24]. The protective role of resilience for health care professionals in coping with the ongoing pressures of the COVID-19 pandemic has also been identified [17,25-28].

In England, the National Health Service (NHS) Health and Wellbeing Framework sets the standards for how NHS organizations should support staff to feel well, healthy, and happy at work and advocate for delivering evidence-based staff health and well-being plans [29]. Several interventions have been developed to enhance resilience among health care professionals in both group and individual programs [21,30-36]. Resilience training programs and interventions aimed at health care professionals, such as resilience-building wellness apps [37], have also been developed so that they can be delivered in a range of contexts, including both face-to-face and web-based platforms, and using blended models of delivery [38]. The development of effective, evidence-based digital interventions was identified as playing a potentially important role during the COVID-19 pandemic when the introduction of new infection and prevention control measures constrained the provision of face-to-face interventions within health care organizations and the wider community [39].

A recent Cochrane review of interventions to support the resilience and mental health of frontline health and social care professionals during and after a disease outbreak, epidemic or pandemic, found a lack of evidence to inform the selection of interventions that are beneficial to the resilience and mental health of frontline workers and identified that research to determine the effectiveness of interventions is a high priority. However, the review did not specifically focus on web-based interventions in enhancing resilience among health care professionals [23]. Similarly, a systematic review of interventions aimed at reducing workplace stress in health care workers found limited evidence for reduction in stress levels [40]. Another systematic review found that mindfulness-based

XSL•FO RenderX

stress reduction techniques were associated with improvement in burnout, stress, anxiety, and depression in health care staff [41]. These reviews did not focus specifically on web-based interventions. In addition, another Cochrane review examining the effectiveness of psychological interventions in fostering resilience in health care professionals suggested positive effects of resilience training but low certainty evidence that it resulted in higher levels of resilience and lower levels of depression, stress, or stress perception [38]. None of the reviews focused specifically on web-based training interventions.

Objectives

This review aimed to assess the effectiveness of web-based interventions in enhancing resilience or reducing anxiety, depression, psychological distress, and trauma in health care professionals. It also seeks to identify whether specific components of web-based interventions effectively enhance resilience, evaluate the acceptability and tolerability of web-based interventions, and assess their potential economic impact. The review included studies dating back to 1990, with an expectation that the findings will be of use in developing

Textbox 1. Search strategy for the systematic review.

Full search strategy

1. PubMed

mental health interventions for health care professionals during the pandemic.

Methods

We conducted this systematic review following the recommendations of the PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) 2020 statement [42]. The protocol was registered on PROSPERO (International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews; CRD42021253190).

Search Strategy

We searched PubMed, CINAHL, PsycINFO, and Ovid SP for published and unpublished evidence on web-based interventions to enhance resilience in health care professionals, with keywords relevant to "internet," "resilience," and "health care professionals." Details of the full search strategy are presented in Textbox 1. We restricted the search to records published between 1990 and July 2021, given that internet interventions did not exist before this year [43]. We inspected relevant reviews and reference lists of the included studies as additional sources of potentially eligible studies for inclusion in the review.

(Internet*[tiab] OR online*[tiab] OR "Internet-Based Intervention" [Mesh]) AND (resilien*[tiab] OR coping[tiab] OR cope*[tiab] OR "information processing bias" [tiab] OR adapt*[tiab] OR ruminat*[tiab] OR "Resilience, Psychological" [Mesh]) AND (healthcare worker*[tiab] OR paramedic*[tiab] OR medic*[tiab] OR nurse*[tiab] OR ambulance*[tiab] OR frontline[tiab] OR "Front Line"[tiab] OR "Health Personnel" [Mesh]) AND ("1990/01/01"[Date—Publication])

2. CINAHL

• AB ([internet* OR online*] AND [resilien* OR coping OR cope* OR adapt* OR ruminat*] AND [healthcare worker* OR paramedic* OR medic* OR nurse* OR ambulance* OR frontline]) AND EM 199001-

• ([Internet* OR online*] and [resilien* OR coping OR cope* OR adapt* OR ruminat*] AND [health care worker* OR paramedic* OR medic* OR nurse* OR ambulance* OR frontline]). ab.

• Limit 1 to yr="1990-Current"

4. Ovid SP

• ([internet* OR online*] AND [resilien* OR coping OR cope* OR adapt* OR ruminat*] AND [healthcare worker* OR paramedic* OR medic* OR nurse* OR ambulance* OR frontline]). ab.

• Limit 1 to yr="1990-Current"

Eligibility Criteria

Study Types

We included all primary analytical research studies without limitations regarding study design or publication status. No language or further restrictions were applied to our search strategy.

Population

Health care professionals aged ≥ 18 years were included, regardless of age and sex. Health care professionals were

https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e34230

broadly defined as registered personnel directly involved with delivering patient care (eg, nurses, physicians, allied health professionals, and midwives working in any health care setting and clinical specialty).

Intervention

Any psychological, behavioral, or educational intervention designed to enhance resilience, with or without an active comparator, was eligible for inclusion. This was because of the limited number of randomized controlled trial studies examining the effectiveness of web-based resilience interventions in the health care setting and the prevalence of studies that used a

^{3.} PsycINFO

pre-post test design. We included both fully web-based and partially web-based interventions (eg, mixed web-based and face-to-face delivery or combined web-based and other remote delivery). As resilience is a broad term, interventions include those aimed at enhancing resilience and those aimed at reducing or preventing anxiety, depression, psychological distress, and trauma in the population of interest.

Outcome

We investigated the efficacy of web-based interventions in enhancing the resilience in health care professionals. We included any type of outcome measurement or description of resilience and well-being domains that were used as proxy measures of resilience, such as validated and nonvalidated scales of anxiety, depression, well-being, stress, trauma, and posttraumatic stress disorder. As secondary outcomes, we also assessed whether specific components of web-based interventions (eg, length, interactivity, and design features) could enhance resilience in health care professionals, the acceptability and tolerability of interventions, and whether there were any direct or indirect measures of economic impact related to the intervention of interest.

Study Selection and Data Extraction

Titles and abstracts of the identified records were screened independently by at least 2 members (JH, BA, and ZD) of the review team. The full texts of the potentially eligible studies were subsequently reviewed (JH, BA, MJA, CH, and EO). Any discrepancies were resolved by consensus with a third review team member. Non-English papers were assessed by individuals proficient in that language. Where needed, the original authors were contacted to clarify eligibility and data availability further. Two review team members (JH and BA) independently extracted study characteristics and outcome data using a digital data extraction form. Any discrepancies were resolved by consensus with a third review team member.

Risk-of-Bias Assessment

The quality of the included studies was assessed using the Risk of Bias 2 tool for randomized studies [44] and the Joanna Briggs Institute critical appraisal tool [45] for nonrandomized studies.

Data Synthesis

We conducted a quantitative synthesis by performing a random-effects pairwise meta-analysis. Where not possible, as specified a priori in our study protocol, a qualitative synthesis of the data set was undertaken. Data from the data extraction forms were synthesized and categorized according to the headings in the data extraction table. The qualitative synthesis process followed the recommendations of the Synthesis Without Meta-analysis reporting items PRISMA checklist extension [46].

Results

Study Characteristics

A total of 4166 papers were identified from the database search, and their titles and abstracts were screened for eligibility based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria. This resulted in 32 remaining studies. The full texts of these studies were screened against the eligibility criteria, leaving 8 studies for inclusion. The screening process is outlined in the PRISMA diagram shown in Figure 1. Of the 8 studies included in this review, all had either randomized controlled trial (n=4, 50%) or pre-post study (n=4, 50%) designs.



Henshall et al

Figure 1. PRISMA diagram outlining screening process used in review.



Study start dates ranged from 2014 to 2020; one study did not provide this information. The study durations ranged from 1 week to 15 months; one study did not report this information [47]. Studies were conducted across a variety of international settings; 4 were conducted in the United States [48-50], whereas the remainder were conducted in Iran [47], Germany [51], Australia [52], and the Netherlands [53]. Study participants included a range of health care professional disciplines (n=1573), and studies were carried out in academic university settings [49,50,54] or on study programs within health care

settings [48,51-53]; one study did not provide this information [47]. Of the 4 health care settings, 1 (25%) study was conducted in a rural primary care setting [52], 1 (25%) was conducted in hospital and ambulance departments [51], 1 (25%) was conducted across 2 urban hospitals and police and fire departments [48], and 1 (25%) was conducted across a variety of health care institutions [51]. The risk of bias for all studies was low, adding to our confidence in the study findings. Characteristics of the included studies are detailed in Table 1.



Table 1. Characteristics of studies included in the systematic review.

Study and study title	Study country and setting	Study aim and design	Summary of intervention, analysis, and methods	Participants (n)	Total risk of bias score
Gollwitzer et al [51], 2018; Pro- moting the self-regulation of stress in health care providers: An internet-based intervention	All over Germany; web-based access	To determine whether health care professionals can downregulate workplace stress using the MCII ^a tool; randomized controlled trial	Self-regulation by mental contrasting with MCII to re- duce stress. Three arms, in- cluding control. Surveys; inferential statistics	129	Low
Coifman et al [48], 2021; Boost- ing positive mood in emergency personnel during the COVID-19 pandemic: preliminary evidence of efficacy, feasibility, and ac- ceptability of a novel online am- bulatory intervention	United States; 2 urban hospital cen- ters as well as po- lice and fire depart- ments	To test efficacy of web-based ambulatory intervention aimed at supporting psychological health and well-being of medical personnel and first responders during the COVID-19 pandemic; randomized controlled trial	Daily coping toolkit interven- tion (low or high dose). Par- ticipants undertook 3-6 minutes expressive writing, adaptive emotion regulation or positive emotion genera- tion daily. Surveys; inferen- tial statistics	28	Low
Koppe et al [52], 2016; How ef- fective and acceptable is Web 2.0 Balint group participation for GPs and GP registrars in regional Australia? A pilot study	Australia; rural pri- mary care setting	To evaluate a web-based Balint group for rural physicians and determine effect size for a full- scale trial; pilot randomized controlled trial study	2-hour fortnightly Balint group sessions delivered on the web. Open-ended sur- veys and thematic analysis; inferential statistics	26	Low
Van der Meer et al [53], 2020; Help in hand after traumatic events: a randomised controlled trial in healthcare professionals on the efficacy, usability, and user satisfaction of a self-help app to reduce trauma-related symptoms	Netherlands; 15 hospitals and 8 ambulance regions	Examining efficacy and evaluat- ing usability and user satisfaction of "SUPPORT Coach" app to reduce trauma-related symptoms; randomized controlled trial	Stand-alone SUPPORT Coach app without use in- structions; surveys; inferen- tial statistics	1175	Low
Dehkordi et al [47], 2020; Online Balint groups in health care workers caring for Covid-19 pa- tients in Iran	Iran; virtual	To evaluate the impact of web- based Balint groups on health care workers caring for patients with COVID-19; pre-post study	Web-based Balint group; 1- hour session via Skype 2-3 times a week for 6-8 ses- sions; surveys; inferential statistics; thematic analysis of free text quantitative data	48-72	Low
Kemper et al [50], 2015; Acute effects of online Mind-Body Skills Training (MBST) on re- silience, mindfulness, and empa- thy	United States; Ohio State Univer- sity Health Center	To evaluate effect of 1-hour web- based elective MBST for health care professionals on mindful- ness, resilience, and empathy; pre-post study	Web-based educational pro- gram in MBST: 12×1 hour mind body training modules; 14 hours herbs or dietary supplements; self-reflection surveys; inferential statistics	513	Low
Kopp [49], 2020; Efficacy of mindfulness-based intervention in reducing burnout and increas- ing resilience in nurses caring for patients with haematologic malig- nancies	United States; a cancer research institute	To determine feasibility and effi- cacy of a mindfulness-based in- tervention program in reducing burnout and increasing resilience in hematology nurses; pre-post study	30-minute web-based mind- fulness intervention session; guided 20-minute web-based recording. 5-7 minutes self- guided practice for 1 month; surveys; inferential statistics	40	Low
Hategan and Riddle [54], 2020; Bridging the gap: Responding to resident burn out and restoring well-being	United States; an urban research insti- tution	To promote awareness about wellness and mitigate burn out through learning and building peer support; pre-post pilot study	90-minute web-based re- silience curriculum, peer groups, wellness newslet- ters; survey; thematic analy- sis	71	Low

^aMCII: Mental Contrasting with Implementation Intentions.

Description of Randomized Controlled Trial Study Interventions

Of the 4 randomized controlled trial studies included in the review, all aimed to evaluate the impact of a web-based resilience, or proxy resilience, intervention in health care professionals directly involved in delivering patient care. One

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e34230
```

XSL•FO RenderX study focused on an intervention aimed at health care workers in general [53], one focused on physicians [52], one focused on nurses [51], and one focused on medical personnel and first responders during the COVID-19 pandemic [48]. The duration of the interventions varied, ranging from 1 week to 1 month.

The interventions of the studies were delivered via a variety of formats. These included web-based groups [52], mobile apps

[48,53], and other web-based platforms [51]. Some studies adopted specific therapeutic approaches or techniques, including the Balint groups [52], the Mental Contrasting with Implementation Intentions technique [51], and a daily coping toolkit [48]. One study introduced ways to manage emotions and experiences, but the exact content or method implemented was unclear [53].

Participants

A total of 470 participants were recruited to the randomized controlled trial studies included in the review. However, there was variation in the number of participants recruited to individual studies, ranging from 26 [52] to 287 [53]. The recruited health care workers included nurses, physicians, and first responders.

There was also variance in the proportion of health care workers directly involved in delivering patient care. Three studies involved only health care workers involved in providing direct patient care [51-53]. The fourth study also included participants (31%) who were not directly involved in care delivery, including support staff and health care professionals [48]. One study reported a 100% participant retention rate [48]. The participant completion rates in the remaining studies varied between 64% and 81%.

Study Outcomes

Differences in outcome measures and intervention designs prevented undertaking a quantitative meta-analysis. One study [53] used an outcome measure, the Resilience Evaluation Scale, to directly measure resilience and found that resilience levels were enhanced in health care workers following implementation of the web-based intervention (Table 2). Three studies used proxy resilience measurement scales to measure the psychological concepts linked to resilience, such as stress, work engagement, professional isolation, and positive outcomes. These included the Burnout Screening Scales II Inventory [51], the Perceived Stress Questionnaire [51], Warr Work-Related Affect Scale [52], the Psychological Medicine Inventory [52], the Professional Isolation Scale [52], posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms using the Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Checklist for Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition [53], and the Peritraumatic Cognitions Inventory [53]. All studies found improvements in these outcome measures after the intervention (Table 2). Some studies used nonstandardized Likert scales to measure specific emotions and concepts such as stress and resilience [48,54], with one study measuring self-rated positive and negative emotion ratings in health care workers [48]. The findings showed that positive emotions significantly increased by 9.4% and negative emotions decreased by 7.8% between the intervention and control groups.



 Table 2. Outcomes of studies included in the review.

Henshall et al

Study	Study title	Study outcome measures	Study results
Coifman et al [48], 2021	Boosting positive mood in emergen- cy personnel during the COVID-19 pandemic: preliminary evidence of efficacy, feasibility, and acceptabil- ity of a novel online ambulatory in- tervention	Daily emotion ratings	Positive emotion ratings showed statistically significant increase in high-dose group compared with low-dose group (mean difference 0.47, SE 0.18). No significant difference in negative emotion ratings between high- and low-dose groups; however, negative emotions decreased more in high compared with low-dose group (mean difference -0.39 , SE 0.19).
Gollwitzer et al [51], 2018	Promoting the self-regulation of stress in health care providers: An Internet-based intervention	Overall stress: PSQ-20 ^a and BOSS II ^b ; UWES-9 ^c	No significant difference in changes to overall stress among control (time point 1: mean 0.16, SD 0.65; time point 2: mean 0.22, SD 0.73), MCII ^d (time point 1: mean -0.09, SD 0.61; time point 2: mean 0.20, SD 0.63), and IIMCII ^e (time point 1: mean -0.04, SD 0.41; time point 2: mean 0.05, SD 0.46) groups. No significant differences in UWES-9 scores among control (time point 1: mean 4.06, SD 1.23; time point 2: mean 4.03, SD 1.40), MCII (time point 1: mean 4.22, SD 1.18; time point 2: mean 4.11, SD 1.01), and IIMCII (time point 1: mean 4.43, SD 1.21; time point 2: mean 4.63, SD 1.27) groups.
Koppe et al [52], 2016	How effective and acceptable is Web 2.0 Balint group participation for GPs ^f and GP registrars in region- al Australia? A pilot study	WWAS ^g ; PMI ^h ; PIS ⁱ	Significantly higher scores on the WWAS between the inter- vention (mean 4.09, SD 0.09) and control (mean 3.60, SD 0.12) group; effect size=0.50. Significantly higher scores on PMI scale between the intervention (mean 6.49, SD 0.20) and control (mean 5.43, SD 0.26) group; effect size=0.46. No significant difference on the PIS between the intervention (mean 3.70, SD 0.14) and control (mean 3.63, SD 0.19) group.
Van der Meer et al [53], 2020	Help in hand after traumatic events: a randomised controlled trial in healthcare professionals on the effi- cacy, usability, and user satisfaction of a self-help app to reduce trauma- related symptoms	RES ^j ; SSL-6 ^k ; Posttraumat- ic Stress Disorder Check- list for DSM-5 ^l PCL-5 ^m ; PTCI ⁿ	RES scores significantly differed; the intervention showed greater increase in RES total scores (psychological resilience; time point 1: mean 24.87, SD 4.67; time point 2: mean 26.54, SD 4.82) compared with control (time point 1: mean 24.88, SD 4.77; time point 2: mean 25.49, SD 5.46). SSL-6 total scores did not differ significantly between the intervention (time point 1: mean 8.38, SD 2.68; time point 2: mean 8.16, SD 2.88) and control (time point 1: mean 8.75, SD 2.95; time point 2: mean 8.16, SD 2.88) groups. No statistically significant differences between intervention (time point 1: mean 10.73, SD 8.17; time point 2: mean 6.08, SD 8.48) and control (time point 1: mean 12.80, SD 12.08; time point 2: mean 8.54, SD 12.74) PCL-5 scores between baseline and follow-up. PTCI total scores significantly differed; intervention showed greater decline in PTCI scores (negative cognitions; time point 1: mean 61.13, SD 23.00; time point 2: mean 49.99, SD 22.78) compared with control (time point 1: mean 63.66, SD 28.66; time point 2: mean 60.83, SD 28.10)
Dehkordi et al [47], 2020	Online Balint groups in healthcare workers caring for Covid-19 pa- tients in Iran	CD-RISC ^o ; Corona Disease Anxiety Scale	Significant difference in mean Corona Disease Anxiety Scale score before (mean 35.80, SD 5.09) and after (mean 9.7, SD 2.75) group work. Significant difference pre- (mean 22.80, SD 8.51) and posttest (mean 75.60, SD 6.63) for CD-RISC.
Kemper et al [50], 2015	Acute effects of online Mind-Body Skills Training (MBST) on re- silience, mindfulness, and empathy	PSS ^p ; BRS ^q ; CAMS-R ^r	Significant improvement in PSS scores between the start (mean 17.8, SD 4.9) and end of the module (mean 13.8, SD 6.1). Significant improvement in BRS scores between the start (mean 22.4, SD 4.3) and end of the module (mean 23.3, SD 4.4). Significant improvement in CAMS-R scores between the start (mean 28.0, SD 5.7) and end of the module (mean 29.3, SD 5.2).
Kopp [49], 2020	Efficacy of mindfulness-based inter- vention in reducing burnout and in- creasing resilience in nurses caring for patients with haematologic ma- lignancies	CD-RISC; MBI ^s -Health Service Survey	Significant increases in resilience from pretest (mean 28.10) to posttest (mean 30.65), $z=2.49$ ($df=19$). No significant difference in any MBI subscales from pre- to postintervention: emotional exhaustion (3.51 vs 3.23), depensionalization (2.07 vs 2.02), and personal accomplishment (5.06 vs 5.03).

https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e34230

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Med Educ 2022 | vol. 8 | iss. 3 |e34230 | p.10 (page number not for citation purposes)

Henshall et al

Study	Study title	Study outcome measures	Study results
Hategan and Riddle [54], 2020	Bridging the gap: Responding to resident burn out and restoring well- being	Self-rated stress on a 10- point Likert scale	Self-rated stress decreased from 5.5/10 to 2.75/10; this represents a 50% reduction from pre- to postintervention.
^a PSQ: Perceived Stres	s Questionnaire.		
^b BOSS II: Burnout Sc	reening Scales II Inventory.		
^c UWES-9: Utrecht We	ork Engagement Scale.		
^d MCII: Mental Contra	sting with Implementation Intentions		
^e IIMCII: Mental Cont	rasting with Implementation Intention	(that specified when and wh	nere participants planned to execute MCII exercises).
^f GP: general practition	ner.		
^g WWAS: Warr Work-	Related Affect Scale.		
^h PMI: Psychological M	Medicine Inventory.		
ⁱ PIS: Professional Isol	ation Scale.		
^j RES: Resilience Eval	uation Scale.		
^k SSL: Social Support	List.		
¹ DSM-5: Diagnostic a	nd Statistical Manual of Mental Disor	ders, Fifth Edition.	
^m PCL-5: Posttraumati	c Stress Disorder Checklist for DSM-	5.	
ⁿ PTCI: Peritraumatic	Cognitions Inventory.		
^o CD-RISC: Connor-D	avidson-Resilience Scale.		
^p PSS: Perceived Stress	s Scale.		
^q BRS: Brief Resilienc	e Scale.		
^r CAMS-R: Cognitive	and Affective Mindfulness Scale-Rev	ised.	
^s MBI: Maslach Burno	ut Inventory.		
D	D4 T4 C4 J I 4	one focus	ed on recruiting nurses only [49]. Of the 4 studies, 3

Description of Pre-Post Test Study Interventions

All pre-post test studies aimed to evaluate the impact of an intervention, delivered either partially or fully on the web, on resilience or related symptoms in health care professionals directly involved in delivering patient care. The duration of interventions generally lasted a few weeks, but one study allowed web-based access to a resilience curriculum throughout an academic year [54].

The interventions in the studies were delivered via a variety of formats including web-based videoconferencing platforms [47], web-based platforms [49], web-based resilience training, peer groups, and wellness newsletters [50,54]. Some studies adopted specific therapeutic approaches or techniques including Balint groups [47] and mindfulness-based interventions [49,50]. One study introduced a way to manage emotions and experiences, but the exact content or method implemented was unclear [54].

Three studies used an outcome measure that directly measured resilience, including the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale, Brief Resilience Scale, and self-rating of resilience on a visual analog scale [47,50,54]. Other outcomes measured psychological concepts linked to resilience, including the Perceived Stress Scale [50], the Corona Disease Anxiety Scale [47], and Maslach Burnout Inventory [49]. One study used nonstandardized Likert scales to measure specific emotions and concepts such as stress and resilience [54].

Participants

RenderX

In total, 1103 participants were recruited to the pre-post studies; however, across studies, this ranged from 10 [47] to 1031 [50]. Two studies focused recruited health care workers in general [47,50], one focused on recruiting physicians only [54], and

https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e34230

one focused on recruiting nurses only [49]. Of the 4 studies, 3 (75%) studies included only health care workers involved in providing direct patient care [47,49,54], but 1 (25%) study included participants who were not directly involved in care delivery [50].

The participant completion rate in the pre- and poststudies varied between 50% and 85%. One study involved a web-based module where the completion rate was 50% when defined as the completion of at least a single module; however, this dropped to a completion rate of 4% when considering all the modules [50]. One study did not provide this information [47].

Study Outcomes

Of the 4 studies, 3 (75%) studies [47,49,50] that directly measured resilience as an outcome measure found that resilience levels were enhanced in health care workers following the implementation of web-based interventions (Table 2). The remaining study used a proxy resilience measurement Likert scale of self-rated stress [54]. The study reported improved psychological well-being for resident physicians, with a postintervention 50% self-reported reduction in stress. However, data analysis included participants who attended in-person groups and had access to web-based resources, with no information reported on the extent of their web-based resource use. Therefore, the extent to which the results were because of the in-person element or the web-based content is unclear. However, one participant commented that "The online resilience curriculum and wellness newsletters were appreciated, and the in-person peer groups were extremely well received." This suggests that the web-based content was well received, but no further details about its direct benefits were provided [54].

Henshall et al

Discussion

Principal Findings

The exploratory study findings reported in this review indicate that web-based interventions designed to enhance resilience in health care professionals may be effective in clinical practice settings across a range of health care professional groups. The findings from all included studies showed that web-based interventions significantly improved either resilience or proxy measures of resilience, such as anxiety, depression, well-being, stress, work engagement, or positive emotions. However, the heterogeneity and limited number of randomized controlled trial studies included means that these findings should be interpreted with caution because of a lack of definitive evidence. More randomized controlled trials are needed to produce a robust evidence base on which to develop recommendations related to building resilience among health care professionals. Nonetheless, our review provides a snapshot of the evidence related to this important topical area [18]. The findings may have positive implications regarding the potential of certain types of web-based resilience enhancement interventions in providing support to health care professionals experiencing acute and prolonged stressful conditions in the workplace. This may have long-term benefits in terms of protecting the safe functioning of health systems by preserving the mental health and well-being of staff [7]. The interventions included in this review were tested on health care professionals directly involved in clinical care, demonstrating their potential applicability to clinicians working on the frontline, which warrants further testing in future studies. The included studies were conducted across a range of international settings, ranging from university to hospital, community, urban, and rural environments, and included a wide range of health care professional disciplines, increasing the generalizability of the findings.

The study findings indicate that web-based resilience enhancement interventions may be tolerable and acceptable to a wide range of health care professionals; the importance of resilience enhancement interventions has been cited in recent literature [18]. However, the review findings should be interpreted with caution, with only 50% (4/8) of the included studies having a randomized controlled trial design and 25% (2/8) using nonvalidated outcome measure tools. All interventions were conducted in real-life settings, showing that they are feasible to implement across a variety of health care contexts. In addition, most health care professional participants remained in the study until study completion, with 2 studies having a 100% completion rate, indicating that web-based interventions can be sustained over time and incorporated into the workplace environment. One study included qualitative comments indicating that the web-based components of the intervention were very well received [54]. These findings are important and indicate that web-based interventions can be implemented across health care systems as a valuable, effective, and feasible mechanism for supporting health care professionals to cope with the daily stressors imposed on them. This is especially important in the post-COVID-19 pandemic era, where many face-to-face interventions are impractical, challenging, and pose a potential safety risk. As such, the relevance of web-based training tools and interventions is gaining prominence, and this review provides clear evidence that they can be an important tool for supporting increased resilience in the health care workforce.

Regarding whether specific components of web-based interventions enhance resilience in health care professionals, our findings demonstrated that various formats and therapeutic approaches could effectively improve resilience levels. A range of web-based formats, including videoconferencing, modules, and curricula, were successfully implemented. In addition, a range of intervention techniques, including Balint-style groups, mindfulness, and reflecting on emotions, led to positive changes in resilience or proxy resilience. Although most studies took a purely web-based approach, one was mixed and incorporated additional face-to-face peer group sessions with web-based resilience curricula and wellness newsletters [54]. This suggests that a variety of web-based components can be used to enhance resilience in health care professional groups. However, many of the interventions included interactions with peers or intervention facilitators, suggesting that person-to-person interaction, whether face-to-face or on the web, may increase the likelihood of successful outcomes. This corresponds to previous studies that have demonstrated the benefits of web-based learning [36,55]. The findings point to the benefits of interactive person-to-person features as the key to enhancing intervention acceptability and effectiveness. Future studies should consider ways to incorporate this interactive element within web-based resilience intervention designs to maximize the potential for effectiveness. In addition, consideration should be given to the context within which resilience enhancement interventions are delivered, as health care workers are likely to respond differently when placed under acute versus chronic stressors, as evidenced during the COVID-19 pandemic [56]. The varying durations of interventions included in this review are an indicator of these differing contexts and environments. Thus, interventions that may be effective in acutely stressful environments may have design-different features to interventions that are designed for staff working under chronically stressful conditions; effective interventions offering support for health care workers should account for these differences [56]. None of the studies included in the review measured the economic impact of the intervention within the setting in which it was implemented; therefore, no firm conclusions can be drawn about this. Future research should directly assess the extent to which the implementation of web-based resilience interventions can be cost-effective by considering their long-term impact on staff retention and recruitment, sickness and patient care outcomes, and safety. This aligns with key policy priorities, such as the NHS Long Term Plan and the NHS People Plan, which emphasize that health care staff should be valued, supported to thrive, and treated with respect in the workplace [57,58].

Limitations

This systematic review has been undertaken rigorously and to a high standard; however, some limitations remain. First, it was not possible to conduct a meta-analysis because of the heterogeneity of the study outcome measurement tools, participant demographics, and study settings. The variation in the characteristics of individual study populations and

XSL•FO RenderX

interventions makes it difficult to draw meaningful comparisons between the included studies, reducing the external validity of the findings. Only 50% (4/8) of the studies included in the review were randomized controlled trial designs. Furthermore, 25% (2/8) of the included studies used nonvalidated scales as outcome measures; this is a potential limitation as it reduces the internal validity of the findings. In addition, 2 studies included a proportion of participants who were not health care workers involved in direct care delivery. For these 2 studies, it was not possible to break down the study findings between direct care and nondirect care staff; therefore, the study findings need to be interpreted with caution as the outcomes could be diluted or exaggerated as a result. Generally, retention rates across the studies were high, demonstrating widespread acceptability of the web-based interventions; however, no data were presented on participants who dropped out of the study and their reasons for this. This information would be helpful to identify any barriers to completion, which could be used to enhance the design features, content, and format of any interventions in the future.

Comparison With Prior Work

The study findings complement other work in this area that has examined both the effectiveness of resilience enhancement interventions in the health care setting and web-based interventions. Several face-to-face and web-based resilience enhancement interventions for health care professionals have been tested in the workplace environment, with previous systematic reviews finding that they can positively improve psychological well-being [19,23,38,59-63]. McDonald et al [32] successfully developed and implemented a work-based educational intervention to support the development of personal resilience in nurses and midwives in Australia. The intervention led to improvements in colleagues' levels of honest communication regarding workplace issues, greater respect for each other's skills and experiences, and a collaborative learning environment, something which is conducive to improved teamwork. It also benefitted participants' personal and professional lives by enhancing their confidence, self-awareness, assertiveness, and self-care [32]. Henshall et al [21] developed a resilience enhancement program for nurses, consisting of various workshops and tackling areas such as building hardiness, maintaining a positive outlook, achieving work-life balance, reflective and critical thinking, and enabling spirituality. Levels of personal resilience were significantly higher after the program than before the program, with nurses reporting a marked impact on their resilience, self-awareness, confidence, and professional relationships [21].

Many studies have focused on the benefits of interventions in promoting mental health in health care professionals, by reducing depression and anxiety, increasing well-being, and reducing stress, with positive findings. A systematic review exploring interventions to address mental health issues in health care workers during infectious disease outbreaks found that

some digital interventions were effective in improving confidence, self-efficacy, anxiety, posttraumatic stress disorder, and ways of coping [61]. Another review found that mindfulness-based interventions had the potential to reduce stress among health care professionals, though the review was not limited to web-based interventions and the quality of the evidence was mixed [59]. A third systematic review to examine the mental health impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on health care workers, and interventions to help them, identified a perceived need and preferences from health care workers for interventions aimed at preventing or reducing negative impacts on mental health. The review included some web-based interventions, but no data on their effectiveness in improving the mental health of participants were collected [60]. These findings reinforce the need for, and potential value of, interventions targeted at health care staff to improve their mental health and promote well-being, something that has been identified in this review.

Despite much literature emphasizing the important benefits of resilience enhancement interventions and web-based learning tools among the health care workforce, no studies to our knowledge have specifically examined the value of web-based resilience enhancement interventions for health care professionals. Our study, therefore, adds to the body of evidence in this field by indicating that web-based resilience interventions can be valuable tools for supporting the psychological well-being of health care professionals working in clinical care settings and can be considered effective, feasible, and acceptable mechanisms for use across a variety of health care settings.

Conclusions

This review has identified that web-based resilience interventions for health care professionals may be effective tools for enhancing resilience in this population group, are acceptable to the health care workforce, and can be implemented across a range of health care settings and environments. It has been highlighted that a variety of intervention components may be successfully used, but interactive person-to-person features are important design features that should be considered for enhancing success of the intervention. The review findings are important for health care practice as they indicate that simple, yet effective, web-based interventions may play an important role in increasing resilience in the health care workforce. This, in turn, may play a role in protecting health care workers from the pressures and challenges they face in delivering care. Hospital managers, clinicians, and well-being leads should carefully consider using these interventions to enhance resilience and staff well-being in the workplace; however, more web-based interventions need to be tested to enhance confidence in their value and the evidence base. The development of credible resilience enhancement web-based interventions may, in the future, lead to widespread improvements in staff motivation, retention, and recruitment, ultimately improving patient care outcomes.



Acknowledgments

CH is a senior nurse and midwife research leader at the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR), is also supported by the NIHR Oxford Cognitive Health Clinical Research Facility, and is a member of the Oxford Precision Psychiatry Lab, NIHR Oxford Health Biomedical Research Centre, Oxford, United Kingdom. EO is funded by the NIHR Research Professorship to Professor AC (grant RP-2017-08-ST2-006), by the NIHR Applied Research Collaboration Oxford and Thames Valley, by the NIHR Oxford Cognitive Health Clinical Research Facility, and by the NIHR Oxford Health Biomedical Research Centre (grant BRC-1215-20005). AC is funded by the NIHR Research Professorship (grant RP-2017-08-ST2-006) and NIHR Applied Research Collaboration Oxford and Thames Valley by the NIHR Oxford Health Biomedical Research Centre (grant BRC-1215-20005). AC is funded by the NIHR Oxford Health Biomedical Research Centre (grant BRC-1215-20005). The views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the NIHR, United Kingdom National Health Service, or the United Kingdom Department of Health and Social Care.

Authors' Contributions

All authors made substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work or the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work. All authors contributed to the first draft of the manuscript, and CH critically reviewed and revised it for important intellectual content. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript to be published and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work were appropriately investigated and resolved.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Iacobucci G. Staff burnout: MPs demand "total overhaul" of NHS workforce planning. BMJ 2021 Jun 08;373:n1461. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.n1461] [Medline: 34103332]
- 2. Hughes RG, editor. Patient Safety and Quality: An Evidence-Based Handbook for Nurses. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; Mar 2008.
- 3. Black N. Can England's NHS survive? N Engl J Med 2013 Jul 04;369(1):1-3. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMp1305771</u>] [Medline: <u>23782160</u>]
- 4. Green S, Markaki A, Baird J, Murray P, Edwards R. Addressing healthcare professional burnout: a quality improvement intervention. Worldviews Evid Based Nurs 2020 Jun;17(3):213-220. [doi: <u>10.1111/wvn.12450</u>] [Medline: <u>32584485</u>]
- Johnson J, Hall LH, Berzins K, Baker J, Melling K, Thompson C. Mental healthcare staff well-being and burnout: a narrative review of trends, causes, implications, and recommendations for future interventions. Int J Ment Health Nurs 2018 Feb;27(1):20-32. [doi: 10.1111/inm.12416] [Medline: 29243348]
- Salyers MP, Bonfils KA, Luther L, Firmin RL, White DA, Adams EL, et al. The relationship between professional burnout and quality and safety in healthcare: a meta-analysis. J Gen Intern Med 2017 Apr;32(4):475-482 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-016-3886-9] [Medline: 27785668]
- Burke S, Parker S, Fleming P, Barry S, Thomas S. Building health system resilience through policy development in response to COVID-19 in Ireland: from shock to reform. Lancet Reg Health Eur 2021 Oct;9:100223 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.lanepe.2021.100223] [Medline: 34642676]
- Vindrola-Padros C, Andrews L, Dowrick A, Djellouli N, Fillmore H, Bautista Gonzalez E, et al. Perceptions and experiences of healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic in the UK. BMJ Open 2020 Nov 05;10(11):e040503 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-040503] [Medline: 33154060]
- 9. Willan J, King AJ, Jeffery K, Bienz N. Challenges for NHS hospitals during COVID-19 epidemic. BMJ 2020 Mar 20;368:m1117. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.m1117] [Medline: 32198166]
- Couarraze S, Delamarre L, Marhar F, Quach B, Jiao J, Avilés Dorlhiac R, COVISTRESS network, et al. The major worldwide stress of healthcare professionals during the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic - the international COVISTRESS survey. PLoS One 2021;16(10):e0257840 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0257840] [Medline: 34614016]
- 11. Ferry AV, Wereski R, Strachan FE, Mills NL. Predictors of UK healthcare worker burnout during the COVID-19 pandemic. QJM 2021 Oct 07;114(6):374-380 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/qjmed/hcab065] [Medline: 33769545]
- 12. Morgantini LA, Naha U, Wang H, Francavilla S, Acar O, Flores JM, et al. Factors contributing to healthcare professional burnout during the COVID-19 pandemic: a rapid turnaround global survey. medRxiv 2020 May 22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1101/2020.05.17.20101915] [Medline: 32511501]
- Ye J. Advancing mental health and psychological support for health care workers using digital technologies and platforms. JMIR Form Res 2021 Jun 30;5(6):e22075 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/22075] [Medline: 34106874]
- 14. Mass trauma experienced by the global nursing workforce. International Council of Nurses. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.icn.ch/sites/default/files/inlinefiles/ICN%20COVID19%20update%20report%20FINAL.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-11-28]

- 15. Survey of America's Physicians COVID-19 impact edition: a year later. The Physicians Foundation. 2021 Jun 5. URL: <u>https://physiciansfoundation.org/physician-and-patient-surveys/the-physicians-foundation-2021-physician-survey/</u>[accessed 2021-11-28]
- Hu D, Kong Y, Li W, Han Q, Zhang X, Zhu LX, et al. Frontline nurses' burnout, anxiety, depression, and fear statuses and their associated factors during the COVID-19 outbreak in Wuhan, China: a large-scale cross-sectional study. EClinicalMedicine 2020 Jul;24:100424 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100424] [Medline: 32766539]
- Rivas N, López M, Castro M, Luis-Vian S, Fernández-Castro M, Cao M, et al. Analysis of burnout syndrome and resilience in nurses throughout the COVID-19 pandemic: a cross-sectional study. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Oct 05;18(19):10470 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph181910470] [Medline: 34639769]
- Mollica RF, Fricchione GL. Mental and physical exhaustion of health-care practitioners. Lancet 2021 Dec 18;398(10318):2243-2244 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)02663-5] [Medline: 34922665]
- Joyce S, Shand F, Tighe J, Laurent SJ, Bryant RA, Harvey SB. Road to resilience: a systematic review and meta-analysis of resilience training programmes and interventions. BMJ Open 2018 Jun 14;8(6):e017858 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-017858] [Medline: 29903782]
- 20. Robertson HD, Elliott AM, Burton C, Iversen L, Murchie P, Porteous T, et al. Resilience of primary healthcare professionals: a systematic review. Br J Gen Pract 2016 Jun;66(647):e423-e433 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3399/bjgp16X685261] [Medline: 27162208]
- 21. Henshall C, Davey Z, Jackson D. The implementation and evaluation of a resilience enhancement programme for nurses working in the forensic setting. Int J Ment Health Nurs 2020 Jun;29(3):508-520. [doi: <u>10.1111/inm.12689</u>] [Medline: <u>31930654</u>]
- 22. Jackson D, Firtko A, Edenborough M. Personal resilience as a strategy for surviving and thriving in the face of workplace adversity: a literature review. J Adv Nurs 2007 Oct;60(1):1-9. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04412.x] [Medline: 17824934]
- Pollock A, Campbell P, Cheyne J, Cowie J, Davis B, McCallum J, et al. Interventions to support the resilience and mental health of frontline health and social care professionals during and after a disease outbreak, epidemic or pandemic: a mixed methods systematic review. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2020 Nov 05;11:CD013779 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD013779] [Medline: 33150970]
- 24. Hart PL, Brannan JD, De Chesnay M. Resilience in nurses: an integrative review. J Nurs Manag 2014 Sep;22(6):720-734. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2834.2012.01485.x] [Medline: 25208943]
- 25. Bozdağ F, Ergün N. Psychological resilience of healthcare professionals during COVID-19 pandemic. Psychol Rep 2021 Dec;124(6):2567-2586 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0033294120965477] [Medline: 33050800]
- 26. Jo S, Kurt S, Bennett JA, Mayer K, Pituch KA, Simpson V, et al. Nurses' resilience in the face of coronavirus (COVID-19): an international view. Nurs Health Sci 2021 Sep;23(3):646-657 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/nhs.12863] [Medline: 34169629]
- 27. Labrague LJ. Pandemic fatigue and clinical nurses' mental health, sleep quality and job contentment during the covid-19 pandemic: the mediating role of resilience. J Nurs Manag 2021 Oct;29(7):1992-2001 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jonm.13383] [Medline: 34018270]
- Roberts NJ, McAloney-Kocaman K, Lippiett K, Ray E, Welch L, Kelly C. Levels of resilience, anxiety and depression in nurses working in respiratory clinical areas during the COVID pandemic. Respir Med 2021 Jan;176:106219 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2020.106219] [Medline: 33248362]
- 29. NHS England. NHS health and wellbeing framework. NHS Employers. 2022 Jul 21. URL: <u>https://www.nhsemployers.org/</u> <u>publications/nhs-health-and-wellbeing-framework</u> [accessed 2021-11-17]
- 30. Craigie M, Slatyer S, Hegney D, Osseiran-Moisson R, Gentry E, Davis S, et al. A pilot evaluation of a mindful self-care and resiliency (MSCR) intervention for nurses. Mindfulness 2016 Apr 18;7(3):764-774. [doi: 10.1007/s12671-016-0516-x]
- 31. Slatyer S, Craigie M, Heritage B, Davis S, Rees C. Evaluating the effectiveness of a brief mindful self-care and resiliency (MSCR) intervention for nurses: a controlled trial. Mindfulness 2017 Aug 26;9(2):534-546. [doi: 10.1007/s12671-017-0795-x]
- McDonald G, Jackson D, Wilkes L, Vickers MH. A work-based educational intervention to support the development of personal resilience in nurses and midwives. Nurse Educ Today 2012 May;32(4):378-384. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.nedt.2011.04.012</u>] [Medline: <u>21724307</u>]
- Foster K, Roche M, Delgado C, Cuzzillo C, Giandinoto J, Furness T. Resilience and mental health nursing: an integrative review of international literature. Int J Ment Health Nurs 2019 Feb;28(1):71-85. [doi: <u>10.1111/inm.12548</u>] [Medline: <u>30294937</u>]
- 34. Foster K, Shochet I, Wurfl A, Roche M, Maybery D, Shakespeare-Finch J, et al. On PAR: a feasibility study of the Promoting Adult Resilience programme with mental health nurses. Int J Ment Health Nurs 2018 Oct;27(5):1470-1480. [doi: 10.1111/inm.12447] [Medline: 29488298]
- 35. Foster K, Cuzzillo C, Furness T. Strengthening mental health nurses' resilience through a workplace resilience programme: a qualitative inquiry. J Psychiatr Ment Health Nurs 2018 Jun;25(5-6):338-348. [doi: 10.1111/jpm.12467] [Medline: 29920873]
- Davey Z, Jackson D, Henshall C. The value of nurse mentoring relationships: lessons learnt from a work-based resilience enhancement programme for nurses working in the forensic setting. Int J Ment Health Nurs 2020 Oct;29(5):992-1001. [doi: 10.1111/inm.12739] [Medline: 32536021]

- 37. Golden EA, Zweig M, Danieletto M, Landell K, Nadkarni G, Bottinger E, et al. A resilience-building app to support the mental health of health care workers in the COVID-19 era: design process, distribution, and evaluation. JMIR Form Res 2021 May 05;5(5):e26590 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/26590] [Medline: <u>33872189</u>]
- Kunzler AM, Helmreich I, Chmitorz A, König J, Binder H, Wessa M, et al. Psychological interventions to foster resilience in healthcare professionals. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2020 Jul 05;7:CD012527 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD012527.pub2] [Medline: <u>32627860</u>]
- 39. Rauschenberg C, Schick A, Goetzl C, Roehr S, Riedel-Heller SG, Koppe G, et al. Social isolation, mental health, and use of digital interventions in youth during the COVID-19 pandemic: a nationally representative survey. Eur Psychiatry 2021 Mar 09;64(1):e20. [doi: 10.1192/j.eurpsy.2021.17] [Medline: 33686930]
- 40. Ruotsalainen J, Serra C, Marine A, Verbeek J. Systematic review of interventions for reducing occupational stress in health care workers. Scand J Work Environ Health 2008 Jun;34(3):169-178 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5271/sjweh.1240] [Medline: 18728906]
- 41. Lamothe M, Rondeau E, Malboeuf-Hurtubise C, Duval M, Sultan S. Outcomes of MBSR or MBSR-based interventions in health care providers: a systematic review with a focus on empathy and emotional competencies. Complement Ther Med 2016 Feb;24:19-28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ctim.2015.11.001] [Medline: 26860797]
- 42. Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. BMJ 2021 Mar 29;372:n71 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71] [Medline: 33782057]
- 43. Andersson G. Internet interventions: past, present and future. Internet Interv 2018 Jun;12:181-188 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2018.03.008] [Medline: 30135782]
- 44. Sterne JA, Savović J, Page MJ, Elbers RG, Blencowe NS, Boutron I, et al. RoB 2: a revised tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. BMJ 2019 Aug 28;366:14898. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.14898] [Medline: 31462531]
- 45. Critical appraisal tools. Joanna Briggs Institute. URL: https://jbi.global/critical-appraisal-tools, [accessed 2021-10-11]
- 46. Campbell M, McKenzie JE, Sowden A, Katikireddi SV, Brennan SE, Ellis S, et al. Synthesis without meta-analysis (SWiM) in systematic reviews: reporting guideline. BMJ 2020 Jan 16;368:16890 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.16890] [Medline: 31948937]
- Kiani Dehkordi M, Sakhi S, Gholamzad S, Azizpour M, Shahini N. Online Balint groups in healthcare workers caring for the COVID-19 patients in Iran. Psychiatry Res 2020 Aug;290:113034 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113034] [Medline: 32450413]
- 48. Coifman KG, Disabato DD, Seah TH, Ostrowski-Delahanty S, Palmieri PA, Delahanty DL, et al. Boosting positive mood in medical and emergency personnel during the COVID-19 pandemic: preliminary evidence of efficacy, feasibility and acceptability of a novel online ambulatory intervention. Occup Environ Med 2021 Apr 26 (forthcoming). [doi: 10.1136/oemed-2021-107427] [Medline: <u>33903280</u>]
- 49. Kopp E. Efficacy of a mindfulness-based intervention in reducing burnout and increasing resilience in registered nurses caring for patients with hematologic malignancies. University of California, Los Angeles. 2020. URL: <u>https://escholarship.org/uc/item/07b0h94b</u> [accessed 2021-08-21]
- 50. Kemper KJ, Khirallah M. Acute effects of online mind-body skills training on resilience, mindfulness, and empathy. J Evid Based Complementary Altern Med 2015 Oct;20(4):247-253. [doi: 10.1177/2156587215575816] [Medline: 25783980]
- 51. Gollwitzer PM, Mayer D, Frick C, Oettingen G. Promoting the self-regulation of stress in health care providers: an internet-based intervention. Front Psychol 2018 Jun 15;9:838 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00838] [Medline: 29962979]
- 52. Koppe H, van de Mortel TF, Ahern CM. How effective and acceptable is Web 2.0 Balint group participation for general practitioners and general practitioner registrars in regional Australia? A pilot study. Aust J Rural Health 2016 Feb;24(1):16-22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/ajr.12212] [Medline: 26114400]
- 53. van der Meer CA, Bakker A, van Zuiden M, Lok A, Olff M. Help in hand after traumatic events: a randomized controlled trial in health care professionals on the efficacy, usability, and user satisfaction of a self-help app to reduce trauma-related symptoms. Eur J Psychotraumatol 2020;11(1):1717155 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/20008198.2020.1717155] [Medline: 32284818]
- 54. Hategan A, Riddell T. Bridging the gap: responding to resident burnout and restoring well-being. Perspect Med Educ 2020 Apr;9(2):117-122 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40037-020-00567-3] [Medline: 32040767]
- 55. Chan WS, Leung AY. Use of social network sites for communication among health professionals: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2018 Mar 28;20(3):e117 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.8382</u>] [Medline: <u>29592845</u>]
- 56. Di Giuseppe M, Nepa G, Prout TA, Albertini F, Marcelli S, Orrù G, et al. Stress, burnout, and resilience among healthcare workers during the COVID-19 emergency: the role of defense mechanisms. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 May 14;18(10):5258 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18105258] [Medline: 34069270]
- 57. NHS long term plan. NHS. URL: <u>https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/</u> [accessed 2021-11-20]
- 58. We are the NHS: people plan for 2020/21 action for us all. NHS England. 2020 Jul 30. URL: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/</u> <u>publication/we-are-the-nhs-people-plan-for-2020-21-action-for-us-all/</u> [accessed 2021-11-20]

- Burton A, Burgess C, Dean S, Koutsopoulou GZ, Hugh-Jones S. How effective are mindfulness-based interventions for reducing stress among healthcare professionals? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Stress Health 2017 Feb;33(1):3-13. [doi: <u>10.1002/smi.2673</u>] [Medline: <u>26916333</u>]
- 60. Muller AE, Hafstad EV, Himmels JP, Smedslund G, Flottorp S, Stensland S, et al. The mental health impact of the covid-19 pandemic on healthcare workers, and interventions to help them: a rapid systematic review. Psychiatry Res 2020 Nov;293:113441 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113441] [Medline: 32898840]
- Zaçe D, Hoxhaj I, Orfino A, Viteritti AM, Janiri L, Di Pietro ML. Interventions to address mental health issues in healthcare workers during infectious disease outbreaks: a systematic review. J Psychiatr Res 2021 Apr;136:319-333 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2021.02.019] [Medline: <u>33636688</u>]
- 62. Cleary M, Visentin D, West S, Lopez V, Kornhaber R. Promoting emotional intelligence and resilience in undergraduate nursing students: an integrative review. Nurse Educ Today 2018 Sep;68:112-120. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.nedt.2018.05.018</u>] [Medline: <u>29902740</u>]
- 63. Angelopoulou P, Panagopoulou E. Resilience interventions in physicians: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Appl Psychol Health Well Being 2022 Feb;14(1):3-25. [doi: <u>10.1111/aphw.12287</u>] [Medline: <u>34019330</u>]

Abbreviations

NHS: National Health ServiceNIHR: National Institute for Health ResearchPRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-AnalysesPROSPERO: International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews

Edited by T Leung; submitted 18.01.22; peer-reviewed by N Yu, K Aguirre; comments to author 30.06.22; revised version received 12.07.22; accepted 31.07.22; published 06.09.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Henshall C. Of

Henshall C, Ostinelli E, Harvey J, Davey Z, Aghanenu B, Cipriani A, Attenburrow MJ Examining the Effectiveness of Web-Based Interventions to Enhance Resilience in Health Care Professionals: Systematic Review JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e34230 URL: https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e34230 doi:10.2196/34230 PMID:36066962

©Catherine Henshall, Edoardo Ostinelli, Jade Harvey, Zoe Davey, Bemigho Aghanenu, Andrea Cipriani, Mary-Jane Attenburrow. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (https://mededu.jmir.org), 06.09.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Aligning the American Health Information Management Association Entry-level Curricula Competencies and Career Map With Industry Job Postings: Cross-sectional Study

Susan H Fenton^{1*}, RHIA, PhD; David T Marc^{2*}, CHDA, PhD; Angela Kennedy^{3*}, RHIA, MBA, EdD; Debra Hamada^{4*}, RHIA, MS, EdD; Robert Hoyt^{5*}, ABPM-CI, MD; Karima Lalani^{1*}, RHIA, MBA, PhD; Connie Renda^{6*}, RHIA, CHDA, MA; Rebecca B Reynolds^{7*}, RHIA, EdD

¹School of Biomedical Informatics, University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, Houston, TX, United States

²Department of Health Informatics and Information Management, The College of St Scholastica, Duluth, MN, United States

³Commission on Accreditation for Health Informatics and Information Management Education (CAHIIM), Chicago, IL, United States

⁴Loma Linda University, Loma Linda, CA, United States

⁵Department Internal Medicine, Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, VA, United States

⁶Department of Health Information Technology and Health Information Management, San Diego Mesa College, San Diego, CA, United States

⁷Department of Health Informatics and Information Management, University of Tennessee Health Science Center, Memphis, TN, United States ^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Angela Kennedy, RHIA, MBA, EdD Commission on Accreditation for Health Informatics and Information Management Education (CAHIIM) 200 E. Randolph St., Suite 5100 Chicago, IL, 60601 United States Phone: 1 312 978 0383 Fax: 1 (312) 233 0063 Email: angela.kennedy@cahiim.org

Abstract

Background: The field of health information management (HIM) focuses on the protection and management of health information from a variety of sources. The American Health Information Management Association (AHIMA) Council for Excellence in Education (CEE) determines the needed skills and competencies for this field. AHIMA's HIM curricula competencies are divided into several domains among the associate, undergraduate, and graduate levels. Moreover, AHIMA's career map displays career paths for HIM professionals. What is not known is whether these competencies and the career map align with industry demands.

Objective: The primary aim of this study is to analyze HIM job postings on a US national job recruiting website to determine whether the job postings align with recognized HIM domains, while the secondary aim is to evaluate the AHIMA career map to determine whether it aligns with the job postings.

Methods: A national job recruitment website was mined electronically (web scraping) using the search term "health information management." This cross-sectional inquiry evaluated job advertisements during a 2-week period in 2021. After the exclusion criteria, 691 job postings were analyzed. Data were evaluated with descriptive statistics and natural language processing (NLP). Soft cosine measures (SCM) were used to determine correlations between job postings and the AHIMA career map, curricular competencies, and curricular considerations. ANOVA was used to determine statistical significance.

Results: Of all the job postings, 29% (140/691) were in the Southeast, followed by the Midwest (140/691, 20%), West (131/691,19%), Northeast (94/691, 14%), and Southwest (73/691, 11%). The educational levels requested were evenly distributed between high school diploma (219/691, 31.7%), associate degree (269/691, 38.6%), or bachelor's degree (225/691, 32.5%). A master's degree was requested in only 8% (52/691) of the postings, with 72% (42/58) preferring one and 28% (16/58) requiring one. A Registered Health Information Technologist (RHIT) credential was the most commonly requested (207/691, 29.9%) in job postings, followed by Registered Health Information Administrator (RHIA; 180/691, 26%) credential. SCM scores were significantly higher in the informatics category compared to the coding and revenue cycle (P=.006) and data analytics categories (P<.001) but not significantly different from the information governance category (P=.85). The coding and revenue cycle category

had a significantly higher SCM score compared to the data analytics category (P<.001). Additionally, the information governance category was significantly higher than the data analytics category (P<.001). SCM scores were significantly different between each competency category, except there were no differences in the average SCM score between the information protection and revenue cycle management categories (P=.96) and the information protection and data structure, content, and information governance categories (P=.31).

Conclusions: Industry job postings primarily sought degrees, with a master's degree a distant fourth. NLP analysis of job postings suggested that the correlation between the informatics category and job postings was higher than that of the coding, revenue cycle, and data analytics categories.

(JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e38004) doi:10.2196/38004

KEYWORDS

health information management; health workforce; healthcare industry; natural language processing; medical education; professional education; job recruitment; job website; web scraping; data mining

Introduction

The field of health information management (HIM) originated in 1928, when the American College of Surgeons identified a need to improve clinical documentation and established the Association of Record Librarians of North America. Now known as the American Health Information Management Association (AHIMA), the organization delineates HIM as "the practice of acquiring, analyzing, and protecting digital and traditional medical information vital to providing quality patient care" [1].

Health information management, sometimes called medical records, continues to evolve rapidly due to many driving forces. The widespread adoption of electronic health record (EHR) systems has helped catalyze this movement [2]. As reported by the Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology (ONC), by 2017, 96% of nonfederal acute care hospitals in the United States used certified EHRs [3]. Other recent technologies impacting the HIM field include the increased use of application programming interfaces (APIs), machine learning, artificial intelligence, natural language processing (NLP), voice recognition, and the Internet of Medical Things (IoMT). Newer data standards such as HL7's Fast Healthcare Interoperability Resources (FHIR) often result in more data exchange among patients and hospitals [4]. The ONC certified an FHIR API intended to expedite patients' requests for EHR data that required more HIM expertise and training [5]. The United States anticipates transitioning to the International Classification of Diseases 11th Revision (ICD-11) in the next few years, which will require further HIM expertise and training [6]. An increasing secondary use of health care data necessitates an increase in data management, governance, and analytics, usually under the purview of HIM [7].

Like most industries today, the health care sector, including HIM, is experiencing unprecedented technological innovations that are causing many downstream changes in job definitions and required skill sets. This changing landscape demands a more technologically oriented and knowledgeable workforce. For example, there is a growing need for better data literacy and analytical skills [2]. Education in essential domains provides a foundational skill set, allowing HIM professionals to develop and grow professionally. In 2015, Gibson reported HIM graduates require skills and knowledge in record management, data quality, health information analysis, access, privacy,

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e38004
```

confidentiality, and information systems and technology [8]. A recent study noted a demand for ongoing health information technology (HIT) education, as well as a variety of EHR skills, a knowledge of operational medical terminology, and an ability to communicate with senior management [9].

According to the US Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS), jobs in medical records and health information specialties are projected to grow 9% between 2020 and 2030 [10]. There is a need for more HIM workers who are "industry ready." Establishing and incorporating HIM core competencies can help achieve this goal. The AHIMA Council for Excellence in Education is tasked with setting these core curricula competencies. AHIMA's HIM curricula competencies are divided into 6 domains for associate, undergraduate, and graduate degree levels. Typically, the Bloom taxonomy level for competency increases with the degree level of education across the domains. The AHIMA HIM curricula domains include 6 domains: (1) Domain I: data structure, content, and information governance; (2) Domain II: information protection: access, use, disclosure, privacy, and security; (3) Domain III: informatics, analytics, and data use; (4) Domain IV: revenue cycle management; (5) Domain V: health law and compliance; and (6) Domain VI: organizational management and leadership [11].

The AHIMA interactive career map displays career paths for HIM professionals. The current version has 4 categories of HIM job-related positions: (1) coding and revenue cycle, (2) informatics, (3) data analytics, and (4) information governance [12]. Presently, no academic literature has been identified that evaluates the usefulness of such career maps. One study by Madlock-Brown et al [13] compared the AHIMA career map to job postings to identify gaps.

An important question that needs to be addressed is whether the current training for HIM professionals in this evolving field is congruent with industry demands. Previous workforce research reviewed the jobs of AHIMA members, evaluated the workforce projections of the BLS, and examined the top skills of AHIMA members [14]. This study was based on the AHIMA membership data and not from actual job postings. Another study by Marc et al [15] reviewed global job categories in health informatics and information management. In this study, we sought to answer the question of training compared with industry demands by mining Indeed, a popular online job recruitment

website for data on current job postings in HIM [16]. Indeed was chosen as a platform for extracting job posting data due to the volume of HIM-related jobs found on the website. An evaluation of other job posting websites yielded a lower return than Indeed. Additionally, Indeed was used previously for evaluating HIM-related job postings [15].

The primary aim of this study is to assess the alignment of current AHIMA curricula domains and HIM job postings identified from Indeed, and the secondary aim is to evaluate how well the AHIMA career map aligns to current HIM job postings found on Indeed. extract the job title and any descriptive text from the job postings. The data were filtered to only full-time jobs posted within the last 14 days. A total of 734 job postings were returned from the query. The data were screened by expert review from 2 HIM management professionals for inclusion criteria. Subsequently, 43 job postings not relevant to HIM were removed, including 32 that required a nursing degree, 4 that required a pharmacy degree, and 7 that required other education not relevant to health information management. The remaining 691 job postings were included in the study. Figure 1 adapts the PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) flow diagram to display the inclusion and exclusion processes for job postings extracted from Indeed.

Methods

Collection and Cleaning of Job Postings

On June 18, 2021, job posting data were queried from Indeed using the keyword "health information management" (HIM) to

Figure 1. Identification of HIM job postings adapted from PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses).



Descriptive Statistics of Job Postings

The frequency and percentage of job postings were analyzed by geographic region, desired educational level, desired credentials, and length of time the positions were posted. Jobs were then categorized into geographical regions consistent with the categorization reported by the Commission on Accreditation for Health Informatics and Information Management Education (CAHIIM), the HIM accreditation body (Multimedia Appendix 1).

AHIMA curricular competencies for each educational level (associate, bachelor's, and master's) were organized by

```
competency statement, domain, and Bloom taxonomy level for
each competency statement. AHIMA career map positions were
organized by domain, level, position, description,
responsibilities, and skills required.
```

Ethical Considerations

This study analyzed job postings and other publicly available job-related data. As such, it does not constitute human subjects research so no ethics approval was sought.

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e38004
```

Statistical Analysis of Job Postings

The team utilized natural language processing (NLP) to analyze the textual job posting data. The *requests* Python library was used to send an HTTP request to query Indeed for job postings using a URL to search for the keyword "health information management" and restrict the results to "full-time" and posted within the last "14 days." The resulting HTML text was extracted to a CSV file using the *BeautifulSoup* Python library to extract specific <a> class text within the HTML files that corresponded to the job posting ID, title, company, location, day posted, URL to the posting, and job description.

The text in the resulting CSV file was preprocessed using the *re* Python library by first tokenizing the data sources into individual words, removing common English stop words and aberrant characters, converting the text to lowercase, and performing a lemmatizing protocol. Lemmatization is the process of finding the base form of a word to create a connection between related words to establish grammatical and semantic relationships.

The *gensim* Python library [17,18] was used to compute a word embedding similarity matrix by computing the cosine similarities between word embedding and retrieving the most similar terms for a given term using the pretrained Global Vectors for Word Representation (GloVe) embedding "glove-wiki-gigaword-50" [19]. A sparse term similarity matrix was generated that mapped terms and the indices of rows and columns based on the dictionary of all the text documents (job postings, AHIMA career map, and curricular competency categories) and the embedding similarity matrix. When creating the sparse term similarity matrix, a term frequency inverse document frequency (TFIDF) was used to specify the relative importance of the terms in the dictionary whereby the columns of the term similarity matrix were built in a decreasing order of importance of terms.

SCM was used as a measure of similarity between 2 documents. First described by Sidorov et al [20] in 2014, SCM utilizes a standard bag-of-words vector space model method but includes an evaluation of term similarity. SCM offers an evaluation of similarity between 2 documents even when they have no words in common, but the meaning of the words is the same. That is, SCM was used to measure the similarities between the text for each job posting and the text for each of the 4 AHIMA career map category and the text for each job posting and the text for each of the 6 AHIMA curricular competency categories.

The SCM score ranges from 0 to 1. The closer the value is to 1, the more similar the job posting documents are to a category. All 691 job postings received a SCM score for each of the 4 AHIMA career map and 6 curricular competency categories. A matrix of all SCM scores was generated to obtain statistics regarding the similarities of the job postings to the AHIMA career map and curricular categories.

Using the R Statistical programming language (R Core Team), SCM scores were summarized based on each AHIMA career map and curricular competency category [21]. Additionally, one-way ANOVA, which does not assume equal variance, was utilized to determine whether the SCM scores were significantly different among the AHIMA career map and curricular

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e38004
```

competency categories. Tukey HSD was used as a post hoc analysis to test for pairwise comparisons of SCM scores among categories [22]. The Python IDE PyCharm version 2022.1.1, RStudio version 2022.02.0 with R version 4.1.0 was used for analysis.

Results

Statistical Analysis of Job Postings

Table 1 depicts the descriptive statistics when comparing the average soft cosine measure (SCM) scores for job postings by each AHIMA career map category. One-way ANOVA established that the average SCM scores by AHIMA career map category resulted in significance (F_3 =48.21, P<.001). The Tukey honestly significant difference (HSD) test showed that SCM scores were significantly higher in the coding and revenue cycle category compared to the informatics (P=.006; 95% CI 0.004-0.04) and data analytics (P<.001; 95% CI 0.058-0.092) categories but not significantly different from the information governance category (P=.07; CI 0.001 to 0.033). The informatics category had a significantly higher SCM score than the data analytics category (P<.001; 95% CI 0.036-0.070). Additionally, the information governance category was significantly higher than the data analytics category (P<.001; 95% CI 0.042-0.076). There were no statistically significant differences between the information governance and informatics categories (P=0.85; 95% CI 0.012-0.022). Together, these results indicate that job postings are most strongly related to the coding and revenue cycle category of the AHIMA career map, followed by information governance, informatics, and data analytics categories.

Table 1 includes the average SCM for each AHIMA career map category. The coding and revenue cycle category had the highest mean SCM score (0.53), followed by the information governance (0.50) and informatics (0.50) categories. The data analytics category had the lowest mean SCM score (0.44) compared to the other categories.

Table 2 depicts the descriptive statistics when comparing the average SCM scores for job postings by AHIMA competencies. One-way ANOVA established that the average SCM scores by AHIMA competencies resulted in significance (F_5 =82.72, P < .001). Tukey HSD test showed that SCM scores were significantly different between each competency category, except there were no differences in the average SCM score between Domain III and Domain VI (P=.29; 95% CI 0.004-0.029) and between Domain III and Domain IV (P=.513; 95% CI 0.007-0.027). More specifically, Domain I had a significantly lower average SCM score compared to Domain II (P<.001; 95% CI 0.095-0.128), Domain III (P<.001; 95% CI 0.050-0.084), Domain IV (P<.001; 95% CI 0.040-0.074), Domain V (P<.001; 95% CI 0.021-0.055), and Domain VI (P<.001; 95% CI 0.063-0.096). Domain V had a significantly lower average SCM score compared to Domain II (P<.001; 95% CI 0.057-0.090), Domain III (P<.001; 95% CI 0.012-0.046), Domain IV (P=.02; 95% CI 0.002-0.036), and Domain VI (P<.001; 95% CI 0.025-0.058). Domain IV had a significantly lower average SCM score compared to Domain II (P<.001; 95% CI 0.034-0.071) and Domain VI (P=.002; 95%

XSL•FO RenderX

CI 0.006-0.039). Finally, Domain II had a significantly higher average SCM score compared to Domain III (P<.001; 95% CI 0.028-0.061) and Domain VI (P<.001; 95% CI 0.015-0.049). These results indicate that the job postings are most strongly related to information protection competencies, followed by competencies in organizational management and leadership/informatics/analytics/data use, revenue cycle management, health law and compliance, and then the data structure/content/information governance categories.

Table 2 includes the average SCM for each domain. Domain II was the highest (0.43), followed by Domain VI (0.40), Domain III (0.39), Domain IV (0.38), Domain V (0.36), and Domain I (0.32).

While job titles were not isolated for analysis, we analyzed selected postings to gain further insight into their unique resulting attributes. Two job postings, Data Analyst IV and

Clinical Systems Analyst, matched 50% or more of all 6 AHIMA curriculum domains. Both positions required a bachelor's degree and articulated the need for applicants to work independently. The foci of the positions were on data management and information system development. Four positions did not match across the 6 AHIMA curriculum domains; by position title, these included Senior Medical Coder, Document Imaging Medical Records Specialist, Quality Data Analyst, and Medical Record Clerk. The top matching positions within each AHIMA curriculum domain included Domain 1: Manager of NCQA Accreditation and Health Informatics; Domain II: Clinical Informatics Educator; Domain III: Senior Health Informatics Analyst; Domain IV: Data Analyst; Domain V: Clinical Informatics Educator; and Domain VI: Clinical System Analyst. Qualitatively, the significant presence or absence of domain matching for these HIM postings reflects potential current HIM workforce trends.

 Table 1. Summary of soft cosine measure (SCM) scores by the American Health Information Management Association (AHIMA) career map.

	Coding and revenue cycle	Informatics	Data analytics	Information governance
Minimum	0.04	0.03	0.03	0.01
First quartile	0.45	0.41	0.37	0.43
Median	0.53	0.51	0.44	0.52
Mean	0.52	0.50	0.44	0.50
Third quartile	0.61	0.59	0.52	0.59
Maximum	0.78	0.84	0.74	0.80

Table 2. Summary of SCM scores by AHIMA curricula domains.

	Domain I	Domain II	Domain III	Domain IV	Domain V	Domain VI
Minimum	0	0	0	0	0	0
First quartile	0.27	0.34	0.32	0.33	0.29	0.34
Median	0.33	0.44	0.39	0.39	0.37	0.41
Mean	0.32	0.43	0.39	0.38	0.36	0.40
Third quartile	0.39	0.53	0.46	0.45	0.44	0.48
Maximum	0.52	0.84	0.67	0.60	0.63	0.65

Descriptive Statistics of Job Postings

Our data include the 691 jobs extracted from Indeed. The results of the geographic distribution, demonstrates that most of the jobs posted were in the Southeast (203/691, 29%), followed by the Midwest (140/691, 20%), West (131/691, 19%,), Northeast (94/691, 14%), and Southwest (73/691, 11%) regions. The "national" regional category was added to our analysis to represent jobs listed as entirely remote, meaning they could be accomplished anywhere in the United States and were not geographically categorized. National jobs represented 7% (50/691) of all job postings.

Within the 14-day time frame from when the job postings were collected, 19.7% (136/691) had been posted 2 days prior to the data collection, followed closely by those posted 1 day prior (100/691, 14.5%) and then posted on the same day (74/691, 10.7%). The percentage of jobs posted declined the further the

day of the data collection was from the date of posting, with only 1.5% (10.4/691) of jobs posted 14 days prior to collection.

The educational level requested in the job postings was generally evenly distributed between high school diploma (219/691, 31.7%), associate degree (269/691, 38.6%), or bachelor's degree (225/691, 32.5%). A master's degree was requested in only 8% (58/691) of the postings, with 72% (42/58) listing the degree as preferred and 28% (16/58) as required. Finally, the frequency and percentage of job postings that listed specific credentials in the qualifications and whether they were required or preferred were reported. The most requested credential was Registered Health Information Technologist (RHIT) at 29.9% (207/691), followed closely by the Registered Health Information Administrator (RHIA) at 26.0% (180/691). Additionally, the Certified Coding Specialist (CCS) credential was included in 18.1% (125/691) of job postings, the Certified Professional in Healthcare Quality (CPHQ) credential was requested in 0.6%

(4/691) of the postings, and the Certified Professional in Healthcare Information and Management Systems (CPHIMS) credential was only required in 0.3% (2/691) of the postings. We examined only the RHIT and RHIA credentials to determine whether they were required or preferred. When requesting either credentials, 14% (98/691) required one or the other, while 9% (66/691) preferred either the RHIT or RHIA. When focused on a single credential, the numbers were much smaller, with 3% (23/691) requiring the RHIT and 2% (20/691) listing the credential as preferred. Only 1% (7/691) of the postings required the RHIA and 1% (9/691 postings) listed the credential as preferred (Tables 3-5).

Table 3. Educational levels requested.

Degree required	Value, n (%) ^a
High school diploma	219 (31.7)
Associate degree	269 (38.9)
Bachelor's degree	225 (32.5)
Master's degree	58 (8.4)

^aPercentage totals more than 100% as more than 1 educational requirement may be mentioned in the same job posting.

Table 4. Credentials.

Credential listed	Value, n (%)
RHIA ^a	180 (26.0)
RHIT ^b	207 (29.9)
CCS ^c	125 (18.1)
CPHIMS ^d	2 (0.5)
CPHQ ^e	4 (0.6)

^aRHIA: Registered Health Information Administrator.

^bRHIT: Registered Health Information Technologist.

^cCCS: Certified Coding Specialist.

^dCPHIMS: Certified Professional in Healthcare Information and Management Systems.

^eCPHQ: Certified Professional in Healthcare Quality.

Table 5. Required versus preferred credentials

Credential	n, %
Either RHIA ^a /RHIT ^b required	98 (14.2)
Either RHIA/RHIT preferred	66 (9.6)
RHIT required	23 (3.3)
RHIA required	7 (1.0)
RHIT preferred	20 (2.9)
RHIA preferred	9 (1.3)

^aRHIA: Registered Health Information Administrator. ^bRHIT: Registered Health Information Technologist.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Our study results indicate that most HIM jobs require an associate degree or above. Many require an RHIT or RHIA credential with more opportunities in the Southeast region and a number of jobs closely aligned with coding and revenue cycle related careers. This aligns with the study by Madlock-Brown et al [13], which compared the AHIMA career map to Simply Hired job postings in 2019 [13]. However, the Indeed job

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e38004
```

RenderX

postings did not strongly associate with any of the AHIMA curricular competencies despite significant differences amongst the categories. Additionally, the results indicate a similarity to informatics. Given that informatics is often identified as a skill set leveraged across professions, it was not addressed in singularity but brings up a potential research question that will require focus and analysis in a future study.

AHIMA curricular competencies had significant differences among the categories. Potential causes include delays between the time of job analysis, development competencies by the

AHIMA CEE, and additional time to implement revised competencies for accreditation. There may be an opportunity to have the CAHIIM educational programs provide feedback to AHIMA regarding the educational program implementation of curricular competencies.

A SCM score closer to 1 indicates stronger similarity between the job postings and the categories evaluated. The mean scores for the comparison of the job postings to the AHIMA career map ranged from 0.44 to 0.53, while the mean scores for the comparison of the job postings to the AHIMA curricular competencies ranged from 0.32 to 0.43. These SCM scores indicate that the job postings have a moderate similarity to the AHIMA career map and a moderate to low similarity to the AHIMA curricular competencies.

The moderate similarity of the job postings to the AHIMA career map categories reveals that coding and revenue cycle jobs are prominent in these professions. However, the career map does not appear to fully capture the range of jobs for which HIM professionals are potentially qualified [13]. This may be due to the fast pace of change in health care and variances in the jobs that HIM professionals hold.

Our study findings indicate a moderate to low similarity of job postings to the curricular competencies. This suggests that the qualifications and requirements listed in job postings do not closely align with the AHIMA curricular competencies. This misalignment can be attributed to a number of factors, including a variability in the terminology used in higher education and industry. Another consideration is the time delay for curriculum to be vetted and disseminated, which typically lags behind the fast pace of change in the industry and in job postings. Another factor is the range from entry-level positions in HIM to higher level positions resulting in varied job qualifications and inconsistent terminology.

Strengths and Limitations

One of the strengths of this research is that it is the first of its kind that aims to determine the usability and accuracy of the AHIMA career map, as it applies to health information management job postings found on Indeed. This study analyzed HIM job postings for all 50 US states and the District of Columbia, using data from Indeed, providing a snapshot of results based upon CAHIIM Annual Program Analysis Report (APAR) regions. Another strength of this study is its cross-sectional design, which provides a snapshot of the prevalence of HIM jobs nationally during a 2-week period.

As with all research studies, this study has some limitations. First, this study analyzed job posts on one job posting website and was limited to a certain time frame. Additionally, its nonexperimental design precludes establishing cause and effect relationships. Specific sampling decisions driven by practicality and time constraints are acknowledged. Establishing the search criteria of "health information management" potentially excluded HIM domain positions that did not include this title, such as Assistant Vice President (VP) of Revenue Integrity and Information Management.

There are limitations to using the AHIMA career map for comparison, as these jobs represent only AHIMA members and

do not include those in the workforce that are not AHIMA members. The emerging roles on the career map were developed by focus groups and do not represent AHIMA member data, and the career map was last updated in 2016. Further, frequencies of specific job titles are not included in the AHIMA career map. Madlock-Brown et al [13] studied the AHIMA career map and found that many of the job titles found therein were not in the Simply Hired job search. Another challenge of the AHIMA career map is the inclusion of jobs from entry-level to higher levels, so the job varies from entry-level Patient Registration Clerk to VP of Compliance.

Areas of Future Research

Researchers can use our study results to expand the literature and gaps in knowledge in this area in HIM workforce studies. One area of future research is to expand the search criteria for job postings from "health information management" to other search terms, such as "health data analyst," or to search skills required beyond the degree. Another area of future research is to analyze HIM job postings for all 50 US states and the District of Columbia based on US Census regions. Additionally, future research can also explore usage of other NLP techniques, such as sentiment analysis or keyword extraction.

With the wide range of positions in HIM, educators may find it useful to identify jobs requiring on-the-job training. Exploring HIM professional job roles and attempting to eliminate the clerical roles associated with some tasks may be more meaningful to educators and students who are exploring the skills needed for the future HIM workforce.

This study highlights an opportunity to further explore content-based accreditation to meet the needs of end users, such as employers. There is also a need to explore educational programs primarily via competencies as opposed to degree title.

Conclusions

The HIM field is continually evolving. This study analyzed HIM job postings to examine alignment with HIM domains and found that industry job postings primarily sought educational qualifications at or below the bachelor's degree level. This is inconsistent with the 2017 AHIMA whitepaper, HIM Reimagined, in which the CEE calls for the percentage of AHIMA members with graduate degrees to double from 10% to 20% by 2027 [23]. The NLP analysis suggested the correlation between informatics and job postings was higher compared to the revenue cycle, coding, and data analytics categories. These findings should be reviewed carefully by the AHIMA CEE to ensure the accreditation competency domains are congruent with jobs offered by employers. At the same time, educators need to engage fully with those who employ their graduates. The accreditation competency domains represent the baseline for educational programs. Therefore, HIM educators should incorporate additional content to meet the needs of employers. There is great diversity in the job titles, educational requirements, and skills for jobs when searching for HIM positions. This is both exciting and challenging, as jobs titles and skills will continue to change to meet workforce needs. As jobs and competencies continue to evolve in the big data, machine learning, and artificial intelligence era, professional

XSL•FO RenderX

associations such as AHIMA, accreditors such as CAHIIM, HIM educators, and industry leaders must collaborate to align

the HIM workforce needs of the health care industry with educational programs.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge Indeed for allowing the use of their data. The authors also thank the Commission on Accreditation for Health Informatics and Information Management Education (CAHIIM) for their support of this research study.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Commission on Accreditation for Health Informatics and Information Management Education (CAHIIM) Annual Program Analysis Report (APAR) region assignments.

[PNG File, 34 KB - mededu_v8i3e38004_app1.png]

References

- 1. Health Information is human information. URL: <u>https://www.ahima.org/certification-careers/certifications-overview/</u> <u>career-tools/career-pages/health-information-101/</u> [accessed 2022-02-10]
- 2. Beesley K, McLeod A, Hewitt B, Moczygemba J. Health information management reimagined: assessing current professional skills and industry demand. Perspect Health Inf Manag 2021;18(Winter):1b. [Medline: <u>33633512</u>]
- 3. Non-federal acute care hospital electronic health record adoption. Healthit.gov. URL: <u>https://www.healthit.gov/data/</u> <u>quickstats/non-federal-acute-care-hospital-electronic-health-record-adoption</u> [accessed 2022-01-10]
- 4. Health Level Seven International. URL: <u>https://hl7.org/FHIR/</u> [accessed 2022-02-18]
- 5. ONC's cures act final rule. Healthit.gov. URL: <u>https://www.healthit.gov/curesrule/overview/</u> oncs-cures-act-final-rule-highlighted-regulatory-dates [accessed 2022-02-18]
- 6. International Classification of Diseases 11th Revision. URL: <u>https://icd.who.int/en</u> [accessed 2022-02-20]
- Fenton SH, Low S, Abrams KJ, Butler-Henderson K. Health information management: changing with time. Yearb Med Inform 2017 Aug;26(1):72-77 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15265/IY-2017-021] [Medline: 29063538]
- 8. Gibson C, Abrams K, Crook G. Health information management workforce transformation: new roles, new skills and experiences in Canada. Perspectives in Health Information Management. URL: <u>http://library.ahima.org/doc?oid=301180</u> [accessed 2021-09-25]
- 9. Merkley H, Alexander J. Assessment of the electronic health record skills needed for the health information management student. J Allied Health 2020;49(3):164-168. [Medline: <u>32877472</u>]
- 10. Bureau of Labor Statistics. Medical Records and Health Information Specialists: Occupational Outlook Handbook: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. URL: <u>https://www.bls.gov/ooh/healthcare/medical-records-and-health-information-technicians.</u> <u>htm</u> [accessed 2022-02-20]
- 11. 2018 AHIMA Health Information Management Curricula Competencies. URL: <u>https://www.ahima.org/education-events/</u> academic-center/resource-pages/academic-curricula/ [accessed 2022-02-22]
- 12. AHIMA Career Map. URL: <u>https://my.ahima.org/careermap</u> [accessed 2022-02-22]
- Madlock-Brown CR, Sharp MY, Reynolds RB. Assessing the prevalence of AHIMA-identified health informatics and information management careers and related skills: a cross-sectional study. Perspect Health Inf Manag 2021;18(Spring):1k [FREE Full text] [Medline: 34035792]
- 14. Sandefer RH, DeAlmeida DR, Dougherty M, Mancilla D, Marc DT. Keeping current in the electronic era. J AHIMA 2014;85(11):38-44; quiz 45. [Medline: 25682656]
- Marc D, Butler-Henderson K, Dua P, Lalani K, Fenton SH. Stud Health Technol Inform 2019 Aug 21;264:1273-1277. [doi: <u>10.3233/SHTI190431</u>] [Medline: <u>31438130</u>]
- 16. Indeed.com. URL: https://www.indeed.com/ [accessed 2021-06-10]
- 17. Beautiful Soup Documentation. URL: <u>https://www.crummy.com/software/BeautifulSoup/bs4/doc/</u> [accessed 2022-02-22]
- 18. Gensim Topic Modeling. URL: https://radimrehurek.com/gensim/ [accessed 2022-02-22]
- 19. Pennington JSR, Manning CD. GloVe: Global Vectors for Word Representation. In: Proceedings of the 2014 conference on empirical methods in natural language processing (EMNLP). 2014 Presented at: EMNLP'14; October 2014; Doha, Qatar URL: https://nlp.stanford.edu/pubs/glove.pdf
- 20. Sidorov G, Gelbukh A, Gómez-Adorno H, Pinto D. Soft similarity and soft cosine measure: Similarity of features in vector space model. In: Computación y Sistemas. Mexico: Computación y Sistemas; 2014:491-504.
- 21. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL: https://www.R-project.org/ [accessed 2021-12-14]

- 22. Tukey's HSD Test in R. URL: <u>https://www.r-bloggers.com/2021/08/how-to-perform-tukey-hsd-test-in-r/</u> [accessed 2022-02-01]
- 23. Abrams KCS, Haugen M, Mancilla D, McElroy K, Millen M, Sandefer R, et al. HIM reimagined outlines bold new future for HIM profession. J AHIMA 2017 Jun;88:22-25.

Abbreviations

AHIMA: American Health Information Management Association AI: artificial intelligence APAR: Annual Program Analysis Report **API:** application programming interface **BLS:** US Bureau of Labor Statistics CAHIIM: Commission on Accreditation for Health Informatics and Information Management Education **CEE:** Council for Excellence in Education **CPHIMS:** Certified Professional in Healthcare Information and Management Systems CPHQ: Certified Professional in Healthcare Quality **EHR:** electronic health records FHIR: Fast Healthcare Interoperability Resources GloVe: Global Vectors for Word Representation HIM: health information management **HIT:** health information technology HSD: honestly significant difference ICD-11: International Classification of Diseases 11th Revision IoMT: Internet of Medical Things ML: machine learning NLP: natural language processing **ONC:** Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses **RHIA:** Registered Health Information Administrator **RHIT:** Registered Health Information Technologist SCM: soft cosine measures **TFIDF:** term frequency inverse document frequency **VP:** vice president

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 15.03.22; peer-reviewed by K Butler-Henderson, D Gibbs, D Chartash, Y Liu; comments to author 26.03.22; revised version received 16.05.22; accepted 17.05.22; published 07.07.22.

Please cite as:

Fenton SH, Marc DT, Kennedy A, Hamada D, Hoyt R, Lalani K, Renda C, Reynolds RB Aligning the American Health Information Management Association Entry-level Curricula Competencies and Career Map With Industry Job Postings: Cross-sectional Study JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e38004 URL: https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e38004 doi:10.2196/38004 PMID:35584188

©Susan H Fenton, David T Marc, Angela Kennedy, Debra Hamada, Robert Hoyt, Karima Lalani, Connie Renda, Rebecca B Reynolds. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (https://mededu.jmir.org), 07.07.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education on https://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Practices, Perceived Benefits, and Barriers Among Medical Students and Health Care Professionals Regarding the Adoption of eHealth in Clinical Settings: Cross-sectional Survey Study

Long Hoang Nguyen¹, MPH; Lien Thi Khanh Nguyen², MA; Tham Thi Nguyen^{3,4}, BPH; Vu Anh Trong Dam^{3,4}, BPH; Thuc Minh Thi Vu⁵, PhD; Hao Anh Si Nguyen⁵, MD; Giang Thu Vu⁶, MSc; Carl A Latkin⁷, PhD; Roger C M Ho^{8,9}, MBBS; Cyrus S H Ho⁸, MBBS, DCP

⁴Faculty of Medicine, Duy Tan University, Da Nang, Vietnam

⁷Bloomberg School of Public Health, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States

⁸Department of Psychological Medicine, Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine, Singapore, Singapore

⁹Institute for Health Innovation and Technology (iHealthtech), National University of Singapore, Singapore

Corresponding Author:

Vu Anh Trong Dam, BPH Institute for Global Health Innovations Duy Tan University 254 Nguyen Van Linh Da Nang, 550000 Vietnam Phone: 84 941890199 Email: <u>damtanhvu@duytan.edu.vn</u>

Abstract

Background: eHealth is increasingly becoming an indispensable part of health practice and policy-making strategies. However, the use of eHealth tools in clinical practice and the perceptions of eHealth among medical students and health care professionals in Vietnam are not well understood.

Objective: This study aims to investigate perceptions and practices regarding eHealth and their associated factors among medical students and health care professionals.

Methods: A web-based cross-sectional study was conducted on 523 medical students and health care professionals. Information about the practices for, perceived barriers to, and benefits of eHealth application in clinical practices was collected. Multivariate Tobit and logistic regression models were used to determine factors associated with perceptions and practices.

Results: In total, 61.6% (322/523) of participants used eHealth tools in clinical practices, with moderate levels of eHealth literacy. The score for the perceived benefits of eHealth tools was low. The most common barrier for eHealth utilization was human resources for IT (240/523, 45.9%), followed by security and risk control capacity (226/523, 43.2%) and no training in eHealth application (223/523, 42.6%). Age, eHealth literacy, and the use of the internet for updating medical knowledge were positively associated with using eHealth tools in clinical practices.

Conclusions: eHealth tools were moderately used in clinical practices, and the benefits of eHealth were underestimated among health care professionals and medical students in Vietnam. Renovating the current medical education curriculum to integrate eHealth principles should be required to equip health care professionals and medical students with essential skills for rapid digital transformation.

(JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e34905) doi:10.2196/34905



¹University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Vietnam National University, Hanoi, Vietnam

²Institute for Preventive Medicine and Public Health, Hanoi Medical University, Hanoi, Vietnam

³Institute for Global Health Innovations, Duy Tan University, Da Nang, Vietnam

⁵Institute of Health Economics and Technology, Hanoi, Vietnam

⁶Center of Excellence in Evidence-Based Medicine, Nguyen Tat Thanh University, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam

KEYWORDS

eHealth; literacy; perception; practices; health care professional

Introduction

eHealth refers to the use of information and communication technologies (ICTs) to improve health care, health, well-being [1]. ICTs are widely known as important tools in the health sector [2-6]. Their application is increasingly common, particularly in managing and caring for people's health at low cost, and they have the ability to be scaled up to different settings [7-13]. eHealth tools help to ensure access to care, equity, patient-centeredness, and the quality of care [13,14]. The use of eHealth in health care not only helps health care professionals with medical examinations and treatments but also increases patients' medication adherence and overall quality of life [15-17]. The World Health Organization reports that universal health coverage can be rapidly achieved through eHealth strategies and policies [18].

The use of eHealth tools in health care is widely available in high-income countries, such as Europe and the United States, but it is limited in resource-constrained settings. Surveys from several European countries have reported that approximately 99.7% of general practitioners use computers in clinical practice [19]. Meanwhile, in Tanzania and Ghana, only 29.4% and 60% of health care workers have ever used computers, respectively [20]. Effective eHealth adoption requires the development of an ICT system, as well as the appropriate awareness and attitudes among health care workers. To facilitate eHealth application, the increasing perceptions and practices toward eHealth among health care professionals should be given attention. Prior literature has revealed that most medical students and health care professionals have a positive outlook on eHealth [21-23]. For instance, in India, 60% of physicians have a high awareness of the benefits of adopting eHealth tools [24]. Another study in Saudi Arabia showed that about 90% of physicians agree on the benefits of eHealth [25]. In terms of medical students, prior studies have found that they have positive attitudes toward eHealth and the integration of eHealth into medical curricula [21]. A study in Austria indicated that compared to health care professionals, medical students have less belief in the usefulness of eHealth in improving patients' knowledge but are convinced that eHealth could diminish health care costs [26]. Similarly, a study in China showed that medical students perceive more potential drawbacks with eHealth tools for telemedicine than health care professionals [27]. Several factors that determine positive perceptions and attitudes toward the use of eHealth include age, sex, living area, clinical experience, and the receipt of training for eHealth [19]. However, health care professionals have realized that there are still barriers and challenges to eHealth application in clinical clerkships, such as finance and information technology skills [28,29].

eHealth and ICT applications have been deployed in Vietnam's health sector, mainly in urban areas [30]. A national eHealth strategy was developed via a collaboration between the World Health Organization, the International Telecommunication Union, and the Ministry of Health of Vietnam. This strategy

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e34905
```

XSL•FO

includes (1) a national eHealth vision; (2) an implementation road map for identifying key priorities in the national eHealth context; and (3) a plan for monitoring and implementing risk management, assurances with long-term investment, and support [31]. Although eHealth has been regarded as a useful tool for clinical practices, evidence about perceptions of and practices for eHealth among prospective and current medical professionals in Vietnam is scarce. A prior study in 2018 reported limited knowledge about eHealth among Vietnamese medical students, which was the result of students lacking computer skills and the intention to seek eHealth information [32]. There remains no exploration of perceptions and current practices regarding eHealth tools among health care professionals in Vietnam. This study aims to investigate perceptions and practices regarding eHealth and their associated factors among current and prospective medical professionals.

Methods

Study Setting and Sampling

In February 2020, we conducted a web-based cross-sectional survey among health care professionals and medical students in Vietnam. Participants were recruited if they met the following inclusion criteria: (1) living in Vietnam, (2) studying or working at hospitals or medical universities in Vietnam and having clinical experiences, (3) having either an email account or an account on social networking sites for inviting peers, and (4) providing electronic consent to participate in this study. The snowball sampling technique was used to recruit participants. Initially, a core group of health care professionals and students from three universities (Hanoi Medical University, University of Medicine and Pharmacy at Ho Chi Minh City, and Hue University of Medicine and Pharmacy) representing the three regions of Vietnam was selected for recruitment. These participants were selected due to their wide social and peer networks, which were important for the sampling technique. A web-based survey link containing a structured questionnaire was sent to the core group from the three universities via their emails. We asked participants to invite any acquaintances who met the selection criteria to participate in this web-based survey. A total of 523 health care professionals and medical students met the above criteria and were recruited in this study.

Ethics Approval

The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Vietnam Youth Research Institute (decision number: 177 QD/TWDTN-VNCTN; date: December 28, 2018).

Measurements

Overview of the Questionnaire

We designed a structured questionnaire on the SurveyMonkey platform (Momentive Inc). The contents of the questionnaire were piloted on 10 medical students and health care professionals. After revising the questionnaire based on their feedback, the final version of the questionnaire was approved

and uploaded to the web-based platform. The structured questionnaire consisted of three question groups related to general socioeconomic characteristics, perceptions, and practices toward eHealth in diagnosing and treating diseases.

Sociodemographic Variables

The socioeconomic variables included age, living area (city or town, rural area, or mountainous area), specialty (clinical medicine or other), type of occupation (health care professionals or medical students), years of clinical experience, and city or province (Hanoi, Ho Chi Minh City, or other).

Internet Use Purposes and Perceived Level of eHealth Literacy

Participants were asked to report whether they used the internet to update their medical knowledge, read the news, or use social networks. Moreover, they were asked to report the frequency of using computers and smartphones for work and studies. Skills related to web-based medical document literacy were self-assessed on a 10-point scale. These included the following: identifying a medical problem, searching for medical information, evaluating the quality of a medical information source, evaluating the quality of medical information, and using medical information in clinical practice. These items had a Cronbach α value of .95, suggesting excellent internal consistency.

Using eHealth Tools in Clinical Practices

We asked participants to report whether they used eHealth tools in clinical practices. In this study, the use of eHealth tools was defined as the use of electronic means in consultations, examinations, diagnoses, screening, the classification of diseases, the provision of treatment regimens, and the monitoring of a patient's treatment.

Perceptions About Benefits of eHealth Tools

We investigated perceptions about the benefits of eHealth tools among medical professionals and medical students based on clinical practice aspects (ie, using eHealth tools to reduce medical error, to improve diagnostic quality, to improve the quality of treatment, and to provide data for clinical and public health studies), patient aspects (ie, using eHealth tools to increase patient compliance, to increase patient satisfaction, and to increase the accessibility of medical services and the benefit of eHealth for patients), and economic and organizational aspects (ie, using eHealth tools to limit unnecessary or duplicate laboratory tests or services, to increase the number of patients using daily services, to reduce costs by avoiding duplication, to increase coordination between departments in health care facilities, and to increase work productivity due to quick accesss to patient data).

The perception scores for the clinical practice aspects (4 items), patient aspects (3 items), and economic and organizational aspects (5 items) of the benefits of eHealth were calculated by summing the scores of all items in each domain. The scores for the three domains ranged from 0 to 4, from 0 to 3, and from 0 to 5, respectively. A higher score indicated a higher level of perceived benefits for each aspect. The Cronbach α of the scale was .87.

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e34905
```

Perceptions About Barriers to Adopting eHealth Tools

We explored the perceptions of participants regarding potential barriers to applying eHealth tools in clinical practices with the following items: (1) the lack of standard procedures, (2) the lack of regulation, (3) the capacity to deploy information technology, (4) no funding, (5) security and risk control capacity, (6) not enough time, (7) difficult to use, (8) medical staff lacks information technology skills, (9) no training in eHealth application, and (10) human resources for information technology.

Data Analysis

Both descriptive and analytical statistics were performed by using Stata 15 (StataCorp LLC). Continuous variables were presented as means and SDs, while categorical variables were presented as frequencies and percentages. We used the Wilcoxon rank-sum test for continuous variables and the chi-square test for categorical variables to compare differences between participants who were using and not using eHealth tools in clinical practices. A multivariate Tobit censored regression was performed to determine factors associated with the three domain scores and the overall score for the perceptions toward the benefits of eHealth application. Additionally, a multivariate logistic regression model was carried out to examine determinants of eHealth tool use in clinical practices. We applied a stepwise forward strategy, which involved using a log-likelihood ratio test in which the P value was set at .20, to select variables for the reduced models. The collinearity between variables in the model was tested by using the collin packages in the Stata software [33]. The number of years of clinical experience was found to have collinearity with age; thus, we excluded the years of clinical experience variable. Afterward, the variance inflation factor of predictor variables was less than 10, and the average of the variance inflation factor was 3.6, suggesting that there was no collinearity. The statistical significance was set at an α level of .05.

Results

Table 1 shows that a total of 91.2% (476/522) of the recruited participants were medical students. Over 70% (367/523, 70.2%) of participants were female, 90.1% (471/523) of participants lived in urban areas, and more than half of the participants (268/523, 51.2%) were specializing in clinical medicine. The mean age was 21.7 (SD 4.5) years, and the mean number of years of clinical experience was 3.7 (SD 4.5). Further, 61.6% (322/523) of participants reported that they have used eHealth tools for clinical practice. There was a significant difference in the usage of eHealth tools by sex (P=.02), specialty (P<.001), the number of years of clinical experience (P<.001), and the type of occupation (P<.001). Table 1 also shows that 40.2% (210/523) of the sample used the internet for updating their medical knowledge. The proportion of participants who were using computers and smartphones for work and studies regularly was 78.8% (406/515). Participants showed a moderate level of skills for searching, evaluating, and using medical documents on the internet, and participants who had ever used eHealth tools in clinical practices gave significantly higher scores than those given by participants who were not using eHealth tools.

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

Table 1. Characteristics of the respondents.

Characteristics	aracteristics Using eHealth tools for clinical practice		actice	P value
	No ^a	Yes ^a	Total ^b	
Participants, n (%)	201 (38.4)	322 (61.6)	523 (100)	N/A ^c
Sex, n (%)				.02
Male	48 (30.8)	108 (69.2)	156 (29.8)	
Female	153 (41.7)	214 (58.3)	367 (70.2)	
Specialty, n (%)				<.001
General practitioner	83 (31)	185 (69)	268 (51.2)	
Other	118 (46.3)	137 (53.7)	255 (48.8)	
Type of occupation, n (%)				<.001
Health care professionals	5 (10.9)	41 (89.1)	46 (8.8)	
Medical students	196 (41.2)	280 (58.8)	476 (91.2)	
Living area, n (%)				.77
City	182 (38.6)	289 (61.4)	471 (90.1)	
Town, rural area, or mountainous area	19 (36.5)	33 (63.5)	52 (9.9)	
Region, n (%)				.39
Northern region	53 (41.4)	75 (58.6)	128 (25.3)	
Southern region	120 (39.6)	183 (60.4)	303 (59.9)	
Central region	24 (32)	51 (68)	75 (14.8)	
Purpose of using the internet, n (%)				
To update medical knowledge	53 (25.2)	157 (74.8)	210 (40.2)	<.001
To read the news	106 (36.3)	186 (63.7)	292 (55.8)	.26
To use social networks	174 (39.6)	265 (60.4)	439 (83.9)	.20
Frequency of using computers or smartphones for work or studies, n (%)				.055
Yes, regularly	149 (36.7)	257 (63.3)	406 (78.8)	
Yes, sometimes	51 (46.8)	58 (53.2)	109 (21.2)	
Age (years), mean (SD)	20.7 (2.8)	22.3 (5.2)	21.7 (4.5)	<.001
Years of clinical experience, mean (SD)	2.7 (2.8)	4.3 (5.2)	3.7 (4.5)	<.001
Perceived levels of eHealth literacy (score; range 0-10), mean (SD)				
Using eHealth tools to identify a problem	6.0 (2.2)	6.8 (1.8)	6.5 (2.0)	<.001
Using eHealth tools to search for medical information	6.2 (2.0)	6.7 (1.9)	6.5 (2.0)	.003
Using eHealth tools to evaluate the quality of a medical information source	5.6 (2.2)	6.4 (2.0)	6.1 (2.1)	<.001
Using eHealth tools to evaluate the quality of medical information	5.7 (2.2)	6.4 (1.9)	6.1 (2.0)	<.001
Using eHealth tools to use medical information in clinical practice	5.5 (2.3)	6.4 (2.0)	6.0 (2.2)	<.001

^aPercentages in this column were calculating by using the *Total* column value as the denominator.

^bThe totals do not add up to 523 throughout this column due to missing or multiple responses.

^cN/A: not applicable.

Table 2 shows that the benefits of eHealth tools were perceived by both groups equally (ie, all *P* values are >.05). With regard to organizational and economical aspects, increased work productivity due to quick access to patient data was the most common perceived benefit (314/523, 60%), followed by increased coordination between departments in health facilities (301/523, 57.6%). In terms of clinical practice aspects, the

https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e34905

XSL•FO RenderX proportion of participants who perceived the benefit that eHealth tools provide data for clinical and public health studies was the highest (33/523, 63.1%), followed by the proportion who perceived that eHealth tools improve diagnostic quality (283/523, 54.1%). With regard to patient aspects, the most common benefit was increasing the accessibility of medical services for patients (267/523, 51.1%). However, overall,

participants believed that using eHealth tools was not quite beneficial in clinical settings (score out of 12: mean 5.4, SD 3.6).

Table 3 shows potential barriers for eHealth application. The most common barrier was human resources for IT (240/523, 45.9%), followed by security and risk control capacity (226/523, 43.2%) and no training in eHealth application (223/523, 42.6%). There were no differences in the perceived barriers between participants who were using and not using eHealth tools in clinical practices (ie, all *P* values are >.05; Table 3).

Table 4 presents the factors associated with the three perception domain scores and the use of eHealth tools in clinical practice. There was a positive correlation between age and the use of eHealth tools for clinical practice (odds ratio 1.09, 95% CI 1.02-1.18). The use of the internet to update medical knowledge and higher scores for identifying a problem in web-based documents were associated with a higher likelihood of using eHealth tools for clinical practice.

Female participants had significantly lower scores for the perceptions regarding the patient-related aspects of eHealth

compared to those of male participants (coefficient=-0.45,95%CI -0.88 to -0.02; P=.04). Medical students had lower scores compared to those of health care professionals for the perceptions regarding the clinical aspects (coefficient=-0.94, 95% CI –1.78 to –0.10; P=.004) and organization and economic aspects (coefficient=-1.40, 95% CI -2.19 to -0.61; P=.001) of eHealth usage. Using the internet to update medical knowledge, read the news, and use social networks was associated with higher perceptions regarding clinical practice aspects, and using the internet to read the news was also positively related to higher perceptions about the organization and economic aspects of eHealth usage (coefficient=0.65, 95% CI 0.21-1.09; P=.004). Perceptions about the patient aspects of eHealth use positively correlated with the perceived levels for the evaluation of an information source (coefficient=0.40, 95% CI 0.16-0.65; P=.001) but negatively correlated with the perceived levels for the evaluation of information (coefficient=-0.35; 95% CI -0.60 to -0.10; P=.006). Perceptions about the organization and economic aspects of eHealth positively correlated with the perceived levels for identifying a problem (coefficient=0.14, 95% CI 0.03-0.25; P=.02).

Table 2. Perceptions on the use of eHealth.	
---	--

Perceptions about benefits of eHealth tools	Using eHealth tools for clinical practice			P value	
	No (n=201)	Yes (n=322)	Total (N=523)		
Organizational and economical aspects, n (%)		•	·	·	
Using eHealth tools to increase work productivity due to quick access to patient data	120 (59.7)	194 (60.2)	314 (60)	.90	
Using eHealth tools to increase coordination between depart- ments in health facilities	114 (56.7)	187 (58.1)	301 (57.6)	.76	
Using eHealth tools to reduce costs by avoiding duplication	69 (34.3)	129 (40.1)	198 (37.9)	.19	
Using eHealth tools to increase the number of patients using daily services	58 (28.9)	100 (31.1)	158 (30.2)	.59	
Using eHealth tools to limit unnecessary or duplicate labora- tory tests or services	63 (31.3)	127 (39.4)	190 (36.3)	.06	
Clinical practice aspects, n (%)					
Using eHealth tools to provide data for clinical and public health studies	122 (60.7)	208 (64.6)	330 (63.1)	.37	
Using eHealth tools to improve the quality of treatment	89 (44.3)	140 (43.5)	229 (43.8)	.86	
Using eHealth tools to improve diagnostic quality	107 (53.2)	176 (54.7)	283 (54.1)	.75	
Using eHealth tools to reduce medical error	93 (46.3)	162 (50.3)	255 (48.8)	.37	
Patient aspects, n (%)					
Using eHealth tools to increase patients' access to medical services	103 (51.2)	164 (50.9)	267 (51.1)	.95	
Using eHealth tools to increase patient satisfaction	67 (33.3)	111 (34.5)	178 (34)	.79	
Using eHealth tools to increase patient compliance	37 (18.4)	72 (22.4)	109 (20.8)	.28	
Organizational and economical aspects score (range 0-5), mean (SD)	2.1 (1.6)	2.3 (1.7)	2.2 (1.7)	.28	
Clinical aspects score (range 0-4), mean (SD)	2.0 (1.5)	2.1 (1.5)	2.1 (1.5)	.52	
Patient aspects score (range 0-3), mean (SD)	1.0 (1.0)	1.1 (1.1)	1.1 (1.1)	.76	
Total score (range 0-12), mean (SD)	5.2 (3.6)	5.5 (3.5)	5.4 (3.6)	.28	



Table 3. Barriers for eHealth application.

No training in eHealth application

Human resources for IT

Barriers	Using eHealth tools for clinical practice, n (%)			P value
	No (n=201)	Yes (n=322)	Total (N=523)	
Organizational and economical barriers	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Lack of standard procedure	51 (25.4)	103 (32)	154 (29.4)	.11
Lack of regulation	66 (32.8)	106 (32.9)	172 (32.9)	.98
The capacity to deploy IT	72 (35.8)	128 (39.8)	200 (38.2)	.37
No funding	76 (37.8)	141 (43.8)	217 (41.5)	.18
Security and risk control capacity	96 (47.8)	130 (40.4)	226 (43.2)	.10
Clinical and technical barriers				
Not enough time	25 (12.4)	36 (11.2)	61 (11.7)	.66
Difficult to use	33 (16.4)	54 (16.8)	87 (16.6)	.92
Medical staff lacks IT skills	83 (41.3)	124 (38.5)	207 (39.6)	.53

89 (44.3)

98 (48.8)

134 (41.6)

142 (44.1)

223 (42.6)

240 (45.9)

.55

.30

Table 4. Factors associated with practice and positive perceptions.

Variables	Using eHealth tools for clinical practice, OR ^a (95% CI)	Perceptions about the use of eHealth, coefficient (95% CI)		
		Clinical aspects	Patient-related aspects	Organization and econom- ic aspects
Age (per year)	1.09 ^b (1.02 to 1.18)	N/A ^c	N/A	N/A
Sex				
Male	N/A	N/A	Reference	N/A
Female	N/A	N/A	-0.45 ^b (-0.88 to -0.02)	N/A
Specialty				
Clinical medicine	Reference	N/A	N/A	N/A
Other	0.64 ^d (0.43 to 0.97)	N/A	N/A	N/A
Type of occupation				
Health care professionals	N/A	Reference	N/A	Reference
Medical students	N/A	-0.94 ^b (-1.78 to -0.10)	N/A	-1.40^{d} (-2.19 to -0.61)
Purpose of using the internet				
Update medical knowledge (yes vs no)	2.24 ^d (1.45 to 3.46)	0.69 ^d (0.20 to 1.19)	N/A	N/A
Read the news (yes vs no)	N/A	0.64 ^d (0.17 to 1.12)	0.34 ^e (-0.06 to 0.74)	0.65 ^d (0.21 to 1.09)
Social networks (yes vs no)	0.68 (0.39 to 1.19)	1.00 ^d (0.40 to1.60)	N/A	0.49 ^e (-0.09 to 1.07)
Perceived levels of eHealth literacy				
Using eHealth tools to identify a medical problem (per point)	1.20 ^d (1.08 to 1.33)	N/A	N/A	0.14 ^b (0.03 to 0.25)
Using eHealth tools to evaluate the quality of a medical information source (per point)	N/A	N/A	0.40 ^d (0.16 to 0.65)	N/A
Using eHealth tools to evaluate the quality of medical information (per point)	N/A	N/A	-0.35 ^d (-0.60 to -0.10)	N/A

^aOR: odds ratio.

^bSignificant at the *P*<.05 level.

 $^{\rm c}$ N/A: not applicable.

^eSignificant at the *P*<.10 level.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Health technology and eHealth have been becoming indispensable components in hospital operation and patient care. This study contributed to the current literature to facilitate the use of eHealth principles in Vietnamese clinical settings. Our findings indicated that eHealth tools were widely used among the health care professionals, but only more than half of the medical students (280/476, 58.8%) frequently used these tools in their clinical practices. Perceived benefits and barriers in using eHealth were also explored, and the results of the multivariate analysis indicated further implications for facilitating the use of eHealth in clinical practices.

https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e34905

RenderX

Promoting the development of the eHealth system in Vietnam plays an important role in improving the quality of patient care and hospital efficiency [34]. Current eHealth systems are being applied in Vietnam, such as telemedicine systems that help support patients remotely during the COVID-19 pandemic; artificial intelligence systems that help diagnose cancer and lung diseases; and other eHealth systems, including an eHealth book system that helps manage disease status [35-37]. Especially in the context of emergency events and disasters, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, the use of eHealth tools has become even more urgent [38]. This requires current physicians and medical students to be fully equipped with sufficient eHealth literacy, which is needed to adapt to the increasing demands of these systems.

^dSignificant at the *P*<.01 level.

The use of eHealth tools in clinical settings was commonly observed among health care professionals but was still limited among medical students. However, our proportion of participants who were using eHealth tools was higher than that of a 2017 study in China, which revealed that only 51.1% of health care professionals and 41.6% of medical students had heard of telehealth [27]. Prior research in Tanzania and Ghana found that only 29.4% and 60% of health care workers have ever used computers, respectively [20]. Another study in the United States showed that merely 17.4% of medical students had experience with telemedicine [39]. Our results were understandable since, in recent years, the advancement and popularity of the internet and electronic devices (eg, laptops, smartphones, or tablets) has increasingly allowed health care professionals and medical students to conveniently access a variety of eHealth tools that are available on the internet. Moreover, the national strategy on eHealth has promoted the use of eHealth tools in clinical settings, which provides opportunities for these groups to approach and use such tools. Nonetheless, compared to findings from European countries, where 99.7% of practitioners use computers in clinical practice [19], the proportion of participants who were using eHealth tools in our study was considerably lower, suggesting that there is a huge gap that needs to be filled for the success of digital transformation in health care.

The results of this study show that the participants' levels of eHealth literacy were moderate. Given the nature of eHealth tools and systems to be innovative and to change continuously, these results indicate a potential barrier to the use and adaptation of eHealth tools [40]. Indeed, nearly half of the participants found a lack of ICT skills (207/523, 39.6%) and a lack of training (223/523, 42.6%) to be considerable challenges to using eHealth tools in clinical practices. This phenomenon could be explained by the fact that eHealth capabilities have not been systematically integrated into the current undergraduate and graduate medical curricula in Vietnam and only appear in several continuing medical education training programs. This gap can become serious if the curricula are not reformed, due to the rapid development of medical technology. Providing the most foundational eHealth skills to medical students and medical practitioners will help them adapt to the digital transformation and proficiently use eHealth tools to serve their practices [34,40].

The findings of this study also show that a great barrier to the application of eHealth in Vietnam was that physicians and medical students did not recognize the roles and benefits of eHealth tools in clinical practices. Specifically, the scores for the perceived benefits of eHealth tools were below moderate, suggesting that the benefits of eHealth for participants were not quite clear. This issue might be justified by the fact that although a national eHealth strategy had been proposed and implemented, eHealth systems in hospitals at the time of this study were still in their beginning stages, despite the major presence of the eHealth management system. Only a few central hospitals and private hospitals adopt advanced eHealth systems, such as artificial intelligence systems. Therefore, it is understandable that the physicians and medical students, particularly the latter, did not have much exposure to eHealth tools and were not fully aware of the role of eHealth. However, the COVID-19 pandemic

has accelerated the digital transformation process in all levels of the Vietnamese health care system [38]. Further, all hospitals benefited from this innovation. These benefits included the implementation of telemedicine and remote disease management and diagnosis, which fostered cooperation and technology transfer between central hospitals and primary health care facilities [37,41]. Therefore, it is expected that the perceptions of health care professionals will change and that they will quickly prepare for the process of adapting to future eHealth technologies.

In our study, medical students had lower scores for the perceptions about the organization and economic aspects and clinical aspects of the usefulness of eHealth. This study was different from a study in Austria, wherein the authors found that medical students were more optimistic about the use of eHealth to reduce health care costs but more pessimistic about the use of eHealth to improve patients' knowledge when compared to health care professionals [26]. Another study in China reported that medical students have more concerns about telehealth than health care professionals, which might be due to their low awareness and utilization of telehealth [27]. A study in the United States found that increasing exposure to telemedicine could raise the awareness and attitudes of medical students regarding telemedicine [39]. Given their bridging role between health care professionals and patients, medical students are suggested to have more positive views of eHealth application than those of other groups. Moreover, medical schools and hospitals should offer more opportunities to medical students that expose them to eHealth tools in clinical settings. This might improve their opinions about eHealth and provide them with the capacity to perform clinical practices in the future.

This study demonstrates the important role of systematically building and integrating eHealth capacities into current medical training curricula. This would be useful for physicians and medical students who can adapt to the great digital transformation of health care in Vietnam. These individuals may have good ICT skills, but they may also have limitations in evaluating the medical information they find and using medical information in clinical practice. Further studies on the development of practical training frameworks for eHealth techniques that narrow the gaps between academia and reality should also be considered and implemented.

This study has several limitations that need to be considered when interpreting the results. First, our cross-sectional survey was based on self-reported information, which might result in recall bias. Second, this study had the limitations of a cross-sectional design, which did not allow us to draw causal relationships between eHealth practices, perceived benefits of eHealth, and associated factors. Third, the snowball sampling method limited the generalizability of the study results to health care professionals and medical students in Vietnam. Fourth, the sample of health care professionals was small. To develop a full picture of the perceptions and practices regarding the application of eHealth in diagnosis and treatment among health care workers in Vietnam, additional studies should be conducted with larger sample sizes. Moreover, qualitative research should be performed to more comprehensively understand the

XSL•FO RenderX

underestimated among health care professionals and medical students. Renovating the current medical education curriculum

to integrate eHealth principles should be required to equip health

care professionals and medical students with essential skills for

rapid digital transformation.

perceptions of these populations regarding the use of eHealth tools.

Conclusion

This paper informs that in Vietnam, eHealth tools are moderately used in clinical practices, and the benefits of eHealth are

Acknowledgments

We would like to express our gratitude to the health care professionals and medical students for supporting us as we performed this study. This study was funded by National University of Singapore, Department of Psychological Medicine (grants R-177-000-100-001 and R-177-000-003-001).

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- van Gemert-Pijnen L, Kip H, Kelders SM, Sanderman R. Introducing eHealth. In: van Gemert-Pijnen L, Kelders SM, Kip H, Sanderman R, editors. eHealth Research, Theory and Development: A Multidisciplinary Approach. London, United Kingdom: Routledge; 2018.
- 2. Bethapudi A. The role of ICT in tourism industry. Journal of Applied Economics and Business 2013 Dec;1(4):67-79 [FREE Full text]
- 3. Raheem ID, Tiwari AK, Balsalobre-Lorente D. The role of ICT and financial development in CO 2 emissions and economic growth. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 2020 Jan;27(2):1912-1922. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11356-019-06590-0</u>] [Medline: <u>31760620</u>]
- 4. Singh V, Sankhwar S, Pandey D. The role of information communication technology (ICT) in agriculture. Global Journal of Multidisciplinary Studies 2014 Mar;3(4):225-230.
- 5. Oliver R. The role of ICT in higher education for the 21st century: ICT as a change agent for education. CiteSeerX. 2002. URL: <u>http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.83.9509&rep=rep1&type=pdf</u> [accessed 2022-07-18]
- 6. Williams F, Boren SA. The role of the electronic medical record (EMR) in care delivery development in developing countries: a systematic review. Inform Prim Care 2008;16(2):139-145. [doi: 10.14236/jhi.v16i2.685] [Medline: 18713530]
- Christensen K, Doblhammer G, Rau R, Vaupel JW. Ageing populations: the challenges ahead. Lancet 2009 Oct 03;374(9696):1196-1208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61460-4] [Medline: 19801098]
- Alwan A, Maclean DR, Riley LM, d'Espaignet ET, Mathers CD, Stevens GA, et al. Monitoring and surveillance of chronic non-communicable diseases: progress and capacity in high-burden countries. Lancet 2010 Nov 27;376(9755):1861-1868. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61853-3] [Medline: 21074258]
- 9. Lampos V, Cristianini N. Tracking the flu pandemic by monitoring the social web. 2010 Jun Presented at: 2010 2nd International Workshop on Cognitive Information Processing; June 14-16, 2010; Elba, Italy. [doi: 10.1109/cip.2010.5604088]
- 10. Bauer S, Moessner M. Technology-enhanced monitoring in psychotherapy and e-mental health. J Ment Health 2012 Aug;21(4):355-363. [doi: 10.3109/09638237.2012.667886] [Medline: 22548363]
- Carlier IVE, Meuldijk D, Van Vliet IM, Van Fenema E, Van der Wee NJA, Zitman FG. Routine outcome monitoring and feedback on physical or mental health status: evidence and theory. J Eval Clin Pract 2012 Feb;18(1):104-110. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2753.2010.01543.x</u>] [Medline: <u>20846319</u>]
- Wentzel J, van Velsen L, van Limburg M, de Jong N, Karreman J, Hendrix R, et al. Participatory eHealth development to support nurses in antimicrobial stewardship. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2014 Jun 05;14:45 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-14-45] [Medline: 24898694]
- Dumit EM, Novillo-Ortiz D, Contreras M, Velandia M, Danovaro-Holliday MC. The use of eHealth with immunizations: An overview of systematic reviews. Vaccine 2018 Dec 18;36(52):7923-7928 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.06.076] [Medline: 29983255]
- 14. Car J, Tan WS, Huang Z, Sloot P, Franklin BD. eHealth in the future of medications management: personalisation, monitoring and adherence. BMC Med 2017 Apr 05;15(1):73 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12916-017-0838-0] [Medline: 28376771]
- Villani D, Cognetta C, Repetto C, Serino S, Toniolo D, Scanzi F, et al. Promoting emotional well-being in older breast cancer patients: Results from an eHealth intervention. Front Psychol 2018 Nov 27;9:2279 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02279] [Medline: 30538650]
- Xu A, Wang Y, Wu X. Effectiveness of e-health based self-management to improve cancer-related fatigue, self-efficacy and quality of life in cancer patients: Systematic review and meta-analysis. J Adv Nurs 2019 Dec;75(12):3434-3447. [doi: <u>10.1111/jan.14197</u>] [Medline: <u>31566769</u>]

- Elbert NJ, van Os-Medendorp H, van Renselaar W, Ekeland AG, Hakkaart-van Roijen L, Raat H, et al. Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of ehealth interventions in somatic diseases: a systematic review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. J Med Internet Res 2014 Apr 16;16(4):e110 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2790] [Medline: 24739471]
- 18. World Health Organization. Global Diffusion of EHealth: Making Universal Health Coverage Achievable: Report of the Third Global Survey on EHealth. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2017.
- Torrent-Sellens J, Díaz-Chao Á, Soler-Ramos I, Saigí-Rubió F. Modeling and predicting outcomes of eHealth usage by European physicians: multidimensional approach from a survey of 9196 general practitioners. J Med Internet Res 2018 Oct 22;20(10):e279 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9253] [Medline: 30348628]
- Sukums F, Mensah N, Mpembeni R, Kaltschmidt J, Haefeli WE, Blank A. Health workers' knowledge of and attitudes towards computer applications in rural African health facilities. Glob Health Action 2014 Oct 27;7:24534 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3402/gha.v7.24534] [Medline: 25361721]
- Vossen K, Rethans JJ, van Kuijk SMJ, van der Vleuten CP, Kubben PL. Understanding medical students' attitudes toward learning eHealth: Questionnaire study. JMIR Med Educ 2020 Oct 01;6(2):e17030 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/17030</u>] [Medline: <u>33001034</u>]
- 22. Yaghobian S, Ohannessian R, Mathieu-Fritz A, Moulin T. National survey of telemedicine education and training in medical schools in France. J Telemed Telecare 2020 Jun;26(5):303-308. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X18820374] [Medline: 30602352]
- 23. Holderried M, Hoeper A, Holderried F, Blumenstock G, Ernst C, Tropitzsch A. Attitudes toward e-Health: The otolaryngologists' point of view. Telemed J E Health 2018 Jun;24(6):425-432. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2017.0158] [Medline: 29227206]
- 24. Zayapragassarazan Z, Kumar S. Awareness, knowledge, attitude and skills of telemedicine among health professional faculty working in teaching hospitals. J Clin Diagn Res 2016 Mar;10(3):JC01-JC04 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7860/JCDR/2016/19080.7431] [Medline: 27134899]
- 25. Albarrak AI, Mohammed R, Almarshoud N, Almujalli L, Aljaeed R, Altuwaijiri S, et al. Assessment of physician's knowledge, perception and willingness of telemedicine in Riyadh region, Saudi Arabia. J Infect Public Health 2021 Jan;14(1):97-102 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jiph.2019.04.006] [Medline: 31060975]
- Wernhart A, Gahbauer S, Haluza D. eHealth and telemedicine: Practices and beliefs among healthcare professionals and medical students at a medical university. PLoS One 2019 Feb 28;14(2):e0213067 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0213067] [Medline: 30818348]
- Chen P, Xiao L, Gou Z, Xiang L, Zhang X, Feng P. Telehealth attitudes and use among medical professionals, medical students and patients in China: A cross-sectional survey. Int J Med Inform 2017 Dec;108:13-21. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2017.09.009] [Medline: 29132618]
- Ly BA, Labonté R, Bourgeault IL, Niang MN. The individual and contextual determinants of the use of telemedicine: A descriptive study of the perceptions of Senegal's physicians and telemedicine projects managers. PLoS One 2017 Jul 21;12(7):e0181070 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0181070] [Medline: 28732028]
- 29. Villalba-Mora E, Casas I, Lupiañez-Villanueva F, Maghiros I. Adoption of health information technologies by physicians for clinical practice: The Andalusian case. Int J Med Inform 2015 Jul;84(7):477-485. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2015.03.002</u>] [Medline: <u>25823578</u>]
- 30. Joint annual health review 2015. Vietnam Ministry of Health. 2015. URL: <u>https://syt.thuathienhue.gov.vn/UploadFiles/</u> <u>TinTuc/2016/8/17/jahr2015_sum_en.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-07-18]
- 31. National eHealth Strategy Toolkit. World Health Organization. 2012. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/</u> 75211/9789241548465_eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y [accessed 2022-07-18]
- 32. Thuy LTB, Lan NH. EHealth literacy of medical students in University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Hue University, Vietnam. Airiti Library. Preprint posted online on October 24, 2018 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.6881/AHLA.201810.SP03]
- 33. Regression with Stata chapter 2 Regression diagnostics. OARC Stats UCLA. URL: <u>https://stats.oarc.ucla.edu/stata/webbooks/reg/chapter2/stata-webbooksregressionwith-statachapter-2-regression-diagnostics/</u> [accessed 2022-07-18]
- Dang TH, Nguyen TA, Van MH, Santin O, Tran OMT, Schofield P. Patient-centered care: Transforming the health care system in Vietnam with support of digital health technology. J Med Internet Res 2021 Jun 04;23(6):e24601 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/24601] [Medline: 34085939]
- 35. Lam JA, Dang LT, Phan NT, Trinh HT, Vu NC, Nguyen CK. Mobile health initiatives in Vietnam: Scoping study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Apr 24;6(4):e106 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8639] [Medline: 29691214]
- 36. Trân VA, Seldon HL, Hoàng DC, Nguyên KP. Electronic healthcare communications in Vietnam in 2004. Int J Med Inform 2006;75(10-11):764-770. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2006.01.002] [Medline: 16483837]
- Nguyen NH, Nguyen AQ, Ha VTB, Duong PX, Nguyen TV. Using emerging telehealth technology as a future model in Vietnam during the COVID-19 pandemic: Practical experience from Phutho General Hospital. JMIR Form Res 2021 Jun 22;5(6):e27968 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/27968] [Medline: 34078590]
- Bui LV, Ha ST, Nguyen HN, Nguyen TT, Nguyen TP, Tran K, et al. The contribution of digital health in the response to Covid-19 in Vietnam. Front Public Health 2021 Aug 24;9:672732 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.672732] [Medline: 34540779]
- Kong SS, Azarfar A, Ashour A, Atkins C, Bhanusali N. Awareness and attitudes towards telemedicine among medical students in the United States. Cureus 2020 Nov 19;12(11):e11574 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.7759/cureus.11574</u>] [Medline: <u>33364099</u>]
- 40. Brunner M, McGregor D, Keep M, Janssen A, Spallek H, Quinn D, et al. An eHealth capabilities framework for graduates and health professionals: Mixed-methods study. J Med Internet Res 2018 May 15;20(5):e10229 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10229] [Medline: 29764794]
- 41. Monaghesh E, Hajizadeh A. The role of telehealth during COVID-19 outbreak: a systematic review based on current evidence. BMC Public Health 2020 Aug 01;20(1):1193 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-09301-4] [Medline: 32738884]

Abbreviations

ICT: information and communication technology

Edited by N Zary; submitted 12.11.21; peer-reviewed by YJ Bao, N Phan, L Dang; comments to author 30.12.21; revised version received 06.01.22; accepted 27.05.22; published 13.09.22.

Please cite as:

Nguyen LH, Nguyen LTK, Nguyen TT, Trong Dam VA, Vu TMT, Nguyen HAS, Vu GT, Latkin CA, Ho RCM, Ho CSH Practices, Perceived Benefits, and Barriers Among Medical Students and Health Care Professionals Regarding the Adoption of eHealth in Clinical Settings: Cross-sectional Survey Study JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e34905 URL: <u>https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e34905</u> doi:<u>10.2196/34905</u> PMID:<u>36098992</u>

©Long Hoang Nguyen, Lien Thi Khanh Nguyen, Tham Thi Nguyen, Vu Anh Trong Dam, Thuc Minh Thi Vu, Hao Anh Si Nguyen, Giang Thu Vu, Carl A Latkin, Roger C M Ho, Cyrus S H Ho. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (https://mededu.jmir.org), 13.09.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Patterns of Skills Acquisition in Anesthesiologists During Simulated Interscalene Block Training on a Soft Embalmed Thiel Cadaver: Cohort Study

Graeme McLeod^{1,2*}, MBChB, CertEd, MD; Mel McKendrick^{3,4*}, PhD; Tedis Tafili³, PhD; Mateo Obregon³, PhD; Ruth Neary⁵, MB BCH BAO; Ayman Mustafa¹, MUDR; Pavan Raju¹, FRCA; Donna Kean³, PhD; Gary McKendrick³, BEng; Tuesday McKendrick⁶, BSc, MBBS

¹Ninewells Hospital, Dundee, United Kingdom ²University of Dundee, Dundee, United Kingdom ³Optomize Ltd, Glasgow, United Kingdom

⁴Heriot-Watt University, Edinburgh, United Kingdom

⁵Raigmore Hospital, Inverness, United Kingdom

⁶Barts and The London School of Medicine and Dentistry, London, United Kingdom

^{*}these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author: Graeme McLeod, MBChB, CertEd, MD Ninewells Hospital James Arnott Drive Dundee, DD1 9SY United Kingdom Phone: 44 1382 632175 Email: g.a.mcleod@dundee.ac.uk

Abstract

Background: The demand for regional anesthesia for major surgery has increased considerably, but only a small number of anesthesiologists can provide such care. Simulations may improve clinical performance. However, opportunities to rehearse procedures are limited, and the clinical educational outcomes prescribed by the Royal College of Anesthesiologists training curriculum 2021 are difficult to attain. Educational paradigms, such as mastery learning and dedicated practice, are increasingly being used to teach technical skills to enhance skills acquisition. Moreover, high-fidelity, resilient cadaver simulators are now available: the soft embalmed Thiel cadaver shows physical characteristics and functional alignment similar to those of patients. Tissue elasticity allows tissues to expand and relax, fluid to drain away, and hundreds of repeated injections to be tolerated without causing damage. Learning curves and their intra- and interindividual dynamics have not hitherto been measured on the Thiel cadaver simulator using the mastery learning and dedicated practice educational paradigm coupled with validated, quantitative metrics, such as checklists, eye tracking metrics, and self-rating scores.

Objective: Our primary objective was to measure the learning slopes of the scanning and needling phases of an interscalene block conducted repeatedly on a soft embalmed Thiel cadaver over a 3-hour period of training.

Methods: A total of 30 anesthesiologists, with a wide range of experience, conducted up to 60 ultrasound-guided interscalene blocks over 3 hours on the left side of 2 soft embalmed Thiel cadavers. The duration of the scanning and needling phases was defined as the time taken to perform all the steps correctly. The primary outcome was the best-fit linear slope of the log-log transformed time to complete each phase. Our secondary objectives were to measure preprocedural psychometrics, describe deviations from the learning slope, correlate scanning and needling phase data, characterize skills according to clinical grade, measure learning curves using objective eye gaze tracking and subjective self-rating measures, and use cluster analysis to categorize performance irrespective of grade.

Results: The median (IQR; range) log-log learning slopes were -0.47 (-0.62 to -0.32; -0.96 to 0.30) and -0.23 (-0.34 to -0.19; -0.71 to 0.27) during the scanning and needling phases, respectively. Locally Weighted Scatterplot Smoother curves showed wide variability in within-participant performance. The learning slopes of the scanning and needling phases correlated: $\rho=0.55$ (0.23-0.76), *P*<.001, and $\rho=-0.72$ (-0.46 to -0.87), *P*<.001, respectively. Eye gaze fixation count and glance count during the

scanning and needling phases best reflected block duration. Using clustering techniques, fixation count and glance were used to identify 4 distinct patterns of learning behavior.

Conclusions: We quantified learning slopes by log-log transformation of the time taken to complete the scanning and needling phases of interscalene blocks and identified intraindividual and interindividual patterns of variability.

(JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e32840) doi:<u>10.2196/32840</u>

KEYWORDS

regional anesthesia; ultrasonography; simulation; learning curves; eye tracking

Introduction

Background

Ultrasound-guided regional anesthesia (UGRA) is a complex ultrasound-based needle intervention that requires extensive training to deliver safe, high-quality pain relief and the best possible perioperative outcomes [1]. The demand for UGRA has increased considerably during the COVID-19 pandemic because surgery can be conducted awake on insensate limbs, thus avoiding opioids, intubation, and ventilation [2]. However, there is a variation in the ability to perform UGRA among anesthesiologists. Training is sporadic: skills are first learned (and errors made) on patients, then honed intermittently over many years.

However, only a weak relationship exists between experience and actual measured performance [3] and potentially harmful behavior may be hidden in independent, isolated practice.

Simulation Training

Simulation training may improve the UGRA performance [4]. Cadaver-based training courses are common but unstructured, and only basic skills are taught. Trainee:trainer ratios are high, and skills are acquired at different rates [5]. Thus, clinical educational outcomes prescribed by the Royal College of Anaesthetists training curriculum 2021 may be difficult to reach within short time frames [6,7].

A clear need exists for UGRA simulation training to compensate for the shortfall in clinical exposure to UGRA [8]; identify personal strengths and weaknesses using an expert performance approach [9]; gain insight into which personal characteristics and psychometric mechanisms impact performance; and categorize the learning patterns of a broad, general selection of anesthesiologists.

Current Evidence

To date, our work has validated the physical and functional alignment of the Thiel embalmed cadaver simulator [10], developed and validated checklist and eye tracking metrics that reflect skills performance [11], introduced mastery learning and dedicated 1:1 training to regional anesthesia [5], measured learning curves using new needle technology [5], and showed translation of skills from cadavers to patients 3 weeks after training. We also used eye tracking to measure the performance of the simulators and patients [4]. Eye tracking measures the number of fixations (points at which the visual system takes in detailed information), duration (dwell time), and saccades (rapid movement between fixations). Our eye tracking data have shown

construct validity and inverse correlation of fixations with the successful execution of checklist items [11].

The extended learning curves of anesthesiologists have not been established on a high-fidelity simulator of regional anesthesia using validated, quantitative metrics and educational paradigms associated with enhanced skill acquisition.

As the time taken to perform a task decreases with the number of repetitions of that task, learning follows the power law: log-log transformation yields a linear slope that can be easily interpreted.

Primary Objective

Therefore, our primary objective was to measure the learning slopes of a wide range of anesthesiologists trained on an interscalene block on a soft embalmed Thiel cadaver, using an expert performance approach encompassing mastery learning and dedicated practice.

Thus, our primary outcome measure was the slope of the best-fit linear lines through log-log transformed data during the scanning and needling phases of the simulated interscalene nerve block.

Methods

The study was conducted over a 3-week period at the Centre for Anatomy and Human Identification (CAHID) at the University of Dundee, governed by the Anatomy Act 2006 (Scotland). Reporting followed the Reporting Mastery Education Research in Medicine [12] guidelines, the Guidelines for Health Care Simulation Research [13], and the Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology statements [14].

Ethics Approval

The study was approved by the University of Dundee Non-Clinical Ethics Committee.

Study Population

We invited anesthesiologists with a broad range of experience to participate in this study. They included trainees from years 1 to 7 in the East of Scotland School of Anesthesia, general consultant anesthesiologists, one expert regional anesthesiology fellow, who had completed the 7-year training program, and 2 consultant regional anesthesiologists who routinely practiced nerve blocks. We subdivided anesthesiology trainees into their 3 grades within the East of Scotland anesthesiology training program. Basic training occurred in years 1 to 2, intermediate training occurred in years 3 to 4, and higher training occurred in years 5 to 7.

All trainees and general consultants had basic or intermediate UGRA proficiency according to the Dreyfus and Dreyfus lexicons [15]. They had minimal background knowledge of regional anesthesia, struggled to address problems during nerve blocks using their own judgment, and were hesitant. They were representative of the population of anesthesiologists who may have infrequently conducted supervised or unsupervised nerve blocks and routinely used ultrasound to insert central venous lines. In contrast, consultant regional anesthesiologists practiced unsupervised nerve blocks on a regular basis, provided excellence with relative ease, recognized patterns, took responsibility for going beyond current standards, and developed ways of dealing with unique problems [15].

Study Interventions

Before training, participants completed the self-reporting International Personality Item Pool (IPIP) and the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory tests. The IPIP consists of 50 statements describing 5 types of behavior: extraversion, agreeableness, conscientiousness, emotional stability, and intellect and imagination. Statements are answered using a 5-point categorical score from *very inaccurate* to *very accurate*. The State-Trait Anxiety Inventory consists of an S-Anxiety scale that uses 20 statements to evaluate on a 4-point descriptive scale how participants feel "right now, at this moment" and the T-Anxiety scale that uses 20 statements to assess on a 4-point descriptive scale how participants feel generally.

Simulator

The Anatomy Scientific Officer selected 2 soft embalmed cadavers for this study. In CAHID, cadavers are soaked in vats for 6 months using the Thiel method with a mixture of salts and acids [16] and then stored for up to 3 years. Cadavers exhibit physical fidelity and functional alignment with simulated tasks [17]. Elasticity is similar to that of patients [18]: perineural injection distends and relaxes tissues, fluid drains away from the site, with minimal change in anatomy, allowing hundreds of repeated injections <0.5 mL [17] without cadaver damage.

The study was conducted in a quiet, well-lit, ventilated room in a mortuary at CAHID. An ultrasound machine (Zonare) was positioned on the right side of the neck, and the volunteers sat on the left side of the cadaver adjacent to the trainer. Volunteers wore SMI ETG 2w wireless eye tracking glasses (SensoMotoric Instruments). Psychologists sat behind a table at the head of the cadaver with study laptop computers that received live streaming of data from eye tracking glasses. Near-infrared light was projected onto the eyes, and integrated high frame-rate cameras detected the frequency and duration of eye gaze fixations, the period during which attention is relatively stable and focused at a given location; saccades, the rapid motion of the eye from one fixation to another; dwell time, the total amount of attention to an area of interest; and glances, the number of shifts in attention between the monitor and tools.

Before beginning each interscalene block, an eye tracking software calibration procedure was performed. Eye tracking data were masked from the viewpoints of the trainer and operator and downloaded to the raw data files.

Study Procedure

Before the study started, trainers demonstrated the essential steps that were conducive to good practice and the errors that should be avoided. The participants started the study when they felt confident in doing so. The essential steps included preprocedural transducer handling and scanning skills; identification of target nerves; alignment of the needle to the transducer; visualization of the needle tip on needle movement and appropriate adjustment of its position when misaligned; observation of the needle tip during local anesthetic injection; recognition of tissue type and local anesthetic spread; and accidental intraneural injection.

Each volunteer conducted a maximum of 60 interscalene blocks within a 3-hour period. We chose this extended time frame to accommodate the wide range of competencies we expected to see and identify the dynamics of individual learning curves. Three experts performed 20 blocks because we expected them to perform at the top of their learning curve. We restricted the number of cadavers because we anticipated considerable variance in data both between and within participants over time as performance improved. Thus, the variance owing to the simulator was kept to the minimum possible. For the same reasons, we used only 2 expert regional anesthesiologists to supervise performance.

Educational Approach

We applied the expert performance approach and used mastery learning and dedicated practices [6]. Participants had clear learning objectives and received continuous, proximate instructor feedback during each procedure [19]. All errors were identified by the trainer, communicated immediately, and steps outlined earlier were repeated by participants until successful, irrespective of time. Successful block was judged by the trainer as completion of all steps and accurate injection of a test dose of approximately 0.5-mL embalming solution between the C5 and C6 nerve roots. The injection times were recorded. As all tasks were completed successfully regardless of the time taken, scanning and needling durations were used as measures of block performance. All participants, including the experts, underwent the same training and testing. Thus, this was not a study comparing novices and experts, but a study designed to capture the range of performance of all participants. The demarcation between the scanning and needling phases was defined as the time of placement of the needle tip on the skin. A 5-minute break was taken every 30 minutes to minimize operator fatigue.

Study Objectives

Our primary objective was to measure the learning slopes of the scanning and needling phases of the interscalene block conducted repeatedly on a soft embalmed Thiel cadaver over a 3-hour period of training.

Our secondary objectives were as follows:

- Measure preprocedural psychometrics
- Describe deviations from the learning slope
- Correlate scanning and needling phase data
- Measure learning curves using objective eye gaze tracking and subjective self-rating measures



• Use cluster analysis to categorize performance

End Points

Our primary outcome measure was the slope of the best-fit linear lines using log-log transformed time data during the scanning and needling phases of the simulated interscalene nerve block.

Secondary end points were as follows:

- Eye metrics: eye gaze fixation count, relative amount of attention to the monitor (%), number of glances to the monitor, and relative amount of time (%) spent on the monitor (dwell) recorded during the scanning and needling phases.
- Self-confidence before and after each block [20] on a 10-point scale ranging from 1 "not at all confident" to 10 "extremely confident."
- Anxiety was measured on a scale from 1 "extremely anxious" to 10 "extremely calm."
- Global technical skills proficiency [21] after the first block was used as a baseline measure, then repeated after the final block. The assessment consisted of four scores: 1, unable to perform the procedure under supervision; 2, able to perform the procedure under supervision; 3, able to perform the procedure with minimum supervision (needed occasional help); and 4, competent to perform the procedure unsupervised (and could deal with any complications that arose).

Data were recorded during both the search and needle insertion phases of interscalene nerve block. The demarcation between the phases was defined as the time of needle tip placement on the skin. Eye tracking data were masked from the viewpoints of the trainer and operator and downloaded to the raw data files.

Transformation of End Points

The ideal learning curve follows a power distribution. To analyze and interpret learning more easily, we log-transformed the data and plotted graphs. The primary and secondary endpoints were represented on the *y* axis and the procedure number on the *x* axis. The best-fit linear line was inserted through the data points. From each graph, we identified key features of the intercept (b), the slope (a), the SE of the slope, and the asymptote. The slope of the log-log plots constituted a measure of the rate of learning: a flat slope constituted no learning, and a steep slope indicated rapid learning.

The SE of each participant's regression slope was taken as a measure of individual variability, and the asymptote, the average performance during the last 5 trials, was regarded as an indicator of the best performance.

Statistical Analysis

Paired parametric data were analyzed using a paired 2-tailed *t* test and are presented as the difference between the means (95% CI). Paired nonparametric data were analyzed using the Wilcoxon test and are presented as the median of the differences (95% CI). The Kruskal-Wallis test was used to compare >2 groups. Linear models of log-log plots were assessed for fit using adjusted R^2 , the proportion of variation in the outcome explained by the predictor variables. The correlation between the intercept, slope, and asymptote in the scanning and needling phases was determined using the Spearman rank coefficient (ρ). Hierarchical clustering analysis was used to discriminate between the performances. The values were centered and scaled so that the magnitudes could be compared. Statistical analysis was performed using RStudio and GraphPad Prism.

Power Analysis

As no previous anesthesia study had measured learning curves in such detail and the within-subject and between-subject errors of our data were not known, we made no prior assumptions about the data and recruited all willing participants.

Results

Participant Characteristics

In total, 33 anesthesiologists opted-in to the study and provided written informed consent. Participants 6, 26, and 29 did not participate in the study, and therefore, data from 30 participants were analyzed. Their personal characteristics are listed in Table 1. The median (IQR; range) ultrasound experience and anesthetic experience were 4 (3-6; 1-12) years and 4 (3-6; 1-29) years, respectively. The participants performed 51 (40-59; 28-60) blocks. IPIP scores were as follows: extraversion 28 (26-36; 11-43), agreeableness 38 (34-42; 23-48), conscientiousness 38 (34-42; 23-48), emotional stability 36 (29-40; 19-44), and intellect and imagination 35 (32-39; 23-45). The median (IQR; range) state anxiety score was 33 (27-37; 20-63) and trait anxiety score was 36 (22-42; 26-60).



Table 1. Participant characteristics.

Participant number	Age (years)	Sex	Grade	Anesthesia (year)	Repeat procedures (n)
1	33	Male	ST ^a 6	6	58
2	34	Male	ST 5	6	49
3	28	Female	CT ^b 2	2	28
4	27	Female	CT 1	1	30
5	32	Male	ST 4	4	51
7	27	Female	CT 1	1	50
8	29	Male	ST 3	3	40
9	30	Female	ST 4	4	34
10	35	Male	CT 2	2	30
11	30	Female	ST 4	4	37
12	29	Male	ST 4	4	44
13	31	Female	ST 6	6	58
14	30	Female	ST 4	4	60
15	30	Female	ST 3	3	54
16	30	Female	CT 2	2	28
17	30	Female	ST 3	3	60
18	29	Male	ST 4	4	60
19	32	Female	ST 4	4	47
20	26	Male	ST 4	4	53
21	32	Male	ST 4	4	60
22	36	Female	ST 4	4	60
23	35	Female	Con ^c	11	50
24	32	Male	ST 6	6	60
25	45	Male	Con	17	59
27	37	Female	Con	13	60
28	34	Female	ST 4	4	53
30	31	Male	CT 1	1	50
31	34	Female	Con	9	20
32	38	Male	Con	11	20
33	55	Male	Con	27	20

^aST: specialist trainee.

^bCT: core medical trainee.

^cCon: consultant.

Cadaver Durability

Blocks were placed on the left neck of the 2 cadavers. No needle tracks were visualized on ultrasound images with repeated injections. We reported the durability of the first cadaver in this study in a previous publication [17]. It tolerated 934 interscalene blocks over 10 days without any discernible accumulation of perineural fluid compared with right-sided ultrasound control images. Tissue integrity had been attributed to tissue elasticity similar to that measured in humans [17,18].

Learning Slopes

We plotted the log times taken for 30 participants to complete the scanning and needling phases and the log number of repetitions over 3 hours. Figure 1 shows the best-fit linear learning slopes for scanning time. Performance is indicated by the linear slope (95% CI), intercept (95% CI), error, and asymptote of the best-fit line passing through log-log converted data.



Figure 1. Best-fit linear learning slopes demonstrated on log-log transformed (power) model from participants 1 to 33 during search phase of simulated interscalene block. Participants 6, 26, and 29 are excluded. Log time (duration) taken to complete all steps on y-axis, and log sequence of blocks (1 to 4) the x-axis. The blue straight line is the best-fit line through the data. The 95% CIs about the slope are shown in light gray.



During the scanning phase, the median (IQR; range) slope was -0.47 (-0.62 to -0.32; -0.96 to 0.30) and median (IQR; range) log intercept was 4.70 (4.30-5.00; 0.76-5.80). During the needling phase, median (IQR; range) slope was -0.23 (-0.34 to -0.19; -0.71 to 0.27) and the median (IQR; range) log intercept was 4.20 (3.90-4.50; 2.90-5.80). Both the slope and

SE of expert anesthesiologists (participant numbers 31, 32, and 33) notably had a relatively flat slope with little variation during scanning (Figure 1) and needling. Two novice anesthesiologists (participant numbers 12 and 17) also had a flat slope, but this was associated with marked variability, indicative of poor performance. The results are shown in Table 2.



McLeod et al

Table 2. Individual learning slope data for scanning and needling time.

Patient number	Scanning phas	se			Needling phase					
	Line inter- cept	Slope (SE; 95% CI)	Log asymp- tote	Adjusted R ²	LOESS ^a	Line inter- cept	Slope (SE; 95% CI)	Log asymp- tote	Adjusted R ²	LOESS
1	5.16 (4.75 to 5.56)	-0.66 (0.06; -0.78 to 0.53)	2.55	0.66	\rightarrow^{b}	4.44 (3.96 to 4.98)	-0.31 (0.07; -0.46 to 0.16)	3.48	0.22	$\rightarrow \downarrow$
2	5.74 (4.81 to 6.66)	-0.69 (0.14; -1.00 to 0.39)	3.19	0.35	$\rightarrow \downarrow$	4.16 (3.58 to 4.73)	-0.20 (0.09; 0.39 to 0.02)	3.37	0.07	$\rightarrow \downarrow$
3	5.73 (5.14 to 6.31)	-0.64 (0.12; -0.87 to 0.41)	3.53	0.54	$\rightarrow \uparrow$	5.26 (4.64 to 5.88)	-0.50 (0.12; 0.72 to 0.26)	4.03	0.39	$\rightarrow \uparrow$
4	4.41 (3.81 to 5.01)	-0.10 (0.11; -0.33 to 0.13)	4.18	0.01	$\rightarrow \uparrow$	4.49 (3.70 to 5.29)	-0.19 (0.15; 0.49 to 0.13)	3.71	0.02	$\rightarrow \uparrow$
5	4.67 (4.25 to 5.10)	-0.35 (0.07; -0.49 to 0.21)	3.31	0.40	\rightarrow	2.85 (2.26 to 3.44)	0.18 (0.01; 0.01 to 0.37)	3.76	0.07	↑
7	4.33 (3.82 to 4.85)	-0.21 (0.08; -0.37 to -0.04)	3.66	0.10	$\rightarrow \uparrow$	4.54 (3.70 to 5.29)	-0.28 (0.11; 0.51 to 0.05)	4.03	0.10	$\rightarrow \uparrow$
8	4.99 (4.28 to 5.69)	-0.55 (0.12; -0.80 to 0.31)	2.92	0.37	$\rightarrow \uparrow$	5.25 (4.53 to 5.94)	-0.35 (0.12; 0.59 to 0.11)	4.10	0.19	$\rightarrow \uparrow$
9	5.82 (5.38 to 6.28)	-0.62 (0.08; -0.78 to -0.45)	3.89	0.64	\rightarrow	4.43 (3.93 to 4.93)	-0.27 (0.09; 0.45 to 0.09)	3.69	0.20	$\rightarrow \downarrow$
10	5.58 (5.06 to 6.11)	-0.51 (0.10; -0.70 to -0.31)	3.85	0.49	\rightarrow	4.20 (3.66 to 4.75)	-0.23 (0.10; 0.44 to 0.03)	3.31	0.14	$\rightarrow \downarrow$
11	4.92 (4.18 to 5.67)	-0.61 (0.13; -0.87 to -0.34)	3.14	0.37	\rightarrow	4.24 (3.69 to 4.80)	-0.28 (0.10; 0.48 to 0.08)	3.14	0.17	\rightarrow
12	4.91 (4.40 to 5.42)	-0.55 (0.08; -0.72 to -0.38)	3.34	0.50	\rightarrow	4.29 (3.64 to 4.95)	-0.07 (0.10; 0.29 to 0.15)	4.05	0.42	\rightarrow
13	4.12 (3.62 to 4.62)	-0.47 (0.08; -0.63 to -0.32)	2.42	0.39	$\rightarrow \uparrow$	4.56 (4.12 to 4.99)	-0.44 (0.07; 0.58 to 0.30)	2.89	0.42	\rightarrow
14	4.63 (4.20 to 5.06)	0.50 (0.07; -0.63 to -0.36)	2.43	0.49	\rightarrow	4.30 4.01 to 4.71)	-0.39 (0.05; 0.50 to 0.28)	2.81	0.47	\rightarrow
15	4.80 (4.34 to 5.25)	-0.62 (0.07; -0.77 to -0.48)	2.72	0.61	$\rightarrow \uparrow$	4.61 (4.22 to 4.98)	-0.42 (0.06; 0.50 to 0.30)	3.18	0.51	\rightarrow
16	4.54 (3.89 to 5.19)	-0.42 (0.12; -0.67 to 0.16)	3.27	0.27	$\rightarrow \uparrow$	4.11 3.55 to 4.67)	-0.20 (0.11; 0.42 to 0.02)	3.33	0.10	$\rightarrow \uparrow$
17	4.22 (3.78 to 4.68)	0.42 (0.07; -0.57 to -0.29)	261	0.39	$\rightarrow \uparrow$	4.16 (3.65 to 4.68)	-0.20 (0.08; 0.36 to 0.04)	3.16	0.08	$\rightarrow \uparrow$
18	3.40 (2.75 to 4.05)	-0.27 (0.10; -0.46 to 0.08)	2.38	0.13	\rightarrow	3.64 (3.20 to 4.08)	-0.09 (0.06; 0.22 to 0.04)	3.23	0.02	$\rightarrow \uparrow$

https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e32840

XSL•FO RenderX

McLeod et al

Patient number	Scanning pha	se			Needling phase					
	Line inter- cept	Slope (SE; 95% CI)	Log asymp- tote	Adjusted R ²	LOESS ^a	Line inter- cept	Slope (SE; 95% CI)	Log asymp- tote	Adjusted R ²	LOESS
19	4.71 (3.89 to 5.53)	-0.41 (0.13; -0.68 to 0.10)	3.30	0.18	\rightarrow \uparrow \rightarrow	4.72 (4.05 to 5.38)	-0.34 (0.11; 0.56 to 0.12)	3.59	0.12	\rightarrow \uparrow \rightarrow
20	3.22 (2.42 to 4.01)	-0.27 (0.13; -0.53 to 0.02)	134	0.09	$\rightarrow \downarrow$	3.56 (3.03 to 4.10)	-0.19 (0.08; 0.37 to 0.02)	1.92	0.09	$\rightarrow \downarrow$
21	4.57 (4.16 to 4.97)	-0.47 (0.06; -0.60 to 0.35)	2.89	0.50	$\rightarrow \uparrow$	4.45 (3.65 to 5.24)	-0.23 (0.12; 0.46 to 0.01)	3.60	0.05	$\rightarrow \uparrow$
22	5.61 (5.00 to 6.22)	-0.96 (0.09; -1.14 to -0.77)	2.17	0.64	\rightarrow	5.76 (5.18 to 6.34)	-0.71 (0.07; 0.88 to 0.53)	2.83	0.52	\rightarrow
23	4.74 (4.33 to 5.16)	-0.57 (0.07; -0.70 to -0.44)	2.92	0.60	\rightarrow	4.20 (3.66 to 4.74)	-0.22 (0.09; 0.39 to 0.04)	3.89	0.09	$\rightarrow \uparrow$
24	4.76 (4.11 to 5.42)	-0.75 (0.10; -0.95 to 0.55)	1.76	0.48	\rightarrow	3.93 (3.61 to 4.26)	-0.23 (0.05; 0.32 to 0.12)	3.24	0.27	\rightarrow
25	5.58 (5.14 to 6.03)	-0.75 (0.07; -0.90 to -0.62)	2.92	0.68	\rightarrow	4.14 (3.79 to 4.49)	-0.30 (0.05; 0.41 to 0.20)	2.76	0.35	\rightarrow
27	4.49 (3.78 to 5.20)	-0.42 (0.11; -0.64 to 0.21)	2.47	0.20	$\rightarrow \downarrow$	3.37 (2.86 to 3.82)	0.27 (0.08; 0.42 to 0.11)	2.47	0.16	\rightarrow
28	4.65 (4.00 to 5.31)	-0.37 (0.12; -0.60 to -0.13)	3.53	0.21	$\uparrow\downarrow$	4.38 (3.80 to 4.95)	-0.18 (0.09; 0.36 to 0.01)	4.15	0.07	$\rightarrow \uparrow$
30	4.01 (3.27 to 4.75)	0.07 (0.12; -0.16 to 0.31)	4.14	0.01	$\rightarrow \uparrow$	3.29 (2.51 to 4.06)	-0.09 (0.13; -0.35 to 0.16)	3.58	0.00	\rightarrow
31	4.34 (2.96 to 5.72)	-0.34 (0.23; -0.95 to 0.27)	3.43	0.20	$\rightarrow \uparrow$	3.55 (3.26 to 3.88)	-0.40 (0.06; -0.54 to 0.27)	2.43	0.62	$\rightarrow \uparrow$
32	0.76 (-0.28 to 1.80)	0.30 (0.22; -0.17 to 0.76)	2.81	0.40	$\rightarrow \uparrow$	3.11 (2.64 to 3.57)	0.02 (0.10; -0.18 to 0.24)	3.06	0.05	$\rightarrow \uparrow$
33	2.20 (1.43 to 2.98)	0.05 (0.16; -0.29 to 0.40)	2.73	0.05	$\rightarrow \uparrow$	3.92 (3.56 to 4.28)	-0.19 (0.07; -0.35 to 0.04)	3.37	0.05	\rightarrow

^aLOESS: Locally Weighted Scatterplot Smoother.

^bLOESS fit described with arrows: \rightarrow indicates good approximate fit to slope, \downarrow indicates LOESS line persistently below the slope and accelerated learning, and \uparrow indicates LOESS line persistently above the slope and slowed learning. Combinations of \uparrow , \downarrow , and \rightarrow give an overview of learning dynamics.

Data Variability

Locally Weighted Scatterplot Smoother (LOESS) best-fit lines illustrate the dynamics of learning during the search phase and during the needling phase (Figure 2) and are summarized in Table 2. In the scanning phase, the slope of learning remained close to a straight line in 12 participants, dropped below the line in 4 participants (indicating improved performance), rose above the line in 13 participants (indicating slowed learning), and moved in a complex manner above and below the learning slope in 1 participant. During the needling phase, improvements approximated the slope of learning in 12 participants, improved in 6, and worsened in 11. One participant exhibited a complex pattern. Of the participants, 60% (18/30) showed similar patterns in the scanning and needling phases.

In Table 2, columns show participant characteristics and linear and LOESS best-fits. Linear model characteristics include intercept on y axis, and slope and described using adjusted R^2 . LOESS fit is described using arrows: \rightarrow indicates good

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e32840
```

XSL•FO RenderX

approximate fit to slope, \downarrow indicates LOESS line persistently below the slope and accelerated learning, and \uparrow indicates LOESS line persistently above the slope and slowed learning. Combinations of \uparrow , \downarrow , and \rightarrow give an overview of learning dynamics.

Figure 2. Best-fit Locally Weighted Scatterplot Smoother learning slopes demonstrated on log-log transformed (power) model from participants 1 to 33 during needling phase of simulated interscalene block. Participants 6, 26, and 29 were excluded. Log time (duration) taken to complete all steps on y-axis, and log sequence of blocks (1 to 4) the x-axis. The blue straight line is the best-fit line through the data. The 95% CIs about the slope are shown in light gray.



Association Between Scanning and Needling Phases

in the scanning and needling phases ρ =-0.87 (-0.94 to -0.73), *P*<.001, and ρ =-0.45 (-0.70 to -0.09), *P*=.01.

The correlations between the intercept, slope, variation of the slope, and asymptote in the scanning and needling phases are shown in Table 3. The greater the initial time taken (intercept) to perform the interscalene block, the greater the rate of learning

The learning slopes of the scanning and needling phases correlated; ρ =0.55 (0.23-0.76), *P*<.001; and ρ =-0.72 (-0.46 to -0.87), *P*<.001, respectively.



McLeod et al

Table 3. Correlation (ρ) between markers of learning in scanning and needling phases. Markers include the learning slope, the best-fit linear line through log-log data; the variability of the slope represented by the SE; and the asymptote, the mean of the last 5 times taken to complete the procedure.

		Scanning			Needling			
		Line intercept	Slope	SE	Line asymptote	Line intercept	Slope	SE
Sca	nning							
	Slope (95% CI); P value	-0.87 (-0.94 to -0.73); <.001	N/A ^a	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
	SE (95% CI); P value	-0.24 (-0.56 to 0.14); .20	0.38 (0.01 to 0.66); .04	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
	Line asymptote (95% CI); <i>P</i> value	0.23 (0.15 to 0.56); .21	0.19 (0.18 to 0.53); .29	0.20 (-0.19 to -0.53); .30	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
Nee	edling							
	Line intercept (95% CI); <i>P</i> value	0.48 (0.14 to 0.72); .007	-0.44 (0.70 to -0.9); .01	-0.27 (0.58 to 0.11); .15	0.10 (-0.28 to 0.46); .59	N/A	N/A	N/A
	Slope (95% CI); P value	-0.45 (-0.70 to -0.09); .01	0.55 (0.23 to 0.76); .001	0.17 (-0.21 to 0.51); .37	0.10 (-0.28 to 0.45); .61	-0.71 (-0.86 to -0.46); <.001	N/A	N/A
	SE (95% CI); P value	0.01 (-0.36 to 0.38); .96	0.24 (0.14 to 0.56); .20	0.30 (-0.08 to 0.60); .11	0.57 (0.26 to 0.78); <.001	0.32 (-0.06 to 0.61); .09	0.10 (-0.28 to 0.45); .60	N/A
	Line asymptote (95% CI); <i>P</i> value	0.26 (-0.12 to 0.57); .16	0.03 (0.34 to 0.39); .87	-0.12 (-0.47 to 0.26); .54	0.60 (0.29 to 0.79); .001	0.39 (-0.002 to 0.65); .04	0.54 (-0.24 to 0.49); .46	0.54 (0.21 to 0.76); .002

^aN/A: not applicable.

Effect of Grade of Anesthesiologist on Scanning and Needling

The relationship between anesthesiology grade and learning is shown in Figure 3.

The experts had a flatter slope but greater variability during scanning but less variability during needling (all comparisons P=.02).



Figure 3. Grade. Experts had a flatter slope but greater variability during scanning, but less variability during needling (all comparisons P=.02). Novice anesthesiology trainees correspond to years 1 to 2 (1/2); intermediate anesthesiology trainees to years 3 to 4 (3/4); and higher anesthesiology trainees to years 5 to 7 (5/6/7). Consultant non-expert anesthesiologists designated as "Con".



Secondary End Points

Linear slopes and LOESS best-fit lines were generated for our secondary endpoints (fixation count, relative fixation to the

monitor [%], glance count and relative dwell time [%], self-confidence, and anxiety scores). An example of using the best-fit linear slopes of eye fixation counts in the search phase is shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4. Eye gaze fixation count. Best-fit linear learning slopes demonstrated on log-log transformed (power) model from participants 1 to 33 during search phase of simulated interscalene block. Participants 6, 26, and 29 were excluded. Fixation count on y-axis, and log sequence of blocks (1 to 4) the x-axis. The blue straight line is the best-fit line through the data. The 95% CI about the slope are shown in light gray.



Data Distribution

The distribution of slope estimate, slope SE, and asymptote data (indicated by median (IQR; range) are shown for the primary endpoint (duration) and secondary endpoints (Figure 5). Eye gaze fixation count and glance count during the scanning and needling phases best reflected the median (IQR) block duration.

In contrast, relative fixation on the monitor (%), relative dwell time (%), self-confidence, and anxiety scores showed little variation. The wide distribution of fixation count and glance count reflected the wide distribution of time to complete scanning and needling. Therefore, block duration, fixation count, and glance count were chosen as quantitative markers for performance discrimination.



Figure 5. Slope estimate, slope standard error and asymptote of the primary end point, duration (Dur) and secondary end-points, median (IQR [range]). Secondary end-points include: eye gaze fixation count (Fix), relative fixation to the monitor (Fix%), glance count (G), and relative dwell time (W%) during the scanning and needling phases; and pre block anxiety (Anx) and self-confidence (Pre) and post block self-confidence (Pst). Large variation in effect with duration, fixation and glance count but not psychological variables.



Correlation Between End Points

Learning slopes (duration) correlated with eye fixation and glance slopes in both the scanning and needling phases (Figure 6) but not with confidence, anxiety, or global skills scores.



Figure 6. Correlation (ranging from -1 to +1) between procedural duration, fixation count, and glance count in the scanning (S) and needling (N) phases; mean pre- and postprocedural confidence; procedural anxiety; and initial and final proficiency. The scale indicated on the right is color mapped in shades of purple from 0 to +1 and shades of blue from 0 to -1. The largest correlations existed among procedural duration, fixation, and glance count in both the scanning and needling phases.

	Duration - S	Fixation - S	Glance - S	Duration - N	Fixation - N	Glance - N	Confidence - Pre	Confidence - Post	Anxiety	Global skills - Pre	Global skills - Post		1.0
Duration - S	1.00	0.84	0.49	0.55	0.35	-0.01	-0.16		-0.10	0.15	-0.01		1.0
Fixation - S	0.84	1.00	0.62	0.38	0.33	-0.02	-0.19		-0.22	0.09	0.21		
Glance - S	0.49	0.62	1.00	0.16	0.16	0.14	-0.33		-0.09	-0.16	0.28		0.5
Duration - N	0.55	0.38	0.16	1.00	0.63	0.45	-0.23	-0.26	-0.04	0.35	-0.06		
Fixation - N	0.35	0.33	0.16	0.63	1.00	0.45	-0.36	-0.25	-0.09	0.14	0.02		
Glance - N	-0.01	-0.02	0.14	0.45	0.45	1.00	-0.39	-0.22	0.22	0.05	0.08		0
Confidence - Pre	-0.16	-0.19	-0.33	-0.23	-0.36	-0.39	1.00	0.07	0.18	0.24	-0.04		
Confidence - Post				-0.26	-0.25	-0.22	0.07	1.00	-0.09	0.15	0.21		
Anxiety	-0.10	-0.22	-0.09	-0.04	-0.09	0.22	0.18	-0.09	1.00	0.09	0.00	• •	-0.5
Global skills - Pre	0.15	0.09	-0.16	0.35	0.14	0.05	0.24	0.15	0.09	1.00	0.15		
Global skills - Post	-0.01	0.21	0.28	-0.06	0.02	0.08	-0.04	0.21	0.00	0.15	1.00		_1 0
-													~ 1.0

Clustering

A cluster analysis of preprocedural and procedural fixation and glance counts (Figure 7) identified 4 distinct performance groups within both the search and needling phases.

Groups were ranked according to performance (from best to worst) as A, B, C, and D in the scanning phase (Figure 8) and a, b, c, and d in the needling phase (Figure 9). Figure 9 outlines the characteristics (intercept, slope, error, and asymptote) of the learning slopes for the duration, eye fixations, and eye glances during the scanning phase. Distinct performance trends are observed for the best to worst performance. For example, better performance was associated with reductions in the asymptote of procedure duration (image J; χ^2_3 =17.0; *P*<.001); the intercept

(image B; χ^2_3 =9.5; *P*=.02) and asymptote (image K; χ^2_3 =21.2; *P*<.001) of eye gaze fixations; and the learning slope of eye glances (image F; χ^2_3 =9.3; *P*=.03).

Figure 9 outlines the characteristics (intercept, slope, error, and asymptote) of the learning slopes for duration, eye fixations, and eye glances during the needling phase according to groups defined by cluster analysis. The same trends in performance for the best to worst performance were observed using the intercepts and asymptotes as in the scanning phase. For example, better performance was associated with reductions in the SE (image H; χ^2_3 =9.6; *P*=.02), asymptote of procedure duration (image K; χ^2_3 =14.4; *P*=.002), intercept (image B; χ^2_3 =12.8; *P*=.005), and asymptote of eye gaze fixations (image L; χ^2_3 =7.9; *P*=.04).



Figure 7. Dendrograms created by cluster analysis of preprocedural and procedural fixation and glance counts. Search phase (groups A, B, C, D) and needle phase (groups a, b, c, d).



Figure 8. Characteristics of scanning phase learning slopes (procedure duration, eye fixation and glance) according to groups defined by cluster analysis. Characteristics include intercept, slope standard error and asymptote. Better performance was associated with reductions in: the asymptote of procedure duration (image J), (χ^2 17.0, *P*<.001); the intercept (image B), (χ^2 9.5, *P*=.02) and asymptote (image K), (χ^2 21.2, *P*<.001) of eye gaze fixations; and the learning slope of eye glances (image F), (χ^2 9.3, *P*=.03).





McLeod et al

Figure 9. Characteristics (intercept, slope, error and asymptote) of the learning slopes for duration, eye fixations and eye glances during the needling phase, according to groups defined by cluster analysis. better performance was associated with reductions in: the standard error (image H) (χ^2 9.6, *P* .02); and asymptote of procedure duration (image K) (χ^2 14.4, *P*=.002); and the intercept (image B) (χ^2 12.8, *P*=.005) and asymptote of eye gaze fixations (image L) (χ^2 7.9, *P*=.04).



Discussion

Principal Findings

We characterized the individual learning slopes of 30 anesthesiologists performing simulated interscalene blocks using log-log transformations of procedure-time data. The dynamic nature of learning was captured by LOESS best-fit lines. Needling performance paralleled scanning performance. Expert anesthesiologists were characterized by consistent and stable performance, whereas novice anesthesiologists took longer, and their performance varied. We identified 4 disparate skill groups for scanning and needling. The discrimination of performance using eye gaze fixation count and glance count reflected the discrimination of performance using procedural time.

Strengths and Weaknesses

The strengths of our study were its educational and statistical approaches, application of quantitative metrics, and the use of a validated high-fidelity simulator.

Educational Approach

First, we applied mastery learning and dedicated practice as part of the expert performance approach to each preprocedural and procedural step, rather than the nerve block as a whole. Mastery learning is increasingly used in medical schools for skills training [22], and a recent review has recommended the

introduction of deliberate practice into anesthesia teaching [23]. Unlike traditional assessment approaches that set a threshold for pass or fail over a set time, mastery learning endeavors to achieve a predefined skill level for all participants, irrespective of time [24]. Thus, in our study, all blocks were conducted successfully, irrespective of training duration. In this way, the measurement of duration was regarded as a marker of block quality because all items were completed. However, a weakness of our approach is that we failed to measure the number of errors made. Only one study that investigated UGRA training measured tasks and errors [25]. In future work, we intend to test trainees using video analysis of errors, including those that may cause harm to the patient.

Statistical Approach

Second, we demonstrated that skill acquisition follows the power law of learning [26]. Although log-log conversion enabled a linear fit through all data sets, intraparticipant variability still occurred over time. Individual dynamics were most apparent using LOESS curves in both the scanning and needling phases and revealed a number of different learning patterns. Owing to the complexity of these patterns, we intend to analyze data sets in the future using nonlinear mixed-effects models, Bayesian methods, and machine learning [27,28]. Advanced modeling will enable us to better fit individual learning curves and capture both within- and between-participant variability in initial performance and any deterioration in performance due to fatigue.

Cluster analysis enabled us to discriminate performance irrespective of the grade (specialist trainee [ST]) and year of training. We identified 6 participants (participant numbers 13 [ST6], 17 [ST3], 18 [ST4], 20 [ST4], 22 [ST4], and 24 [ST6]) who matched expert scanning performance and 5 participants (participant numbers 1 [ST6], 15 [ST3], 20 [ST4], 24 [ST6], and 25 [consultants]) who matched expert needling performance. These best learners consistently improved, as indicated by the negative learning slope, even when starting from a low base. By contrast, the worst performers started out slowly and showed little improvement. They were characterized by high asymptotes and high data variability. The remaining trainees performed irregularly across trials, sometimes improving and sometimes worsening from trial to trial, indicated by rises and falls in the learning slope and the wide spread of data. Not all learners improved over the course of the teaching, and learning failed to stabilize during the asymptote (last 5 trials), even when repetitively performing tasks at the same site on the same cadaver.

Unlike Dreyfus and Dreyfus [29], we identified 4 rather than 5 disparate groups for both scanning and needling phases using cluster analysis techniques. No previous anesthesia studies have attempted to measure and categorize skills using the Dreyfus criteria. Therefore, our results provide a unique insight into the range of interscalene block skills from novice to expert and broadly reflect the descriptors defined by Dreyfus and Dreyfus [29].

Nevertheless, it must be borne in mind that we only defined the range of skills for a single interscalene block. We hypothesize that when faced with a new cadaver, new patient, or new block, even more learning will be required, and fewer participants will be likely to plateau or match the performance of experts.

We recommend that skills training be built in a series of isolated steps so that performance can be measured while new skills are being acquired. We do not take the view that one course of mastery learning is sufficient, but that ongoing training and assessment are required to ascend the skills ladder proposed by Dreyfus and Dreyfus [29] and reduce the effects of skill drain. In future work, we intend to measure the rate of skill loss after training as a means of timing the need for retraining on the simulator.

Metrics

Third, we demonstrated a strong construct validity with respect to attentional focus. Most studies have demonstrated construct validity by comparing novices or even nonanesthesiologists to experts. In contrast, using a heterogeneous group of anesthesiologists, our study showed an improvement in attentional focus over several groups in the following order: experts>fellow>higher trainees>intermediate trainees>novice trainees (Figure 3). Experts focused intently on the monitor, had fewer fixations, shorter overall dwell time (less time spent attending to the screen or tool area), and fewer switches in attention between the target and tools compared with novices. This may indicate novice difficulty in handling tools (probe or needle) or greater cognitive processing. Some trainees were recruited after finishing the night on call and may have been tired. We admit that the failure to standardize trainee wakefulness left us with some background statistical noise. Nevertheless, we feel that this study at least represented everyday practice, and we were readily able to expose the variability and discriminatory properties of eye tracking metrics.

Simulator

Fourth, our study was made possible using our durable cadaver simulator. Unlike fresh frozen cadavers, the soft embalmed cadaver tolerated 934 injections over 2 weeks [16]. The fluid quickly drained away from the interscalene groove and provided good conditions for repetitive practice. Needle tracks were not seen, and external pressure marks resolved because the cadaver retained its elasticity. Images demonstrating this phenomenon are available in our previous publication [17]. Cadaver hire is not inexpensive, costing £250 (US 300) per half-day of training, although it is possible for 2 training groups to be accommodated at either end of the cadaver. Our group has already successfully executed 4 courses to enhance proficiency by using mastery methods.

We chose to restrict the number of cadavers used. We expected large intraparticipant variance as performance improved with repetition (learning curve), and we foresaw large interparticipant variance because we were examining the widest possible range of skills between anesthesiologists. Therefore, the use of several cadavers would have introduced even more variance and necessitated a large study.

However, we do appreciate that the restriction of cadavers does not reflect the variation seen in clinical practice, and we would urge some caution when extrapolating data. We intend to conduct an RCT that also exposes participants to multiple

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

cadavers and study transference by allocating them to multiple nerve blocks.

Of interest to teachers is how many blocks does it take to attain the expertise of experts? To calculate this, one may assume a relationship between time (T) and the number of blocks (N) as a negative power learning curve in the form: $T=b*Na.or^aNa$ = b/T.

From our data, assuming b=60 and a=0.005 derived from fitting curves to our data, expertise equivalent to our fellow is gained after 189 blocks and needs 284 or 550 blocks to resemble the performance of experts 2 and 1, respectively. Increasing *b* to 70 or 80 increases the requirement to 351 and 377, respectively, to match consultant 2.

Comparison With Prior Work

Our findings are consistent with the expert behavior observed in laparoscopy, radiology, and chess playing [9], and this is thought to be underpinned by the gradual build-up of memories of visual structures. We hypothesized that dedicated practice in a cadaver-based mastery learning environment provides an opportunity to repeatedly encode these visual memories. The best novices were more experienced and approached the performance of the regional fellow but not expert consultants. We suggest that experienced novices probably developed transferable skills from the general experience of ultrasonography, for example, during central line insertion.

Trainees characteristically tend to be *overloaded* with information psychomotor performance, spatial judgments, monitoring data, instruction, and intraoperative events [30,31]. Limited cognitive resources are available to enable decisive and correct decision-making. Thus, the automation of technical skills through mastery learning and feedback enables trainees to cope with the challenges of regional anesthesia by minimizing cognitive overload.

Two studies used eye tracking in UGRA and demonstrated, as in our study, greater attentional focus on targets during simulated tasks with experts than trainees [4,32]. Surgical disciplines have made progress in the application of attentional theory and practice to medical training. In laparoscopy training, experts achieved faster task completion in simulator training, greater attentional focus to the target, and fewer switches between the target and tools [33,34]. What is missing from the literature is the study of incremental steps toward competency and intermediate expertise.

Future Directions

Our results suggest that eye tracking can be regarded as a means of formative feedback (via visual feedback on gaze behavior) and assessment within the context of a mastery learning program. It provides a deeper understanding of why trainees learn at different rates based on their attentional patterns and allows reflection on performance. We suggest that an objective assessment of performance using eye movements can complement traditional methods by reducing assessment variability between trainers. Ultimately, this method could be adapted from face-to-face learning to remote web-based education.

Real-time eye tracking metrics are not yet available because the data must be analyzed by a statistician. With this in mind, our team is developing algorithms that would allow the translation of measurements to clinical environments and correlate eye tracking with motion analysis.

Conclusions

Our collaborative, translational approach to measuring technical skills performance fits well with recommendations within the recent Topol Report on Digital Medicine [35]. We have shown substantial improvements in skill acquisition and present data that demonstrate how technology can be used to quantify complex human performance.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to acknowledge the staff of the Centre for Anatomy and Human Identification at the University of Dundee.

Optomize, Glasgow, and Scotland funded this study. Optomize was in receipt of a SMART grant from Scottish Enterprise, Glasgow, Scotland.

Authors' Contributions

G McLeod designed and managed the study and wrote the paper. MM obtained funding, designed and managed the study, and wrote the paper. G McKendrick provided engineering support. TT and DK provided psychology support. AM, PR, and RN were involved with anesthesia supervision. TM collated eye tracking data. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

MM is the chief executive officer of Optomize.

References

RenderX

 Neal JM, Brull R, Horn JL, Liu SS, McCartney CJ, Perlas A, et al. The second American society of regional anesthesia and pain medicine evidence-based medicine assessment of ultrasound-guided regional anesthesia: executive summary. Reg Anesth Pain Med 2016;41(2):181-194. [doi: <u>10.1097/AAP.00000000000331</u>] [Medline: <u>26695878</u>]

- Uppal V, Sondekoppam RV, Landau R, El-Boghdadly K, Narouze S, Kalagara HK. Neuraxial anaesthesia and peripheral nerve blocks during the COVID-19 pandemic: a literature review and practice recommendations. Anaesthesia 2020 Oct;75(10):1350-1363 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/anae.15105] [Medline: 32344456]
- 3. Ericsson KA. Deliberate practice and acquisition of expert performance: a general overview. Acad Emerg Med 2008 Nov;15(11):988-994 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1553-2712.2008.00227.x] [Medline: 18778378]
- 4. Borg LK, Harrison TK, Kou A, Mariano ER, Udani AD, Kim TE, ADAPT (Anesthesiology-Directed Advanced Procedural Training) Research Group. Preliminary experience using eye-tracking technology to differentiate novice and expert image interpretation for ultrasound-guided regional anesthesia. J Ultrasound Med 2018 Feb;37(2):329-336. [doi: 10.1002/jum.14334] [Medline: 28777464]
- McKendrick M, Sadler A, Taylor A, Seeley J, Filipescu T, Mustafa A, et al. The effect of an ultrasound-activated needle tip tracker needle on the performance of sciatic nerve block on a soft embalmed Thiel cadaver. Anaesthesia 2021 Feb;76(2):209-217 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/anae.15211] [Medline: 32797700]
- 6. McGaghie WC. Mastery learning: it is time for medical education to join the 21st century. Acad Med 2015 Nov;90(11):1438-1441. [doi: 10.1097/ACM.000000000000011] [Medline: 26375269]
- Yudkowsky R, Park YS, Lineberry M, Knox A, Ritter EM. Setting mastery learning standards. Acad Med 2015 Nov;90(11):1495-1500. [doi: 10.1097/ACM.000000000000887] [Medline: 26375263]
- McGaghie WC, Issenberg SB, Cohen ER, Barsuk JH, Wayne DB. Medical education featuring mastery learning with deliberate practice can lead to better health for individuals and populations. Acad Med 2011 Nov;86(11):e8-e9. [doi: 10.1097/ACM.0b013e3182308d37] [Medline: 22030671]
- 9. Ericsson KA. Acquisition and maintenance of medical expertise: a perspective from the expert-performance approach with deliberate practice. Acad Med 2015 Nov;90(11):1471-1486. [doi: <u>10.1097/ACM.00000000000939</u>] [Medline: <u>26375267</u>]
- McLeod G, Zihang S, Sadler A, Chandra A, Qiao P, Huang Z, et al. Validation of the soft-embalmed Thiel cadaver as a high-fidelity simulator of pressure during targeted nerve injection. Reg Anesth Pain Med 2021 Jun;46(6):540-548. [doi: 10.1136/rapm-2020-102132] [Medline: <u>33906953</u>]
- 11. McLeod G, McKendrick M, Taylor A, Lynch J, Ker J, Sadler A, et al. Validity and reliability of metrics for translation of regional anaesthesia performance from cadavers to patients. Br J Anaesth 2019 Sep;123(3):368-377 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.bja.2019.04.060] [Medline: 31255289]
- Cohen ER, McGaghie WC, Wayne DB, Lineberry M, Yudkowsky R, Barsuk JH. Recommendations for Reporting Mastery Education Research in Medicine (ReMERM). Acad Med 2015 Nov;90(11):1509-1514. [doi: 10.1097/ACM.00000000000933] [Medline: 26375270]
- Cheng A, Kessler D, Mackinnon R, Chang TP, Nadkarni VM, Hunt EA, International Network for Simulation-based Pediatric Innovation, Research, and Education (INSPIRE) Reporting Guidelines Investigators. Reporting guidelines for health care simulation research: extensions to the CONSORT and STROBE statements. Simul Healthc 2016 Aug;11(4):238-248. [doi: 10.1097/SIH.00000000000150] [Medline: 27465839]
- von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gøtzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP, STROBE Initiative. Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. BMJ 2007 Oct 20;335(7624):806-808 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.39335.541782.AD] [Medline: 17947786]
- 15. Dreyfus H. Mind Over Machine: The Power of Human Intuition and Expertise in the Era of the Computer. New York, NY, USA: The Free Press (Macmillan); 1986.
- 16. Eisma R, Lamb C, Soames RW. From formalin to Thiel embalming: what changes? One anatomy department's experiences. Clin Anat 2013 Jul;26(5):564-571. [doi: <u>10.1002/ca.22222</u>] [Medline: <u>23408386</u>]
- Munirama S, Eisma R, Columb M, Corner GA, McLeod GA. Physical properties and functional alignment of soft-embalmed Thiel human cadaver when used as a simulator for ultrasound-guided regional anaesthesia. Br J Anaesth 2016 May;116(5):699-707 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/bja/aev548] [Medline: 27106974]
- Joy J, McLeod G, Lee N, Munirama S, Corner G, Eisma R, et al. Quantitative assessment of Thiel soft-embalmed human cadavers using shear wave elastography. Ann Anat 2015 Nov;202:52-56. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.aanat.2015.06.007</u>] [Medline: <u>26342463</u>]
- 19. McGaghie WC, Issenberg SB, Barsuk JH, Wayne DB. A critical review of simulation-based mastery learning with translational outcomes. Med Educ 2014 Apr;48(4):375-385. [doi: <u>10.1111/medu.12391</u>] [Medline: <u>24606621</u>]
- 20. Byrne AJ, Blagrove MT, McDougall SJ. Dynamic confidence during simulated clinical tasks. Postgrad Med J 2005 Dec;81(962):785-788 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/pgmj.2004.029942] [Medline: 16344305]
- Mendes da Costa T. Procedure-based assessments: an appropriate assessment tool? Ann R Coll Surg Engl 2014 Jul;96(7 Suppl):236-238. [doi: 10.1308/147363514x13990346756409]
- Barsuk JH, Cohen ER, Williams MV, Scher J, Jones SF, Feinglass J, et al. Simulation-based mastery learning for thoracentesis skills improves patient outcomes: a randomized trial. Acad Med 2018 May;93(5):729-735. [doi: 10.1097/ACM.00000000001965] [Medline: 29068818]
- 23. Hastings RH, Rickard TC. Deliberate practice for achieving and maintaining expertise in anesthesiology. Anesth Analg 2015 Feb;120(2):449-459. [doi: 10.1213/ANE.000000000000526] [Medline: 25602455]

- 24. McGaghie WC, Harris IB. Learning theory foundations of simulation-based mastery learning. Simul Healthc 2018 Jun;13(3S Suppl 1):S15-S20. [doi: 10.1097/SIH.00000000000279] [Medline: 29373384]
- 25. Ahmed OM, O'Donnell BD, Gallagher AG, Shorten GD. Development of performance and error metrics for ultrasound-guided axillary brachial plexus block. Adv Med Educ Pract 2017 Apr 5;8:257-263 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/AMEP.S128963] [Medline: 28435344]
- 26. Howard RW. Learning curves in highly skilled chess players: a test of the generality of the power law of practice. Acta Psychol (Amst) 2014 Sep;151:16-23. [doi: 10.1016/j.actpsy.2014.05.013] [Medline: 24915472]
- 27. Oravecz Z, Muth C. Fitting growth curve models in the Bayesian framework. Psychon Bull Rev 2018 Feb;25(1):235-255. [doi: <u>10.3758/s13423-017-1281-0</u>] [Medline: <u>28493149</u>]
- Vandekerckhove J, Rouder JN, Kruschke JK. Editorial: Bayesian methods for advancing psychological science. Psychon Bull Rev 2018 Feb;25(1):1-4. [doi: <u>10.3758/s13423-018-1443-8</u>] [Medline: <u>29450790</u>]
- 29. Peña A. The Dreyfus model of clinical problem-solving skills acquisition: a critical perspective. Med Educ Online 2010 Jun 14;15(1):4846 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3402/meo.v15i0.4846] [Medline: 20563279]
- Gallagher AG, Satava RM, Shorten GD. Measuring surgical skill: a rapidly evolving scientific methodology. Surg Endosc 2013 May;27(5):1451-1455. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00464-013-2786-x</u>] [Medline: <u>23371021</u>]
- Palter VN, Orzech N, Reznick RK, Grantcharov TP. Validation of a structured training and assessment curriculum for technical skill acquisition in minimally invasive surgery: a randomized controlled trial. Ann Surg 2013 Feb;257(2):224-230. [doi: <u>10.1097/SLA.0b013e31827051cd</u>] [Medline: <u>23013806</u>]
- 32. Harrison TK, Kim TE, Kou A, Shum C, Mariano ER, Howard SK, ADAPT (Anesthesiology-Directed Advanced Procedural Training) Research Group. Feasibility of eye-tracking technology to quantify expertise in ultrasound-guided regional anesthesia. J Anesth 2016 Jun;30(3):530-533. [doi: 10.1007/s00540-016-2157-6] [Medline: 26980475]
- Wilson MR, McGrath JS, Vine SJ, Brewer J, Defriend D, Masters RS. Perceptual impairment and psychomotor control in virtual laparoscopic surgery. Surg Endosc 2011 Jul;25(7):2268-2274 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1007/s00464-010-1546-4</u>] [Medline: <u>21359902</u>]
- Wilson MR, Vine SJ, Bright E, Masters RS, Defriend D, McGrath JS. Gaze training enhances laparoscopic technical skill acquisition and multi-tasking performance: a randomized, controlled study. Surg Endosc 2011 Dec;25(12):3731-3739 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00464-011-1802-2] [Medline: 21671125]
- 35. Topol E. Topol Report: Preparing the healthcare workforce to deliver the digital future. Health Education England NHS. 2019. URL: <u>https://topol.hee.nhs.uk/</u> [accessed 2021-11-30]

Abbreviations

CAHID: Centre for Anatomy and Human Identification IPIP: International Personality Item Pool LOESS: Locally Weighted Scatterplot Smoother ST: specialist trainee UGRA: ultrasound-guided regional anesthesia

Edited by T Leung; submitted 17.09.21; peer-reviewed by E Mohammadi, R Lee, M Hellaby; comments to author 06.12.21; revised version received 19.01.22; accepted 26.04.22; published 11.08.22.

Please cite as:

McLeod G, McKendrick M, Tafili T, Obregon M, Neary R, Mustafa A, Raju P, Kean D, McKendrick G, McKendrick T Patterns of Skills Acquisition in Anesthesiologists During Simulated Interscalene Block Training on a Soft Embalmed Thiel Cadaver: Cohort Study JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e32840 URL: https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e32840 doi:10.2196/32840 PMID:35543314

©Graeme McLeod, Mel McKendrick, Tedis Tafili, Mateo Obregon, Ruth Neary, Ayman Mustafa, Pavan Raju, Donna Kean, Gary McKendrick, Tuesday McKendrick. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (https://mededu.jmir.org), 11.08.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Assessment as Learning in Medical Education: Feasibility and Perceived Impact of Student-Generated Formative Assessments

Ritu Lakhtakia¹, MBBS, MD, PhD; Farah Otaki², BSc, MPH, CPH, MBA; Laila Alsuwaidi¹, BSc, MSc, PhD; Nabil Zary³, MD, PhD

¹College of Medicine, Mohammed Bin Rashid University of Medicine and Health Sciences, Dubai, United Arab Emirates

²Strategy and Institutional Excellence, Mohammed Bin Rashid University of Medicine and Health Sciences, Dubai, United Arab Emirates

³Institute for Excellence in Health Professions Education, Mohammed Bin Rashid University of Medicine and Health Sciences, Dubai, United Arab Emirates

Corresponding Author: Ritu Lakhtakia, MBBS, MD, PhD College of Medicine Mohammed Bin Rashid University of Medicine and Health Sciences Building 14 College of Medicine, Mohammed Bin Rashid University Dubai Healthcare City Dubai, 505055 United Arab Emirates Phone: 971 521401101 Email: ritu.lakhtakia@mbru.ac.ae

Abstract

Background: Self-regulated learning (SRL) is gaining widespread recognition as a vital competency that is desirable to sustain lifelong learning, especially relevant to health professions education. Contemporary educational practices emphasize this aspect of undergraduate medical education through innovative designs of teaching and learning, such as the flipped classroom and team-based learning. Assessment practices are less commonly deployed to build capacity for SRL. Assessment *as* learning (AaL) can be a unique way of inculcating SRL by enabling active learning habits. It charges students to create formative assessments, reinforcing student-centered in-depth learning and critical thinking.

Objective: This study aimed to explore, from the learners' perspectives, the feasibility and perceived learning impact of student-generated formative assessments.

Methods: This study relied on a convergent mixed methods approach. An educational intervention was deployed on a cohort of 54 students in the second year of a 6-year undergraduate medical program as part of a single-course curriculum. The AaL intervention engaged students in generating assessments using peer collaboration, tutor facilitation, and feedback. The outcomes of the intervention were measured through quantitative and qualitative data on student perceptions, which were collected through an anonymized web-based survey and in-person focus groups, respectively. Quantitative survey data were analyzed using SPSS (IBM), and qualitative inputs underwent thematic analysis.

Results: The students' overall score of agreement with the AaL educational intervention was 84%, which was strongly correlated with scores for ease and impact on a 5-point Likert-type scale. The themes that emerged from the qualitative analysis included prominent characteristics, immediate gains, and expected long-term benefits of engagement. The prominent characteristics included individuals' engagement, effective interdependencies, novelty, and time requirements. The identified immediate gains highlighted increased motivation and acquisition of knowledge and skills. The expected long-term benefits included critical thinking, problem solving, and clinical reasoning.

Conclusions: As a form of AaL, student-generated assessments were perceived as viable, constructive, and stimulating educational exercises by the student authors. In the short term, the activity provided students with a fun and challenging opportunity to dive deeply into the content, be creative in designing questions, and improve exam-taking skills. In the long term, students expected an enhancement of critical thinking and the inculcation of student-centered attributes of self-regulated lifelong learning and peer collaboration, which are vital to the practice of medicine.

(JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e35820) doi:10.2196/35820



KEYWORDS

self-regulated learning; assessment as learning; student-generated assessments; lifelong learning; medical education

Introduction

Background

Self-regulated learning (SRL) is a desirable student attribute that inculcates the habit of lifelong learning and is invaluable to budding health professionals [1]. SRL encourages adult learners to plan, implement, and evaluate their learning needs and outcomes. It works best as a supplement to traditional learning, with the adult learner increasingly taking charge of his own learning rather than passively receiving it. SRL has cognitive, metacognitive, behavioral, motivational, and emotional, or affective aspects that crosslink to make the end result either effective or not [2]. Most SRL models emphasize the development of this attribute in adult learners through preparatory, performance, and appraisal phases. In practice, SRL models can be stratified to become stage appropriate for the target student population, which, in turn, determines learning strategy and success [2].

Traditional theories and models of adult learning include instrumental learning theories, humanistic theories. transformative learning theories, social theories of learning, and motivational and reflective models [3]. In a review of their application to medical education, an Association for Medical Education in Europe guide proposes that student learners take charge of their learning through successive phases of dissonance, refinement, organization, and feedback, anchored by a learner-tutor nexus, wherein both roles are clearly defined for each phase [3]. Several teaching and learning activities can encourage the development of this quality. Flipped learning classrooms, simulation-based sessions with student-centered activities, and team-based learning are some teaching-learning formats used in preclinical medical education. In clerkship years, the learning context (eg, emergency room, inpatient bedside, or community practice) determines adult learners' increasing reliance on SRL. These adapted formats promote higher-level cognition, as determined by the Bloom taxonomy (ie, application, analysis, evaluation, and synthesis of knowledge) expected of medical graduates, and are perceived by students as beneficial to learning [4].

Relatively little attention has been paid to developing active learning in undergraduate medical education by adopting learning techniques centered on assessment [5]. Feedback on formative and summative assessments aims to bridge identified learning gaps but remains a passive process, and its success depends on student follow-through. The best practice in assessment recommends that beyond the assessment *of* learning (AoL), which is summative and determines the achievement of outcomes, assessment *for* learning (AfL) through formative feedback and assessment *as* learning (AaL), which is learner-centric, are vital to enable cognitive and skill reinforcement [6]. In a critical review of the literature on learner-oriented assessment (LOA), Zeng et al [7] discussed the evolution of the Terrace-Kink traditional assessment pyramid from the traditional AoL at the bottom, followed by AfL and

at a higher level of achievement but assumes a minimal role. A rebalance of the original model shifts AaL to the base of the pyramid, thus making it foundational to and an enabler of learning, transferring AoL to the pinnacle as a definitive metric for achieving learning outcomes [7]. The authors proposed an adapted holistic framework for LOA by placing AaL, AfL, and AoL side by side with tutors and students partnering to achieve learning outcomes through innovative assessment practices. This composite framework could serve the overlapping purposes of learning, development, and certification.

AaL at the tip of the pyramid. In this original version, AaL is

The AaL framework places the contextual domain at the center of the AaL wheel for teaching and learning, supported by the societal, communication, and action domains [8]. It advocates the development of self-regulatory strategies by promoting cognition (ie, learning) and metacognition (ie, learning to learn). AaL works through student involvement in creating assessments, feed-forward on assessment results, and producing high-quality assessment tasks [9]. Student-generated assessments aim to encourage deep reading and demonstration of improved learning by creating questions that test higher-order thinking, thereby challenging students' integration of disciplinary knowledge. Students can benefit from improved examination preparedness and performance by expanding the pool of formative questions [10]. Constructive curricular alignment, which involves the use of teaching designs that transparently demonstrate learning outcomes to both the faculty and the student aligned to appropriate assessment methods, can be enhanced through student-generated assessments [11]. This exercise can have other benefits, including collaborative work through peer engagement and receiving constructive criticism [12]. Although the intention to enhance student engagement and reinforce learning abilities and styles through assessment is desirable, it is also essential to hear the student's voice by exploring their perceptions of such an educational intervention. Active student engagement and learner agency can only be ensured when they perceive the benefits of an educational intervention, both in immediate learning and in enhancing SRL [13].

Objectives

As such, this study aimed to explore, from the learners' perspective, the feasibility and perceived learning impact of student-generated formative assessments. Accordingly, the research questions of this study are as follows:

- 1. To what extent did the students agree that the experience of contributing to formative assessment was manageable (in terms of difficulty level) and impactful, and in what ways were the perceived ease and impact associated?
- 2. How do the students describe the experience of contributing to formative assessment?
- 3. What are the lessons learned from the firsthand experience of having students contribute to formative assessments?

XSL•FC

Methods

Ethics Approval

The ethics approval for this study was granted by the Mohammed Bin Rashid University institutional review board (MBRU-IRB-2019-026). Informed consent was obtained from all the participants. All methods were performed in accordance with relevant guidelines and regulations. Consent for publication was not applicable as there are no individual details, images, or videos.

Research Design

This study relied on a convergent mixed methods research design [14], which is commonly used in health professions education research [15-17]. The strength of this multiphase research design lies in its potential to capture a holistic perspective of the subject matter. Instead of focusing on the generalizability of the generated results, the emphasis was on their transferability to other similar contexts. This research design is expected to generate sufficient in-depth insights [18,19]. For this purpose, a survey designed by the research team in consensus (for this study) was assembled to capture quantitative and qualitative data on undergraduate medical students' perceptions of their engagement in developing formative assessments. This unique educational intervention of student-centered assessment (ie, AaL) was implemented in a required 3-credit course entitled Pathologic Basis of Diseases. Quantitative and qualitative data were analyzed independently and then merged using a joint display analysis. As such, the integration of data is meant to raise the study's robustness and validity of the generated findings [20].

Educational Context of the Study and Participants

This study was undertaken at the Mohammed Bin Rashid University of Medicine and Health Sciences, Dubai, United Arab Emirates, on a single cohort of students of a 6-year medical undergraduate program (MBBS) following a spiral curriculum and divided into 3 sequential phases: foundational basic sciences, preclinical sciences, and clerkship. Phase 1 takes place over the first academic year and introduces students to basic concepts in medicine, whereas phase 2 covers academic years 2 and 3, where teaching is organized around body organ systems and integrated with clinical medicine. Years 4 to 6 constitute phase 3. During the first 2 years of this phase, students undergo clinical placements or rotations, with the final academic year taking the form of an internship. The study cohort comprised 54 second-year students (academic year 2019-2020) beginning phase 2 of the undergraduate medical curriculum.

Description of the Intervention

The course under investigation was the medical students' introduction to pathology. During the first 6 weeks of the semester, the students were provided with weekly formative assessments generated by the pathology faculty teaching the course, followed by feedback sessions to reflect upon identified points of strengths and weaknesses. An in-course summative assessment (weighing 40%) was administered midsemester in week 8. The students generated formative assessments in a multiple-choice question (MCQ) format between weeks 9 and 14. The end-semester summative assessment (weighing 60%) was conducted in week 16 (Figure 1).

Figure 1. Study overview. Tutor-driven formative assessments in the first half of the semester were followed by a midsemester in-course summative assessment. The student-generated formative assessments in the second half of the semester were followed by the final summative assessment of the course. W: week.



Students were first guided in the principles of MCQ construction by a professor of pathology, who coordinated and taught the course and was also a chair of assessment in the college. A total of 9 groups comprising 6 students each created 1 MCQ per week on the ongoing week's learning outcomes and lesson objectives. The resultant 9 MCQs were discussed the following week at the allotted time, supplemented by tutor-generated questions. One representative per group presented their MCQ and invited critical and constructive comments from peers. The professor tutor moderated the discussion and provided feedback on the constructs and content (Figure 2).

Figure 2. The educational intervention: assessment as learning. The educational intervention comprised weekly student-generated multiple-choice questions (MCQs) created through peer collaboration and supplemented by peer critique and review, tutor moderation, and feedback.



Data Collection

Data were collected using a survey designed specifically for this study (Textbox 1). The survey comprised 2 segments. The first segment was a 5-point Likert-type scale (1=strongly disagree, 2=disagree, 3=neutral, 4=agree, and 5=strongly agree) across 10 components, all of which were mandatory to respond to. Components 1 to 5 were meant to evaluate the ease of contributing to the development of formative assessments. Components 6 to 10 were designed to capture students' perception of the impact of contributing to the development of formative assessments. It was mandatory to respond to all 10 components. The reason for which these 2 variables (ie, *ease* and *impact*) were pinpointed is that it is established (in alignment with the theories of behavioral change) that the students' perceptions of this educational intervention's barriers to its implementation (ie, ease) and benefits (ie, impact) significantly affect its effectiveness (in terms of maximizing learning) [21,22]. This link has been further reinforced in research on SRL [13].

Textbox 1. The components of the quantitative segment of the tool adapted for this study.

Ease of contributing to the development of formative assessments

- 1. The exercise was fairly simple (exercise fairly simple).
- 2. The exercise enabled me to become more competent at developing questions (competence in developing questions).
- 3. Effectively undergoing the exercise required that I get out of my comfort zone (out of my comfort zone).
- 4. I am willing to repeat this exercise for other courses (willingness to repeat the exercise in other courses).
- 5. Contributing to the creation of formative assessments adds value to the learning experience (adds value to learning).

Impact of contributing to the development of formative assessments

- 1. The exercise raised my capacity to understand the respective course material (capacity to understand course material).
- 2. Developing questions improved my knowledge of the subject matter (knowledge of subject matter).
- 3. The exercise developed my critical thinking (critical thinking).
- 4. The exercise raised my capacity to effectively answer relevant questions (capacity to answer relevant questions).
- 5. In and of themselves, the exercise and the generated in-class feedback and reflections on the created questions improved my capacity to associate the respective basic science concepts with their medical application (ie, clinical correlation skills).

The participants were given the option of qualitatively elaborating their responses to each of the 10 components. The second section of the survey entailed an open-ended question that was meant to solicit any additional reflective qualitative data using the following open-ended question: "Do you have any further remarks on your engagement with developing formative assessments? If so, please indicate them below:"

The survey was initially developed by the pathology faculty teaching the course and underwent face and content validity checks. The face validity test was conducted by a team of professionals, comprising the coordinator of the respective course, the chairperson of the College of Medicine Student

https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e35820

Assessment and Progression committee, an expert in medical education, and a staff member of the unit that handles the respective university's Quality Assurance and Institutional Effectiveness portfolio. They reviewed the tool to assess the clarity, comprehensibility, and readability of the questions and the flow through which they were presented. Subsequently, content validity was assessed by randomly selecting 5 students from the preceding cohort of the same program. They were invited to a classroom where they were asked to write down their interpretation of each of the components within the first segment, as well as the questions in the second segment of the survey. These responses were reviewed by the abovementioned

team. A consensus was reached that other than minor language changes, the survey was ready to be administered.

Participation in this data collection initiative was voluntary. The students' privacy and data confidentiality were protected, and no personal identifiers were recorded. The survey was assembled on the web throughout May 2020 using Microsoft Forms. Each study participant was serially assigned a unique identification number (1-27).

Data Analysis

Quantitative Analyses

Quantitative data were analyzed using SPSS (version 25.0; IBM Corp) for Windows. For each of the 10 quantitative components (measured with a 5-point Likert-type scale), the mean and SD were calculated. Subsequently, the percentage of the mean for each component was calculated by dividing the respective mean by 5 (as it is the maximum possible value) and multiplying it by 100, which determines where the 10 corresponding values lie on the predefined scale. An overall score of the agreement for all components (ie, the total of the means of all 10 components) was computed, along with an independent score for each of the 2 segments of the tool: ease and impact (ie, the total of the means for each of the 2 groups of 5 components). The mean and SD were calculated for all 3 scores.

As the scale used to capture the perception of the participants was tailor-made for this study, the validity tests of Cronbach α and the principal component analysis of the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin and Bartlett test were performed to check the internal consistency and external variance, respectively, of the designed tool.

To select appropriate means of correlating the variables, a test of normality was conducted for each of the 10 components and for the following 3 scores: overall, ease, and impact. The data for each of the 10 components and the ease and impact scores were not normally distributed. The overall agreement score was normally distributed (P=.38). Accordingly, a matrix of bivariate correlations was developed using the Spearman test to assess the extent to which the 3 scores related to each other and their components.

Qualitative Analysis

Qualitative data analysis began after the conclusion of the data collection phase. The data were analyzed (based on constructivist epistemology) by 2 researchers (RL and FO) using thematic analysis following a 6-step framework [23,24]. As such, the researchers began by familiarizing themselves with

the data. Each of them reviewed the data set independently while writing down notes about key observations. They then convened to discuss their notes. The next step revolved around generating initial codes for prominent patterns identified after the initial step of examining the data set. The third step, which was the most extensive, involved searching for the themes. This required the development of several iterations of mind maps, where the manner in which the generated codes related to one another was visually presented. The fourth step included a review of themes to ensure that there was sufficient similarity between all text fragments placed within the same group while ensuring that there were enough dissimilarities across the groups to differentiate them from one another. The fifth step was defining and naming the generated themes. The last step involved reporting on the results of the qualitative analysis, which was done based on recently published standards of reporting on qualitative analysis integral to mixed methods research design [25].

Joint Display Analysis

The quantitative and qualitative data were then mapped onto each other through the iterative process of joint display analysis [18]. Integration was meant to reveal where the findings confirmed or built upon each other. was also able to shed light on where the findings contradict each other. Therefore, meta-inferences were generated [14].

Results

Quantitative Analyses

Of the 54 students, 27 responded (ie, response rate of 50%). The reliability score of Cronbach α for the tailor-made evaluation tool that captured the students' perceptions (ie, 10 components) was .84. The percentage of the total average of the overall score of agreement was 84%, somewhere between *agree* and *strongly agree*, as per Table 1.

The sampling was determined as adequate with a Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin close to 1. In addition, according to the Bartlett test of sphericity, the null hypothesis was rejected with an identity matrix in which all diagonal elements were 1 and all off-diagonal elements were 0. As such, the principal component analysis (along with the corresponding eigenvalues) showed that 75.2% of the variance across the 10 components could be explained by the instrument as a whole. This means that the instrument was reliable and valid for measuring what it intends to measure.



 Table 1. Output of descriptive quantitative analysis.

Component	Values, mean (SD)	Percentage of the mean (%)	Category
1	4.19 (0.736)	83.8	Agree to strongly agree
2	4.22 (0.641)	84.4	Agree to strongly agree
3	3.41 (1.083)	68.2	Neutral to agree
4	4.04 (1.055)	80.8	Agree
5	4.52 (0.643)	90.4	Agree to strongly agree
6	4.56 (0.577)	91.2	Agree to strongly agree
7	4.33 (0.679)	86.6	Agree to strongly agree
8	4.19 (0.736)	83.8	Agree to strongly agree
9	4.30 (0.724)	86	Agree to strongly agree
10	4.26 (0.813)	85.2	Agree to strongly agree
Score of ease	15.85 (2.231)	79.3	Agree
Score of impact	26.15 (3.45)	87.2	Agree to strongly agree
Overall score of agreement	42 (4.907)	84	Agree to strongly agree

Correlational or Inferential

As illustrated in Table 2, the overall score of agreement was significantly influenced by the perception of the students regarding all components except for component 3, "Effectively

undergoing the exercise required that I get out of my comfort zone" (P<.001). Moreover, all 3 scores: overall, ease, and impact, correlated with each other (P<.001 for overall and ease, and overall and impact & P=.01 for ease and impact).



Table 2. Matrix of bivariate correlations.

8

9

10

Component	P value												
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	Score		
1													
	.99	.44 ^a	23	.62 ^a	.32	.13	.42 ^a	.38 ^a	.44 ^a	.34	.59 ^a	Coefficient	
	b	.02 ^a	.24	.001 ^a	.11	.53	.03 ^a	.049 ^a	.02 ^a	.08	<.001 ^a	Significant	
2													
	_	.99	.03	.33	.29	.21	.48 ^a	.48 ^a	.53 ^a	.39 ^a	.66 ^a	Coefficient	
	_	_	.87	.09	.14	.30	.01 ^a	.01 ^a	.004 ^a	.046 ^a	<.001 ^a	Significant	
3													
	—	—	.99	.11	13	.05	08	.12	.007	.02	.22	Coefficient	
	—	—	—	.60	.52	.81	.69	.56	.97	.93	.28	Significant	
4													
	—	—	—	.99	.27	.12	.48 ^a	.40 ^a	.30	.36 ^a	.63 ^a	Coefficient	
	_	_	_	_	.18	.54	.01 ^a	.04 ^a	.13	.06 ^a	<.001 ^a	Significant	
5													
	_	_	_	_	.99	.57 ^a	.58 ^a	.65 ^a	.41 ^a	.71 ^a	.64 ^a	Coefficient	
	_	_	_	_	_	.002 ^a	.002 ^a	<.001 ^a	.03 ^a	<.001 ^a	<.001 ^a	Significant	
6													
	_	_	_	_	_	.99	.71 ^a	.63 ^a	.49 ^a	.60 ^a	.60 ^a	Coefficient	
	_	_	_	_	_	_	<.001 ^a	<.001 ^a	.01 ^a	.001 ^a	<.001 ^a	Significant	
7													
	_	_	_	_	_	_	.99	.74 ^a	.60 ^a	.63 ^a	.81 ^a	Coefficient	
	_	_	_	_	_	_		<.001 ^a	.001 ^a	<.001 ^a	<.001 ^a	Significant	

^aCorrelations that revealed significance, as defined by the P value. ^bNot applicable.

Qualitative Analyses

The analysis of the qualitative data capturing the students' perceptions resulted in 3 interrelated themes: prominent characteristics, immediate gains, and expected long-term benefits of their engagement in preparing the formative assessment (Figure 3).

.63^a

.99

<.001^a

.99

.85^a

.75^a

.78^a

<.001^a

 $<.001^{a}$

 $<.001^{a}$

Coefficient

Significant

Coefficient

Significant

Coefficient

Significant

.76^a

.67^a

.99

<.001^a

<.001^a



Figure 3. The conceptual framework of the study. Prominent characteristics emerged from students' perceptions of self-generated formative assessments demonstrating immediate gains and expected long-term benefits and validating the educational intervention's utility toward assessment as learning.



Theme 1: Prominent Characteristics

This theme included text fragments that referred to how the students characterized the program and what stood out to the students as the variables upon which the activity's success relies. This included variables such as immersing oneself in the experience:

...it was not very easy since one needed to concentrate and focus a lot to develop MCQs... [Participant 23]

It was clear that the participants needed to form effective interdependencies with colleagues:

...we needed to come up with questions related to our own learning...it was a team effort...discussing the questions, among each other, enabled us to develop a better idea as to what would constitute good distractors...the variety of perspectives was useful, of course... [Participant 11]

Some students highlighted that teamwork inherent to the exercise and ensuring that all team members were equally engaged was challenging:

...the same people, within our team, kept on generating the questions. Not all the team members contributed equally; some members did not provide any input...we were able to eventually address this challenge...I needed to converse more with some of my colleagues whom I do not usually have the opportunity to speak to... [Participant 14]

...some of the group members did not bother to do their job in developing questions, which caused some frustration within the team... [Participant 22]

Students believed that engaging in the experience enabled them to develop the necessary insights and mastery or proficiency in preparing formative assessments. This belief, coupled with focusing on the exercise at hand, helped them develop their self-efficacy:

...we are expected to generate the MCQs soon after we learn a new concept. This required that we look-up key terms and additional information related to the respective concept. As part of preparing for the MCQs, we needed to come-up with distractors. We

https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e35820

needed to really understand the content to be able to do the task... [Participant 3]

...to develop the capacity to create our own MCQs and share them with other students... [Participant 11]

This theme also included text fragments that showed that the students were aware that the experience was novel and that they had to go through a learning curve:

...it was surely a new experience for me; we were given the opportunity to view the exam from the examiner point-of-view, from the perspective of the person forming the MCQs. It felt really good... [Participant 3]

...it was fairly simple, but developing more elaborate questions was more challenging... [Participant 4]

...it is the details that matter and that was a bit difficult, at first. Trying to discern two similar topics, while thinking of sequential order and associated elements, and formulating possible choices, among which the "best" answer, were the steps that required extra effort... [Participant 8]

...formative assessments allow us to test our understanding of concepts without the burden of having to perform well in terms of a test or a grade which gives us more opportunities to make mistakes and to learn from them... [Participant 11]

... I am not familiar with such exercise so I was getting out of my comfort zone, but I would say, in a positive way... [Participant 19]

The students also highlighted how the exercise required time investment:

...however, since we were given enough time to do it, it was good... [Participant 23]

Theme 2: Immediate Gains

This theme encapsulated all text fragments that referred to what the students gained upon completing the experience. In general, most students expressed excitement and were happy to have gone through this experience:

...finding sensible, reliable distractors became a "hobby" when forming MCQs...It was a valuable

XSL•FO RenderX

experience, and a good exercise. Plus, it was fun... [Participant 3]

...*it was an interesting and helpful exercise*... [Participant 15]

It was evident to the students that they had gained ample knowledge and skills from their experience:

...it was both beneficial for our learning and interesting for us since we got to see how much work it actually takes to formulate proper questions...It was a very useful and interesting task... [Participant 27]

The students referred to learning that occurred in relation to the core subject (ie, pathology):

...this exercise enabled us to effectively learn the core concepts of pathology... [Participant 3]

...*it allowed for additional practice on the learning material*... [Participant 8]

...this exercise covered some parts that I might have missed or did not fully comprehend, at first... [Participant 14]

...in order to structure a question, I had to gain good understanding of the topics, so it was really helpful... [Participant 20]

Enhancing the knowledge and skills around assessment taking was also apparent to the students:

...we were required to prepare a test-like question from the preceding weeks material...we learned about the types of questions and of possible answers that are commonly used which enabled me to approach the course material in a different role... [Participant 8]

...it really enhanced how I tackle questions and how I think when answering questions... [Participant 14]

...we got to understand how the examiner thinks; this is a good skill that is useful for us to have when revising the required content prior taking any one exam... [Participant 15]

Theme 3: Long-term Benefits

This theme included text fragments that referred to the gains that the students expected to materialize over time from this experience (eg, critical thinking and clinical reasoning): ...this process gave me the opportunity to change my learning style...to create a question, one needs to approach the topic differently; this reinforces one's understanding of the topic and equips the students with transferable skills... [Participant 8]

...pathology clinical are really essential and shade huge light on the grey area that connect the aetiology/pathology to clinical manifestation... [Participant 14]

...I learned how to figure-out what to focus on, what the important parts of any lecture is...I think it was great; it gave us insight as to what the actual assessment will be like and helped prepare us for the In-Course Assessment... [Participant 24]

...my question writing skills, which require ample of critical thinking and problem-solving skills, improved since I had to formulate questions that were advanced...this all was so beneficial to my learning... [Participant 27]

Data Integration

The convergence of the quantitative and qualitative data resulting in the meta-inferences is shown in Table 3. Ouantitative inputs derived from Textbox 1 and Table 1 were mapped to themes 1 to 3 of the qualitative data as the perceptions of ease and impact on the individual and the group. The meta-inferences were characterized as strengths, weaknesses, challenges, and opportunities, which provide an opportunity to consolidate and build on gains and remedy weaknesses in innovation. The identified strengths of the educational intervention were well matched in the quantitative and qualitative perceptions of the students, except for the interesting qualitative description that learning through assessment was more enjoyable as the exercise had a gamification aspect. However, weaknesses were entirely identified in qualitative responses and not through quantitative scores, such as time management and disruptive peer dynamics. Among the perceived challenges and opportunities, qualitative inputs provided additional insights that enhanced available quantitative data, such as the novelty of the experience. Overall, the qualitative data lend themselves to actionable evidence, which considerably enhances the conclusions of the study.



Table 3. Joint display: output of integrating quantitative data with qualitative data.

Quantitative (Textbox 1 and Table 2 ^a)	Meta-inferences	Qualitative (themes 1-3)	
		Individual	Group
Questions 1-2, 6, and 9-10: agree to strongly agree	Strengths	 Simple and easy to make Revision of content Examination-taking skills No stress to score 	 Peer reinforcement Stratification and sequencing of learning Gamification
The qualitative method provides insights not revealed by quantitative survey ^b	Weaknesses	• Time consuming (but manageable in the time provided) ^b	 Repeat questions in groups Unequal participation by peers (teamwork)^b
Question 3: neutral to agree; question 4: agree to strongly agree; question 10: agree to strongly agree	Challenges	Out of comfort zoneRequired focus	 Willingness to repeat the exercise To create questions of higher-order thinking
The qualitative method provides insights not revealed by quantitative survey ^b (questions 6-10): agree to strongly agree	Opportunities	• A novel method of learning ^b	Critical thinkingProblem solving

^aQuantitative analyses (Table 1).

^bAdditional insights from qualitative data.

Discussion

Principal Findings and Comparison With Prior Work

This educational intervention to promote SRL provides insights into engaging students in AaL exercises. The design of the intervention mirrored the phases of preparation, implementation, and appraisal, which were well-illustrated in an insightful meta-analysis by Panadero [2] of 6 individual SRL models proposed by Boekaerts, Efklides, Haldwin, Pintrich, Winne and Hadwin, and Zimmerman, respectively. The study focuses on appraisal of this form of SRL from a student's viewpoint capitalizing on the strengths of the mixed methods approach. In the process, the quantitative measurement of the ease and impact of AaL was considerably enhanced and supplemented by students' qualitative inputs. The latter provided prominent characteristics of the experience, as well as short- and long-term impacts. Integration of the mixed methods data on the ease and impact of the AaL intervention provided robust metrics (quantitative) on the strengths, weaknesses, challenges, and opportunities amplified by incisive observations (qualitative). Certain experiences could only be captured by subjective expressions in the students' own words. The positive inputs included the novelty of the experience and the gamification effect, which enhanced the enjoyment of learning. There was also a useful critique of unequal levels of peer contribution, quality of questions, or repetition in some groups. In the following paragraphs, these observations are discussed in relation to shared experiences from the published literature.

This study achieved a partnership between students and tutors, as emphasized in the holistic approach to LOA [7]. This study sheds light on how, from a constructivist perspective, assessment can be leveraged to drive students' learning. Constructivism implies the learners' central role in taking charge of their learning, gaining insights into learning gaps, and developing ways of improving learning. AfL can be a significant component of this self-regulatory mechanism but often relies on feedback

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e35820
```

after formative assessments that remain tutor driven, focused, and directive. However, in AaL, students assume control by dominating the learning process's discourse and producing a self-regulatory and self-productive identity [6]. Students set goals, monitor progress, and reflect on learning prospectively, not retrospectively, as in formative assessments.

In this study, the design of the AaL innovation addressed the student-centered communication and action domains of the AaL wheel [8]. Evaluating students' perceptions of AaL implemented in the course of an MBBS program proved to be rewarding. In this study, students' qualitative reflections on undertaking assessment creation were characterized as short- and long-term gains. Students' scores on overall agreement of engagement with designing assessment and the related ease and impact were all considerably high, with significant correlations among all 3 scores. Similarly, in a previously assembled survey inquiring about a medical student–generated question bank at the University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada, 91% of students reported satisfaction with their engagement in developing questions [12].

The quantitative results of this study showed that the only component that was not statistically associated with the students' overall agreement with the experience was that the exercise required them to leave their comfort zones. Qualitative inputs showed that the experienced unease was favorably perceived as an enabling challenge along the same line. The idea that leaving one's comfort zone can be of added value is well-established in the literature [26]. In a US dental undergraduate program, a study on student-generated MCQ items reported that the students were able to prepare a higher cognitive level of questions than the instructor [27]. The students perceived the intervention as contributing to their learning. Thus, student creation of assessments provides a unique opportunity for learners within a developmental framework of assessment [28].

XSL•FO RenderX

In this study, the students specifically expressed their realization of the added value of assessment-enhanced learning toward the core content of the specific course. According to the students, this happens when tasked with preparing questions by increasing their focus on the subject matter and by the requirement of viewing it from a different perspective. They were surprised by how their efforts to create questions contributed to exam preparedness and insight into the examiner's viewpoint. One could extrapolate that this would reduce the stress of exam preparation at the end of the semester. The development of higher-order thinking is best achieved through inquiry and investigation, applying knowledge to new situations and problems, producing ideas and solutions, and collaborative problem solving [29].

The high level of agreement reported in this study was related to students' perceptions of the value of learning. This, in turn, encouraged students to invest time and effort, positively reinforcing the link to the perceived learning impact of the exercise. Students commented that creating questions weekly promoted regularity in their reading, reflecting, and revising habits. The literature on the subject matter indicates contradictory findings. In a study on undergraduate students who generated MCQs in the fourth year of the pathology course of a New Zealand medical school, students could create cognitively challenging MCQs. However, they did not find the task of educational value [30]. The students engaged well with the peer-wise platform for question creation but did not offer good peer feedback. In contrast, in another study involving second-year biomedical sciences students (n=107), perceptions of student-authored assessments in a biochemistry course demonstrated an eagerness and the generation of a large repository of relevant and good-quality MCQs [31].

An example of student-generated formative assessments specifically targeting competency-based progression was illustrated in a multicenter pilot study in German medical schools [32]. A core team of 17 students from the third to ninth semesters drawn from 17 universities was trained on MCQ generation and review, contributing 118 MCQs to a 144-item assessment based on a preagreed competency blueprint. It was administered to 469 students from 8 medical schools. The items were of high quality with higher-order thinking and generated high test reliability. However, student authors seemed to favor item generation on theoretical and practical skill competencies over scientific and communication skills competencies. The examinees perceived it more as an opportunity for feedback rather than a learning experience.

Another unexpected but beneficial aspect highlighted by students is the perceived "gamification effect" of the exercise. During moments of relaxation, tossing around distractors became a second habit to them as an intellectually entertaining tool. According to Gray [33], creativity is the basis of critical thinking and always involves a degree of playfulness: "the critical thinker plays with ideas...to see what happens and to explore consequences." The development of such instinctive and enjoyable learning through play can have a long-lasting impact, sustaining self-learning and building peer-learning habits [34]. However, there were instances of dissatisfaction when a team member did not actively participate and substantially contributed

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e35820
```

XSI•FC

to question creation, which reflected adversely on team output. There are contradictory findings on peer collaboration from other studies; in one study, team cooperation toward item generation was perceived as unsatisfactory [27], whereas, in another study, willingness to collaborate with peers was agreed to by 86% of students [12]. During the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, the rapid transition to distance learning provided the impetus to students from Queen's University Belfast to create and share MCQs through Instagram to mutually enhance their learning [35]. Thus, it has been established that beneficial outcomes are a result of assessment-based peer-assisted learning.

Some students in this study perceived that the quality of the generated questions was inconsistent. They reported that some of their peers produced questions of low cognitive levels. This perceived weakness highlights the social regulation of learning, wherein the degree of achieved coregulation determines the enhancement of the ease and impact of learning on the individual and the group [2]. In contrast, in another study from a medical school in Cardiff, students were engaged in creating a question bank duly mentored and vetted by the content faculty. Within a 3-month period, 2800 tests had been attempted, indicating the popularity of the use of this learner resource [5]. The students who authored the MCQs in the Cardiff study were in their final year, which may have accounted for the higher quality of the generated questions.

The statistical reliability and validity of the survey tool provide a solid anchor for the results. A follow-up exercise based on the same framework in successive cohorts will further reinforce the tool's reproducibility and the consistency and generalizability of the findings. Investigating the effectiveness of such an intervention can be performed by comparing before and after student performance scores. In one study, the follow-up scores on single best answer summative examinations correlated well, whereas performance on clinical examinations did not [10].

Strengths, Limitations, and Future Directions

The key strength of this study lies in the integration of data derived from the mixed methods approach. This enables clarity on the aspects of building SRL that lend themselves to longitudinal replication, as well as identifies opportunities to dynamically respond to perceived challenges and weaknesses. The first limitation of this study was that the participating students were at an early stage of their medical school journey, which might have influenced their perceptions of the value of self-learning through assessment. It would be interesting to investigate in future studies whether the stage of learning plays a moderating effect on the students' understanding and perception of the exercise and its impact by collecting perceptions from students at different stages of the program. Second, future research could use additional multiple-item formats to provide students with insights into their learning techniques. Finally, this study was limited in its application to a single course of 1 cohort of students. Hence, the generalizability of the findings is limited and can be remedied by making multicohort comparisons.

Conclusions

Student-generated assessments in the form of AaL were perceived as viable, constructive, and stimulating educational exercises by the student authors. In the short term, the exercise constituted for the students a fun, challenging opportunity to dive deep into the content, be creative in designing questions, and improve examination-taking skills. Students expected long-term effects to include enhancement of critical thinking and the inculcation of student-regulated attributes of lifelong learning and peer collaboration, all of which are vital to the practice of medicine.

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge the support of Mohammed Bin Rashid University for publication fees.

RL is a professor of pathology and former chair of student assessment and progression at the College of Medicine, engaged in conceiving and implementing innovative ways to improve student learning and assessment experiences.

FO is a senior specialist in the Strategy and Institutional Excellence department, which handles the university's Quality Assurance and Institutional Effectiveness portfolio.

LA is the associate dean of Student Happiness and Wellbeing and an assistant professor of molecular hematology engaged in all aspects of students' academic support and well-being.

NZ is a professor of medical education at the Institute for Excellence in Health Professions Education, an institute that fosters excellence in educational assessment through education, research, and innovation.

Data Availability

The data collected in this study are included in the published manuscript and are available with the corresponding author.

Authors' Contributions

RL conceptualized, designed, and executed the educational intervention and interpreted and discussed the findings. FO designed and conducted the surveys, analyzed the quantitative and qualitative data, and participated in manuscript preparation. LA and NZ critically reviewed all components of the study, anchored the manuscript review, and contributed to illustrations.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Edmondson DR, Boyer SL, Artis AB. Self-directed learning: a meta-analytic review of adult learning constructs. Int J Educ Res 2012;7(1):40-48 [FREE Full text]
- Panadero E. A review of self-regulated learning: six models and four directions for research. Front Psychol 2017 Apr 28;8:422 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00422] [Medline: 28503157]
- Taylor DC, Hamdy H. Adult learning theories: implications for learning and teaching in medical education: AMEE Guide No. 83. Med Teach 2013 Nov;35(11):e1561-e1572. [doi: <u>10.3109/0142159X.2013.828153</u>] [Medline: <u>24004029</u>]
- 4. Ramnanan CJ, Pound LD. Advances in medical education and practice: student perceptions of the flipped classroom. Adv Med Educ Pract 2017 Jan 13;8:63-73 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/AMEP.S109037] [Medline: 28144171]
- Harris BH, Walsh JL, Tayyaba S, Harris DA, Wilson DJ, Smith PE. A novel student-led approach to multiple-choice question generation and online database creation, with targeted clinician input. Teach Learn Med 2015;27(2):182-188. [doi: 10.1080/10401334.2015.1011651] [Medline: 25893940]
- 6. Dann R. Assessment as learning: blurring the boundaries of assessment and learning for theory, policy and practice. Assess Educ 2014 Mar 31;21(2):149-166. [doi: 10.1080/0969594x.2014.898128]
- 7. Zeng W, Huang F, Yu L, Chen S. Towards a learning-oriented assessment to improve students' learning—a critical review of literature. Educ Asse Eval Acc 2018 Jul 23;30(3):211-250. [doi: 10.1007/s11092-018-9281-9]
- 8. Berry R. The assessment as learning (AaL) framework for teaching and learning: the AaL wheel. Assess Learn 2013;2:51-70 [FREE Full text]
- 9. Rodríguez-Gómez GI, Ibarra-Sáiz MS. Assessment as learning and empowerment: towards sustainable learning in higher education. In: Peris-Ortiz M, Lindahl JM, editors. Sustainable Learning in Higher Education: Developing Competencies for the Global Marketplace. Cham, Switzerland: Springer; 2015:1-20.
- 10. Walsh J, Harris B, Tayyaba S, Harris D, Smith P. Student-written single-best answer questions predict performance in finals. Clin Teach 2016 Oct;13(5):352-356. [doi: 10.1111/tct.12445] [Medline: 26450346]

- Wynn-Lawrence LS, Bala L, Fletcher RJ, Wilson RK, Sam AH. Question-based collaborative learning for constructive curricular alignment. Adv Med Educ Pract 2020 Jan 5;11:1047-1053 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/AMEP.S280972] [Medline: 33447126]
- 12. Gooi AC, Sommerfeld CS. Medical school 2.0: how we developed a student-generated question bank using small group learning. Med Teach 2015;37(10):892-896. [doi: 10.3109/0142159X.2014.970624] [Medline: 25310243]
- 13. Altahawi F, Sisk B, Poloskey S, Hicks C, Dannefer EF. Student perspectives on assessment: experience in a competency-based portfolio system. Med Teach 2012;34(3):221-225. [doi: 10.3109/0142159X.2012.652243] [Medline: 22364454]
- 14. Fetters MD, Curry LA, Creswell JW. Achieving integration in mixed methods designs-principles and practices. Health Serv Res 2013 Dec;48(6 Pt 2):2134-2156 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1475-6773.12117] [Medline: 24279835]
- Rad FA, Otaki F, Baqain Z, Zary N, Al-Halabi M. Rapid transition to distance learning due to COVID-19: perceptions of postgraduate dental learners and instructors. PLoS One 2021 Feb 8;16(2):e0246584 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0246584] [Medline: 33556131]
- Otaki F, Zaher S, Du Plessis S, Lakhtakia R, Zary N, Inuwa IM. Introducing the 4Ps model of transitioning to distance learning: a convergent mixed methods study conducted during the COVID-19 pandemic. PLoS One 2021 Jul 15;16(7):e0253662 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0253662] [Medline: 34264968]
- Alzaabi S, Nasaif M, Khamis AH, Otaki F, Zary N, Mascarenhas S. Medical students' perception and perceived value of peer learning in undergraduate clinical skill development and assessment: mixed methods study. JMIR Med Educ 2021 Jul 13;7(3):e25875 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25875] [Medline: 34021539]
- Guetterman TC, Fetters MD, Creswell JW. Integrating quantitative and qualitative results in health science mixed methods research through joint displays. Ann Fam Med 2015 Nov;13(6):554-561 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1370/afm.1865] [Medline: 26553895]
- 19. Guetterman TC, Molina-Azorin JF, Fetters MD. Virtual special issue on "integration in mixed methods research". J Mixed Methods Res 2020 Sep 13;14(4):430-435. [doi: 10.1177/1558689820956401]
- 20. Moseholm E, Fetters MD. Conceptual models to guide integration during analysis in convergent mixed methods studies. Methodol Innov 2017 Dec 14;10(2):205979911770311. [doi: 10.1177/2059799117703118]
- Bandura A, Adams NE. Analysis of self-efficacy theory of behavioral change. Cogn Ther Res 1977 Dec;1(4):287-310. [doi: <u>10.1007/BF01663995</u>]
- 22. Bandura A. Self-efficacy: toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. Psychol Rev 1977 Mar;84(2):191-215. [doi: 10.1037//0033-295x.84.2.191] [Medline: 847061]
- 23. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 24. Kiger ME, Varpio L. Thematic analysis of qualitative data: AMEE Guide No. 131. Med Teach 2020 Aug;42(8):846-854. [doi: <u>10.1080/0142159X.2020.1755030</u>] [Medline: <u>32356468</u>]
- 25. Levitt HM, Bamberg M, Creswell JW, Frost DM, Josselson R, Suárez-Orozco C. Journal article reporting standards for qualitative primary, qualitative meta-analytic, and mixed methods research in psychology: the APA Publications and Communications Board task force report. Am Psychol 2018 Jan;73(1):26-46. [doi: <u>10.1037/amp0000151</u>] [Medline: <u>29345485</u>]
- 26. Chonkar SP, Ha TC, Chu SS, Ng AX, Lim ML, Ee TX, et al. The predominant learning approaches of medical students. BMC Med Educ 2018 Jan 18;18(1):17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12909-018-1122-5] [Medline: 29347934]
- 27. Gonzalez-Cabezas C, Anderson OS, Wright MC, Fontana M. Association between dental student-developed exam questions and learning at higher cognitive levels. J Dent Educ 2015 Nov;79(11):1295-1304. [Medline: <u>26522634</u>]
- Pangaro L, ten Cate O. Frameworks for learner assessment in medicine: AMEE Guide No. 78. Med Teach 2013 Jun;35(6):e1197-e1210. [doi: <u>10.3109/0142159X.2013.788789</u>] [Medline: <u>23676179</u>]
- 29. Darling-Hammond L, Flook L, Cook-Harvey C, Barron B, Osher D. Implications for educational practice of the science of learning and development. Appl Dev Sci 2019 Feb 17;24(2):97-140. [doi: 10.1080/10888691.2018.1537791]
- Grainger R, Dai W, Osborne E, Kenwright D. Medical students create multiple-choice questions for learning in pathology education: a pilot study. BMC Med Educ 2018 Aug 22;18(1):201 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12909-018-1312-1] [Medline: 30134898]
- Bottomley S, Denny P. A participatory learning approach to biochemistry using student authored and evaluated multiple-choice questions. Biochem Mol Biol Educ 2011;39(5):352-361 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/bmb.20526] [Medline: 21948507]
- 32. Wagener S, Möltner A, Timbil S, Gornostayeva M, Schultz J, Brüstle P, et al. Development of a competency-based formative progress test with student-generated MCQs: results from a multi-centre pilot study. GMS Z Med Ausbild 2015 Oct 15;32(4):Doc46 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3205/zma000988] [Medline: 26483859]
- 33. Gray P. Free to Learn: Why Unleashing the Instinct to Play will Make our Children Happier, More Self-Reliant, and Better Students for Life. New York, NY, USA: Basic Books; Jul 02, 2013.
- Seidlein AH, Bettin H, Franikowski P, Salloch S. Gamified E-learning in medical terminology: the TERMInator tool. BMC Med Educ 2020 Aug 28;20(1):284 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1186/s12909-020-02204-3</u>] [Medline: <u>32859197</u>]

35. Gulati RR, Reid H, Gill M. Instagram for peer teaching: opportunity and challenge. Educ Prim Care 2020 Nov;31(6):382-384. [doi: 10.1080/14739879.2020.1811163] [Medline: 32900286]

Abbreviations

AaL: assessment as learning AfL: assessment for learning AoL: assessment of learning LOA: learner-oriented assessment MCQ: multiple-choice question SRL: self-regulated learning

Edited by T Leung; submitted 19.12.21; peer-reviewed by P Dattathreya, S Prior, J Hegy; comments to author 15.04.22; revised version received 30.05.22; accepted 31.05.22; published 22.07.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Lakhtakia R, Otaki F, Alsuwaidi L, Zary N Assessment as Learning in Medical Education: Feasibility and Perceived Impact of Student-Generated Formative Assessments JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e35820 URL: https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e35820 doi:10.2196/35820 PMID:35867379

©Ritu Lakhtakia, Farah Otaki, Laila Alsuwaidi, Nabil Zary. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (https://mededu.jmir.org), 22.07.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.


Original Paper

Implementing Remote Collaboration in a Virtual Patient Platform: Usability Study

Jan Kiesewetter¹, PD, DP, DPhil; Inga Hege², MD, MSc, PD; Michael Sailer³, DPhil; Elisabeth Bauer³, BA, MSc; Claudia Schulz, PhD; Manfred Platz⁴; Martin Adler⁴

¹Institut für Didaktik und Ausbildungsforschung in der Medizin am Klinikum der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München, Munich, Germany ²Medical School, Universität Augsburg, Augsburg, Germany

³Chair of Education and Educational Psychology, Department of Psychology, University of Munich, Munich, Germany

⁴Instruct gGmbH, Munich, Germany

Corresponding Author:

Jan Kiesewetter, PD, DP, DPhil Institut für Didaktik und Ausbildungsforschung in der Medizin am Klinikum der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München Pettenkoferstr. 8a Munich, 80336 Germany Phone: 49 89440057213 Email: jan.kiesewetter@med.lmu.de

Abstract

Background: Learning with virtual patients is highly popular for fostering clinical reasoning in medical education. However, little learning with virtual patients is done collaboratively, despite the potential learning benefits of collaborative versus individual learning.

Objective: This paper describes the implementation of student collaboration in a virtual patient platform. Our aim was to allow pairs of students to communicate remotely with each other during virtual patient learning sessions. We hypothesized that we could provide a collaborative tool that did not impair the usability of the system compared to individual learning and that this would lead to better diagnostic accuracy for the pairs of students.

Methods: Implementing the collaboration tool had five steps: (1) searching for a suitable software library, (2) implementing the application programming interface, (3) performing technical adaptations to ensure high-quality connections for the users, (4) designing and developing the user interface, and (5) testing the usability of the tool in 270 virtual patient sessions. We compared dyad to individual diagnostic accuracy and usability with the 10-item System Usability Scale.

Results: We recruited 137 students who worked on 6 virtual patients. Out of 270 virtual patient sessions per group (45 dyads times 6 virtual patients, and 47 students working individually times 6 virtual patients minus 2 randomly selected deleted sessions) the students made successful diagnoses in 143/270 sessions (53%, SD 26%) when working alone and 192/270 sessions (71%, SD 20%) when collaborating (P=.04, η^2 =0.12). A usability questionnaire given to the students who used the collaboration tool showed a usability score of 82.16 (SD 1.31), representing a B+ grade.

Conclusions: The collaboration tool provides a generic approach for collaboration that can be used with most virtual patient systems. The collaboration tool helped students diagnose virtual patients and had good overall usability. More broadly, the collaboration tool will provide an array of new possibilities for researchers and medical educators alike to design courses for collaborative learning with virtual patients.

(JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e24306) doi:10.2196/24306

KEYWORDS

collaborative learning; clinical reasoning; webRTC; collaboration; collaborative; decision making



Introduction

Learning with virtual patients (VPs) is widely popular in medical education. It is an efficient way to give students the opportunity to learn with real-life clinical scenarios [1-3]. This popularity has led to various e-learning solutions with different conceptual backgrounds [3,4]. Some conceptualizations focus on acquiring clinical knowledge [5-8], while others concentrate on immersing the student in a virtual environment to teach medical communication skills [9-12]. Yet another learning goal is to convey the process of how a patient is diagnosed, known as clinical reasoning, which "includes the application of knowledge to synthesize and prioritize information from various sources and to develop a diagnosis and management plan for a patient" [13]. Facilitating clinical reasoning is a key goal of medical schools, yet one that is difficult to reach. Diverse e-learning innovations have attempted to foster clinical reasoning with varying degrees of success [14-18]. A review found that collaborative features enabling students to communicate within learning environments were still limited in medical education [19]. Compared to the large number of studies investigating individual clinical reasoning, only a few studies have investigated the application of collaborative learning (meaning that two or more people learn together, benefiting from one another's resources and skills) to clinical reasoning [19,20]. We understand collaborative clinical reasoning to be "the process in which two or more health care team members negotiate diagnostic, therapeutic, or prognostic issues of an individual patient resulting in an illness or treatment plan (and to reduce uncertainty)" [19].

One study implemented collaborative learning in biomedical courses via an e-learning environment, showing beneficial effects [21]. Another study investigated the collaborative learning of clinical reasoning in a face-to-face setting and found that pairs of medical students using the same computer made faster and equivalently good diagnoses compared to students learning individually [22]. The so-called ICAP (interactive, constructive, active, and passive) framework from Chi and Wylie [23] might explain these results. Chi and Wylie suggested that student engagement can be distinguished into 4 modes. In collaborative learning, students can interact, which is desirable

for deep cognitive processing and learning [23]. VP platforms are sometimes used in face-to-face settings, with groups of students working together on a case, often in problem-based learning settings [24]. However, VP platforms in medical education typically focus on the individual student and not on groups of students working together remotely to learn clinical reasoning [24].

In this paper, we describe the underlying rationale and approach to implementing a collaboration tool in the VP platform Casus (Instruct gGmbH) for learning clinical reasoning. Such a tool, being directly implemented into a VP platform, can help researchers to easily design studies and provide evidence on how to optimize collaborative learning for students. In times such as the COVID-19 pandemic, these tools can also provide learning opportunities that might otherwise be missing.

Our aim was to give pairs of students the ability to communicate remotely with each other (ie, while not in the same room) during VP learning sessions. Simultaneously, we considered that the system should be able to track the learning processes of the students. This would enable medical educators to design collaborative courses and researchers to study collaboration in VP environments. As target users of the system, we had in mind clinical educators in all fields of medicine in which collaboration plays an integral role in everyday work. We hypothesized that using a collaborative tool implemented directly within the VP platform would not impair usability of the system compared to an individual learning setting. Further, we aimed to identify whether learning with the tool led to better diagnostic accuracy for dyads of students compared to individual learners.

Methods

Technical Approach

Part of the research project FAMULUS (Fostering Diagnostic Competences in Medical Education and Teacher Training Through Adaptive, Online Case-Simulations), funded by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research, was to enable students to work together, remotely and synchronously, in medical and teacher education. The tool was designed and developed in several steps, which will be described in the following sections and are summarized in Table 1.

Table 1. Stepwise overview of the development process of the tool.

Steps	Descriptions
Step 1: Searching for suitable libraries	Identifying potential collaboration tool libraries
Step 2: Implementing the application programming interface	Defining the educational features needed and implementing (1) video communication, (2) text chat, and (3) screen sharing
Step 3: Making technical adaptations	Installing TURN (traversal using relays around network address translators) and STUN (simple traversal of user datagram protocol through network address translators) to ensure the best potential connections between users despite protective firewalls
Step 4: Designing and developing the user interface	Designing each feature (video communication, text chat, and screen sharing) so it could be turned off and on by the educator; implementing an additional onscreen window providing the collaboration functionality
Step 5: Usability testing and compar- ing diagnostic accuracy	Comparing the original, individual system with the collaborative tool using 6 virtual patients in a group of 45 dyads (ie, 90 students) and a group of 47 students to test for usability and compare diagnostic accuracy

Step 1: Searching for Suitable Libraries

After a search of available libraries, we decided to use the SimpleWebRTC (andYet Co) library for implementing the collaboration tool. It provided the basis for setting up a conferencing platform and could be extended to include the required features, such as video communication and screen sharing. An additional text chat function was implemented using the message protocol of the SimpleWebRTC library. We had several reasons for using SimpleWebRTC. At the time we chose it, SimpleWebRTC was an open-source library that was completely scriptable and could be used without additional credentials. This was desirable to enable tight integration into the e-learning platform. The library offered detailed documentation for integration and samples, unlike other open-source solutions. Commercial video conferencing and screen sharing tools, such as Google Hangouts (Alphabet Inc), Zoom (Zoom Video Communications Inc), Skype (Microsoft Inc), and Adobe Connect (Adobe Inc), had disadvantages. For example, Zoom usually requires one account and a dedicated administrator to initiate a call. Consequently, scripting (ie, matching two unique students) a significant number of parallel but independent video conferencing sessions would not have been possible with such tools, even though they might be more robust than WebRTC. As scripting and dynamically creating the dyads was an important part of the study setting, we decided against commercial video conferencing tools. Unfortunately, even SimpleWebRTC has now become a commercial service. Nevertheless, the original library remains open source, is self-maintained, and is regularly tested for cross-browser functionality. Comparable open-source libraries like Jitsi (8x8, Inc) [25] offered no significant advantage compared to SimpleWebRTC, although this might change in the future.

Step 2: Implementing the Application Programming Interface

To implement SimpleWebRTC independently of Casus, we set it up as an application programming interface (API). This also allowed our approach to be applied to other VP or e-learning platforms. Several features of the conferencing tool could be controlled, enabled, or disabled with the JavaScript API: (1) video and audio channels, (2) text-based chat, and (3) screen sharing. From an educational point of view, each of these features was necessary. First, the audio channel let students collaborate in a direct manner, allowing for communication without additionally transcribing speech to text. Video was helpful for establishing a feeling of proximity, despite the actual distance between the students. Reciprocal, synchronous video-based learning, in which two or more students are directly connected and work together at the same time, has been found to increase learning effectiveness [26]. Second, the text-based chat enabled educators and students to access the messages any time after a learning session and follow up on the collaborative activities. To support this aim, we added two features to the text chat: saving chats as text files and restoring the display of older

messages after a browser restart. Third, screen sharing was necessary to allow students to work together in dyads on a shared document. In order to structure the collaboration, we designed the screen sharing with a "main" user, who was able to share his or her screen, and a "secondary" user without this option. This made it possible for educators to choose to give students the same or different sets of information to create a need for collaboration.

Step 3: Making Technical Adaptations

The implemented educational features (scripting, video and audio channels, text-based chat, and screen sharing) required several technical adaptations. To be able to handle a browser reload triggered by the user or refresh the application when a problem occurred, one component of the API used the conferencing tool to save the current state at regular intervals. SimpleWebRTC includes a signaling service responsible for the exchange of metadata and coordination of the communication between connecting client browsers. Our implementation was based on the node.js signalmaster from andYet. Some adaptations were necessary to improve the monitoring options in order to track students' logins and logouts and implement the text chat. We have detailed the adaptations in Multimedia Appendix 1.

The adapted signal service, based on signalmaster from andYet, and the additions to SimpleWebRTC used the JavaScript API and were open source. They are available on request from Instruct gGmbH. Detailed documentation for each component is available from the GitHub website [27], as is the documentation for STUN (simple traversal of user datagram protocol through network address translators) and TURN (traversal using relays around network address translators) with the coTurn implementation [28]. A detailed description of how the WebRTC standard manages communication can be found at various websites. A good example is the website of HTML5rocks [29]. The signalmaster from andYet was only minimally extended to provide the text chat functionality and logging for debugging.

Except text chat data, signalmaster does not currently store any data. Text chat data are stored in simple JSON (JavaScript Object Notation) text files with a room naming convention, but can be extended if needed.

Step 4: Designing and Developing the User Interface

The requirements for the user interface were generated through discussions among the authors to maximize the system's learning and research possibilities. Students saw the usual Casus user interface with an additional window providing the collaboration functionality (Figure 1 shows a wireframe model of the implementation). Students could use this window to talk to their peers and share their screens. We also implemented a user interface for educators in the Casus course administration area. The setup page enabled educators to set up and configure the collaboration (Textbox 1 shows the available settings).

Kiesewetter et al

Figure 1. Wireframe model of the integration of Casus with WebRTC. In the foreground two people are communicating; they have the option to share their screens. The application programming interface interacts with SimpleWebRTC. API: application programming interface;

_	Simple WebRTC	
- iFrame (100*100%)	API	Communication
What are the next steps?		Share screen

Textbox 1. Settings available to educators in the user interface.

- Turn collaboration on or off for a course (for groups of students)
- Define virtual rooms for collaboration (students in the same virtual room can communicate with each other and work on the same virtual patient)
- Enable or disable screen sharing between students (one or multiple students are allowed to share their screens with partners)

To implement the API in Casus, we only needed to implement a few code changes in Java, the main programming language of the server side of Casus. Communication between the host system (Casus in our study) and the communication framework based on SimpleWebRTC is described in detail in Multimedia Appendix 2.

The HTML page for the communication framework contained the host system (again, Casus in our setting) as an iframe. This ensured that even if a user navigated through the host system to different URLs, the communication framework remained open and unchanged, making the communication more stable. Storing the actual URL (eg, in HTML5) in local storage or cookies in order to survive a reload was possible, even though sometimes it could take a few seconds until the participants in the room were reconnected.

With the given API messages, the communication framework could be integrated into any web-based system without needing any internal knowledge of Casus, making it unnecessary to provide details in this paper. Assignment of rooms could be completely controlled and scripted by sending the API these messages: "casuswebrtcopen_*" and "casuswebrtclose_*."

Figure 1 shows the technical implementation, including all components. The user interface is depicted in Figure 2.

Figure 2. Screenshot of the user interface.



Step 5: Usability Testing and Comparing Diagnostic Accuracy

In two cohorts, we implemented the collaboration tool for students with six VPs. In the first cohort, 45 dyads diagnosed the cases together, while in the second cohort, 47 individual students diagnosed the same VPs on their own (Table 2 shows details of the two cohorts' demographic data). We invited all medical students at the Ludwig-Maximilian University of

Munich between their third and fifth year to participate via email. Allocation to dyad or individual learning was randomized according to the booking date of the participants. Overall, 270 VP sessions per group (45 dyads [ie, 90 students] times 6 VPs, and 47 students working individually times 6 VPs minus 2 randomly selected deleted sessions) were included in the analysis. Participation was voluntary and anonymous. Students received €35 (US \$36.54) for approximately 3 hours of their time.

Table 2. Descriptive statistics of the two cohorts included in the sample. All participants were between their third and fifth year of medical school.

Cohort	Number of participants, N	Mean age, years	Female, n (%)
First cohort: dyads	90 (ie, 45 dyads)	25	63 (70)
Second cohort: individual learners	47	24	33 (71)

The students in the dyads did not know each other before the study. They were allowed to exchange names but not year of medical school. The VPs were based on texts and images of clinical scenarios, with no video or audio content. We did not allow for text chat in this study, as we wanted the focus of the investigation to be on screen sharing, video, and audio collaboration. Dyads and individuals worked with the same VPs. Three of the VPs exhibited the leading symptoms of back pain (these were all male), while the other 3 exhibited the leading symptoms of fever (these included 1 male and 2 females). All cases were of medium difficulty (mean difficulty range 0.45 to 0.69; these are standard units, defined as percentage correct), as previously tested with individual students, and included all necessary visual content (eg, x-rays and computerized axial tomography scans), although no pictures of the VPs were provided. Dyads of 2 students were connected

via the collaboration tool, with each student being the main user for 3 VPs and the secondary user for the other 3 VPs, meaning that students had to balance their teamwork effort. Within the dyads, students had to settle on one final diagnosis for each VP. After reading the patient information, the teams of 2 had to choose which of the 23 available tests they wanted to look at next. They could proceed with as many tests as they wished before making a diagnosis.

Ethical Approval

Ethics approval and consent to participate were granted by the Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of Ludwig-Maximilian University of Munich (study 17-250). All participants gave written consent to participate in the study. We have obtained written consent by the persons identifiable in Figure 2 to publish their images.

Data Analysis

To evaluate the usability of the collaboration tool and its integration into the Casus VP platform, we used the System Usability Scale (SUS). The SUS is a reliable 10-item measure of usability, scored from 1 to 5, which in total can be extrapolated to grades from 10 to 100 [30]. The web-based questionnaire was implemented in Casus.

We analyzed the data of 137 students who completed the SUS [30] and compared the 45 dyads with the 47 individual learners. We compared usability and diagnostic accuracy using SPSS with two ANOVAs; alpha-error level was set at P=.05.

Results

Usability Testing

We hypothesized that using the collaboration tool, which is implemented directly within the VP platform, would not impair usability of the system compared to an individual learning setting. The descriptive results of the original SUS scores (scored from 1-5) are presented in Table 3. As recommended by the SUS developers, we transformed the original SUS scores to percentage scores, meaning that high scores always signify good usability. There was no significant difference between the students working individually (mean score 81.28, SD 1.01), and the students working in dyads (mean score 82.51, SD 1.56). For both dyad and individual learners, the SUS score averaged a letter grade of B+ (ie, acceptable). We encountered no major technical issues during the study sessions. The students in dyads collaborated in all sessions and used the screen sharing option in both directions (ie, as both main users and secondary users). The results support the assumption that the implemented collaboration tool would not impair usability of the system compared to individual learning.

Table 3 Descriptive statistics of the System Usability Scale (N=137 respondents).	
LATHE 3. LA SUIDING STATISTICS OF THE SYSTEM USADDITTY SUAR VIN=1 37 TOSTOTICE THE T	

System Usability Scale item	Mean score (SD)	
I think that I would like to use this system frequently.	3.72 (1.01)	
I found the system unnecessarily complex.	1.93 (0.85)	
I thought the system was easy to use.	4.03 (0.98)	
I think that I would need the support of a technical person to be able to use this system.	1.36 (0.79)	
I found the various functions in this system were well integrated.	3.74 (0.94)	
I thought there was too much inconsistency in this system.	2.10 (0.93)	
I would imagine that most people would learn to use this system very quickly.	4.28 (0.85)	
I found the system very cumbersome to use.	1.88 (1.09)	
I felt very confident using the system.	4.12 (0.90)	
I needed to learn a lot of things before I could get going with this system.	1.54 (0.87)	

Diagnostic Accuracy Comparison

We investigated whether learning with the collaboration tool led to better diagnostic accuracy for dyads of students compared to individual learners. Of 270 VP sessions per group (45 dyads [ie, 90 students] times 6 VPs, and 47 students working individually times 6 VPs minus 2 randomly selected deleted sessions), students made successful diagnoses in 143 cases (53%, SD 26%) when working individually and 192 (71%, SD 20%) when working in dyads. The dyads working with the collaboration tool achieved significantly higher diagnostic accuracy compared to the individual learners (P=.04, η^2 =0.12).

Discussion

Principal Findings

We have successfully implemented a tool for remote collaboration into a VP platform, enabling students to learn together. We implemented VPs that enabled remote synchronous collaborative learning of clinical reasoning in the Casus VP system. The development of a generic API allowed the collaboration tool to be used with other e-learning platforms or learning management systems. The results of the usability

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e24306
```

RenderX

questionnaire show that there was no significant usability impairment when working with the tool. Subjectively, the usability was even slightly higher. Usability in our study was comparable to that in usability tests routinely performed with the Casus system for individual learners [31,32]. This provides initial evidence that the additional technical aspects of the collaboration tool did not decrease the usability of Casus. The Casus tool was designed some years ago for use by individual students [33,34]. With the present effort to expand the use of Casus to include collaborative learning, we provide initial evidence that working in dyads increases the diagnostic accuracy of students. This could indicate that students working in dyads engaged more in the "interactive learning mode" defined in Chi's ICAP framework [22]. However, more in-depth research is needed to provide more evidence.

Comparison With Prior Work

We are aware that other tools for collaboration are available, including commercial online platforms and open-source platforms such as Jitsi. All of these platforms work well on their own, but have several disadvantages that limit their use in educational settings. First, the platforms require login and user identification in a separate browser window from the VP platform. These tools work well when collaboration itself is the

goal, but the VP environment provides detailed information on the patient and asks users to respond to questions and provide a diagnosis. An additional browser window complicates an already complex user interface and erects a barrier for educators seeking to incorporate collaborative clinical reasoning into their courses. Second, educators cannot monitor students' collaboration using the commercially available platforms. For example, there is no way of knowing whether the students are actually connected through a third-party platform. Third, educators do not receive any data regarding collaborative learning, which limits research when utilizing these tools.

For assessment purposes, VPs have proven more effective than standardized patients [19]. For learning purposes, a systematic review found that VPs are advantageous for learning skills, especially clinical reasoning, and comparably effective for learning knowledge [2]. For collaborative clinical reasoning, future research is still needed. For example, it remains to be determined whether and how chat-based communication can be used and how it influences collaboration. In smaller courses, however, this might distract from the task at hand. From an educational perspective, the amount of information each learner receives also needs to be explored. Users should have sufficient information for collaboration, but not be overwhelmed by the amount of information [33,34].

Limitations

We are aware that our tool has some limitations. Thus far, no courses can be guided as a whole; every user needs to be configured separately. Additionally, currently only the educator, not the learner, can determine the roles of main and secondary user and the amount of information each user is provided with. This study included students in their third to fifth years of medical school because the VPs were designed for these years. Thus, we do not yet know whether our results are transferrable to earlier or later training, or to postgraduate training.

Conclusions

Our collaboration tool was specifically developed to support collaborative clinical reasoning education with VPs. However, the tool's design also allows for other simultaneous collaboration scenarios, including in nonmedical domains. For example, the tool could be applicable in teacher education, with two teacher education students having to determine a virtual child's reading proficiency. The tool enables video-supported communication with optional screen sharing between students and allows educators to easily activate or deactivate the collaboration feature. It also runs on all major internet browsers without any installation procedure.

Our collaboration tool helps students work together to apply content knowledge through training with VPs. The tool provides the necessary basis for using learning analytics to track students' knowledge progress and collaborative clinical reasoning skills. As a future step, we could use the tool and API to guide students through a VP curriculum designed to impart both knowledge aspects. More broadly, the tool provides new possibilities for researchers and educators alike for designing courses, sharing homework assignments, and researching questions for collaborative learning.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the whole FAMULUS (Fostering Diagnostic Competences in Medical Education and Teacher Training Through Adaptive, Online Case-Simulations) team. The development was funded by a Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (BMBF; Federal Ministry of Education and Research) research grant (16DHL1039). The funding was used for participant compensation and employment of scientists MS, JK, and EB. The funding body had no role in the design of the study; collection, analysis, or interpretation of data; or in writing the manuscript.

Data Availability

The data sets generated and analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

JK helped to conceptualize the collaboration tool and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. IH helped to conceptualize the collaboration tool, implemented the usability test, and reviewed the manuscript. MS helped to conceptualize the collaboration tool and reviewed the manuscript. EB helped to conceptualize the collaboration tool and reviewed the manuscript. CS helped to conceptualize the collaboration tool, helped program the collaboration tool, and reviewed the manuscript. MA helped to conceptualize the collaboration tool, coordinated programming of the collaboration tool, and reviewed the manuscript. All authors have read and approved the manuscript. CS is currently working independently in London, UK.

Conflicts of Interest

Inga Hege is associate editor of BMC Medical Education. Martin Adler is head of operations of Instruct gGmbH, the developer of Casus. Manfred Platz works at Instruct gGmbH. No other authors have conflicts of interest.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Adaptions to SimpleWebRTC signalmaster from and Yet and the additions to SimpleWebRTC.

[DOCX File, 14 KB - mededu_v8i3e24306_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

The communication between the host system (in our studies CASUS) and the communication framework based on SimpleWebRTC with standard JavaScript.

[DOCX File, 15 KB - mededu_v8i3e24306_app2.docx]

References

- Thistlethwaite JE, Davies D, Ekeocha S, Kidd JM, MacDougall C, Matthews P, et al. The effectiveness of case-based learning in health professional education. A BEME systematic review: BEME Guide No. 23. Med Teach 2012;34(6):e421-e444. [doi: <u>10.3109/0142159X.2012.680939</u>] [Medline: <u>22578051</u>]
- 2. Kononowicz AA, Woodham LA, Edelbring S, Stathakarou N, Davies D, Saxena N, et al. Virtual patient simulations in health professions education: systematic review and meta-analysis by the digital health education collaboration. J Med Internet Res 2019 Jul 02;21(7):e14676 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14676] [Medline: 31267981]
- Jhou H, Ou-Yang L, Lin M, Chen P, Ho C, Lee C. Different pedagogies for acquisition of knowledge and skill: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Postgrad Med J 2021 Apr 30:postgradmedj-2021-140076. [doi: 10.1136/postgradmedj-2021-140076] [Medline: 33931555]
- 4. Jin J, Bridges SM. Educational technologies in problem-based learning in health sciences education: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2014 Dec 10;16(12):e251 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3240] [Medline: 25498126]
- 5. Botezatu M, Hult H, Tessma MK, Fors U. Virtual patient simulation: knowledge gain or knowledge loss? Med Teach 2010;32(7):562-568. [doi: 10.3109/01421590903514630] [Medline: 20653378]
- 6. Lehmann R, Thiessen C, Frick B, Bosse HM, Nikendei C, Hoffmann GF, et al. Improving pediatric basic life support performance through blended learning with web-based virtual patients: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jul 02;17(7):e162 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4141] [Medline: 26139388]
- Dankbaar MEW, Alsma J, Jansen EEH, van Merrienboer JJG, van Saase JLCM, Schuit SCE. An experimental study on the effects of a simulation game on students' clinical cognitive skills and motivation. Adv Health Sci Educ Theory Pract 2016 Aug 3;21(3):505-521 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10459-015-9641-x] [Medline: 26433730]
- 8. Sobocan M, Turk N, Dinevski D, Hojs R, Pecovnik Balon B. Problem-based learning in internal medicine: virtual patients or paper-based problems? Intern Med J 2017 Jan;47(1):99-103. [doi: 10.1111/imj.13304] [Medline: 27800653]
- Johnsen K, Dickerson R, Raij A, Lok B, Jackson J, Shin M, et al. Experiences in using immersive virtual characters to educate medical communication skills. In: IEEE Proceedings. VR 2005. Virtual Reality, 2005. 2005 Presented at: IEEE Virtual Reality 2005; Mar 12-16, 2005; Bonn, Germany p. 179-186. [doi: 10.1109/VR.2005.1492772]
- Foster A, Chaudhary N, Murphy J, Lok B, Waller J, Buckley PF. The use of simulation to teach suicide risk assessment to health profession trainees-rationale, methodology, and a proof of concept demonstration with a virtual patient. Acad Psychiatry 2015 Dec;39(6):620-629. [doi: 10.1007/s40596-014-0185-9] [Medline: 25026950]
- Foster A, Chaudhary N, Kim T, Waller JL, Wong J, Borish M, et al. Using virtual patients to teach empathy: a randomized controlled study to enhance medical students' empathic communication. Simul Healthc 2016 Jun;11(3):181-189. [doi: 10.1097/SIH.00000000000142] [Medline: 26841278]
- Kaltman S, Talisman N, Pennestri S, Syverson E, Arthur P, Vovides Y. Using technology to enhance teaching of patient-centered interviewing for early medical students. Simul Healthc 2018 Jun;13(3):188-194. [doi: 10.1097/SIH.000000000000304] [Medline: 29771814]
- Hege I, Kononowicz AA, Kiesewetter J, Foster-Johnson L. Uncovering the relation between clinical reasoning and diagnostic accuracy An analysis of learner's clinical reasoning processes in virtual patients. PLoS One 2018;13(10):e0204900 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0204900] [Medline: 30286136]
- Taveira-Gomes T, Ferreira P, Taveira-Gomes I, Severo M, Ferreira MA. What are we looking for in computer-based learning interventions in medical education? A systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2016 Aug 01;18(8):e204 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5461] [Medline: 27480053]
- 15. Braun LT, Zottmann JM, Adolf C, Lottspeich C, Then C, Wirth S, et al. Representation scaffolds improve diagnostic efficiency in medical students. Med Educ 2017 Nov;51(11):1118-1126. [doi: <u>10.1111/medu.13355</u>] [Medline: <u>28585351</u>]
- Plackett R, Kassianos AP, Kambouri M, Kay N, Mylan S, Hopwood J, et al. Online patient simulation training to improve clinical reasoning: a feasibility randomised controlled trial. BMC Med Educ 2020 Jul 31;20(1):245 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12909-020-02168-4] [Medline: 32736583]
- 17. Fink MC, Reitmeier V, Stadler M, Siebeck M, Fischer F, Fischer MR. Assessment of diagnostic competences with standardized patients versus virtual patients: experimental study in the context of history taking. J Med Internet Res 2021 Mar 04;23(3):e21196 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/21196] [Medline: 33661122]
- Dale MacLaine T, Juengst C, Harris D, Fenn C, Gabathuler H, Davies S. The (future) doctor will see you now: Piloting a longitudinal virtual patient in medical education, simulating general practice. Med Teach 2021 Apr;43(4):472-474. [doi: 10.1080/0142159X.2020.1853689] [Medline: 33290134]

- 19. Kiesewetter J, Fischer F, Fischer MR. Collaborative clinical reasoning-A systematic review of empirical studies. J Contin Educ Health Prof 2017;37(2):123-128. [doi: 10.1097/CEH.00000000000158] [Medline: 28562501]
- 20. Dillenbourg P. Collaborative Learning: Cognitive and Computational Approaches. New York: Elsevier Science, Inc; 1999.
- 21. Koschmann T, Kelson A, Feltovich P, Barrows H. Computer-supported problem-based learning: A principled approach to the use of computers in collaborative learning. In: Koschmann TD, editor. CSCL: Theory and Practice of An Emerging Paradigm. London, UK: Routledge; 1996.
- 22. Hautz WE, Kämmer JE, Schauber SK, Spies CD, Gaissmaier W. Diagnostic performance by medical students working individually or in teams. JAMA 2015 Jan 20;313(3):303-304. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2014.15770</u>] [Medline: <u>25603003</u>]
- 23. Chi MTH, Wylie R. The ICAP Framework: Linking cognitive engagement to active learning outcomes. Educ Psychol 2014 Oct 28;49(4):219-243. [doi: 10.1080/00461520.2014.965823]
- Poulton T, Conradi E, Kavia S, Round J, Hilton S. The replacement of 'paper' cases by interactive online virtual patients in problem-based learning. Med Teach 2009 Aug;31(8):752-758. [doi: <u>10.1080/01421590903141082</u>] [Medline: <u>19811214</u>]
 Med Teach 2009 Aug;31(8):752-758. [doi: <u>10.1080/01421590903141082</u>] [Medline: <u>19811214</u>]
- 25. Jitsi. URL: <u>http://jitsi.org</u> [accessed 2022-03-05]
- 26. Bates A. Technology, e-learning and distance education. Oxford, UK: Routledge; 2005.
- 27. Simplewebrtc / signalmaster. GitHub. URL: <u>https://github.com/simplewebrtc/signalmaster/blob/master/README.md</u> [accessed 2022-03-05]
- 28. coturn TURN server project. GitHub. URL: <u>https://github.com/coturn/coturn</u> [accessed 2022-03-05]
- 29. Build the backend services needed for a WebRTC app. HTML5rocks. URL: <u>https://www.html5rocks.com/en/tutorials/</u> webrtc/infrastructure/ [accessed 2022-03-05]
- 30. System Usability Scale. U.S. General Services Administration. URL: <u>https://www.usability.gov/how-to-and-tools/methods/</u> system-usability-scale.html [accessed 2022-03-05]
- Kiesewetter J, Sailer M, Jung VM, Schönberger R, Bauer E, Zottmann JM, et al. Learning clinical reasoning: how virtual patient case format and prior knowledge interact. BMC Med Educ 2020 Mar 14;20(1):73 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12909-020-1987-y] [Medline: 32171297]
- Hege I, Dietl A, Kiesewetter J, Schelling J, Kiesewetter I. How to tell a patient's story? Influence of the case narrative design on the clinical reasoning process in virtual patients. Med Teach 2018 Jul;40(7):736-742. [doi: 10.1080/0142159X.2018.1441985] [Medline: 29490538]
- Hege I, Kononowicz AA, Tolks D, Edelbring S, Kuehlmeyer K. A qualitative analysis of virtual patient descriptions in healthcare education based on a systematic literature review. BMC Med Educ 2016 May 13;16:146 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12909-016-0655-8] [Medline: 27177766]
- 34. Hege I, Kononowicz AA, Adler M. A clinical reasoning tool for virtual patients: design-based research study. JMIR Med Educ 2017 Nov 02;3(2):e21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mededu.8100] [Medline: 29097355]

Abbreviations

API: application programming interface
FAMULUS: Fostering Diagnostic Competences in Medical Education and Teacher Training Through Adaptive, Online Case-Simulations
ICAP: interactive, constructive, active, and passive
STUN: simple traversal of user datagram protocol through network address translators
SUS: System Usability Scale
TURN: traversal using relays around network address translators
VP: virtual patient

Edited by T Leung; submitted 14.09.20; peer-reviewed by R Krukowski, MDG Pimentel, M K., I Mircheva, I Shubina, N Kaur, N Buechler; comments to author 18.11.20; revised version received 31.03.21; accepted 17.03.22; published 28.07.22.

Please cite as:

Kiesewetter J, Hege I, Sailer M, Bauer E, Schulz C, Platz M, Adler M Implementing Remote Collaboration in a Virtual Patient Platform: Usability Study JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e24306 URL: https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e24306 doi:10.2196/24306 PMID:35900827

©Jan Kiesewetter, Inga Hege, Michael Sailer, Elisabeth Bauer, Claudia Schulz, Manfred Platz, Martin Adler. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (https://mededu.jmir.org), 28.07.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of

the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

A Stroke Rehabilitation Educational Program for Occupational Therapy Students and Practitioners: Usability Study

Valerie Newcomer¹; Megan Metzinger¹; Sydney Vick¹; Caroline Robertson¹; Taylor Lawrence¹; Amanda Glass¹; Lauren Elliott¹; Ansleigh Williams¹

Department of Occupational Therapy, Georgia State University, Atlanta, GA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Valerie Newcomer Department of Occupational Therapy Georgia State University P.O. Box 3995 Atlanta, GA, 30302-3995 United States Phone: 1 404 413 1417 Fax: 1 404 413 1450 Email: vnewcomer1@student.gsu.edu

Abstract

Background: There are gaps in knowledge translation (KT) of current evidence-based practices regarding stroke assessment and rehabilitation delivered through teletherapy. A lack of this knowledge can prevent occupational therapy (OT) students and practitioners from implementing current research findings.

Objective: The aim of this pilot study was to create an educational program to translate knowledge into practice regarding the remote delivery of stroke assessment and rehabilitation to OT students and practitioners. Four areas of focus were addressed in the educational program, including KT, task-oriented training, stroke assessments, and telerehabilitation.

Methods: Two pilot studies were conducted to assess the knowledge gained via pretests and posttests of knowledge, followed by a System Usability Scale and general feedback questionnaire. Participants in study 1 were 5 OT practitioners and 1 OT assistant. Participants in study 2 were 9 current OT students. Four 1-hour modules were emailed weekly to participants over the course of 4 weeks, with each module covering a different topic (KT, task-oriented training, stroke assessments, and telerehabilitation). Preliminary results were reviewed using descriptive statistics.

Results: Statistically significant results were found with increased scores of knowledge for both students and practitioners. Most of the educational modules had an above-average score regarding value and positive feedback for the educational program as a whole from the participants.

Conclusions: Overall, the results of this pilot study indicate that a web-based educational program is a valuable, informational method of increasing the translation of knowledge in the remote delivery of stroke assessment and rehabilitation. OT students and practitioners found the information presented to be valuable and relevant to their future profession and current practice.

(JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e35637) doi:10.2196/35637

KEYWORDS

knowledge translation; task-oriented training; stroke assessments; telerehabilitation; occupational therapy; students; practitioners; educational program

Introduction

Background

RenderX

The scope of health care knowledge rapidly changes as emerging research is published about best practices; however, there is often a gap between the dissemination and implementation of research into health care practice. Unfortunately, this gap

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e35637
```

between dissemination and implementation decreases the timely use of valuable research, limiting patients' opportunity to benefit from effective treatments [1]. Without the application of research to health care practice, patients cannot benefit from advances that will improve outcomes and reduce the amount of required medical treatment.

One way to close this gap is through knowledge translation (KT). The Canadian Institutes of Health Research defines KT as "the exchange, synthesis, and ethically sound application of knowledge within a complex system of interactions among researchers and users" that ultimately leads to "improved health, more effective services and products, and a strengthened healthcare system" [2]. Using the knowledge-to-action framework, KT is described as a 2-part cycle-the creation of knowledge and the application of knowledge into practice by relating it to specific situations [3]. The process of KT has been shown to benefit practitioners in the field of occupational therapy (OT) in practice areas such as stroke rehabilitation [4]. A stroke occurs every 40 seconds in the United States, making it a leading cause of disability that yields a multitude of functional impairments for almost 800,000 individuals each year [5-7]. Stroke rehabilitation is a significant practice area for OT because of the high prevalence of stroke and the variety of subsequent impairments that can interfere with an individual's ability to perform activities of daily living [5-7]. Unfortunately, there are barriers that inhibit the KT process within this field.

Barriers to KT include difficulty with accessing and interpreting research, the overwhelming amount of research available, an overall focus on the validity of research rather than its applicability, and an inability to generalize research findings to nonspecific situations [2,3]. These obstacles contribute to the gap between research and clinical practice [2]. In an effort to overcome these barriers and lessen the KT gap in stroke rehabilitation, an educational program for OT practitioners and students relevant to the remote delivery of stroke rehabilitation was needed. Therefore, in this study, we selected 4 topic areas web-based be the focus of а educational to program-telerehabilitation, task-oriented training (TOT), stroke assessments, and KT. These topics were specifically chosen for this study as they address the following components of stroke rehabilitation: telerehabilitation as a practical method of rehabilitation delivery [8-11], TOT as an evidence-based intervention [12-14], stroke assessments as a feasible method to measure client performance and progress [6,15-24], and KT as a driving force behind closing the knowledge-to-action gap [2-4].

Telerehabilitation uses communication technology to provide rehabilitation services and has connected health care providers and recipients in many situations. This allows clients to receive adequate treatment from qualified providers without concern for distance and unnecessary public exposure [8]. Telerehabilitation has become more prevalent in recent years not only because of advancements in technology but also because of the advent of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. In addition to decreasing public exposure, this service delivery model circumvents many barriers that prevent those who have experienced a stroke from receiving OT services such as transportation issues, caregiver burden, and absence of local facilities, especially in rural areas [9]. It enhances access to services and specialists, encourages collaboration among other professionals, and prevents service delivery delays [10]. There is a misconception that at-home telerehabilitation therapy services are insufficient when compared with typical in-person services. However, a study by Tchero et al [11] found that clients

after stroke who participated in telerehabilitation services progressed at a rate similar to those receiving care as usual. In addition, another study by Simpson et al [25] found that those recovering from a stroke at home spent less time sitting and more time upright and mobile. For these positive results to persist, practitioners must be aware of best practices in the field of telerehabilitation as it pertains to clients after stroke such as the TOT intervention method.

TOT, or task-specific training, is a "repetitive and intense practice of meaningful, goal-oriented activities" [12]. Winstein and Stewart [13] measured the effectiveness of task-specific training against other intervention methods for patients, and they identified it as the most effective intervention approach for those who experienced a mild to moderate stroke [13]. This intervention approach is made up of components including guided discovery; neuroplasticity; occupational adaptation; motor learning; shaping; relevance to client and context; randomly assigned, repetitive, and involved mass practice; reconstruction of the whole task; and reinforcement of positive and timely feedback [14]. Each component works toward improving the client's ability to complete their daily occupations independently. Understanding the tenets of TOT allows practitioners and students the opportunity of practical implementation into their everyday practice when working with clients. As recent years have given rise to telerehabilitation, carryover of a TOT program in a home environment is desirable. When deciding to use this intervention method, proper care must be taken in deciding how to assess one's client.

Within the realm of stroke rehabilitation, assessments are used to measure functional deficits, identify client goals, guide intervention, and serve as outcome measures to track progress [6,15]. Current practitioners and students must be aware of the assessments predominantly used when treating clients who have experienced a stroke, and they must be educated on up-to-date, evidence-based research. Although numerous assessments are used in stroke rehabilitation, the following relevant assessments can be administered remotely while retaining their acceptable psychometrics: the Fugl-Meyer Assessment, the Stroke Impact Scale, the Canadian Occupational Performance Measure, the Motor Activity Log, the Confidence in Arm and Hand Movements scale, the Activities-specific Balance Confidence scale, and the brief self-efficacy rating. These assessments can be conducted through videoconferencing [16,17], structured or semistructured interviews [18-21], or self-reported questionnaires [22-24]. Consequently, these assessments are feasible for remote administration and are valuable tools for use during telerehabilitation for stroke intervention [11,26]. The findings of See et al [27] indicate that detailed training in the administration of stroke assessments leads to increased accuracy and decreased variance in assessment scores. As a result, this study seeks to implement education to improve the ability of OT practitioners and students to remotely administer stroke assessments, thereby closing the knowledge-to-action gap regarding the use of stroke assessments within telerehabilitation. KT in this way will enhance the ability of OT practitioners and students to remotely assess functional performance and track progress of clients with stroke.

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

Remote delivery was considered an important focus of this study as a systematic review indicated that telerehabilitation is equivalent to in-person care regarding quality of life, patient satisfaction, and caregiver burden [11]. One finding from this systematic review indicated that remotely delivered care can provide results that are not only equivalent to in-person care but are also more cost-effective [11]. On the basis of the cost efficiency and comparable results provided by telerehabilitation, the decision to base the current educational program on remote delivery was made. In addition, an observational study indicated that patients at home are generally more active than their counterparts in hospitals, providing further incentive for this study to focus on remotely delivered stroke rehabilitation [25].

Objectives

The methodology for this educational program was modeled after a feasibility study by Luconi et al [28], in which weekly emails were sent to participants to promote best practices in stroke rehabilitation. The results from this study indicated that a web-based educational program is both a feasible and successful platform to inform therapy practitioners about best practices [28]. Similarly, the pretraining and posttraining measures from a pilot evaluation study indicated that a web-based platform can be a successful method for teaching educational content to OT students [29]. On the basis of the positive results of these studies, a web-based educational program sent via email was selected for this study, which included both OT practitioners and students. To measure the value of the educational program from the perspective of the participants, this study used the System Usability Scale (SUS) because of its validity, ease of use, and reliability with small sample sizes [30].

Research has shown that practitioners have a strong desire to facilitate KT but require the material to be presented in a flexible, easily accessible, and inexpensive manner [31]. Practitioners deem free, web-based training programs to be the most feasible [31]. Therefore, this study provided a web-based educational program to inform OT students and practitioners about the topic areas of KT, telerehabilitation, TOT, and stroke assessments. The purpose of this study is two-fold: (1) to increase the knowledge of OT practitioners and students regarding stroke rehabilitation and (2) to find a valuable, user-friendly method of delivering that knowledge.

Methods

Overview

Data were collected and analyzed separately for 2 studies, referred to as study 1 and study 2. Study 1 consisted of participants who were OT practitioners, and study 2 consisted of participants who were OT students.

Ethics Approval

Institutional review board approval of Georgia State University was obtained for each study (approval number: H21592).

Study Design

Both study 1 and study 2 are pilot studies including preliminary measures to assess knowledge gained via pretests and posttests

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e35637
```

of knowledge and program usability via the SUS, and general feedback questionnaires were included within the posttests.

Participants

Study 1

Snowball sampling of convenience over the course of a 2-week recruitment period was used to enroll 6 OT practitioners. All the recruited practitioners agreed to participate, resulting in a recruitment rate of 100% (6/6). Inclusion criteria for the study required practitioners to have a current US OT or OT assistant license and >2 years of experience working with survivors of stroke.

Study 2

Convenience sampling via email was used to enroll 10 OT graduate students over the course of a 2-week recruitment period. For inclusion in the study, students needed to be OT students within the state of Georgia in a master's or doctoral program. Students were excluded from the study if they had participated in stroke rehabilitation research to ensure a similar baseline of knowledge among the student participants. Recruitment rate of the student population was 11% (10/88).

Data Collection Process

For both studies, identical educational modules and participant instructions were administered via email. The educational program lasted 4 weeks with a new module sent out each Friday to the participants via email, allotting one week per module. The 4 modules were sent out in the following order: KT, TOT, stroke assessments, and telerehabilitation (Figure 1). The modules were created by the authors using evidence-based publications, including randomized controlled trials, meta-analyses, and systematic reviews. In addition, the modules were created in collaboration with and evaluated by an expert in stroke rehabilitation who had >25 years of experience and an extensive background in research.

The first module, "Knowledge Translation," defined KT and its importance, what is included in the KT process, how to effectively bridge the knowledge to practice gaps, and how to implement the knowledge-to-action model. This module included evidence-based articles describing KT, why it is important in the health care field, and how to use it explicitly in the OT field.

The second module, "Task-Oriented Training," included information on the definition, the different components, and how TOT is used in practice. The information from this module was obtained from evidence-based articles that studied the performance and use of TOT for patients who have experienced a stroke.

The third module, "Stroke Assessments," included information about the following 7 assessments that are commonly used within stroke rehabilitation and were deemed feasible for remote delivery: the Fugl-Meyer Assessment, Stroke Impact Scale, Canadian Occupational Performance Measure, Motor Activity Log, Confidence in Arm and Hand Movements scale, the Activities-specific Balance Confidence scale, and brief self-efficacy rating form. The information included for each

assessment detailed what the assessment measures were, how they were administered, and how they were scored.

The fourth module, "Telerehabilitation," included information on the growing benefits of internet-based therapy sessions within the rehabilitation community, along with the advantages and disadvantages of an internet-based platform. Evidence-based research promoting the benefits of telerehabilitation was included along with strategies for conducting a smooth telerehabilitation session with minimal technical glitches while promoting therapeutic alliance.

At the start of each module, participants were prompted to take a pretest of knowledge to determine their baseline comprehension of the subject matter being presented in the module. The questions were specific to the module topic (KT, TOT, stroke assessments, and telerehabilitation). After the participants completed the pretest of knowledge, they were instructed to complete the educational modules, which were designed to take approximately an hour to complete. Participants reviewed the modules asynchronously at convenient times of their choice, so they were permitted to pause and resume the modules throughout the week as needed. The modules included various forms of educational materials, including PowerPoint slides, discussion posts, and videos. Supplemental materials were also included in some of the modules for participants seeking additional information beyond what was required for the study, such as stroke assessment forms and journal articles. Upon completion of each module, participants took a posttest of knowledge. The posttest contained the same questions that were included in the pretest of knowledge to determine whether the participants learned the information provided through the modules. The results informed the study by showing whether the module content was presented clearly to the participants, allowing them to grasp the information.

Figure 1. A visual outline of the educational program. The program consisted of 4 educational modules with 1 module emailed to participants each week to be completed asynchronously. Included in each module was a pretest of knowledge, educational material, posttest of knowledge, System Usability Scale (SUS), and general feedback questionnaire to be completed in that order. The educational materials included in each module were Microsoft PowerPoint slides, lectures, discussion posts, evidence-based articles, and videos.



Participants' ratings and reports of the usability and value of the educational modules were collected using the SUS and general feedback questionnaire. The SUS used in this study has been determined to be both reliable and valid for determining the feasibility and ease of use for module delivery [30,32]. The SUS requires participants to rank a series of system usability statements using a 5-point Likert scale of "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree." Statements presented in the SUS included, "I found the various functions in these modules well integrated," "I thought this information was easy to use," and "I feel very confident using this information." A series of general feedback questions were administered to determine participants' overall satisfaction with the educational program, including statements such as "How relevant was this information on your education/practice?" "How likely are you to use this information?" "How likely would you be to recommend this program?"

Data Analyses

Identical data analyses were conducted for both study 1 and study 2. Qualtrics (Qualtrics International Inc) was used to collect data from the pretests and posttests of knowledge, SUS, and general feedback questions. Excel (Microsoft Corporation) and SPSS (version 27; IBM Corp) were used to analyze the descriptive results. Wilcoxon signed-rank test was used to compare the pretest and posttest scores of knowledge for each module. This test was selected because of the small sample size that did not represent a normal distribution.

After examining the studies separately, data from study 1 and study 2 were analyzed together using a Wilcoxon signed-rank test to assess the overall educational program. For both the SUS and the general feedback questionnaire, the Likert scales were converted to a corresponding number scale of 1 to 5 with number 1 corresponding to strongly disagree, 2 corresponding to disagree, 3 corresponding to neutral, 4 corresponding to agree, and 5 corresponding to strongly agree. Finally, all participants were encouraged to provide comments about the educational program through an open response section.

Results

Participants

Overview

Study 1 enrolled a total of 6 participants and obtained responses (6/6, 100%) from all participants throughout the study. Study 1 included 5 OTs and 1 OT assistant who currently practice within the United States. Study 2 originally recruited 10 Georgia State University OT graduate students, 9 of which were second-year students and 1 was a first-year student. Before beginning the modules, 1 second-year student withdrew from the study. Throughout study 2, 9 participants had a response rate of 92% (33/36; 2 nonresponders from module 3 "Stroke Assessments" and 1 nonresponder from module 4 "Telerehabilitation").

Study 1

The participants demonstrated an increase in knowledge for 3 of the 4 modules. As seen in Table 1, the median score increased by 40% from module 2 "Task-Oriented Training" pretest to posttest of knowledge. The median scores also increased substantially for module 3 "Stroke Assessments" (median scores increased by 37.5%) and module 4 "Telerehabilitation" (median scores increased by 12.5%). Module 1 "Knowledge Translation" was an exception, with the median scores remaining the same at both the pretest and posttest of knowledge. Knowledge gained from module 3 "Stroke Assessments" was the only module that demonstrated a statistically significant difference from pretest to posttest of knowledge with the Wilcoxon signed-rank test.

 Table 1. Study 1—practitioner participants: changes in knowledge for each module (N=6).

	Sample, n (%)	Values, mean (SD)	Values, median (IQR)	P value	z-score
Module 1: "Knowledge Translation"			· · ·	.08	1.732
Pretest of knowledge	6 (100)	76.67 (0.15)	80 (60-85)		
Posttest of knowledge	6 (100)	86.67 (0.10)	80 (80-100)		
Module 2: "Task-Oriented Training"				.05	1.947
Pretest of knowledge	6 (100)	66.67 (0.21)	60 (55-85)		
Posttest of knowledge	6 (100)	93.33 (0.10)	100 (80-100)		
Module 3: "Stroke Assessments"				.046	2.00 ^a
Pretest of knowledge	6 (100)	56.25 (0.22)	50 (46.88-62.50)		
Posttest of knowledge	6 (100)	81.25 (0.17)	87.5 (68.75-90.63)		
Module 4: "Telerehabilitation"				.13	1.511
Pretest of knowledge	6 (100)	29.17 (0.25)	37.5 (0-50)		
Posttest of knowledge	6 (100)	54.17 (0.19)	50 (43.37-75)		

^aP<.05.



Study 2

The participants demonstrated an increase in knowledge in all 4 modules. As seen in Table 2, the median score increased by 20% from module 2 "Task-Oriented Training" pretest to posttest of knowledge. The median scores also increased substantially for module 3 "Stroke Assessments" (median scores increased by 62.5%) and module 4 "Telerehabilitation" (median scores

increased by 75%). Module 1 "Knowledge Translation" was an exception, with the median scores remaining the same at both the pretest and posttest of knowledge. A Wilcoxon signed-rank test conveyed a statistically significant difference in knowledge gained from pretest to posttest in 2 modules, as seen in Table 3 (module 3 "Stroke Assessments," P=.02; module 4 "Telerehabilitation," P=.01).

Table 2. Study 2-student participants: changes in knowledge for each module (N=10).

	Sample, n (%)	Values, mean (SD)	Values, median (IQR)	P value	z-score
Module 1: "Knowledge Translation"			·	.71	0.378
Pretest of knowledge	9 (90)	88.89 (0.15)	100 (80-100)		
Posttest of knowledge	9 (90)	91.11 (0.11)	100 (80-100)		
Module 2: "Task-Oriented Training"				.06	1.890
Pretest of knowledge	9 (90)	82.22 (0.21)	80 (70-100)		
Posttest of knowledge	9 (90)	95.56 (0.09)	100 (90-100)		
Module 3: "Stroke Assessments"				.02	2.388 ^a
Pretest of knowledge	7 (70)	25 (0.18)	25 (12.5-37.5)		
Posttest of knowledge	7 (70)	87.5 (0.14)	87.5 (75-100)		
Module 4: "Telerehabilitation"				.01	2.539 ^a
Pretest of knowledge	8 (80)	0 (0)	0 (0)		
Posttest of knowledge	8 (80)	68.75 (0.26)	75 (50-93.75)		

^aP<.05.

 Table 3. Studies 1 and 2 combined: changes in knowledge for each module (N=16).

	Sample, n (%)	Values, mean (SD)	Values, median (IQR)	P value	z-score
Module 1—"Knowledge Translation"		-		.21	1.265
Pretest of knowledge	15 (94)	84 (0.15)	80 (80-100)		
Posttest of knowledge	15 (94)	89.33 (0.10)	80 (80-100)		
Module 2—"Task-Oriented Training"				.01	2.547 ^a
Pretest of knowledge	15 (94)	76 (0.22)	80 (60-100)		
Posttest of knowledge	15 (94)	94.67 (0.09)	100 (80-100)		
Module 3—"Stroke Assessments"				.003	2.971 ^b
Pretest of knowledge	13 (81)	39.42 (0.25)	37.5 (18.75-50)		
Posttest of knowledge	13 (81)	84.62 (0.15)	87.5 (75-100)		
Module 4—"Telerehabilitation"				.002	3.028 ^b
Pretest of knowledge	14 (88)	12.5 (0.21)	0 (0-31.25)		
Posttest of knowledge	14 (88)	62.5 (0.24)	62.5 (50-75)		

^aP<.05.

^bP<.01.

RenderX

Combined Results for Study 1 and Study 2

The participants demonstrated an increase in knowledge for 3 of the 4 modules. As seen in Table 3, the median scores increased by 20% from module 2 "Task-Oriented Training" pretest to posttest of knowledge. The median scores also increased substantially for module 3 "Stroke Assessments" and

https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e35637

module 4 "Telerehabilitation." Module 3 "Stroke Assessments' median scores increased by 50% from pretest to posttest of knowledge. The module 4 "Telerehabilitation" scores increased by 62.5% from pretest to posttest of knowledge. Module 1 "Knowledge Translation" was an exception, with the median scores remaining the same at both the pretest and posttest of knowledge. Three modules showed statistical significance with

the Wilcoxon signed-rank test through knowledge gained from pretest to posttest of knowledge as seen in Table 3 (module 2 "Task-Oriented Training" P=.01; module 3 "Stroke Assessments" P=.003; module 4 "Telerehabilitation" P=.002).

SUS Scores

Both study 1 and study 2 results from SUS support the value of a web-based education program format. Scores >68 are

considered above average on the SUS [30]. As seen in Figure 2 for both studies individually and combined, the SUS scores were above average for module 2 "Task-Oriented Training" and module 3 "Stroke Assessments." System usability for module 4 "Telerehabilitation" was above average only in study 2 and studies 1 and 2 combined. System usability for module 1 "Knowledge Translation" was not above average in either study 1 or study 2.





General Feedback

Participants rated overall opinions on the program, and some participants voluntarily added anecdotal written comments. General feedback about the modules was positive. Study 1 reported that 85% (122/144) of the participants were likely to recommend this educational program to their peers. Furthermore, 90% (130/144) of the study 1 participants stated that they found the information to be relevant to their practice. Study 1 participants also reported 85.8% (123.5/144) satisfaction with the educational modules. One practitioner commented on module 3 "Stroke Assessments," "I learned something new I can bring to adult neuro practice and will advocate for new assessment tools." Other comments from practitioners focused on the "relevance of TOT" and how telehealth practices were reinforced. Another practitioner commented that module 1

"Knowledge Translation," "reminded [them] that knowledge translation was a powerful tool for evidence-based practice." Study 2 reported that 90.3% (149/165) of the participants were likely to recommend this program to their peers. Study 2 reported that 93.3% (154/165) of the participants were satisfied with the modules, and 89.1% (147/165) of study 2 participants reported that the information was relevant to their future practice. In study 2, some descriptive anecdotal feedback included that it was "easily understood," "a great resource," "very relevant," and "beneficial." One student stated that the information presented in these modules "made the topic of telerehabilitation less intimidating."

Discussion

Principal Findings

This pilot study examined the value of a web-based educational program for current OT practitioners and students. Participants learned current evidence-based aspects of KT, TOT, stroke assessments, and telerehabilitation. This study was designed to bridge the gap in KT from evidence-based research to clinical practice and to assess the knowledge gained from the educational modules and the feasibility of the delivery system. On the basis of a study performed by Damarell and Tieman [31], where the practitioners found free web-based training programs to be the most feasible platform for delivery, the researchers chose a web-based delivery of the modules. The same study also found that for its population, a web-based training platform was the most accessible for both the students and practitioner groups. This was because of the flexibility of completion, delivery method, and design of the educational materials. The results from this study were examined from a sample of practitioners (study 1), from a sample of students (study 2), and from both samples combined.

Overall knowledge of participants, in both the student and practitioner groups, increased after their review of KT, TOT, stroke assessments, and telerehabilitation modules. In particular, knowledge of stroke assessments increased the most for practitioners; however, knowledge from pretest to posttest also improved with exposure to education in KT, TOT, and telerehabilitation. For the student sample, a similar statistically significant increase in knowledge was related to stroke assessment and telerehabilitation. The lack of significant differences in the knowledge gained from the KT and TOT modules may be because of the participants' prior knowledge as related to their educational curriculum or clinical experiences in these areas. Although this study included a small sample size, the results could point to increased fortification of OT programs related to stroke assessments, as this was an area of great improvement for both students and practitioners. The results of this study can provide guidance to OT educators and continuing education developers on what topics need to be focused on more in the future.

At the conclusion of each module, the participants were asked to evaluate the information presented and the program as a whole using the SUS. The usability of the overall educational program was above average. Specifically, practitioners rated the TOT and stroke assessment modules as the most usable. The student sample rated the individual modules for TOT, stroke assessments, and telerehabilitation as the most valuable modules. General feedback revealed that most participants rated an increase in confidence when using the information provided in these modules. Participants also reported that they were likely to recommend this program to their peers and were satisfied overall with the educational program. Comments from the general feedback questionnaire reflected the information provided within the modules in a positive light. The participants commented on the relevance to their current or future practice and the usefulness of the information provided. The comments provided by the participants reinforced the success of the

educational program's ability to increase knowledge regarding stroke rehabilitation and provide both students and practitioners with information that can be used to enhance their ability to treat clients.

When looking at the combined results from the 2 studies, an increase was found between the pretest and posttest scores of knowledge. Analyses found TOT, stroke assessments, and telerehabilitation modules to significantly increase knowledge for both groups of participants combined. The KT module was not found to be statistically significant; however, it demonstrated a trend toward significance. The TOT, stroke assessments, and telerehabilitation modules had above-average scores regarding usability from the SUS. Overall, the combination of SUS scores for study 1 and study 2 revealed that usability was above average.

The results, similar to those of Luconi et al [28], confirmed the effectiveness of using a web-based delivery method to disseminate educational information via email to enhance practitioners' knowledge regarding stroke rehabilitation. The results from this study are similar to those reported by Reid [29]. Reid [29] found that web-based curriculum programs can be used to increase knowledge through the use of pretests and posttests of knowledge in OT students regarding various topics. One component differing from this study and the study completed by Reid [29] was the use of informal practice exercises to increase knowledge.

Limitations identified within this study curtail the ability to generalize findings to a larger population. Practitioners were recruited within the same area of practice and reported varying years of experience. This could have influenced prior knowledge of the topics addressed in the modules and therefore increased scores between pre- and posttests for this group. In addition, all the recruited student participants were from the same university, thus limiting the generalizability to students in other geographic areas. Furthermore, the recruitment rate of the student population was low. Students who did not agree to participate verbalized their decision because of the increased academic demands during the time of year the study was conducted. Participants from both the practitioner and student populations reported some prior knowledge related to the information presented in the modules, which could impact the change in knowledge obtained. Specifically, practitioners reported prior knowledge regarding stroke assessments, as related to their current field of practice, and students reported prior knowledge regarding KT and TOT, as was previously taught in their OT curriculum. Finally, the sample size in this pilot study was relatively small, which reduces the power of this study and increases the margin of error. A larger sample size is recommended for future studies to confirm these findings.

Conclusions

Overall, the results of this pilot study indicate that a web-based educational program is a valuable and informative method of translating knowledge of current evidence-based information regarding the remote delivery of stroke assessment and rehabilitation. This study obtained preliminary results from both students and practitioners that the information presented was valuable and relevant to their future profession and current

XSL•FO

practice, respectively. These results are valuable to consider regarding the rising prevalence of the use of telerehabilitation related to the COVID-19 pandemic and for populations who have limited access to services such as clients in rural or underserved areas.

Limitations

This study was a preliminary approach that focused on the usability of the educational modules, and thus, several lessons were learned that should be applied to future research. To preserve anonymity, participants did not have unique identifiers, which prohibited researchers from tracking each participant's specific knowledge shift and ability to follow up with participants who did not complete each module. This also kept researchers from having definitive knowledge of individually paired pretest knowledge scores to posttest knowledge scores. However, participants' test completion led to a reasonable pairing of pretests to posttests. If a form of identification would have been provided, researchers could have also identified whether years of experience or years in OT school had an influence on the knowledge gained throughout the modules.

Thus, a more accessible platform for the distribution of the educational modules would be beneficial. There were several challenges with emailing large files and additional resources to the participants. The lack of a significant change in the knowledge attained in some modules calls for the reconstruction of some modules to further increase knowledge. Participants may also benefit from having >1 week to complete each module to facilitate a more consistent response rate across modules. The students and practitioners who participated in this study

had to complete the educational modules in addition to their personal and work responsibilities. The short time frame given to the participants could have caused them to rush through the module information. Increasing the time allotted to participants to complete each module could increase the response rate and improve the overall posttest knowledge scores within the study. In addition, adding an in-person component to the educational modules could facilitate additional practice and increase the amount of knowledge retained from each module. Finally, standardizing the form of the tests of knowledge across each module would better validate knowledge changes. Various forms of questions, including the use of "check all that apply" and multiple choice were used throughout each module. Having a consistent format for questioning would increase the accuracy of reporting knowledge results.

Despite these limitations, the results of this pilot study indicate that a remotely delivered educational program is a valuable and effective method to decrease the gap between research and clinical practice regarding stroke assessment and rehabilitation for OT students and practitioners. These findings support and have implications for the use of web-based educational programs to increase knowledge and carryover from research to clinical practice. Going forward, it would be beneficial to investigate and track the impact that asynchronous learning and remote educational programs have on implementing interventions and techniques in clinical practice. Such a program has the potential to improve health care and rehabilitation treatment for patients with stroke as well as promote continued education regarding various aspects of the ever-changing rehabilitation environment.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Eng JJ, Bird M, Godecke E, Hoffmann TC, Laurin C, Olaoye OA, et al. Moving stroke rehabilitation research evidence into clinical practice: consensus-based core recommendations from the Stroke Recovery and Rehabilitation Roundtable. Int J Stroke 2019 Oct 30;14(8):766-773. [doi: 10.1177/1747493019873597] [Medline: 31564224]
- 2. Lencucha R, Kothari A, Rouse M. The issue is ... knowledge translation: a concept for occupational therapy? Am J Occup Ther 2007;61(5):593-596. [doi: 10.5014/ajot.61.5.593] [Medline: 17944297]
- 3. Graham ID, Logan J, Harrison MB, Straus SE, Tetroe J, Caswell W, et al. Lost in knowledge translation: time for a map? J Contin Educ Health Prof 2006;26(1):13-24. [doi: 10.1002/chp.47] [Medline: 16557505]
- 4. Bennett S. Knowledge translation in occupational therapy. Aust Occup Ther J 2017 Oct 18;64(5):349. [doi: 10.1111/1440-1630.12433]
- 5. Stroke facts. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/stroke/facts.htm</u> [accessed 2021-06-01]
- Legg L, Lewis S, Schofield-Robinson O, Drummond A, Langhorne P. Occupational therapy for adults with problems in activities of daily living after stroke. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017 Jul 19;7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD003585.pub3] [Medline: 28721691]
- 7. Effects of stroke. American Heart Association. URL: <u>https://www.stroke.org/en/about-stroke/effects-of-stroke</u> [accessed 2021-04-01]
- 8. Hung Kn G, Fong KN. Effects of telerehabilitation in occupational therapy practice: a systematic review. Hong Kong J Occup Ther 2019 Jun;32(1):3-21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1569186119849119] [Medline: 31217758]
- 9. Wolf SL, Sahu K, Bay RC, Buchanan S, Reiss A, Linder S, et al. The HAAPI (home arm assistance progression initiative) trial: a novel robotics delivery approach in stroke rehabilitation. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 2015 Mar 17;29(10):958-968 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1545968315575612] [Medline: 25782693]
- Cason J. Telehealth: a rapidly developing service delivery model for occupational therapy. Int J Telerehabil 2014;6(1):29-35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5195/ijt.2014.6148] [Medline: 25945220]

- Tchero H, Tabue Teguo M, Lannuzel A, Rusch E. Telerehabilitation for stroke survivors: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2018 Oct 26;20(10):e10867 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10867] [Medline: 30368437]
- 12. Rowe VT, Neville M. Task-Oriented Training and Evaluation at home (TOTE Home). Annals Int Occupation Ther 2020 Jan;3(1):45-52. [doi: 10.3928/24761222-20191018-02]
- 13. Winstein C, Stewart J. Conditions of task practice for individuals with neurologic impairments. In: Textbook of Neural Repair and Rehabilitation. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2010.
- 14. Hubbard IJ, Parsons MW, Neilson C, Carey LM. Task-specific training: evidence for and translation to clinical practice. Occup Ther Int 2009 Sep;16(3-4):175-189 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/oti.275] [Medline: 19504501]
- 15. Kim H, Her J, Ko J, Park D, Woo J, You Y, et al. Reliability, concurrent validity, and responsiveness of the Fugl-Meyer Assessment (FMA) for hemiplegic patients. J Phys Ther Sci 2012;24(9):893-899. [doi: 10.1589/jpts.24.893]
- Amano S, Umeji A, Uchita A, Hashimoto Y, Takebayashi T, Kanata Y, et al. Reliability of remote evaluation for the Fugl-Meyer assessment and the action research arm test in hemiparetic patients after stroke. Top Stroke Rehabil 2018 Sep 20;25(6):432-437. [doi: 10.1080/10749357.2018.1481569] [Medline: 30028659]
- 17. Milosevic B, Leardini A, Farella E. Kinect and wearable inertial sensors for motor rehabilitation programs at home: state of the art and an experimental comparison. Biomed Eng Online 2020 Apr 23;19(1):25 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12938-020-00762-7] [Medline: 32326957]
- Carswell A, McColl MA, Baptiste S, Law M, Polatajko H, Pollock N. The Canadian Occupational Performance Measure: a research and clinical literature review. Can J Occup Ther 2004 Oct 22;71(4):210-222. [doi: <u>10.1177/000841740407100406</u>] [Medline: <u>15586853</u>]
- Cup EH, Scholte op Reimer WJ, Thijssen MC, van Kuyk-Minis MA. Reliability and validity of the Canadian Occupational Performance Measure in stroke patients. Clin Rehabil 2003 Jul 01;17(4):402-409. [doi: <u>10.1191/0269215503cr6350a</u>] [Medline: <u>12785249</u>]
- 20. Duncan PW, Wallace D, Lai SM, Johnson D, Embretson S, Laster LJ. The stroke impact scale version 2.0. Evaluation of reliability, validity, and sensitivity to change. Stroke 1999 Oct;30(10):2131-2140. [doi: 10.1161/01.str.30.10.2131] [Medline: 10512918]
- 21. Taub E, Miller NE, Novack TA, Cook EW, Fleming WC, Nepomuceno CS, et al. Technique to improve chronic motor deficit after stroke. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1993 Apr;74(4):347-354. [Medline: <u>8466415</u>]
- 22. Powell LE, Myers AM. The Activities-specific Balance Confidence (ABC) scale. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 1995 Jan 01;50A(1):M28-M34. [doi: 10.1093/gerona/50a.1.m28] [Medline: 7814786]
- Stewart JC, Lewthwaite R, Rocktashel J, Winstein CJ. Self-efficacy and reach performance in individuals with mild motor impairment due to stroke. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 2019 Apr 18;33(4):319-328 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1545968319836231] [Medline: 30880592]
- 24. Winstein CJ, Wolf SL, Dromerick AW, Lane CJ, Nelsen MA, Lewthwaite R, ICARE Investigative Team. Interdisciplinary Comprehensive Arm Rehabilitation Evaluation (ICARE): a randomized controlled trial protocol. BMC Neurol 2013 Jan 11;13(1):5 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2377-13-5] [Medline: 23311856]
- 25. Simpson DB, Breslin M, Cumming T, de Zoete S, Gall SL, Schmidt M, et al. Go home, sit less: the impact of home versus hospital rehabilitation environment on activity levels of stroke survivors. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2018 Nov;99(11):2216-21.e1. [doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2018.04.012] [Medline: 29750901]
- Chen J, Jin W, Zhang X, Xu W, Liu X, Ren C. Telerehabilitation approaches for stroke patients: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis 2015 Dec;24(12):2660-2668. [doi: 10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2015.09.014] [Medline: 26483155]
- 27. See J, Dodakian L, Chou C, Chan V, McKenzie A, Reinkensmeyer DJ, et al. A standardized approach to the Fugl-Meyer assessment and its implications for clinical trials. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 2013 Oct 17;27(8):732-741. [doi: 10.1177/1545968313491000] [Medline: 23774125]
- 28. Luconi F, Rochette A, Grad R, Hallé MC, Chin D, Habib B, et al. A multifaceted continuing professional development intervention to move stroke rehabilitation guidelines into professional practice: a feasibility study. Topics Stroke Rehab 2020 Jan 21;27(6):401-441. [doi: 10.1080/10749357.2019.1711339] [Medline: 31960782]
- 29. Reid DT. Teaching mindfulness to occupational therapy students: pilot evaluation of an online curriculum. Can J Occup Ther 2013 Feb 01;80(1):42-48. [doi: 10.1177/0008417413475598] [Medline: 23550496]
- 30. System Usability Scale (SUS). usability.gov. URL: <u>https://www.usability.gov/how-to-and-tools/methods/</u> system-usability-scale.html [accessed 2021-06-01]
- Damarell RA, Tieman JJ. How do clinicians learn about knowledge translation? An investigation of current web-based learning opportunities. JMIR Med Educ 2017 Jul 13;3(2):e12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mededu.7825] [Medline: 28705788]
- 32. Peres SC, Pham T, Phillips R. Validation of the System Usability Scale (SUS): SUS in the wild. Proc Human Factors Ergonomics Soc Annual Meeting 2013 Sep 30;57(1):192-196. [doi: 10.1177/1541931213571043]

Abbreviations

KT: knowledge translation **OT:** occupational therapy **SUS:** System Usability Scale **TOT:** task-oriented training

Edited by N Zary; submitted 17.12.21; peer-reviewed by S Lin, HL Tam, M Stein; comments to author 17.02.22; revised version received 12.04.22; accepted 02.09.22; published 30.09.22.

Please cite as:

Newcomer V, Metzinger M, Vick S, Robertson C, Lawrence T, Glass A, Elliott L, Williams A A Stroke Rehabilitation Educational Program for Occupational Therapy Students and Practitioners: Usability Study JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e35637 URL: https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e35637 doi:10.2196/35637 PMID:36178717

©Valerie Newcomer, Megan Metzinger, Sydney Vick, Caroline Robertson, Taylor Lawrence, Amanda Glass, Lauren Elliott, Ansleigh Williams. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (https://mededu.jmir.org), 30.09.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education (https://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

An Innovative Use of Twitter to Disseminate and Promote Medical Student Scholarship During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Usability Study

Gary Allen¹, BSc; Jenna Garris², MA; Luan Lawson², MD; Timothy Reeder³, MD; Jennifer Crotty⁴, MD; Johanna Hannan⁵, PhD; Kori Brewer³, PhD

¹Brody School of Medicine, East Carolina University, Greenville, NC, United States

²Office of Medical Education, Brody School of Medicine, East Carolina University, Greenville, NC, United States

³Department of Emergency Medicine, Brody School of Medicine, East Carolina University, Greenville, NC, United States

⁴Department of Pediatrics, Brody School of Medicine, East Carolina University, Greenville, NC, United States

⁵Department of Physiology, Brody School of Medicine, East Carolina University, Greenville, NC, United States

Corresponding Author:

Kori Brewer, PhD Department of Emergency Medicine Brody School of Medicine East Carolina University 600 Moye Blvd MS #625 Greenville, NC, 27834 United States Phone: 1 252 744 2159 Email: brewerk@ecu.edu

Abstract

Background: Due to the emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic in March 2020, the cancellation of in-person learning activities forced every aspect of medical education and student engagement to pivot to a web-based format, including activities supporting the performance and dissemination of scholarly work. At that time, social media had been used to augment in-person conference learning, but it had not been used as the sole platform for scholarly abstract presentations.

Objective: Our aim was to assess the feasibility of using Twitter to provide a completely web-based forum for real-time dissemination of and engagement with student scholarly work as an alternative to a traditional in-person poster presentation session.

Methods: The Brody School of Medicine at East Carolina University launched an online Medical Student Scholarship Forum, using Twitter as a platform for students to present scholarly work and prepare for future web-based presentations. A single student forum participant created posts using a standardized template that incorporated student research descriptions, uniform promotional hashtags, and individual poster presentations. Tweets were released over 5 days and analytic data were collected from the Twitter platform. Outcome measures included impressions, engagements, retweets, likes, media engagements, and average daily engagement rate.

Results: During the conference, the student leader published 63 tweets promoting the work of 58 students (55 medical and 3 dental students) over 5 days. During the forum and the following week, tweets from the @BrodyDistinctly Twitter account received 63,142 impressions and 7487 engagements, including 187 retweets, 1427 likes, and 2082 media engagements. During the 5 days of the forum, the average daily engagement rate was 12.72%.

Conclusions: Using Twitter as a means of scholarly dissemination resulted in a larger viewing community compared to a traditional in-person event. Early evidence suggests that social media platforms may be an alternative to traditional scholarly presentations. Presenting via Twitter allowed students to receive instantaneous feedback and effectively network with wider academic communities. Additional research is needed to evaluate the effectiveness of knowledge uptake, feedback, and networking.

(JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e33767) doi:10.2196/33767

KEYWORDS

medical education; social media; web-based learning; innovation; Twitter; dissemination; scholarship; medical student; platform; academic promotion; COVID-19

Introduction

The emergence of COVID-19 created a period of intense uncertainty for both medical students and faculty. In the spring of 2020, cancellation of all in-person learning activities forced medical education and student engagement into a web-based format, including activities in support of performance and dissemination of medical student scholarship. Prior to the pandemic, educators at the Brody School of Medicine developed 4 longitudinal, paracurricular distinction tracks through which medical students could achieve recognition in research, service learning, medical education and teaching, or health system transformation and leadership [1]. Between the first and second year of medical school, students in each track enter an 8-week summer immersion experience with the opportunity to present their results locally to faculty and students at an annual Medical Student Scholarship Forum. COVID-19-related safety restrictions prevented traditional assembly of the forum, depriving scholars of the opportunity to create a poster or oral presentation, promote their work, experience professional interactions with peers and faculty, receive real-time feedback, and celebrate project success.

To address this problem, the distinction track leadership collaborated with East Carolina University news services to develop a student-driven web-based event, leveraging the advanced features of Twitter. Social media platforms, particularly Twitter, promote discussion of key clinical and medical education topics and disseminate evidence-based medicine [2,3]. A recent review highlighted the various educational opportunities available on Twitter, including the ability to engage in Twitter-based journal clubs, web-based case conferences, and "Tweetorials," where a user, presumably an expert, explains an important topic or concept in a series of posts [2]. Further, many professional societies are "tweeting the meeting" at academic conferences to increase visibility and distribute content to a wider audience [3-6]. Limited but still successful, examples exist of web-based-only Twitter poster sessions, such as the annual #RSCPoster event held by the Royal College of Chemistry [7]. Our objective was to assess the feasibility of using Twitter to provide a completely web-based forum for real-time dissemination of and engagement with student scholarly work as an alternative to the traditional in-person Medical Student Scholarship Forum.

Methods

XSL•FC RenderX

Study Population

Our study population included a total of 24 medical students participating in summer distinction track programs, as well as 32 medical and 3 dental students participating in the Summer Scholars Student Research Program, a precursor to the competitively selected Research Distinction Track. Medical and dental students not participating in the programs were excluded. Academically, all medical students were between

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e33767
```

their first and second year, whereas all dental students had yet to start their first-year curriculum.

Event Preparation

Initially, we polled scholars regarding their preference for an indefinite postponement of this in-person event or the development of a web-based event. Scholars overwhelmingly preferred the opportunity to present their projects using a web-based approach; a Twitter account (@BrodyDistinctly) already existed to promote the activities of Distinction Track Scholars. Distinction track leadership collaborated with a representative student scholar to design a web-based event using Twitter as the platform. Prior to the event, East Carolina University's news services office provided education regarding professional "best practices" for the use of Twitter [8]. Additionally, scholars attended an educational session on the responsible use of Twitter and were encouraged to set up a professional Twitter account.

To facilitate creation of posts, we developed a standard template that included all desired elements (Figure 1). Standard template elements included the student's preferred name, academic year, and distinction track, as well as specific university-approved hashtags used to promote the web-based event. As a final assignment, each scholar submitted additional elements needed to create their own individual post, using the template. These sections included a "hook" or headline for their individual project and their final poster, using a university-approved template. Students were then given the option to either submit a 1-minute video to describe the results and significance of their work or allow track leadership to use their professional headshot. Web links to the poster presentations stored on a file sharing service were included in each post. Finally, the standard template included the names of the research mentors and a link to a university webpage highlighting the event.

Of note, Twitter limits posts to 280 characters, so inclusion of all desired elements required innovative solutions. First, web links to poster presentations were shortened using a free URL shortening service. Additionally, electronic ideograms, commonly referred to as emojis, were used to replace words wherever possible. Lastly, students were asked to limit their research introductions to less than 140 characters. On occasion, students were asked to further shorten "hooks" to account for variations in name length among students and mentors.

Once all materials were received, the student scholar representative used TweetDeck, a free application provided by Twitter Inc, to schedule 12 posts each day, separated by 1 hour, for 5 consecutive days, from participating scholars. All content was distributed from the @BrodyDistinctly Twitter account. The distinction track leaders created this account in April 2019 to promote Distinction Track Scholars' activities.

The event was advertised through the health sciences campuswide email listserv (with 3292 recipients) and tweeted from the Brody School of Medicine (@ECUBrodySOM; 2936

followers) and Distinction Track (@BrodyDistinctly; 172 followers) Twitter accounts. The week preceding the event,

details regarding the schedule of the individual presentations were posted to the Distinction Track Twitter feed.

Figure 1. (A) Sample template with guidelines provided to students to compose their tweet; (B) example of a finalized tweet that was posted for the online Medical Student Scholarship Forum event on Twitter.



Outcome Measures

Our main outcome measures were impressions (ie, the number of times people viewed a post on Twitter), (2) engagements (ie, the number of times people interacted with a post), (3) likes (ie, the number of times people liked a post), (4) detail expands (ie,

https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e33767

RenderX

the number of times people viewed the details of a post), and (5) retweets (ie, the number of times people retweeted a post) [9]. Lastly, we also tracked the engagement rate (ie, the number of engagements divided by the number of impressions), a common metric used by both professionals and academics to evaluate the overall performance of tweets [10,11]. These

outcomes are commonly used in professional societies as measures of successful dissemination of meeting content [11,12].

Analysis Methods

All data were obtained for free, using Twitter's basic analytics services available to all users. Date filters were used to collect data within the time frame of one week before, during, and one week after the event. Of note, analysis of the types of users (ie, students, local faculty, or outside faculty) who engaged with posts was not available for free on the Twitter platform.

Ethical Considerations

The current study was deemed not to constitute human research using the Human Research Determination Worksheet provided by the University and Medical Center Institutional Review Board of East Carolina University. This decision was confirmed by the IRB and no ethical approvals were sought.

Results

Principal Findings

The web-based Medical Student Scholarship Forum took place over 5 days (August 3-7, 2020). Data are summarized in Figure 2. In the week leading up to the forum (July 27-August 2, 2020), the daily engagement rate was 3.43% (57/1662). During the forum, a total of 63 tweets promoted the work of 58 student scholars (55 medical and 3 dental students). Throughout the forum and the week following it (August 3-14, 2020), tweets from the @BrodyDistinctly Twitter account received 63,142 impressions, 7487 engagements, 1427 likes, 2082 detail expands, and 187 retweets. During the 5 days of the forum, the average daily engagement rate was 12.72% (6743/54,588)—an increase of roughly 270% from the week prior to the event. Engagement continued the week following the forum despite no additional tweets from the @BrodyDistinctly account. The postforum average daily engagement rate was 8.53% (744/8554). During or after the forum, the highest daily engagement rate was 15.2% (1221/8025), and the lowest daily engagement rate was 3.6% (32/869). The top tweet (ie, the tweet receiving the highest number of impressions) of the event-"Drink intake is higher from 100% juice and juice-flavored drinks compared to soda and sweet tea in children with severe obesity"-earned 5855 impressions. The top media tweet (ie, the tweet with photo, video, or Vine that received the highest number of impressions)—"Outreach in diabetic and hypertensive patients serves to educate and provide necessary resources during the #pandemic"—earned #COVID19 2705 impressions. Additionally, there were a total of 14 comments, 11 of which were generally positive (eg, "good job!"), and 3 were irrelevant. In August, the @BrodyDistinctly Twitter account acquired 49 new followers and had 2032 profile visits. Only 4 additional tweets were published from the @BrodyDistinctly account during the month of August. Prior in-person Medical Student Scholarship Forums have included approximately 65 student poster presentations and an estimated 70 faculty and student attendees. Strict in-person counts of nonpresenting attendees have not been recorded in previous years.

A total of 5 medical students from all distinction tracks were individually asked to identify the strengths and weaknesses of the web-based–only forum. They cited early exposure to web-based medical communities, convenience to create materials and participate in the conference, and distribution of their work to a wider audience as strengths of the web-based–only conference. Additionally, many recognized the importance of understanding how to create posts to promote their work in the future. Weaknesses identified included lack of prolonged discussions, critical feedback, and questions regarding their work. Additionally, some students lacked a Twitter account and chose not to make one for the event. Lastly, the design of the tweets, with research "hooks" in the tweet and posters being embedded as hyperlinks, may have decreased the total number of posters thoroughly reviewed by each participant.



Figure 2. Twitter analytics of the (A) engagement rate, (B) number of impressions, and (C) engagements with the @BrodyDistinctly account before (July 27-August 2, 2020), during (August 3-7, 2020), and after (August 8-14, 2020) the web-based Medical Student Scholarship Forum. The gray shaded area represents the 5 days of the web-based event.



Discussion

XSL•FO RenderX

In response to unanticipated limitations for in-person gatherings due to the COVID-19 pandemic, our Twitter-based celebration of scholarship served as a successful substitute to a traditional in-person poster presentation session. Our results show that the event allowed dissemination of student scholarship to a wider

https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e33767

audience than previously possible. Prior in-person Medical Student Scholarship Forums have included around 65 student poster presentations and approximately 70 faculty and student attendees. During the web-based forum, the number of engagements (7487) exceeded the number of faculty and students at the School of Medicine (approximately 343 students and 445 full-time faculty). Additionally, analysis indicates that

the content of student posts, which included our standard template, a research "hook," and various hashtags, was crafted in a way to capture the attention of users who viewed them, otherwise referred to as "engagement rate." Multiple sources report that a "good" Twitter engagement rate ranges from 0.2% to 0.9%, with the August 2020 rate reported to be 0.18% [13]. In academia, studies have suggested that a rate of roughly 7% is considered "high engagement" [12]. Our average daily engagement rate during the 5 days of the web-based forum was 12.72%, and the average daily rate remained elevated at 8.53% for 7 days afterward. Furthermore, our report may still underestimate the overall scope of impressions and engagements due to the variability in the ways that students promoted themselves. Most notably "quoted retweets," in which the tweet is reposted by someone with an added comment of their own, are not included in the engagement or impressions analytics of the @BrodyDistinctly Twitter account. Lastly, scholars learned how to use social media for professional self-promotion and engagement [14].

The combination of our initial survey, where students chose to have a web-based—only scholarship forum rather than no event, and focus group themes indicated general student satisfaction with the event. Students cited early introduction to #MedTwitter, a popular Twitter thread for medical professionals, as well as practicing promoting themselves on social media as advantages to the web-based event. Disadvantages mentioned included less critical feedback and interaction with poster presentations than would have been likely in an in-person poster session.

A growing body of evidence describes the incorporation of concurrent Twitter use into in-person academic conferences,

and examples exist of successful web-based-only academic poster presentations [3-6,9]. Our analysis suggests that an entirely web-based forum displaying the scholar's projects can be an effective means to disseminate the outcomes of summer immersion programs and promote scholarly work. Considering the evidence base and the advantages identified in this analysis, we plan to continue to use Twitter to advertise and complement future in-person and web-based events. Moving forward, we will institute a dated, event-specific hashtag that can be updated annually (ie, #BSOMScholars21). We will also work to grow our Twitter followers so that the scholars' presentations can reach a wider audience. As others seek to implement novel strategies to disseminate knowledge and network, development of best practices and approaches for social media use are necessary to effectively harness its educational and professional development potential. Future research will need to examine the relationship of reader engagement with learning and determine whether student participation in such events enhances their visibility within residency programs of interest.

Limitations of our analysis include inability to identify demographic trends of individuals who interacted with the posts. For instance, the current analytics cannot differentiate the interaction of medical school faculty who can provide career opportunities from the interaction of a supportive family member or one of the authors. Additionally, although the @BrodyDistinctly Twitter account gained 49 new followers in August, many of these were likely students who created a profile to participate in the event. Finally, as quoted retweets and any activity they generate are not measured in our program analytics, we may be underestimating the reach of our Twitter forum.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank Kacie Lord and Dr Dmitry Tumin for their early feedback and critical review of the submitted manuscript. The annual Medical Student Scholarship Forum is supported by funds from the Division of Academic Affairs at the Brody School of Medicine and Truist Center for Leadership Development Grant Funding.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Brody School of Medicine distinction track programs. ECU. 2022. URL: <u>https://medicine.ecu.edu/medicaleducation/</u> <u>distinction-tracks/</u> [accessed 2022-06-30]
- Katz M, Nandi N. Social media and medical education in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic: scoping review. JMIR Med Educ 2021 Apr 12;7(2):e25892 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25892] [Medline: 33755578]
- 3. Sterling M. Twitter in academic medicine. Med Teach 2015 Oct 16;38(4):428-428. [doi: 10.3109/0142159x.2015.1083965]
- Winandy M, Kostkova P, de Quincey E, St Louis C, Szomszor M. Follow #eHealth2011: measuring the role and effectiveness of online and social media in increasing the outreach of a scientific conference. J Med Internet Res 2016 Jul 19;18(7):e191 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4480] [Medline: 27436012]
- Cheung B, Wong CL, Gardhouse A, Frank C, Budd L. #CGS2015: an evaluation of Twitter use at the Canadian geriatrics society annual scientific meeting. Can Geriatr J 2018 Jun 09;21(2):166-172 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5770/cgj.21.302] [Medline: 29977432]
- Wilkinson SE, Basto MY, Perovic G, Lawrentschuk N, Murphy DG. The social media revolution is changing the conference experience: analytics and trends from eight international meetings. BJU Int 2015 May 26;115(5):839-846. [doi: 10.1111/bju.12910] [Medline: 25130687]
- Baker MJ, Gempf KL, McDonald H, Kerr HE, Hodges C, Anastasaki A, et al. Five years of the #RSCPoster Twitter conference. Chem Commun (Camb) 2020 Nov 18;56(89):13681-13688. [doi: 10.1039/d0cc90441d] [Medline: <u>33089266</u>]

- 8. Social media. ECU. URL: https://socialmedia.ecu.edu/ [accessed 2022-06-30]
- 9. McKendrick DR, Cumming GP, Lee AJ. Increased use of Twitter at a medical conference: a report and a review of the educational opportunities. J Med Internet Res 2012 Dec 11;14(6):e176 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2144] [Medline: 23232765]
- 10. Wadhwa V, Latimer E, Chatterjee K, McCarty J, Fitzgerald R. Maximizing the tweet engagement rate in academia: analysis of the AJNR Twitter feed. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 2017 Jun 29;38(10):1866-1868. [doi: 10.3174/ajnr.a5283]
- 11. Elkbuli A, Santarone K, Meneses E, McKenney M. Twitter hashtag and online engagement during surgical society meetings over a 5-Year period. Am Surg 2021 Apr 19;87(4):514-519. [doi: 10.1177/0003134820942290] [Medline: 33074010]
- 12. Kalia V, Ortiz DA, Patel AK, Moriarity AK, Canon CL, Duszak R. Leveraging Twitter to maximize the radiology meeting Eexperience. J Am Coll Radiol 2018 Jan;15(1 Pt B):177-183. [doi: 10.1016/j.jacr.2017.10.022] [Medline: 29162419]
- 13. Jaffe R, O'Glasser A, Brooks M, Chapman M, Breu A, Wray C. Your @Attending will #Tweet you now: using Twitter in medical education. Acad Med 2020 Oct;95(10):1618. [doi: 10.1097/ACM.00000000003314] [Medline: 32195691]
- 14. Social status analytics tools. Social Status. URL: https://Socialstatus.io [accessed 2021-04-26]

Edited by N Zary; submitted 23.09.21; peer-reviewed by K Reuter, M Todorovic; comments to author 17.02.22; revised version received 13.04.22; accepted 23.06.22; published 13.07.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Allen G, Garris J, Lawson L, Reeder T, Crotty J, Hannan J, Brewer K An Innovative Use of Twitter to Disseminate and Promote Medical Student Scholarship During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Usability Study JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e33767 URL: https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e33767 doi:10.2196/33767 PMID:35759753

©Gary Allen, Jenna Garris, Luan Lawson, Timothy Reeder, Jennifer Crotty, Johanna Hannan, Kori Brewer. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (https://mededu.jmir.org), 13.07.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Defining Potentially Unprofessional Behavior on Social Media for Health Care Professionals: Mixed Methods Study

Tea Vukušić Rukavina¹, MD, PhD; Lovela Machala Poplašen¹, MLiS; Marjeta Majer¹, MD, PhD; Danko Relić¹, MD, PhD; Joško Viskić², DMD, PhD; Marko Marelić¹, MSc

¹Andrija Štampar School of Public Health, School of Medicine, University of Zagreb, Zagreb, Croatia ²Department of Fixed Prosthodontics, School of Dental Medicine, University of Zagreb, Zagreb, Croatia

Corresponding Author:

Marko Marelić, MSc Andrija Štampar School of Public Health School of Medicine University of Zagreb Rockefellerova 4 Zagreb, 10000 Croatia Phone: 385 958065412 Email: marko.marelic@snz.hr

Abstract

Background: Social media presence among health care professionals is ubiquitous and largely beneficial for their personal and professional lives. New standards are forming in the context of e-professionalism, which are loosening the predefined older and offline terms. With these benefits also come dangers, with exposure to evaluation on all levels from peers, superiors, and the public, as witnessed in the #medbikini movement.

Objective: The objectives of this study were to develop an improved coding scheme (SMePROF coding scheme) for the assessment of unprofessional behavior on Facebook of medical or dental students and faculty, compare reliability between coding schemes used in previous research and SMePROF coding scheme, compare gender-based differences for the assessment of the professional content on Facebook, validate the SMePROF coding scheme, and assess the level of and to characterize web-based professionalism on publicly available Facebook profiles of medical or dental students and faculty.

Methods: A search was performed via a new Facebook account using a systematic probabilistic sample of students and faculty in the University of Zagreb School of Medicine and School of Dental Medicine. Each profile was subsequently assessed with regard to professionalism based on previously published criteria and compared using the SMePROF coding scheme developed for this study.

Results: Intercoder reliability increased when the SMePROF coding scheme was used for the comparison of gender-based coding results. Results showed an increase in the gender-based agreement of the final codes for the category professionalism, from 85% in the first phase to 96.2% in the second phase. Final results of the second phase showed that there was almost no difference between female and male coders for coding potentially unprofessional content for students (7/240, 2.9% vs 5/203, 2.5%) or for coding unprofessional content for students (11/240, 4.6% vs 11/203, 5.4%). Comparison of definitive results between the first and second phases indicated an understanding of web-based professionalism, with unprofessional content being very low, both for students (9/222, 4.1% vs 12/206, 5.8%) and faculty (1/25, 4% vs 0/23, 0%). For assessment of the potentially unprofessional content, we observed a 4-fold decrease, using the SMePROF rubric, for students (26/222, 11.7% to 6/206, 2.9%) and a 5-fold decrease for faculty (6/25, 24% to 1/23, 4%).

Conclusions: SMePROF coding scheme for assessing professionalism of health-care professionals on Facebook is a validated and more objective instrument. This research emphasizes the role that context plays in the perception of unprofessional and potentially unprofessional content and provides insight into the existence of different sets of rules for web-based and offline interaction that marks behavior as unprofessional. The level of e-professionalism on Facebook profiles of medical or dental students and faculty available for public viewing has shown a high level of understanding of e-professionalism.

(JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e35585) doi:10.2196/35585

KEYWORDS

professionalism; e-professionalism; internet; social media; social networking; medicine; dental medicine; health care professionals; students; faculty

Introduction

Background

Social media (SM) use has long become mainstream, and both our private and professional lives are daily influenced by events, changes, and developments occurring on these web-based services. Private and professional life is interchanging, and navigating this can pose a challenge, especially for health care professionals (HCPs). New standards are forming, which are possibly loosening older and predefined terms.

Professionalism is broadly defined as behavior in accordance with professional and ethical standards of the profession and can be evaluated through ten components: professional competence, honesty in a physician-patient relationship, health professional-patient privacy, maintaining a proper relationship with the patient, improving the quality of health care, improving the availability of health care, fair distribution of resources, evidence-based knowledge, maintaining patient confidence (prevention of conflict of interest), and professional responsibility [1].

e-Professionalism is a form of professionalism that can be defined as the implementation of traditional principles of professionalism during web-based activities. It is a commitment to carry out professional tasks while adhering to ethical principles and care for the patient's well-being while using SM [2]. Cain et al [3] were the first authors who defined e-professionalism in a more concise way that can ease the operationalization of the concept as "attitudes and behaviors [some of which may occur in private settings] reflecting traditional professionalism paradigms that are manifested through digital media." When using sociological approach, through terms of norms and sanctions that define socialization in the medical profession [4], even though e-professionalism is traditionally defined as both attitude and behavior, the behavioral part of e-professionalism is more of a concern to the medical profession, because it represents a violation of the professional norms and can be susceptible to sanctions. Other terms used in the literature for the intersection between medical professionalism and SM are online professionalism or digital professionalism [5].

A large number of medical and educational institutions [6-10] have implemented guidelines for e-professional behavior. This effort to implement, teach, and adhere to e-professional behavior emphasizes how important this concept is to the medical profession.

HCPs are increasingly encountering board disciplinary proceedings, monetary fines, and even license restrictions and suspensions due to heightened awareness of rigorous ethical and legal boundaries for web-based professional behavior [11,12]. This has also been influenced by the positive shift in patient's attitudes toward educating themselves about their health on the web and gathering information about their

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e35585
```

physicians [12]. In addition, a new problem arises, as web-based actions and events are no longer temporary. The digital footprint is everlasting and unprofessional activity can re-emerge from past events and remains inerasable [13].

Even though research about HCPs' professionalism issues on SM and social networking sites (SNSs) began in 2010 [14,15], researchers still name a gray area between clearly professional content and unprofessional content with various terms as questionable content [14,16], potentially or questionably unprofessional content [17-19], or potentially objectionable content [20,21]. In addition to the lack of consistent terminology, there is also no consensus on the criteria needed to define or explain what these terms constitute, nor has a validated instrument been developed to assess those types of content on SM or SNSs of HCPs.

In December 2019, a paper by Hardouin et al [22] was published in the Journal of Vascular Surgery investigating publicly available Facebook (FB), Twitter, and Instagram profiles of young vascular surgeons for unprofessional posts. The study screened SM profiles for prespecified material categories as either clearly unprofessional or potentially unprofessional, which was based on previously published studies of unprofessional SM content among general surgery and urology residents [17,20]. A total of 3 male researchers created new anonymous SM profiles and screened the publicly available content of the SM profiles. Clearly unprofessional content was defined as Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) violations, intoxicated appearance, unlawful behavior, possession of drugs or drug paraphernalia, and uncensored profanity or offensive comments about colleagues or patients. Potentially unprofessional content was defined as holding or consuming alcohol, inappropriate attire, censored profanity, controversial political or religious comments, and controversial social topics. Examples of inappropriate attire cited in the publication were provocative Halloween costumes and provocative posing in bikinis or swimwear [22].

This sparked controversy, primarily on Twitter, and the #medbikini movement started on July 23, 2020, with the tweet by Dr Londyn Robinson: "Article says photos of vascular surgeons in a 'provocative pose wearing a bikini' is unprofessional. I'll say it: I wear bikinis. I am going to be a doctor. I also have a belly button ring. I am a professional person" [23]. This carried over to other SM sites and mainstream media, which criticized the lack of objectivity and bias of researchers, reviewers, and editors and created the hashtag #medbikini for the movement [24]. A great number of HCPs participated in the outrage against branding posting of such images or videos in bikinis as a possible sign of unprofessional behavior. As a revolt, they posted exactly such content with the #medbikini, showing their disapproval of such a label and referring to the gender bias of the researchers, questioning possibly outdated norms of behavior for HCPs [25]. In a month after Dr Robinson posted the original tweet [23], by the end of

XSL•FO

August 2020, the #medbikini movement gained >55,000 tweets with 40,000 contributors (Multimedia Appendix 1). Screenshots of publicly available SM reactions to #medbikini movement are presented in Multimedia Appendix 2 [23,26-30].

This has ultimately led to the retraction of the paper, invited commentary [31], and the publication of a retraction notice by the editors of the *Journal of Vascular Surgery* [22,32]. Official notice from the journal [32] was very methodologically oriented, stating the reasons for the retraction: "study did not have permission to use the list of vascular trainees, the methodology, analysis and conclusions of this article were based on published but not validated criteria, the study had significant conscious and unconscious biases caused by predominantly male authorship that supervised the assessments made by junior, male students and trainees."

Until January 16, 2022, the #medbikini movement had reached 60,002 tweets with 40,863 contributors (Multimedia Appendix 1), 27,911 posts on Instagram, and >10,000 posts on FB (Multimedia Appendix 2). The attention that the #medbikini movement gained on SM, with numbers of an engaged audience, emphasizes the importance of e-professionalism of HCPs. It is important to raise awareness about ways that e-professionalism affects the digital footprint of all HCPs and investigate the difference between the unquestionably unprofessional posted content and very questionable potentially unprofessional content. When the #medbikini movement erupted, prior preconceptions of professionalism have started to be considered as outdated or are criticized and have potentially become dismissed. Initiatives for a new definition or at least a better understanding of the term began. In the same journal, the Journal of Vascular Surgery, a year after the paper by Hardouin et al [22] was published and retracted [32], Drudi et al [33] gave a historical overview of professionalism in surgery in an attempt to present a new general direction for the definition of the term professionalism. They suggested a much more inclusive definition based on diversity and equity, with responsibilities toward professionalism explained on the level of the individual, the organization, and society at large. HIPAA violations and legal transgressions remain in the realm of unprofessional behavior on SM; however, individual rights to self-expression and self-realization are loosely given priority over professionalism.

As a part of a long-term research project funded by the Croatian Science Foundation *Dangers and benefits of social networks: E-Professionalism of healthcare professionals – SMePROF* [34], the female authors of this paper engaged in content analysis of FB profiles of students and faculty of medical and dental schools in April 2020, before the #medbikini movement started.

Objectives

The primary objective of the study was to compare professionalism on FB of medical or dental students and faculty of 2 schools in Croatia with previous research, using the rubric for assessment of unprofessional content on FB as described in the papers by Koo et al [20,21].

When the #medbikini movement happened, the gender of the coders was brought up as one of the main reasons for the bias of the study, because all the coders were young men. Besides the gender of the coders, the methodology was questionable, emphasizing that the analysis and conclusions of the study were based on published but not validated criteria. So the question raised was, how and to what extent could the imprecisely defined or explained subcategories of potentially unprofessional content in the studies by Langenfeld et al [17,18] and Koo et al [20,21] be accounted for the #medbikini reaction, as they were used as a basis for the coding criteria in the retracted paper by Hardouin et al [22].

With the unique position of having an objective, nonbiased data from the pre-#medbikini era and from female coders, we decided to extend and enhance the primary objective and to set new objectives for a more complex study. Objectives of this study were to (1) develop an improved coding scheme (SMePROF coding scheme) for the assessment of unprofessional behavior on FB of medical or dental students and faculty, (2) compare reliability between coding schemes used in previous research and SMePROF coding schemes, (3) compare gender-based differences for the assessment of the professional content on FB, (4) validate the SMePROF coding scheme, and (5) assess the level of and to characterize web-based professionalism on publicly available FB profiles of medical or dental students and faculty.

Methods

Chronology and Research Design

The study was conducted in 3 phases, the first phase, the intermediary phase, and the second phase (Figure 1). The first phase included three rounds of coding: female coding team, male coding team, and mixed-gender coding team, using the coding scheme for assessment of unprofessional behavior on FB, developed for this study based on previous research (Nason-Koo coding scheme), presented in Multimedia Appendix 3 [16,20,21]. After the initial part of the first phase (female coding), the #medbikini movement occurred which influenced the rest of the research design.

The intermediate phase was the development of the new rubric for assessment of unprofessional content on FB (SMePROF rubric), which included corrections of the rubric for assessment of unprofessional content (Koo rubric) by Koo et al [20,21] based on findings from the previous steps and insights from the #medbikini movement [22,31,32,35-38], resulting in the new SMePROF coding scheme, especially in the category for assessment of unprofessional content (SMePROF rubric). Finally, the second phase included three rounds of coding: female coding team, male coding team, and mixed-gender coding team, using the SMePROF coding scheme that includes the SMePROF rubric.



Figure 1. Phases of the study. ICR: intercoder reliability.



Ethics Approval

Following approval from the ethical committees of the School of Medicine University of Zagreb (UZSM) and the School of Dental Medicine University of Zagreb (UZSDM), UZSM (641-01/18-02/01) and UZSDM (05-PA-24-2/2018), students' class lists were obtained from the schools' secretarial staff for all years. Lists of all faculty were also obtained for both schools.

Authors were blinded to the individual student identification numbers.

To view individual student or faculty FB profiles, coders used a neutral, newly created FB account in each coding round. This account was intended to mimic potential search queries from patients, employers, or members of the public and capture publicly available content. Because these neutral accounts had no connections to other accounts of the inspected profiles, it was ensured that the content considered was accessible to any

member of the public. The only data that were analyzed was the information that students or faculty made publicly available; hence, the posts that anyone, regardless of the friendship status with them on FB, could see were analyzed. The final samples of UZSM and UZSDM students and faculty were searched on FB, individually by name from the lists, by each author using the newly created FB account.

Instruments Used in the Study

In the first phase of the study, profiles were reviewed for 6 categories according to the coding scheme developed for this study based on previous research (Nason-Koo coding scheme) [16,20,21]. The Nason-Koo coding scheme consists of six categories previously used in the study by Nason et al [16]: (1) existence of identifiable FB profile, (2) sex, (3) privacy settings, (4) relationship status revealed, (5) affiliation with the school

revealed, and (6) professionalism. Category professionalism was coded according to the rubric for assessment of unprofessional content on Facebook (Koo rubric) by Koo et al [20,21]. The Nason-Koo coding scheme and Koo rubric are presented in Multimedia Appendix 3.

Because one of the objectives of the study is to explore how and to what extent could the imprecisely defined or explained subcategories of potentially unprofessional behavior in previous studies [17-21] be accounted for the #medbikini reaction, as they were used as a basis for the coding criteria in the retracted paper by Hardouin et al [22], we have developed a SMePROF rubric for assessment of unprofessional content on FB during the intermediate phase of the study (Figure 1). Changes were made during August 2021, resulting in a SMePROF coding scheme that differs from the Nason-Koo coding scheme based on the changes made in the SMePROF rubric (Textbox 1).

Vukušić Rukavina et al

Textbox 1. SMePROF rubric for assessment of unprofessional content on Facebook.

Unprofessional content

- Image
 - Protected health information
 - Engaging in unlawful behavior
 - Offensive attire (photo or video content of an attire that includes offensive elements; for example, wearing a T-shirt with profanity or Nazi symbols [work or nonwork related])
 - Possession of drugs or appearance thereof
 - Displaying drug paraphernalia
 - Appearing intoxicated
 - Offensive content of a political, religious, or racial nature
- Text
 - Protected health information
 - References to specific instances of unlawful behavior
 - References to possession of drugs
 - References to drug paraphernalia
 - References to specific instances of alcohol intoxication
 - Uncensored profanity
 - Offensive comments about colleagues at own hospitals
 - Offensive comments about colleagues at other hospitals
 - Offensive comments about a specific patient
 - Offensive comments of a political, religious, or racial nature
- Page, link, or other posted content
 - Advocating or supporting the use of drugs
 - Advocating or supporting unlawful behavior
 - Offensive content of a political, religious, or racial nature

Potentially unprofessional content

- Image
 - Holding or consuming alcohol in a clinical or work-related setting (excluding conferences or other work-related dinners or parties)
 - Inappropriate attire (clinical or work-related setting: photo or video content in a clinical or work environment in which an individual is wearing physicians' attire [laboratory coat, scrubs, surgical gowns, etc] and also partially revealing skin [sleeveless, deep cleavage, abdomen, back, short pants, or skirts high above the knee] or underwear inappropriate for clinical or work environment)
 - Sexualization—sexually suggestive or provocative posing regardless of the attire or revealing clothing (sexualization focuses on sexual suggestive or provocative posing [in a professional or private setting], regardless of the attire or revealing clothing, excluding nonsexual suggestive posing in swim or beachwear)
- Text
 - Reference to sexually provocative or sexually disturbing content
 - Censored profanity
- Page, link, or other posted content
 - Advocating or supporting alcohol intoxication
 - Sexually provocative or sexually disturbing content

Main differences comparing the Koo rubric and the SMePROF rubric for assessment of unprofessional content on FB are presented in Multimedia Appendix 4 [17,18,20-22,33,36,37, 39,40].

In the second phase of the study, profiles were reviewed for six categories (existence of identifiable FB profile, sex, privacy settings, relationship status revealed, affiliation with the school revealed, and professionalism) according to SMePROF coding scheme. Category professionalism was coded according to the SMePROF rubric. Profiles were categorized as (1) unprofessional content if at least one element of unprofessional content if at least one element of unprofessional content if at least one element of ontent if at least one element of potentially unprofessional content was found or, (3) professional content if none of the elements of unprofessional nor potentially unprofessional content were found (Textbox 1).

Coders and Coding Process

In each step of the coding processes, assessments were first conducted by the two independent coders (either members of female or male coding teams). The female coders were LMP and M Majer. LMP, aged 37 years, was at that time a Master of Library and Information Science; M Majer, aged 45 years, was at that time a doctor of medicine (MD), a school and adolescent medicine specialist, and an assistant professor in public health. The male coders were DR and JV. DR, aged 33 years, was at that time an MD and a family medicine resident, and JV, aged 36 years, was at that time a doctor of dental medicine (DMD), a prosthodontics specialist, and an assistant professor of dental medicine.

Intercoder reliability (ICR) was determined for subjective category professionalism for female and male coding teams in both phases of the study. ICR was determined using the following indices: *Average Pair-Wise Percent Agreement* and *Krippendorff* α [41]. For differences between 2 coders, the first consensus among coders was tried to be established; if not able to reach a consensus, a third reviewer was consulted and differences were resolved (the third reviewer, TVR, was always the same: woman; aged 46 years; an MD, a psychiatrist, and an assistant professor in public health). This process produced the final results for the female and male coding teams in the first and second phases of coding (Figure 1).

The final results of the female and male coders from the first and second phases of coding were compared, and the ICR was determined for the categories as in the previous steps. If there were differences in the final results between the 2 teams, an attempt was first made to reach a consensus between the teams. If this was not possible, a third reviewer (TVR) was consulted, and the differences were resolved. This led to definitive results produced for both genders in both phases of coding (Figure 1).

Statistical Analysis

ICR during both phases of coding was determined for the subjective category professionalism using the indices Average

Pair-Wise Percent Agreement and Krippendorff α [41]. ICR was calculated with the ReCal (*Reliability Calculator*), an online utility that computes ICR coefficients [42].

Descriptive statistics were used to present all data obtained in both phases. Differences between coders' variable categories within the same coding team and phase were assessed using the chi-square test or Fisher test, if >20% of cells had an expected count of <five. Differences among ordinal variables conducted between the first and the second phases were tested using the Wilcoxon signed-rank test. *P* values of <.05 were considered statistically significant. All statistical analyses were carried out using the SPSS Statistics (version 26; IBM) software.

Results

Overview

The final samples for the content analysis of student's and faculty's FB profiles were made by a method of systematic sampling, therefore allowing us to create probabilistic samples that represent populations better than random sampling [43]. The sample of students' FB profiles included 16.7% of all registered students at the UZSM (325/1951) and 16.6% of students at the UZSDM (94/566), equally distributed according to study year and gender (n=419). The final sample for the content analysis of faculties' FB profiles was made by systematic sampling of 16.7% of all registered faculty at the UZSM (86/516) and 16.9% at the UZSDM (28/166), equally distributed according to the academic position and gender(n=114). In total, there were 533 names for analysis (n=419, 79% students and n=114, 21% faculty).

In the first phase of coding, the female coding team found 255 (60.9%) students and 42 (36.8%) faculty with identifiable FB accounts. The male coding team found 222 (53%) students and 24 (21.1%) faculty with identifiable FB accounts. Definitive results (mixed-gender coding team) for the first phase of coding found 222 (53%) students and 25 (21.9%) faculty with identifiable FB accounts (χ^2_2 =63.7; *P*<.001). In the second phase of coding team found 203 (48.4%) students and 24 (21.1%) faculty with identifiable FB accounts. The male coding team found 203 (48.4%) students and 24 (21.1%) faculty with identifiable FB accounts. Definitive results (mixed-gender coding team) for the second phase of coding found 206 (49.2%) students and 23 (20.2%) faculty with identifiable FB accounts (χ^2_2 =30.7; *P*<.001).

ICR Results

ICR results for female coding team, male coding team, and final female versus final male coding teams in the category professionalism, for the first (Koo rubric) and the second (SMePROF rubric) phases are presented in Table 1.

ICR shows an increase when the SMePROF rubric was used for gender-based coding and for comparison of final results.



Table 1. Intercoder reliability for the total sample.

	Category (professionalism)			
	Koo rubric		SMePROF rubric	
	APPA ^a	Krippendorff α	APPA	Krippendorff α
Female coding team	79.40	.64	81.10	.71
Male coding team	79.20	.61	82.40	.67
Final female versus final male coding teams	76.90	.60	82.00	.67

^aAPPA: Average Pair-wise Percent Agreement.

Comparison of the Gender-Based Differences Among Coder Teams for the Category Professionalism (First and Second Phases of Coding)

Comparison of the gender-based difference among coder teams for the category professionalism according to the Koo and SMePROF rubric is presented in Table 2.

Final results show that while using the Koo rubric, the female coding team, more often than the male coding team, reported potentially unprofessional content (54/297, 18.2% vs 29/246, 11.8%) but almost 2.5 times less than the male coding team, reported unprofessional content (5/297, 1.7% vs 10/246, 4.1%).

Final results show that in the second phase (SMePROF rubric), there was almost no difference between female and male coding teams for coding potentially unprofessional content (8/281, 2.9% vs 6/227, 2.6%) or for coding unprofessional content (13/281, 4.6% vs 11/227, 4.9%).

When we compared the final female coding with the final male coding (for accounts that both teams coded as identifiable FB accounts, n=227), the gender-based agreement using the Koo rubric was 85% for the reviewed profiles (Table 3). In the second phase of coding, for the comparison of final female coding and final male coding (for accounts that both teams coded as identifiable FB accounts, n=210), gender-based agreement using the SMePROF rubric was 96.2% for the profiles reviewed (Table 3).

Table 2. Gender-based differences for the category professionalism (Koo rubric vs SMePROF rubric).

Difference	Koo rubric		SMePROF rubric (N=508)	
	Female (n=297), n (%)	Male (n=246), n (%)	Female (n=281), n (%)	Male (n=227), n (%)
None	238 (80.1)	207 (84.1)	260 (92.5)	210 (92.5)
Potentially unprofessional	54 (18.2)	29 (11.8)	8 (2.9)	6 (2.6)
Unprofessional	5 (1.7)	10 (4.1)	13 (4.6)	11 (4.9)

Table 3. Gender-based agreement of the final codes for the category professionalism (Koo rubric vs SMePROF rubric).

Agreement	Comparison (Koo rubric) of final female coding with final male coding (n=227), n (%)	Comparison (SMePROF rubric) of final female coding with final male coding (n=210), n (%)
Unprofessional↔none	1 (0.4)	2 (1)
$Unprofessional {\leftrightarrow} potentially \ unprofessional$	4 (1.8)	4 (1.9)
Unprofessional↔unprofessional	4 (1.8)	9 (4.3)
$Potentially unprofessional {\leftrightarrow} potentially unprofessional$	17 (7.5)	4 (1.9)
Potentially unprofessional↔none	29 (12.8)	2 (1)
None↔none	172 (75.8)	189 (90)
Subtotal disagreement	34 (15)	8 (3.8)
Subtotal agreement	193 (85)	202 (96.2)


Comparison of Definitive Results Between the First and the Second Phases

Comparison of the Koo and SMePROF Rubric Results for the Category Professionalism, Female Coding Versus

Male Coding Versus Definitive Coding

Table 4 displays a comparison of the definitive results for the category professionalism (Koo vs SMePROF rubric), divided between students and faculty, for the total sample (N=533).

Table 4. Comparison of the Koo and SMePROF rubric coding results for the category professionalism, final female coding versus final male coding versus definitive coding (N=533).

Group and professionalism	Final female coding		Final male codi	Final male coding		Definitive coding	
	Koo rubric, n (%)	SMePROF rubric, n (%)	Koo rubric, n (%)	SMePROF rubric, n (%)	Koo rubric, n (%)	SMePROF rubric, n (%)	
Students (n=419)		-		-			
No unprofessional content	208 (81.6)	222 (92.5)	188 (84.7)	187 (91.7)	187 (84.2)	188 (91.3)	
Potentially unprofessional content	43 (16.9)	7 (2.9)	25 (11.3)	5 (2.5)	26 (11.7)	6 (2.9)	
Unprofessional content	4 (1.6)	11 (4.6)	9 (4.1)	11 (5.4)	9 (4.1)	12 (5.8)	
No profile or impossible to determine	164 (39.1)	179 (42.7)	197 (47)	216 (51.6)	197 (47)	213 (50.8)	
Faculty (n=114)							
No unprofessional content	30 (71.4)	38 (92.7)	19 (79.2)	23 (95.8)	18 (72)	22 (95.7)	
Potentially unprofessional content	11 (26.2)	1 (2.4)	4 (16.7)	1 (4.2)	6 (24)	1 (4.3)	
Unprofessional content	1 (2.4)	2 (4.9)	1 (4.2)	0 (0)	1 (4)	0 (0)	
No profile or impossible to determine	72 (63.2)	74 (64.9)	90 (78.9)	90 (78.9)	89 (78.1)	91 (79)	

In a sample of students, a comparison of the Koo and SMePROF rubric results showed a decrease in potentially unprofessional content for final female coding (from 43/255, 16.9% to 7/240, 2.9%), final male coding (from 25/222, 11.3% to 5/203, 2.5%), and definitive coding (from 26/222, 11.7% to 6/206, 2.9%). Decrease in potentially unprofessional content was also observed in the sample of faculty for final female coding (from 11/42, 26.2% to 1/41, 2.4%), final male coding (from 6/25, 24% to 1/23, 4%). On the contrary, when comparing students' sample Koo and SMePROF rubric results, an increase in unprofessional content was shown for final female coding (from 4/255, 1.6% to 11/240, 4.6%), final male coding (from 9/222, 4.1% to 11/203, 5.4%), and definitive results (from 9/222, 4.1% to 12/206, 5.8%).

Similar decrease in potentially unprofessional content was observed in the faculty's sample for final female coding (from 11/42, 26% to 1/41, 2%), final male coding (from 4/24, 17% to

1/24, 4%), and for definitive coding (from 6/25, 24% to 1/23, 4%). When comparing the faculty's sample Koo and SMePROF rubric results, an increase in unprofessional content was shown only for final female coding (from 1/42, 2% to 2/41, 5%), but final male coding (from 1/24, 4% to 0/24, 0%) and definitive coding (from 1/25, 4% to 0/23, 0%) showed a decrease in unprofessional content.

Unprofessional or Potentially Unprofessional Content on Students' and Faculty's Public Facebook Accounts

The categories and frequencies of unprofessional or potentially unprofessional content using the Koo rubric are summarized in Table 5.

The categories and frequencies of unprofessional or potentially unprofessional content using the SMePROF rubric are summarized in Table 6.



Vukušić Rukavina et al

Table 5. Unprofessional or potentially unprofessional content on the students' and faculty's public Facebook accounts (Koo rubric).

Content type and content	Final female coo	ling	Final male codir	ıg	Definitive coding	
	Students (n=255), n (%)	Faculty (n=42), n (%)	Students (n=222), n (%)	Faculty (n=24), n (%)	Students (n=222), n (%)	Faculty (n=25), n (%)
Unprofessional content	4 (1.6)	1 (2.4)	9 (4.1)	1 (4.2)	9 (4.1)	1 (4)
Uncensored profanity (T ^a)	1 (0.4)	0 (0)	4 (1.8)	0 (0)	5 (2.3)	0 (0)
Appearing intoxicated (I ^b)	1 (0.4)	0 (0)	1 (0.5)	0 (0)	2 (0.9)	0 (0)
Advocating or supporting the use of drugs (P^c)	1 (0.4)	0 (0)	2 (0.9)	0 (0)	1 (0.5)	0 (0)
Protected health information (I or T)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (0.5)	0 (0)	1 (0.5)	0 (0)
Offensive attire (I)	1 (0.4)	1 (2.4)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
References to alcohol intoxication (T)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (0.5)	0 (0)	1 (0.5)	1 (4)
Potentially unprofessional content	43 (16.9)	11 (26.2)	25 (11.3)	4 (16.7)	26 (11.7)	6 (24)
Holding alcohol (I)	8 (3.1)	2 (4.8)	5 (2.3)	1 (4.2)	8 (3.6)	0 (0)
Appearing in sexually suggestive attire or circumstances (I)	13 (5.1)	1 (2.4)	3 (1.4)	1 (4.2)	6 (2.7)	2 (8)
Inappropriate attire (I)	13 (5.1)	3 (7.1)	7 (3.2)	1 (4.2)	5 (2.3)	0 (0)
Censored profanity (T)	2 (0.8)	0 (0)	4 (1.8)	0 (0)	2 (0.9)	0 (0)
References to sex or sexual behavior (T)	2 (0.8)	1 (2.4)	1 (0.5)	0 (0)	1 (0.5)	0 (0)
References to alcohol intoxication (T)	2 (0.8)	0 (0)	1 (0.5)	0 (0)	1 (0.5)	0 (0)
Politics or content of a political na- ture (P)	1 (0.4)	2 (4.8)	1 (0.5)	1 (4.2)	1 (0.5)	1 (4)
Consuming alcohol (I)	2 (0.8)	1 (2.4)	3 (1.4)	0 (0)	1 (0.5)	3 (12)
Controversial of polarizing topic (P)	0 (0)	1 (2.4)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)

^aT: text.

^bI: image.

^cP: post, link, or other posted content.



Vukušić Rukavina et al

Table 6. Unprofessional or potentially unprofessional content on the students' and faculty's public Facebook accounts (SMePROF rubric).

Cont	ent type and content	Final female cod	ling	Final male coding		Definitive coding	
		Students (n=240), n (%)	Faculty (n=41), n (%)	Students (n=203), n (%)	Faculty (n=24), n (%)	Students (n=206), n (%)	Faculty (n=23), n (%)
Unp	rofessional content	11 (4.6)	2 (4.9)	11 (5.4)	0 (0)	12 (5.8)	0 (0)
] 1	Possession of drugs or appearance thereof (I ^a)	2 (0.8)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
L	Appearing intoxicated (I)	2 (0.8)	0 (0)	2 (1.0)	0 (0)	2(1)	0 (0)
1	Uncensored profanity (I or T ^b)	5 (2.1)	1 (2.4)	5 (2.5)	0 (0)	5 (2.4)	0 (0)
(Offensive attire (I)	2 (0.8)	0 (0)	1 (0.5)	0 (0)	2(1)	0 (0)
(Offensive comments of a political, religious, or racial nature (T)	0 (0)	1 (2.4)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
	Advocating or supporting the use of drugs (T or P^c)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (0.5)	0 (0)	1 (0.5)	0 (0.0)
(Offensive content of a political, reli- gious, or racial nature (T or I)	0 (0)	0 (0)	2 (1.0)	0 (0)	2 (1.0)	0 (0)
Pote	ntially unprofessional content	7 (2.9)	1 (2.4)	5 (2.5)	1 (4)	6 (2.9)	1 (4)
]	Inappropriate or offensive attire (nonsexual; I)	1 (0.4)	0 (0)	1 (0.5)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
2	Sexualization—appearing in sexual- ly suggestive posture (I)	3 (1.3)	1 (2.4)	3 (1.5)	1 (4)	4 (1.9)	1 (4)
i	Advocating or supporting alcohol intoxication (T or P)	1 (0.4)	0 (0)	1 (0.5)	0 (0.0)	2 (1)	0 (0)
2	Sexually provocative or sexually disturbing content (I)	2 (0.8)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)

^aI: image.

^bT: text.

^cP: post, link, or other posted content.

Definitive Results

For the definitive results, significant differences between students and faculty were identified regarding the existence of identifiable FB accounts (206/419, 49.2% vs 23/114, 20.2%; χ^2_1 =30.7; *P*<.001), affiliation of the school revealed (193/206, 93.7% vs 15/23, 65%; χ^2_1 =20.1; *P*<.001), and relationship status revealed (11/206, 5.3% vs 4/23, 17%; χ^2_1 =4.9; *P*=.03). There were no significant differences between students and faculty for closed privacy settings (202/206, 98.1% vs 21/23, 91%; χ^2_2 =3.7; *P*=.11) or for the category professionalism (χ^2_2 =1.5; *P*=.47). Although there were no statistically significant differences between students had less potentially unprofessional content than faculty (6/206, 2.9% vs 1/23, 4%); however, they had more unprofessional content (12/206, 5.8% vs 0/23, 0%).

Discussion

RenderX

Comparison With Previous Research

The consensus about what constitutes unprofessional behavior has still not been reached since the original definition by Chretien et al [15] in 2010. There are numerous studies with examples of definitions of unprofessional behavior on SM [44-48].

From the first study in 2013 by Ponce et al [14] to the latest study in 2021 by Pronk et al [49], various attempts were made to define the gray area of e-professionalism. This has brought a great deal of variety to the field, possibly even causing one of the biggest medical affairs on SM—#medbikini. Understanding the evolution and difficulty of defining this problem, defining the linguistic terms and nuances, and the ramifications of ill-fated attempts to do so are crucial to our research; therefore, a review of previous research descriptions of potentially unprofessional content is provided in Multimedia Appendix 5 [6,14,17,18,20-22,49-52].

The #medbikini movement has raised important questions, besides professional questionability of posting pictures in bikinis for our female colleagues, also regarding the possibility to present ourselves as humans on SM or to be able to express an opinion about important social topics. HCPs have realized that SM is not just a platform to post vacation photos and interact with followers [53]. As Drudi et al [33] emphasized, there is a need to re-examine current definitions and philosophies surrounding professionalism in medicine that may be discriminatory and exclusive. The term professionalism has no standard definition [54]; however, resolving problems of

unprofessional posting with repression is an unsustainable model of managing e-professionalism.

Principal Findings

The #medbikini affair and the subsequent movement that followed rattled the foundations of how professional behavior is understood and valued in modern and emerging environments. With a broader understanding of the problem at hand, this paper is the first to address issues not previously reported in the literature.

We have developed the SMePROF coding scheme for the assessment of unprofessional behavior on FB by medical or dental students and faculty. The first 5 categories of the coding scheme are objective (Multimedia Appendix 3) and have remained the same in the SMePROF coding scheme, but the category professionalism has provoked many controversies so far.

Our SMePROF rubric for assessment of unprofessional content on FB was developed with the intention to improve previous instruments and rubrics, to have more precise criteria or explanations for previously ambiguous or vaguely defined categories of unprofessional or potentially unprofessional content to have fewer possibilities for subjective interpretation, and to have a more updated comprehension of e-professionalism.

The SMePROF rubric differentiates offensive attire versus inappropriate attire, inappropriate attire being defined for clinical or work-related settings. General guidance to the medical community regarding physician's attire outside the operating room exists. The review by Bearman et al [55] showed that overall, patients express preferences for certain types of attire, with most surveys indicating a preference for formal attire, including a preference for a white coat. However, patient comfort, satisfaction, trust, and confidence in their physicians are unlikely to be affected by the practitioner's attire choice. Petrilli et al [56] explored whether physician attire can affect patient experiences. Their findings include the fact that attire preferences vary by geographic location, patient age, and context of care. Although physician attire cannot replace excellent clinical care, data from this study suggest that it may influence how patients perceive care and perhaps how willing they are to trust their physicians. Xun et al [57] recently investigated how the public perceives casual physician attire compared with white coats and whether there are differences by gender of the physician. Their findings suggest that individuals prefer that physicians wear white coats and that gender biases in the perception of professional physician attire exist. Physician attire is only a small aspect of the practice of medicine and does not embody the wearer's qualifications, nor does it necessarily affect their performance, practice, and contributions.

We propose a new subcategory *sexualization* in the potentially unprofessional behavior, with an explanation that sexualization focuses on sexually suggestive or provocative posing (in a professional or private setting), regardless of the attire or revealing clothing, excluding nonsexual suggestive posing in swim or beachwear. Previous researches [17,18,20-22] have not clearly defined it, which led to broad possibilities for interpretation of this category, also resulting in the #medbikini movement.

Sexualization can be envisioned as the combination of a multitude of sexualized attributes—body position, the extent of nudity, textual cues, and more—the cumulative effect of which is to narrow the possible interpretations of the image to just the sex. Sexually suggestive posture is a potentially important aspect of sexualization, because it represents open body language that appears to invite sexual activity. It can be illustrated in subtle ways such as placing a hand on one's hips and not-so-subtle ways such as sitting with one's legs spread wide open [58].

Although suggestive postures and revealing clothing often go hand in hand, it may be possible to decouple these elements in the media and interpersonal interactions. Bernard et al [59] have deconstructed sexualization and shown that posture suggestiveness causes objectification and exerts a more powerful influence on objectification than the skin-to-clothing ratio. For example, images of underwear and swimsuits may show people in a way that would reduce the risk of objectification by presenting them in revealing clothing but with nonsuggestive posture, so that there is no element of sexualization.

ICR results showed an increase in the Krippendorff α coefficient when the SMePROF rubric was used, both for gender-based coding (for male coders from .61 to .67; for female coders from .64 to .71) and for the comparison of final results (from .60 to .67). Although these are acceptable levels for reliability, none of these results can be classified as highly reliable [41]. Compared with the results of Ponce et al [14] for their professionalism, interrater reliability scores (Cohen κ =0.43), our results indicate a more reliable coding method. Langenfeld et al [17] were not able to calculate ICR owing to a collaborative approach and authors' discussion of the analyzed content, but in the second paper [18], they report that κ coefficient was used to calculate interrater reliability, with no mention of the obtained results for the κ coefficient. Koo et al [20,21] in both studies reported excellent results for interreviewer concordance (κ >0.90) in all content categories. Because their description of the coding process was minimal, it is hard to speculate how these excellent interrater concordance results were obtained.

Krippendorff [41] and Potter and Levine - Donnerstein [60] define three types of reliability: stability, reproducibility, and accuracy [41,60]. The first goal of this paper was to develop an improved coding scheme for the assessment of unprofessional behavior on FB, so using any of the previous instruments [17,18,20-22] as a standard for accuracy is simply impermissible and violates the purpose of this research. The stability of the instrument used in this research is on an acceptable level, because repeated measures are performed by the same coders at 2 time points and similar results are provided. However, because of the circumstances that had arisen around the #medbikini movement and necessary changes in the coding scheme, the demonstration of stability must be taken with caution. Therefore, the reliability of this instrument is mainly demonstrated through its reproducibility, with carefully selected independent coders, and further substantiated using the reliability coefficient.



This research is the first assessment of unprofessional behavior on FB comparing gender differences in the coding process itself. Besides the study by Hardouin et al [22], previous studies have not identified explicitly who among the authors were coders, according to their gender, age, academic status, or position. In the first phase of this study, coding done by the female coding team was conducted before the #medbikini movement, and it was to our knowledge the first analysis in literature done by women-only coding team before the #medbikini movement and the potential male bias emphasized as a reason for the retraction of the paper [22].

The final results of the first phase show that while using the Koo rubric, female coders more often than male coders reported potentially unprofessional content (54/297, 18.2% vs 29/246, 11.8%) but almost 2.5 times less than male coders reported unprofessional content (5/297, 1.7% vs 10/246, 4.1%). Our finding that female coders have recognized more potentially unprofessional content contradicts arguments from the retraction notice [32] and public reaction that the study by Hardouin et al had significant conscious and unconscious biases caused by predominantly male authorship that supervised the assessments made by junior male students and trainees [22,39]. Especially when our results show that results for the subcategories inappropriate attire or sexually suggestive attire final female versus final male coding (for students) were 10.2% (26/255) versus 4.5% (10/222). The lower results of unprofessional and potentially unprofessional content of male coders can be explained with a bias connected to the #medbikini movement. As the first male coding occurred after the #medbikini movement and with the knowledge (conscious or unconscious) of the new trend in understanding the boundaries of professional behavior, the results could be skewed to the lower levels. It can be argued that this also boosts the idea that there is no difference in male versus female coding as the first phase female coding results (before and unaffected by #medbikini) show a stricter approach to professionalism rooted perhaps more in outdated professionalism norms (before #medbikini) and use of an imprecise coding instrument rather than in gender differences.

During the intermediate phase and the process of the development of the SMePROF rubric, the main conclusions from coding experience in the first phase, from both female and male coders, were that coders were confused about the difference between these 2 categories and whether photographs in bikini or swimwear should be categorized as one of them. The final results of the second phase show that there was almost no difference between female and male coders for coding potentially unprofessional content for students (7/240, 2.9% vs 5/203, 2.5%) or for coding unprofessional content for students (11/240, 4.6% vs 11/203, 5.4%). Thus, we conclude that the SMePROF rubric is a more objective instrument. This is also confirmed by the increase in the gender-based agreement of the final codes for the category professionalism, from 85% (193/227) in the first phase to 96.2% (202/210) in the second phase. Gender-based differences were almost neutralized using the SMePROF rubric. A comparison of gender-based agreement of final codes in the first phase shows that majority of disagreements were detected when coders disagreed on whether the profile was potentially unprofessional or professional. This

also proves that the previously defined subcategory of potentially unprofessional content [20,21] was subjective for interpretation.

The original objective of this study was to assess the level of web-based professionalism on FB profiles of medical or dental students and faculty available for public viewing. In previous studies that made a distinction between unprofessional and potentially unprofessional content [16-18,20-22], unprofessional content ranged from 2% to 12% and potentially unprofessional content, from 10.3% to 34%. Our definitive results of the first phase, using the Koo rubric, for unprofessional content (9/222, 4.1% students; 1/25, 4% faculty) are similar to the study by Nason et al [16] for students (3%) and to the study by Langenfeld et al [18] for faculty. For potentially unprofessional content, our definitive results of the first phase (26/222, 11.7% students; 6/25, 24% faculty) are lower compared with 34% of students in the study by Nason et al [16] and similar to 14.1% residents in the study by Langenfeld et al [17]. Langenfeld et al [18] determined lower rates of faculty with potentially unprofessional content (10.3%) compared with ours (6/25, 24%). The findings of Koo et al of potentially unprofessional content among urologist graduates and residents (26.9% and 25.3%, respectively) [20,21] are similar to our results for faculty (6/25, 24%).

Karveleas et al [61], in a recent study (2021) about the relationship between FB behavior and e-professionalism among Greek dental students, did not differentiate unprofessional from potentially unprofessional content. In the study, unprofessional content, defined according to previously published studies [44-47,62,63], had been posted by most participants and depicted as 71.7% posted pictures from holidays; 41.5%, moments in nightclubs; and 26.2%, photographs wearing swimwear or underwear. Still, this publication did not gain so much attention.

Comparison of definitive results between the first and second phases, indicate an understanding of web-based professionalism, with unprofessional content being very low, both for students (9/222, 4.1% to 12/206, 5.8%) and faculty (1/25, 4% to 0/23, 0%). For assessment of the potentially unprofessional content, we observed a 4-fold decrease using the SMePROF rubric for students (26/222, 11.7% to 6/206, 2.9%) and a 5-fold decrease for faculty (6/25, 24% to 1/23, 4.3%). This can be explained by a more precise definition of subcategories of the potentially unprofessional category (inappropriate attire and appearing in sexually suggestive attire or circumstances) and decreased numbers of subcategories (such as not having holding or consuming alcohol) described in the SMePROF rubric.

During the coding process of the first phase, coders themselves were confused what are the differences between inappropriate attire and appearing in sexually suggestive attire or circumstances, especially considering photographs in swimwear. Questioning whether they belong to this category or not sparked many disagreements among coders. These types of images, inappropriate attire, and appearing in sexually suggestive attire or circumstances, were observed in 5% (11/222) of the students and 8% (2/25) of the faculty, being the second most frequent potentially unprofessional content. Since we have introduced sexualization as a subcategory with a clear distinction from

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

inappropriate attire in the SMePROF rubric, sexualization was observed for 1.94% (4/206) of the students and 4% (1/24) of the faculty. There were no examples for the subcategory inappropriate attire.

Of the profiles that we were able to access publicly in the second phase of coding (using the SMePROF rubric), although there were no statistically significant differences between students and faculty in definitive results of the professionalism variable $(\chi^2_2=1.5; P=.47)$, students had less potentially unprofessional content than faculty (6/206, 2.9% vs 1/23, 4%); however, they had more unprofessional content (12/206, 5.8% vs 0/23, 0%). The most frequent unprofessional content for students was uncensored profanity (5/206, 2.4%), and the faculty did not have any profile with unprofessional content. In the potentially unprofessional content, faculty had 4% (1/23) of sexualization (but this is owing to only one sexually suggestive photograph and small numbers of faculty with identifiable FB accounts, n=23). Sexualization was found in just 1.9% (4/206) of students. Images of inappropriate attire were not found within students' or faculty profiles.

Besides more precise criteria in the SMePROF rubric, a decrease in unprofessional and potentially objectionable content in the second phase of coding could also be explained by the development of guidelines for e-professionalism for medical and dental students in UZSM and UZSDM that became publicly available in November 2020 [64]. Also, both schools have implemented in their curriculum themes e-professionalism as part of the obligatory subjects. Also, elective subjects, completely focused on e-professionalism in medicine and dental medicine have been developed and implemented in the curricula.

Although it has passed almost 20 years since the advent of SM, little evidence exists to inform about the interplay between personal web-based disclosures and professional trust and credibility from patients' or public perspectives. Jain et al [65] measured the perception of unprofessional content of HCPs on SNSs among medical students, faculty members, and the public. The most significant result they found is that faculty members, medical students, and the public have different thresholds of what is acceptable on SM or SNS. Medical students were more likely to post comments, images, and photographs that medical school faculty members and the public would consider inappropriate or unprofessional [65]. The study by Weijs et al [66] provided the first evidence of the impact of HCPs' web-based disclosures on credibility and healthy patient-physician relationship. Their study also emphasizes specifics of SM in a different context, suggesting that the public has expectations of web-based professionalism that warrant further exploration across a range of health professions to broaden our understanding of credibility evaluations in this relation.

The recommendation that HCPs maintain a separate account with a different name, a *dual citizen approach*, which maintains web-based professional and private identities by creating separate web-based profiles was introduced in 2011 [67]. Surprisingly, this issue is still so prevalent [48]. Patients search on the web for their physicians and their impressions about professionalism are based on the publicly available web-based

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e35585
```

SM content [68,69], but patients also use SM as the most influential web-based method in selecting a physician [69,70]. Besides patients, publicly available content on SM is also screened by future or current employers [48]. This screening is not only performed to make hiring decisions but also to evaluate current employees and assess their behavior and professional competency. Examples exist of unprofessional SM posts as a reason [71] or an alleged reason [72] for firing.

Clear legal violations (HIPAA violations or similar legal transgressions) should and are categorized as unprofessional, but when it comes to potentially unprofessional behavior on SM, it should be judged through the *simulacrum of the professional* only when the context is clearly linked to clinical or work-related settings and to the ability of the individual to practice for the benefit of the patients. This leaves enough room for diversity, self-expression, inclusivity, and equity of the individual.

When the paper by Hardouin et al [22] was retracted with justifications, it has started the #medbikini movement [33,36,37,39,40]. Numerous media articles presented the paper by Hardouin et al [22] as an example of *creepy stalking* [25,73-75], but viewing publicly available information about physicians or HCPs at SM is done by patients or employers, with benefits or consequences, either to their image or their careers. To #medbikini is not potentially unprofessional, yet we should all be aware of publicly available presentations of ourselves we post on SM and how they may affect our professional credibility and integrity, as perception can vary among different groups [65,66].

Strengths

The sampling method used in this research is one of the main strengths that directly contributes to the quality of obtained data. Systematic sampling creates representative data for a population of interest and reduces the nonresponse bias that other nonprobabilistic sampling (such as a convenient sample) would create. In addition, it has better dispersion control than a random sample.

The SMePROF rubric for assessment of unprofessional content on FB was developed with improved rubric and criteria for unprofessional or potentially unprofessional content, therefore reducing possibilities for subjective interpretation. Through the implementation of these changes, comprehension of e-professionalism was reassessed and updated.

This research is the first assessment of unprofessional behavior on FB that controls for gender bias among coders. In the final results of the second phase (using the SMePROF rubric), there was almost no difference between female and male coders in the coding of potentially unprofessional content or for coding unprofessional content. Thus, we conclude that the SMePROF rubric is a more objective instrument. This is also confirmed by an increase in the gender-based agreement of the final codes for the category professionalism, from 85% (193/227) in the first phase to 96.2% (202/210) in the second phase. Gender-based differences were almost neutralized using the SMePROF rubric.

Vukušić Rukavina et al

The reliability of this instrument is mainly demonstrated through reproducibility, with carefully selected independent coders, and further substantiated using a reliability coefficient that increased from Krippendorff α of .61 in the first phase to Krippendorff α of .67 in the second phase. Nonexistence of validated criteria or instruments to assess unprofessional content on FB was emphasized by previous e-professionalism studies [17,19,32]. In content analysis, obeying the translation rules is equivalent to validity [76]. Validity of the coding process is ensured when the researcher is consistent and coherent in their codes, meaning that they follow their translation rules. The SMePROF rubric has face and content validity established through a lengthy development process, containing categories and subcategories identified through a search of the literature and review by interdisciplinary experts followed by further revisions to establish more precise criteria for coding [77].

This research emphasizes the role that context plays in the perception of unprofessional and potentially unprofessional content and provides insight into the existence of a different set of rules for web-based and offline (face-to-face) interactions, which marks behavior as unprofessional.

Limitations and Future Research

There are several limitations to this study. In the first phase of coding, female coding was conducted before the #medbikini movement, and male coding and mixed-gender coding were conducted after it. This may affect their unconscious and conscious bias during the coding process when analyzing the unprofessional content and potentially unprofessional content. As the #medbikini movement was changing the sensibility of the public and professionals to repressive standards of judging e-professionalism, it could have changed the sensibility of our coders too, resulting in less content coded as potentially unprofessional or unprofessional. The timing of the #medbikini movement that forced us to improve the instrument between the 2 phases also made it difficult to directly demonstrate stability between the 2 repeated measurements.

Secondly, our sample consisted of both phases of the same lists of students and faculty. Students who were sixth year students in the first phase, meantime, finished their education and became MDs or DMDs when the second phase coding was performed. This might affect changes in their privacy settings or affiliation with the school. Our sample has a small total number of faculty representatives from the UZSDM, as it is a much smaller institution than the UZSM, having a total of 166 faculty. Content analysis of faculty's FB profiles was made by a method of probabilistic systematic sampling of 16.7% of registered faculty, equally distributed according to the academic position and gender, therefore only 28 faculty from the UZSDM entered the final sample for the content analysis versus 86 faculty from the UZSM. Although used systematic sampling offers a nonbiased probabilistic sample, as only 21% (24/114) of the faculty had identifiable FB accounts, conclusions were made based on these results.

For definitive results, if reaching a consensus was not possible between the female or the male coding teams, a third reviewer was consulted, and differences were resolved. The third reviewer was always the same (woman, TVR).

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e35585
```

Even though the SMePROF coding scheme demonstrates face and content validity, the construct validity is asserted to be the most valuable indicator of the validity of an instrument established through a practical application over time, demonstrating the instrument's replicability [77]. As our efforts to enhance the construct validity of the SMePROF coding scheme move forward, we believe that our work on reliability may facilitate the future assessment of the construct validity of this instrument.

The Nason-Koo coding scheme was developed for this study based on previous research [16,20]. Both methodological principles, for the studies by Nason et al [16] and Koo et al [20], were created by MDs or DMDs. The SMePROF coding scheme, especially the criteria for the SMePROF rubric, were developed after the #medbikini movement, with an interdisciplinary team of authors (MDs, DMDs, sociologists, and informational professionals), but we do not have insights from the public or patients about what they consider to be unprofessional or potentially unprofessional behavior. As suggested in previous research [19,65,66], public perceptions about professionalism and credibility are integral to developing the evidence base for e-professionalism assessment, e-professionalism guidelines, and encouraging best practices in SM use. These interventional processes would require multidisciplinary and cross-sectoral input from patients, academic and physician leaders, SM experts, and interprofessional stakeholders [78] that future research should address. The recent systematic review by Guraya et al [79] also calls for assistance and guidance in training the digitally enhanced learning in preparation for their future digitally driven clinical practice. They also emphasize the problem of the multidimensional construct of professionalism, making it hard to assess all domains in the medical field. To add to its complexity, the assessment of e-professionalism is still in its infancy.

We did not include in the coding scheme or assess other SM platforms, such as Instagram, which is highly used among the UZSM and UZSDM students [64]. With the rapid evolution of SM, future insights should be more oriented toward new and emerging SM sites and how different professions among HCPs use them. Kerr et al [80] have explored the characteristics and behaviors of nurses who have attained microcelebrity status on Instagram, but other HCPs show similar tendencies in SM self-promotion, which should be explored more. Instagram has gained enormous popularity by introducing new features such as Stories and Reels, which are completely scientifically unexplored [48]. YouTube as an example of an old SM site, is also unexplored in the context of HCP's professional behavior, with the study by Lee et al [81], published in 2021, being the first study on digital professionalism behavior on medical students' YouTube videos. Research shows that students' perceptions and reports of their Twitter experiences offer insights into behavior on the web and the evolving role of cyberspace, and potentially problematic posts provide opportunities for teaching digital professionalism [82]. Twitter was not included for assessment in our study, as it is not prevalently used by students of medicine or dental medicine in Croatia [64].

XSL•FO RenderX

The COVID-19 pandemic has caused much of the world's population to isolate itself and many of us to shift our lives to digital tech platforms, especially SM and SNSs, all experiencing strong growth. Previous research has shown that more people are relying on SM to find and share health information during times of crisis [48]. We are experiencing an unprecedented time in health care and education owing to the COVID-19 pandemic [83], so the use of SM in patient-HCP communication and student education should also be explored in more detail. Examples of sensationalist SM use by MDs and DMDs during the COVID-19 pandemic have been described [84], providing a partial insight as to the likely motivations of physicians and dentists to use SM in a manner that may not necessarily lend well to the professional standards expected. The question of how the pandemic affected our e-professional behavior needs to be explored further.

Conclusions

Because of this study, the development of a SMePROF coding scheme, a part of which is the SMePROF rubric for the professionalism of HCPs on SM, has reduced the influence of

Assessment subjective interpretation. of potentially unprofessional behavior is very subjective. Differences in that assessment may be the result of age, gender, different professional background or level, and other cultural or context related variables. New, more defined evaluation criteria were developed and validated, providing a better instrument for future research. According to the results of this study, the gender of coders did not affect the results for coding unprofessional or potentially unprofessional content using the same methodology and available criteria. This research emphasizes the role that context plays in the perception of unprofessional and potentially unprofessional content and provides insight into the existence of a different set of rules for web-based and offline (face-to-face) interactions that marks behavior as unprofessional.

Finally, the level of web-based professionalism on FB profiles of medical or dental students and faculty available for public viewing has shown a high level of understanding of e-professionalism, with unprofessional content being very low. This is indicative of the new more open view of professionalism on SM that will continue to evolve in the years to come.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Pero Hrabač, MD, PhD, School of Medicine University of Zagreb for his support. This study was funded by the Croatian Science Foundation under project UIP-05-2017 *Dangers and benefits of social networks: E-Professionalism of healthcare professionals—SMePROF*.

Authors' Contributions

TVR and M Marelić conceptualized and designed the study, and TVR coordinated it. M Majer, LMP, DR, and JV conducted the data searches on Facebook and coding. M Marelić and TVR analyzed and interpreted the data. TVR drafted the manuscript. All authors reviewed and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Twitter Binder report: #medbikini historical search for the period from September 9, 2013 to January 16, 2022. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 1267 KB - mededu v8i3e35585 app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Health care professionals' social media engagement related to the #medbikini movement. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 522 KB - mededu_v8i3e35585_app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Instruments used in the first phase of the study. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 109 KB - mededu v8i3e35585 app3.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 4

Main differences comparing the Koo rubric and SMePROF rubric for assessment of unprofessional content on Facebook. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 108 KB - mededu v8i3e35585 app4.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 5

Overview of previous research descriptions of potentially questionable, unprofessional, or objectionable behavior on social media. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 113 KB - mededu v8i3e35585 app5.pdf]

References

- ABIM Foundation, ACP-ASIM Foundation, European Federation of Internal Medicine. Medical professionalism in the new millennium: a physician charter. Ann Intern Med 2002 Feb 05;136(3):243-246 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-136-3-200202050-00012] [Medline: 11827500]
- 2. Kaczmarczyk JM, Chuang A, Dugoff L, Abbott JF, Cullimore AJ, Dalrymple J, et al. e-Professionalism: a new frontier in medical education. Teach Learn Med 2013;25(2):165-170. [doi: 10.1080/10401334.2013.770741] [Medline: 23530680]
- 3. Cain J, Romanelli F. E-professionalism: a new paradigm for a digital age. Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning 2009 Dec;1(2):66-70. [doi: 10.1016/j.cptl.2009.10.001]
- 4. Vignoles VL, Schwartz SJ, Luyckx K. Introduction: toward an integrative view of identity. In: Schwartz SJ, Luyckx K, Vignoles VL, editors. Handbook of Identity Theory and Research. New York, NY, USA: Springer; 2011:1-27.
- 5. Greysen SR, Kind T, Chretien KC. Online professionalism and the mirror of social media. J Gen Intern Med 2010 Nov;25(11):1227-1229 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-010-1447-1] [Medline: 20632121]
- Shore R, Halsey J, Shah K, Crigger BJ, Douglas SP, AMA Council on Ethical Judicial Affairs (CEJA). Report of the AMA Council on Ethical and Judicial Affairs: professionalism in the use of social media. J Clin Ethics 2011;22(2):165-172. [Medline: <u>21837888</u>]
- 7. A guide to social media and medical professionalism: the tips and traps every doctor and medical student should know. Australian Medical Association. 2020. URL: <u>https://ama.com.au/article/social-media-and-medical-profession</u> [accessed 2021-11-18]
- 8. Social media: practical guidance and best practice. The British Medical Association. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.bma.org.uk/</u> media/1852/bma-social-media-practical-guidance-2018.pdf [accessed 2021-11-18]
- 9. Social Media Policies for Dentists: why you should have a social media policy. American Dental Association. URL: <u>https://www.ada.org/resources/practice/practice-management/social-media-policies-for-dentists</u> [accessed 2021-11-18]
- Policy statement 6.24 Social media and dentistry. Australian Dental Association. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.ada.org.au/</u> <u>Dental-Professionals/Policies/Dental-Practice/6-24-Social-Media-and-Dentistry/</u> <u>ADAPolicies 6-24 SocialMediaandDentistry V1.aspx</u> [accessed 2021-11-18]
- Greysen SR, Chretien KC, Kind T, Young A, Gross CP. Physician violations of online professionalism and disciplinary actions: a national survey of state medical boards. JAMA 2012 Mar 21;307(11):1141-1142. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2012.330</u>] [Medline: <u>22436951</u>]
- 12. Staud SN, Kearney RC. Social media use behaviors and state dental licensing boards. J Dent Hyg 2019 Jun;93(3):37-43. [Medline: <u>31182567</u>]
- 13. Kumar H, Raj P. An indagation on experiences and awareness of digital footprint among pupils of higher education. Acad Res Int 2020 Sep;11(3):16-31 [FREE Full text]
- Ponce BA, Determann JR, Boohaker HA, Sheppard E, McGwin G, Theiss S. Social networking profiles and professionalism issues in residency applicants: an original study-cohort study. J Surg Educ 2013;70(4):502-507. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jsurg.2013.02.005</u>] [Medline: <u>23725938</u>]
- 15. Chretien KC, Goldman EF, Beckman L, Kind T. It's your own risk: medical students' perspectives on online professionalism. Acad Med 2010 Oct;85(10 Suppl):S68-S71. [doi: <u>10.1097/ACM.0b013e3181ed4778</u>] [Medline: <u>20881708</u>]
- Nason KN, Byrne H, Nason GJ, O'Connell B. An assessment of professionalism on students' Facebook profiles. Eur J Dent Educ 2018 Feb;22(1):30-33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/eje.12240] [Medline: 27735108]
- Langenfeld SJ, Cook G, Sudbeck C, Luers T, Schenarts PJ. An assessment of unprofessional behavior among surgical residents on Facebook: a warning of the dangers of social media. J Surg Educ 2014;71(6):e28-e32. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jsurg.2014.05.013</u>] [Medline: <u>24981657</u>]
- Langenfeld SJ, Sudbeck C, Luers T, Adamson P, Cook G, Schenarts PJ. The glass houses of attending surgeons: an assessment of unprofessional behavior on Facebook among practicing surgeons. J Surg Educ 2015;72(6):e280-e285. [doi: 10.1016/j.jsurg.2015.07.007] [Medline: 26276300]
- Arayapisit T, Jarunsiripaisarn J, Setthamongkol T, Ochaphan D, Songsomsup T, Sipiyaruk K. Online professionalism of Facebook usage in dental education: a retrospective exploration. J Int Soc Prev Community Dent 2021;11(5):539-545 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/jispcd.JISPCD 139 21] [Medline: 34760798]
- 20. Koo K, Ficko Z, Gormley EA. Unprofessional content on Facebook accounts of US urology residency graduates. BJU Int 2017 Jun;119(6):955-960. [doi: 10.1111/bju.13846] [Medline: 28393475]
- 21. Koo K, Bowman MS, Ficko Z, Gormley EA. Older and wiser? Changes in unprofessional content on urologists' social media after transition from residency to practice. BJU Int 2018 Aug;122(2):337-343. [doi: 10.1111/bju.14363] [Medline: 29694713]
- Hardouin S, Cheng TW, Mitchell EL, Raulli SJ, Jones DW, Siracuse JJ, et al. RETRACTED: Prevalence of unprofessional social media content among young vascular surgeons. J Vasc Surg 2020 Aug;72(2):667-71. Retracted in: J Vasc Surg. October 2020. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2020.08.018. [doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2019.10.069] [Medline: <u>31882313</u>]
- 23. Londyn Robinson. article says photos of vasc surgeons in a "provocative pose wearing bikini" is unprofessional. Twitter. 2020 Jul 3. URL: <u>https://twitter.com/londyloo/status/1286361257872896000</u> [accessed 2021-10-12]

- 24. Laughney C. What You Need to Know About the Infamous #MedBikini Study. Medium. 2020 Apr 10. URL: <u>https://medium.</u> <u>com/beingwell/what-you-need-to-know-about-the-infamous-medbikini-study-1d814e1ebe44</u> [accessed 2021-11-18]
- 25. Annear S. #MedBikini: Here's why health care professionals are posting photos of themselves in bathing suits. The Boston Globe. 2020 Jul 24. URL: <u>https://www.bostonglobe.com/2020/07/24/metro/</u> medbikini-heres-why-healthcare-professionals-are-posting-photos-themselves-bathing-suits-social-media/ [accessed 2021-04-18]
- 26. #medbikini. Facebook. URL: https://www.facebook.com/hashtag/medbikini [accessed 2022-01-18]
- 27. #medbikini. Instagram. URL: <u>https://www.instagram.com/explore/tags/medbikini/</u> [accessed 2022-01-18]
- 28. Gordon H. #MedBikini A Protest Against Shaming Female Doctors. ZestRadar. URL: <u>https://zestradar.com/inspiration/</u> medbikini-a-protest-against-shaming-female-doctors/ [accessed 2022-01-18]
- 29. FPJ Web Desk. What is #MedBikini? The bizarre social media trend shaming docs for wearing swimwear: a deeper dive into the trend also shows cases of alleged stalking. The Free Press Journal. 2020 Jul 25. URL: <u>https://www.freepressjournal.in/</u>world/what-is-medbikini-the-bizarre-social-media-trend-shaming-docs-for-wearing-swimwear [accessed 2022-01-18]
- Lothian-McLean M. Doctors praised for responding to 'sexist' study by flooding the internet with bikini pictures. Independent. 2020 Jul 27. URL: <u>https://www.indy100.com/news/bikini-sexism-journal-vascular-surgeons-twitter-instagram-9639746</u> [accessed 2022-01-18]
- 31. DiMuzio P. RETRACTED: Invited commentary. J Vasc Surg 2020 Aug;72(2):672. Retracted in: J Vasc Surg. October 2020. doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2020.08.019. [doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2019.11.002] [Medline: 32711907]
- 32. Journal of Vascular Surgery. Retraction notice. J Vasc Surg 2020 Oct;72(4):1514. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jvs.2020.08.018</u>] [Medline: <u>32972597</u>]
- 33. Drudi LM, Woo K, Ziegler KR, O'Banion L. Professionalism in (vascular) surgery: what does it mean? J Vasc Surg 2021 Aug;74(2S):93S-100S. [doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2021.04.020] [Medline: 34303465]
- 34. Dangers and benefits of social networks: E-Professionalism of healthcare professionals (SMePROF). University of Zagreb, School of Medicine, Croatia. URL: <u>https://mef.unizg.hr/znanost/istrazivanje/web-stranice-projekata/projekt-hrzz-smeprof/</u>[accessed 2021-11-18]
- 35. DiLosa K, Drudi LM, Vascular Surgery Trainees. Changing tides: a vascular surgery trainee perspective on the #MedBikini campaign and a call for action. J Vasc Surg 2020 Nov;72(5):1819-1820. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jvs.2020.08.002</u>] [Medline: <u>33011000</u>]
- 36. Hardouin S, Cheng T, Mitchell EL, Raulli SJ, Jones D, Siracuse J, et al. Reply. J Vasc Surg 2020 Nov;72(5):1830. [doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2020.08.020] [Medline: <u>33010999</u>]
- Sosa JA. Editorial: doubling down on diversity in the wake of the #MedBikini controversy. World J Surg 2020 Nov;44(11):3587-3588. [doi: 10.1007/s00268-020-05751-4] [Medline: 32880678]
- 38. Gloviczki P, Lawrence PF. Commitment to increase diversity and address unconscious bias. J Vasc Surg 2020 Nov;72(5):1515. [doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2020.08.001] [Medline: 33011001]
- Shalhub S. The arbitrary definition of unprofessional social media is larger than #medbikini. J Vasc Surg 2020 Nov;72(5):1821-1822. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jvs.2020.07.073</u>] [Medline: <u>32891805</u>]
- 40. Stamp N, Mitchell R, Fleming S. Social media and professionalism among surgeons: who decides what's right and what's wrong? J Vasc Surg 2020 Nov;72(5):1824-1826. [doi: 10.1016/j.jvs.2020.07.076] [Medline: 32958315]
- 41. Krippendorff K. Content Analysis: An Introduction to Its Methodology. 4th edition. Thousand Oaks, CA, USA: Sage Publications; 2018.
- 42. Freelon DG. ReCal: intercoder reliability calculation as a web service. Int J Internet Sci 2010;5(1):20-33 [FREE Full text]
- 43. Madow WG, Madow LH. On the theory of systematic sampling, I. Ann Math Statist 1944 Mar;15(1):1-24. [doi: 10.1214/aoms/1177731312]
- 44. Barlow CJ, Morrison S, Stephens HO, Jenkins E, Bailey MJ, Pilcher D. Unprofessional behaviour on social media by medical students. Med J Aust 2015 Dec 14;203(11):439. [doi: <u>10.5694/mja15.00272</u>] [Medline: <u>26654611</u>]
- 45. Chretien KC, Greysen SR, Chretien JP, Kind T. Online posting of unprofessional content by medical students. JAMA 2009 Sep 23;302(12):1309-1315. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2009.1387] [Medline: 19773566]
- Langenfeld SJ, Vargo DJ, Schenarts PJ. Balancing privacy and professionalism: a survey of general surgery program directors on social media and surgical education. J Surg Educ 2016;73(6):e28-e32. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jsurg.2016.07.010</u>] [Medline: <u>27524278</u>]
- 47. White J, Kirwan P, Lai K, Walton J, Ross S. 'Have you seen what is on Facebook?' The use of social networking software by healthcare professions students. BMJ Open 2013 Jul 24;3(7):e003013 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013-003013] [Medline: 23883886]
- 48. Vukušić Rukavina T, Viskić J, Machala Poplašen L, Relić D, Marelić M, Jokic D, et al. Dangers and benefits of social media on e-professionalism of health care professionals: scoping review. J Med Internet Res 2021 Nov 17;23(11):e25770 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25770] [Medline: 34662284]
- Pronk SA, Gorter SL, van Luijk SJ, Barnhoorn PC, Binkhorst B, van Mook WN. Perception of social media behaviour among medical students, residents and medical specialists. Perspect Med Educ 2021 Aug;10(4):215-221 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40037-021-00660-1] [Medline: <u>33826108</u>]

- 50. Batalden P, Leach D, Swing S, Dreyfus H, Dreyfus S. General competencies and accreditation in graduate medical education. Health Aff (Millwood) 2002;21(5):103-111. [doi: <u>10.1377/hlthaff.21.5.103</u>] [Medline: <u>12224871</u>]
- 51. Graduate Medical Education: ACGME Competencies: Professionalism. University of Maryland Medical Center. URL: https://www.umms.org/ummc/pros/gme/acgme-competencies/professionalism [accessed 2021-12-02]
- 52. Social Media Social Media Best Practices. American Urological Association.: American Urological Association. MediaRoom. URL: <u>https://auanet.mediaroom.com/index.php?s=20294</u> [accessed 2021-12-02]
- 53. Farsi D. Social media and health care, part I: literature review of social media use by health care providers. J Med Internet Res 2021 Apr 05;23(4):e23205 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/23205] [Medline: 33664014]
- 54. Swick HM. Toward a normative definition of medical professionalism. Acad Med 2000 Jun;75(6):612-616. [doi: 10.1097/00001888-200006000-00010] [Medline: 10875505]
- 55. Bearman G, Bryant K, Leekha S, Mayer J, Munoz-Price LS, Murthy R, et al. Healthcare personnel attire in non-operating-room settings. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2014 Feb;35(2):107-121 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1086/675066] [Medline: 24442071]
- 56. Petrilli CM, Saint S, Jennings JJ, Caruso A, Kuhn L, Snyder A, et al. Understanding patient preference for physician attire: a cross-sectional observational study of 10 academic medical centres in the USA. BMJ Open 2018 May 29;8(5):e021239 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-021239] [Medline: 29844101]
- 57. Xun H, Chen J, Sun AH, Jenny HE, Liang F, Steinberg JP. Public perceptions of physician attire and professionalism in the US. JAMA Netw Open 2021 Jul 01;4(7):e2117779 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.17779] [Medline: <u>34328503</u>]
- 58. Hatton E, Trautner MN. Equal opportunity objectification? The sexualization of men and women on the cover of rolling stone. Sex Cult 2011 May 14;15(3):256-278. [doi: 10.1007/s12119-011-9093-2]
- 59. Bernard P, Hanoteau F, Gervais S, Servais L, Bertolone I, Deltenre P, et al. Revealing clothing does not make the object: ERP evidences that cognitive objectification is driven by posture suggestiveness, not by revealing clothing. Pers Soc Psychol Bull 2019 Jan;45(1):16-36. [doi: 10.1177/0146167218775690] [Medline: 29877123]
- 60. Potter WJ, Levine Donnerstein D. Rethinking validity and reliability in content analysis. J Appl Commun Res 2009 May 21;27(3):258-284. [doi: 10.1080/00909889909365539]
- 61. Karveleas I, Kyriakouli A, Koukou M, Koufatzidou M, Kalogirou EM, Tosios KI. The relationship between Facebook behaviour and e-professionalism: a questionnaire-based cross-sectional study among Greek dental students. Eur J Dent Educ 2021 Feb;25(1):151-158. [doi: 10.1111/eje.12585] [Medline: 32780448]
- 62. Chretien KC, Tuck MG. Online professionalism: a synthetic review. Int Rev Psychiatry 2015 Apr;27(2):106-117. [doi: 10.3109/09540261.2015.1004305] [Medline: 25804627]
- 63. Kitsis EA, Milan FB, Cohen HW, Myers D, Herron P, McEvoy M, et al. Who's misbehaving? Perceptions of unprofessional social media use by medical students and faculty. BMC Med Educ 2016 Feb 18;16:67 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12909-016-0572-x] [Medline: 26887561]
- 64. Relić D, Vukušić Rukavina T, Marelić M, Machala Poplašen L, Viskić J, Jokić D, et al. Smjernice za poticanje razvoja e-profesionalizma tijekom studija medicine i dentalne medicine. Medix 2020;144/145(Suppl 3):26 [FREE Full text]
- 65. Jain A, Petty EM, Jaber RM, Tackett S, Purkiss J, Fitzgerald J, et al. What is appropriate to post on social media? Ratings from students, faculty members and the public. Med Educ 2014 Feb;48(2):157-169. [doi: <u>10.1111/medu.12282</u>] [Medline: <u>24528398</u>]
- 66. Weijs C, Coe J, Desmarais S, Majowicz S, Jones-Bitton A. Effects of mock Facebook workday comments on public perception of professional credibility: a field study in Canada. J Med Internet Res 2019 Apr 18;21(4):e12024 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12024] [Medline: 30998223]
- 67. Mostaghimi A, Crotty BH. Professionalism in the digital age. Ann Intern Med 2011 Apr 19;154(8):560-562. [doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-154-8-201104190-00008] [Medline: 21502653]
- Maben-Feaster RE, Stansfield RB, Opipari A, Hammoud MM. Evaluating patient perspectives of provider professionalism on Twitter in an academic obstetrics and gynecology clinic: patient survey. J Med Internet Res 2018 Mar 12;20(3):e78 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8056] [Medline: 29530838]
- 69. Meira TM, Prestes J, Gasparello GG, Antelo OM, Pithon MM, Tanaka OM. The effects of images posted to social media by orthodontists on public perception of professional credibility and willingness to become a client. Prog Orthod 2021 Mar 08;22(1):7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40510-021-00353-9] [Medline: 33682012]
- Fan KL, Graziano F, Economides JM, Black CK, Song DH. The public's preferences on plastic surgery social media engagement and professionalism: demystifying the impact of demographics. Plast Reconstr Surg 2019 Feb;143(2):619-630. [doi: 10.1097/PRS.00000000005205] [Medline: 30688911]
- 71. Burke M. Ohio doctor fired after anti-Semitic tweets surface, including threat to give Jews 'wrong meds'. NBC News. 2019 Jan 3. URL: <u>https://www.nbcnews.com/news/us-news/</u><u>ohio-doctor-fired-after-anti-semitic-tweets-surface-including-threat-n953916</u> [accessed 2021-11-21]
- 72. Landers J. 'A slap in the face': Arizona ER doctor fired after talking about severity of COVID-19 pandemic. USA Today News. 2020 Dec 11. URL: <u>https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/nation/2020/12/11/</u> cleavon-gilman-fired-arizona-hospital-posting-coronavirus/3894723001/ [accessed 2021-11-28]

- 73. Helmers A. #MedBikini: A Lesson in Irony and the Pitfalls of Policing Professionalism. Bioethics Today. 2020 Jul 27. URL: <u>https://www.bioethics.net/2020/07/medbikini-a-lesson-in-irony-and-the-pitfalls-of-policing-professionalism/</u>[accessed 2021-11-21]
- 74. Mock J. #MedBikini: Doctors Call Out Study for Sexism and Discrimination. Medscape. 2020 Jul 24. URL: <u>http://www.medscape.com/viewarticle/934587</u> [accessed 2021-11-05]
- 75. Blakemore E. 'This is not a Miss America contest': Sexism in science, research is challenged. The Washington Post. 2020 Oct 24. URL: <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/science/sexism-science-medbikini/2020/10/23/</u> 4ac00e0a-1229-11eb-ba42-ec6a580836ed story.html [accessed 2021-08-12]
- 76. Population Health Methods: Content Analysis Method and Examples. Columbia University Mailman School of Public Health. URL: <u>https://www.publichealth.columbia.edu/research/population-health-methods/content-analysis</u> [accessed 2021-11-30]
- 77. Neuendorf KA. The Content Analysis Guidebook. 2nd edition. Thousand Oaks, CA, USA: Sage Publications; 2017.
- 78. Walton JM, White J, Ross S. What's on YOUR Facebook profile? Evaluation of an educational intervention to promote appropriate use of privacy settings by medical students on social networking sites. Med Educ Online 2015;20:28708 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3402/meo.v20.28708] [Medline: 26198434]
- 79. Guraya SS, Guraya SY, Yusoff MS. Preserving professional identities, behaviors, and values in digital professionalism using social networking sites; a systematic review. BMC Med Educ 2021 Jul 12;21(1):381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12909-021-02802-9] [Medline: 34247617]
- Kerr H, Booth R, Jackson K. Exploring the characteristics and behaviors of nurses who have attained microcelebrity status on Instagram: content analysis. J Med Internet Res 2020 May 26;22(5):e16540 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/16540</u>] [Medline: <u>32452809</u>]
- Lee YM, Lee J, Rhim HC, Park H. A preliminary study on uncovering medical students' unprofessional behaviors from YouTube videos. J Korean Med Sci 2021 Nov 01;36(42):e296 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3346/jkms.2021.36.e296] [Medline: 34725980]
- De Gagne JC, Cho E, Yamane SS, Jin H, Nam JD, Jung D. Analysis of cyberincivility in posts by health professions students: descriptive Twitter data mining study. JMIR Med Educ 2021 May 13;7(2):e28805 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/28805] [Medline: <u>33983129</u>]
- Katz M, Nandi N. Social media and medical education in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic: scoping review. JMIR Med Educ 2021 Apr 12;7(2):e25892 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25892] [Medline: <u>33755578</u>]
- 84. Law RW, Kanagasingam S, Choong KA. Sensationalist social media usage by doctors and dentists during Covid-19. Digit Health 2021;7:20552076211028034 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/20552076211028034] [Medline: 34277029]

Abbreviations

DMD: doctor of dental medicine
FB: Facebook
HCP: health care professional
HIPAA: Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act
ICR: intercoder reliability
MD: doctor of medicine
ReCal: Reliability Calculator
SM: social media
SNS: social networking site
UZSDM: School of Dental Medicine University of Zagreb
UZSM: School of Medicine University of Zagreb

Edited by T Leung; submitted 09.12.21; peer-reviewed by Q Wu; comments to author 07.01.22; revised version received 18.01.22; accepted 29.05.22; published 09.08.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Vukušić Rukavina T, Machala Poplašen L, Majer M, Relić D, Viskić J, Marelić M Defining Potentially Unprofessional Behavior on Social Media for Health Care Professionals: Mixed Methods Study JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e35585 URL: <u>https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e35585</u> doi:10.2196/35585 PMID:<u>35758</u>

©Tea Vukušić Rukavina, Lovela Machala Poplašen, Marjeta Majer, Danko Relić, Joško Viskić, Marko Marelić. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (https://mededu.jmir.org), 09.08.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

The Use of Telegram in Surgical Education: Exploratory Study

Marcus Khai Siang Soon¹; Laura Martinengo¹, MD, PhD; Junde Lu², MBBS; Lorainne Tudor Car^{1,3}, MD, MSc, PhD; Clement Luck Khng Chia^{1,2,4}, MBBS, MMed, FRCS (Ed)

¹Lee Kong Chian School of Medicine, Nanyang Technological University, Singapore, Singapore

²Department of General Surgery, Khoo Teck Puat Hospital, Singapore, Singapore

³Department of Primary Care and Public Health, School of Public Health, Imperial College London, London, United Kingdom

⁴Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine, National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore

Corresponding Author:

Lorainne Tudor Car, MD, MSc, PhD Lee Kong Chian School of Medicine Nanyang Technological University 11 Mandalay Rd 69047142 Clinical Sciences Building Level 18 Singapore, 308232 Singapore Phone: 65 69047142 Email: <u>lorainne.tudor.car@ntu.edu.sg</u>

Abstract

Background: The COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted medical education, shifting learning online. Social media platforms, including messaging apps, are well integrated into medical education. However, Telegram's role in medical education remains relatively unexplored.

Objective: This study aims to explore the perceptions of medical students regarding the role of messaging apps in medical education and their experience of using Telegram for surgical education.

Methods: A Telegram channel "Telegram Education for Surgery Learning and Application (TESLA)" was created to supplement medical students' learning. We invited 13 medical students who joined the TESLA channel for at least a month to participate in individual semistructured interviews. Interviews were conducted via videoconferencing using an interview guide and were then transcribed and analyzed by 2 researchers using inductive thematic content analysis.

Results: Two themes were identified: (1) learning as a medical student and (2) the role of mobile learning (mLearning) in medical education. Students shared that pandemic-related safety measures, such as reduced clinic allocations and the inability to cross between wards, led to a decrease in clinical exposure. Mobile apps, which included proprietary study apps and messaging apps, were increasingly used by students to aid their learning. Students favored Telegram over other messaging apps and reported the development of TESLA as beneficial, particularly for revision and increasing knowledge.

Conclusions: The use of apps for medical education increased during the COVID-19 pandemic. Medical students commonly used apps to consolidate their learning and revise examination topics. They found TESLA useful, relevant, and trustworthy.

(JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e35983) doi:10.2196/35983

KEYWORDS

COVID-19; undergraduate medical education; distance education; social media; Telegram; general surgery; messaging apps

Introduction

COVID-19 was declared a global health emergency on January 30, 2020 [1]. Consequently, medical education was disrupted due to the social distancing efforts to contain disease spread and transmission [2-4]. Clinical-year students were particularly affected as clinical rotations were suspended or altered [2] or the students were deployed to perform clinical tasks [5]. To

https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e35983

RenderX

compensate for the lack of face-to-face interactions, medical schools increasingly leveraged the use of digital technologies [2] as students and educators were required to quickly adapt to virtual learning environments, such as videoconferencing and social media platforms, websites, blogs, or other educational materials available online [4]. The use of digital technologies in education has increased steadily over the past decade, including podcasts and videos with flipped classrooms, mobile

devices with apps, video games, simulations (part-time trainers, integrated simulators, virtual reality), and wearable devices [6].

Digital education, defined as "the act of teaching and learning by means of digital technologies" [7], is an encompassing term including a wide variety of teaching methods from digital books to complex technology, such as virtual reality. Mobile learning, or mLearning, constitutes 1 of several digital education modalities, and it is defined as "learning across multiple contexts, through social and content interactions, using personal electronic devices" [8] and appears effective in improving the knowledge and skills of students and professionals in health care [9].

Social media refers to websites or apps that "allow for the creation and exchange of content generated by users" [10]. These include collaborative projects or wikis, blogs, content-sharing sites, networking platforms, social games [10], and, often, messaging apps. Social media platforms have long been well integrated into medical education [11-17], and they may be especially appealing to younger students [16] as they are readily accessible from smartphones [17], easy to use [16], and affordable [12,16,17]. The use of social media platforms in medical education has been associated with improved knowledge (examination scores), attitudes (empathy), and skills (reflective writing) [18]. They also promote student collaboration [10,12,16-18], learner engagement [16,18], feedback [16,18], and professional development [18] and are generally well accepted by students [19,20].

Messaging apps, particularly WhatsApp, are being increasingly used in medical education [21-23]. Alternatively, the use of Telegram, a free, cross-platform, cloud-based messaging app [24] popular with younger individuals, remains relatively unexplored [11]. Several Telegram features, such as large group chats, broadcast channels to reach large audiences, and polls, may facilitate access to educational resources and offer unlimited sharing capacity and collaborative peer learning, while providing heightened security [11].

The increased digitalization of medical education, greatly enhanced during the heightened social distancing measures to contain COVID-19, supports further evaluation of the use of Telegram to assist learning in medical schools. Therefore, in this study, a Telegram channel "Telegram Education for Surgery Learning and Application (TESLA)" was developed to support general surgery learning by offering regular access to multiple-choice questions (MCQs). The acceptability of the Telegram channel among students was subsequently assessed by conducting in-depth interviews to explore student' views of the channel and, more generally, of the use of mobile messaging apps to support learning in medical schools. This study aims to explore the perceptions of medical students regarding the role of messaging apps in medical education and their experience of using TESLA for surgical education.

Methods

Study Design and Setting

This qualitative study, including semistructured interviews, was a collaboration between the Department of General Surgery in Khoo Teck Puat Hospital and the Lee Kong Chian School of Medicine (LKCMedicine) in Singapore. The study was conducted between August and September 2021.

Ethical Considerations

Ethical approval was obtained from the Nanyang Technological University Institutional Review Board (#IRB-2021-377).

Telegram Channel to Support Surgical Education

TESLA was developed in October 2020 to support students' learning of general surgery during the COVID-19 pandemic. The questions were constructed using clinical scenarios encountered during clinical practice by a practicing general surgeon (author CLK). The channel consisted of weekly MCQs, succinct explanations of the correct responses aligned with Telegram word limit restrictions, and supplemental learning resources, such as illustrations and relevant published papers (Figure 1). Students answered the questions anonymously and were encouraged to leave comments or request clarifications via a group chat function. This format appears to benefit students by promoting learning and enabling information retention [25,26].



Figure 1. Screenshot of an MCQ (left) with its explanation (right). MCQ: multiple-choice question.



Participants and Recruitment

Medical students attending clinical years 4 and 5 in LKCMedicine who had completed their general surgery module and had used TESLA for at least 1 month were invited to participate in this study. Per the qualitative research methodology, the sample size was expected to be 10-12 participants [27], according to reaching data saturation, defined as no new themes emerging in 3 consecutive interviews [28]. All participants read a study information sheet and signed the informed consent form before data collection began. After completing the interviews, participants were compensated with a digital voucher of SG \$20 (US \$14.22).

Development of the Interview Topic Guide

A thorough literature review was conducted to develop an inventory of open- and closed-ended questions. The initial interview topic guide was pilot-tested on 3 LKCMedicine students and reviewed to improve the clarity and flow of the interview (Multimedia Appendix 1). The interview included questions about the impact of COVID-19 on medical education, the use of apps to support learning, and the use of the TESLA channel.

Data Collection and Analysis

Individual, online semistructured interviews were conducted by a male undergraduate year 4 medical student (author MS) using Zoom, a videoconferencing app. MS took part in qualitative research training before conducting the interviews. Interviews lasted around 30 minutes and were audio-recorded using Zoom. The audio recordings were transcribed and proofread (MS) to ensure accuracy. Participants remained anonymous in the transcription and data analysis. The data were analyzed following Burnard's thematic analysis method [29], comprising familiarization with the transcripts by reading them multiple times, creation of initial codes, and subsequent development of themes from the codes by 2 independent researchers. The codes were subsequently compared and discussed by the researchers to reach a consensus on the final list of codes (Multimedia Appendix 2). We used NVivo (QSR International), a computer-assisted qualitative data analysis software package, to analyze the data. The study was reported according to the Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research (COREQ) guidelines (Multimedia Appendix 3) [30].

Results

Participants and Themes

We interviewed 13 students for this study, of which 11 (85%) were in year 4 and 2 (15%) were in year 5. Their participation in the surgical education support channel ranged from 1.5 to 18 months.

Two main themes were identified: (1) learning as a medical student (2) the role of mLearning in medical education (Figure 2). We present each theme, along with its subthemes and relevant participants' quotes, next.



Soon et al

Figure 2. Themes and subthemes arising from thematic analysis of the interview transcripts. mLearning: mobile learning; TESLA: Telegram Education for Surgery Learning and Application.



Theme 1: Learning as a Medical Student

Preferred Learning Methods

Students valued hands-on, experiential learning as they felt that seeing actual patients is more conducive to learning.

Real learning comes from seeing the real signs and how the patients present, as well as talking to patients in the wards. [Participant 3 (P3)]

I think it is a little bit different between digital and physical, in a sense that you do not get to feel it or ask questions immediately if you do not understand. [P4]

Particularly, students considered that the learning of skills should always occur in a face-to-face setting that allows students to practice the skills while receiving real-time feedback from mentors.

...The best way to learn these skills will be with a clinical mentor who can see and give you personalized feedback. [P2]

...Skills need to be practiced and seen in person... [P5]

Learning Conditions During COVID-19

The social distancing measures associated with COVID-19 impacted traditional learning practices, particularly the interaction with patients. All students reported increased restrictions in the hospitals, such as reduced clinic allocations and the inability to visit wards.

We could not really go around the wards as freely anymore. We also could not see a lot of patients, so the patient load was decreased as well. Yeah, we had restrictions in the OT, and we cannot have too many people around when having bedside tutorials. [P1]

What I lost in the pandemic due to the restrictions is not the knowledge, but the practical skills and the experiences of being immersed in the different situations. [P11]

This resulted in decreased exposure to patients and a shift of a significant portion of learning online.

I think it was affected because our postings were cut short and a lot of lessons were moved online. [P5]

...You cannot go to the hospital anymore, and then you have to attend lectures online,...you do not get to see the clinical presentations. [P13]

Given these changes during the pandemic, most students found their clinical and surgical rotations substantially shorten.

...Since ward time has been reduced, I think there has also been a reduction in content delivery, like bedside tutorials. [P4]

I think a lot of like opportunities were reduced and there were a lot more restrictions. So, it was more difficult to get practical hands-on learning. [P11]

Theme 2: The Role of mLearning in Medical Education

Mobile Apps for Learning in Medical School

Many students used apps to aid their learning, including proprietary study apps and messaging apps. The study apps consisted of question banks and flashcards (Amboss, Anki, Qstream, Capsule, and Osmosis) and an evidence-based clinical resource tool (UpToDate). These apps allowed students to review previously learned topics leveraging study techniques such as spaced repetition and active recall.

For educational videos, I use the internet, YouTube, Osmosis, and Amboss. For knowledge and practice questions, I use the internet, Telegram, and also other educational apps, such as the flashcard app Anki. [P3]

My school uses Qstream, which also prompts questions for [you] to answer...There are also other applications that I use, such as Amboss, which also does the same. I also use Anki. [P9]

Students also used messaging apps for their learning, particularly Telegram, WhatsApp, and Instagram. Students were generally familiar with these apps as they used them for social communications with family and friends. These apps were often used to communicate with tutors and peers, as well as to join specific channels offering study support tools.

I use the Telegram channels as well as polls on Instagram stories. [P9]

This Telegram group, some Instagram pages that our batchmates created, online notes and also YouTube. [P12]

https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e35983

Messaging apps were also used for communication with friends and family members. Among these apps, Telegram was favored for its friendlier user interface and multifunctionality.

Telegram is good because it has more features and has more stickers as well. [P5]

I prefer Telegram because I think it is more user-friendly than WhatsApp and it is easier to navigate. [P13]

Students were aware that the use of mobile apps would not replace more traditional ways of learning, for example, textbooks, lectures, and, particularly, patient interactions.

...It works to complement the main learning from, like, textbooks or seniors notes, etc, and to reinforce whatever I have already learnt... [P2]

Because it is virtual, there is a lack of face-to-face interaction and the ability to perform physical examination or take a proper face-to-face history. I think that is a big issue that people feel with regards to personnel competency in medicine...I think it is something that no amount of virtual learning can replace. [P4]

...Mobile-based education is more for contents, while clinical skills have to come through the clinical context. [P9]

Factors Influencing the Use of Mobile Apps

In general, students considered using apps that were free of charge or affordable.

For some mobile apps like Amboss, our school actually helped to pay for their subscription fees and so made it available for all of us to use. [P2]

They also favored apps if they were considered useful or entertaining.

If I think I learnt quite a lot from it or I feel that their way of teaching is effective, then I will use it more. [P2]

Students also considered using apps if they were recommended by their peers or seniors.

Even my seniors who went through the rotations without the pandemic were already using them and recommended them to me. [P1]

It's more of a recommendation by word of mouth, like whether this particular app is good or not. [P2]

Students appreciated the convenience of accessing mobile apps at any time and place.

These apps make learning accessible and convenient since we can study anytime and anywhere, even when queueing up for food or when traveling between places. [P1]

The greatest pull factor is how convenient it is to use the phone. I can easily use these apps when I am on public transport. [P3]

Helpful Features of Mobile Apps

The apps offered a wealth of resources and information that motivated students to learn.

The number of questions available on these question banks online is really a lot. [P5]

Another pro is that it stimulates active recall. [P6]

Furthermore, messaging apps facilitated 2-way communication with tutors and peers.

I think in my school, there are, like, a few groups that me and my friends created, just to, like, practice taking histories from each other or, like, trying to identify what is an important topic and what is high yield to learn. [P2]

I also use it to communicate with friends during postings and to receive posting information from official sources. [P11]

Limitations of Using Mobile Apps

Barriers to the use of study apps included high subscription costs and hardware limitations, such as small phone screens, battery drainage, and an inflexible typing keyboard.

If I use my phone too much, the battery will also run out very quickly. [P1]

Some apps require subscriptions or a one-time payment for use. So, such costs are like a barrier if you do not like to or do not wish to pay for these apps. [P2]

It is harder for me to edit things because the phone keyboard is less versatile. [P3]

Other limitations were associated with accessing apps using a phone. These included limited content on display, the information presented in an unorganized manner, and greater difficulty taking notes.

...It is very difficult to search for the different files because they will be, like, mixed with other non-work or [non]-education-related chats, which is very messy. [P1]

It is also harder to take notes...It is harder to refer to notes or huge chunks of texts on the train as compared to when at home. [P10]

An issue that I encounter with mobile learning, which also exists for hard-copy learning, is that explanations may not be complete. [P11]

When using study apps, students felt that the information was sometimes irrelevant to the local context:

The conditions and presenting complaints are very localized to their countries. For example, in America, they have certain diseases that are more prevalent and, to them, they are a must-know. But then to us, it is something that we were taught not to pay so much attention to. [P13]

Alternatively, the use of messaging apps could potentially be intrusive with notification alerts and blurring of lines between personal use as a communication tool versus a tool for learning.

I don't like it, because questions and work messages get mixed together in one app and then it kind of distracts the learning. [P1]

TESLA to Support Surgical Education

In general, students expressed positive feedback toward the development of the mLearning platform, which they considered useful to consolidate and maybe augment their learning and review before tests.

I think it is quite useful because of the case-based style of questions. The question difficulty is appropriate... [P3]

The Telegram group is definitely a very useful tool to augment learning. Any form of revision questions will definitely help students in clarifying questions. [P10]

Particularly, students appreciated that the resources were developed by the teaching staff of the Department of Surgery.

The information in the group is provided by doctors, and so, the information is more credible. Compared to the other groups, I would be more inclined to trust the information from this group. [P2]

Since it is a channel created by a doctor, it makes the questions more legitimate as compared to if being made by students. [P10]

Students considered that the questions, and the associated supplementary material, were clinically relevant, of appropriate difficulty, and relevant to the local context. They also valued that responses to the channel questions were anonymous, an aspect that allowed students to attempt the task without the stress of being wrong.

... The content posted is very relevant to the Singapore medical student, and it is the important stuff that you cannot miss. [P3]

Some of the pictures are what students might not get the opportunity to see. So, I think that is good. [P5]

When it is an anonymous poll, it takes away any shame in answering the questions wrongly. Even if I do not know, I can just give it a shot and see how I am doing. [P9]

Alternatively, the associated discussion forum required the students' identities to be disclosed, and this feature was a major deterrent to students clarifying their doubts.

I think it is weird that everyone in the group will be reading your question. So, I guess, maybe one thing that I would prefer is to ask questions anonymously. [P1]

It seems that no one uses the comment feature. Probably it is because it is not anonymous, and people are shy to use it even if they have questions. [P10]

Students reported that the questions were presented without following specific themes or surgical specialties. Some questions lacked explanations, or if present, they were brief and difficult to comprehend. Students were aware that this may be an inherent Telegram limitation, and they suggested that providing links to

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e35983
```

extra information, as well as categorizing the content, would improve the channel.

I feel that the Telegram group is a bit messy as the questions are random...Telegram is not able to provide such clear classification of the questions, and a new learner might feel that their learning would be all over the place...The explanations are very short since there is a word limit to the questions and explanations. Hence sometimes, I do not fully understand the explanation, because it's not complete. [P1]

I think the explanations to the questions are quite short. Hence, I think there is room to expand on that, for instance, providing resources for students on where to find articles or guidelines. Maybe, the doctors can also explain their approach to solving the questions. It would help lead to a more comprehensive understanding of the explanations. [P12]

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study explored medical students' perceptions of learning during the COVID-19 pandemic, the role of mLearning in medical education, and the use of a Telegram channel to support surgical education. Students experienced important changes in their learning during the COVID-19 pandemic, particularly the substantial decrease in clinical, hands-on, and experiential learning, leading to a rise in virtual learning. The use of mobile apps to support learning, although already in use prepandemic, increased. Students found these apps useful as a refresher or to consolidate learning and valued the development of the TESLA, as they found it relevant and trustworthy.

Medical students consistently reported disruptions in learning due to the pandemic, particularly the substantial decrease in face-to-face, experiential learning in health care institutions. Digital learning tools, including mobile apps, were increasingly used to compensate for the lack of face-to-face learning. This shift to digital-based learning was not unique to our student population but was consistently reported in medical schools worldwide [5,31,32]. Digital tools were an adequate substitute for theoretical learning and revisions ahead of examinations, although they could not substitute face-to-face patient interactions in the learning of clinical skills. The use of digital technologies in medical education has steadily increased for over a decade, although their adoption was not consistent. However, only with the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic was widespread adoption of digital learning seen in medical schools worldwide. This educational shift was accompanied by added flexibility and increased emphasis on individual learning preferences, which are valued by students and educators alike. At the same, time, the wide differences in digital readiness observed in high- and low- and middle-income countries translated to inadequate training for students unable to access educational materials [32,33], while the lack of access to health care institutions also impacted the acquisition of critical clinical skills [33].

Mobile apps to support medical education were widely used by students. They selected a combination of proprietary study apps, consisting mostly of question banks and other revision tools, and study groups created in popular messaging apps, such as the Telegram group presented in this paper. A recent systematic review on the use of mobile apps in education in health care professions reported these tools as effective to enhance knowledge and skills in a range of topics, including anatomy, dermatology, and surgery [34], but it did not provide information about the type of mobile apps described in the included studies. Furthermore, another review on the use of social media in medical education in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic highlighted the use of messaging apps, such as Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and WhatsApp [35], to organize groups to post revision topics or questions and share articles and as communication tools to inform students of changes in schedules, important deadlines, or administrative tasks [15,18]. None of these studies presented compelling evidence that the use of proprietary study apps or messaging apps would be advantageous. Furthermore, the students interviewed for this study appear to use a combination of both types of apps, each of which may provide specific advantages or disadvantages. For example, study apps may offer students a trustworthy source of information, particularly if recommended by instructors or peers, but their content may not be relevant to the local context and the associated cost might be a deterrent for some students. In contrast, messaging apps are readily available, usually free of charge, and students may already be familiar with their functionalities, but their content may not be adequately verified.

The students interviewed in our study consistently reported a preference for Telegram over other messaging apps, referring to the flexibility and enhanced functionalities the app offers. The evidence for the use of social media and messaging apps has focused particularly on the use of WhatsApp, Facebook, and Instagram compared to Telegram, whose role in medical education remains relatively unexplored [11]. Telegram may offer key advantages, such as a poll function that allows for the development of MCQs, the possibility of creating large groups of up to 200,000 members, and enhanced data security safeguards, which may increase its appeal in educational settings [11,24]. Further studies on the use of Telegram for medical education are required.

Strengths and Limitations

Our study was undertaken in 1 medical school in Singapore, a city-state with a high penetration of smartphones, and as such, our findings and recommendations may not be generalizable to other contexts. Although our findings were more focused on the use of Telegram channels, the findings may apply to the use of other messaging apps to support medical education.

We used a stringent qualitative methodology in this study. The number of students recruited was aligned with sample size guidelines for qualitative studies, and they had varied experiences with the use of mobile apps to support medical education. Data analysis was performed by 2 independent researchers and reviewed by other members of the research team to increase the validity of our findings.

Implications for Future Work

The findings of this qualitative evaluation of medical students' perceptions of the use of messaging apps appear to support their use in medical education. Table 1 presents a series of suggestions to implement when creating study groups using messaging apps, based on our experience deploying TESLA and students' feedback. Nevertheless, experimental clinical trials evaluating the effectiveness of mLearning compared to other learning approaches are urgently needed.



Soon et al

Table 1. Suggested features to include when creating messaging app groups to support medical students' learning.

Suggested features	Recommendations
Delivery	
Recognizable	A catchy channel name
Accessible	• Clear guidance for users on how to join the study group
Anonymity	• Participants to be allowed to answer questions anonymously
Timely	• Questions to be posted during the academic year and not during holidays
Regular	• Questions to be posted at regular, predictable intervals
Content	
Credible and trustworthy	• Created by health professionals or reference to trusted information sources
Organized	• Study group content clearly organized, with adequate signposting to study topics, etc
Clear and unambiguous	 Indication of the difficulty level of each question Explanations provided for all options and all questions Links provided to learning resources, such as peer-reviewed papers, book articles, pictures/photos, short videos
Relevant to the target population	 Appropriate question difficulty Real-life clinical cases Contextualized to the local setting
Format	
Type of questions	• Variety of question formats, including MCQs ^a , open-ended questions, etc
Engaging	 Bite-sized information Case-based questions Variation of question difficulty Use of visuals
Instant feedback	Immediate response after participant's responseShowing participant option selection rates

^aMCQ: multiple-choice question.

Conclusion

The use of apps and other digital tools to support medical education increased during the COVID-19 pandemic. mLearning was commonly used among medical students to consolidate their learning and revise examination topics. In general,

Telegram was preferred over other messaging apps for its user interface and multifunctionality, and TESLA was evaluated as useful, relevant, and trustworthy. Experimental clinical trials on the use of mobile apps to support medical education are urgently needed.

Acknowledgments

Authors CLKC and LTC are both senior authors of the paper.

Authors' Contributions

LTC and CLKC conceptualized the study and provided supervision at all steps of the research. MKSS conducted and transcribed the interviews. MKSS and JL conducted the data analysis. MKSS and LM wrote the manuscript. JL, CLKC, and LTC provided a critical review of the manuscript. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript and take accountability for all aspects of the work.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.



https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e35983

Multimedia Appendix 1 Interview guide. [DOCX File, 14 KB - mededu v8i3e35983 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Codebook. [DOCX File, 34 KB - mededu v8i3e35983 app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 COREQ 32-item checklist. [DOCX File, 21 KB - mededu v8i3e35983 app3.docx]

References

- Sohrabi C, Alsafi Z, O'Neill N, Khan M, Kerwan A, Al-Jabir A, et al. World Health Organization declares global emergency: a review of the 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19). Int J Surg 2020 Apr;76:71-76 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2020.02.034] [Medline: 32112977]
- Liang ZC, Ooi SBS, Wang W. Pandemics and their impact on medical training: lessons from Singapore. Acad Med 2020 Sep;95(9):1359-1361 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/ACM.000000000003441] [Medline: 32304387]
- Laurentino Lima D, Nogueira Cordeiro Laurentino Lima R, Benevenuto D, Soares Raymundo T, Shadduck P, Melo Bianchi J, et al. Survey of social media use for surgical education during Covid-19. JSLS 2020;24(4):e2020.00072 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4293/jsls.2020.00072]
- Hilburg R, Patel N, Ambruso S, Biewald MA, Farouk SS. Medical education during the coronavirus disease-2019 pandemic: learning from a distance. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis 2020 Sep;27(5):412-417 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1053/j.ackd.2020.05.017] [Medline: 33308507]
- The TMS Collaborative. The perceived impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on medical student education and training an international survey. BMC Med Educ 2021 Nov 09;21(1):566 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12909-021-02983-3] [Medline: 34753477]
- Guze PA. Using technology to meet the challenges of medical education. Trans Am Clin Climatol Assoc 2015;126:260-270 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 26330687]
- Car J, Carlstedt-Duke J, Tudor Car L, Posadzki P, Whiting P, Zary N, Digital Health Education Collaboration. Digital education in health professions: the need for overarching evidence synthesis. J Med Internet Res 2019 Feb 14;21(2):e12913 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12913] [Medline: 30762583]
- 8. Crompton H. A historical overview of mobile learning: toward learner-centered education. In: Berge ZL, Muilenburg LY, editors. Handbook of Mobile Learning. London, UK: Routledge; 2013:3-14.
- Dunleavy G, Nikolaou CK, Nifakos S, Atun R, Law GCY, Tudor Car L. Mobile digital education for health professions: systematic review and meta-analysis by the digital health education collaboration. J Med Internet Res 2019 Feb 12;21(2):e12937 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12937] [Medline: <u>30747711</u>]
- 10. Hamm M, Chisholm A, Shulhan J, Milne A, Scott S, Klassen T, et al. Social media use by health care professionals and trainees: a scoping review. Acad Med 2013;88(9):1376-1383 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/acm.0b013e31829eb91c]
- Iqbal MZ, Alradhi HI, Alhumaidi AA, Alshaikh KH, AlObaid AM, Alhashim MT, et al. Telegram as a tool to supplement online medical education during COVID-19 crisis. Acta Inform Med 2020 Jun;28(2):94-97 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.5455/aim.2020.28.94-97</u>] [Medline: <u>32742059</u>]
- 12. Farsi D. Social media and health care, part I: literature review of social media use by health care providers. J Med Internet Res 2021 Apr 05;23(4):e23205 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/23205] [Medline: 33664014]
- Kapoor A, Tiwari V, Kapoor A. Teaching undergraduates beyond the classroom: use of WhatsApp. Indian Pediatr 2019 Nov 15;56(11):967-969 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>31729329</u>]
- Maske SS, Kamble PH, Kataria SK, Raichandani L, Dhankar R. Feasibility, effectiveness, and students' attitude toward using WhatsApp in histology teaching and learning. J Educ Health Promot 2018;7:158 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/jehp.jehp 30 18] [Medline: 30693295]
- Alhalabi N, Salloum R, Aless A, Darjazini Nahas L, Ibrahim N. Messaging apps use in undergraduate medical education: the case of National Medical Unified Examination. Ann Med Surg (Lond) 2021 Jun;66:102465 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amsu.2021.102465] [Medline: 34178316]
- 16. Petrucci AM, Chand M, Wexner SD. Social media: changing the paradigm for surgical education. Clin Colon Rectal Surg 2017 Sep;30(4):244-251 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1055/s-0037-1604252] [Medline: 28924397]
- 17. Wexner SD, Petrucci AM, Brady RR, Ennis-O'Connor M, Fitzgerald JE, Mayol J. Social media in colorectal surgery. Colorectal Dis 2017 Feb;19(2):105-114 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/codi.13572] [Medline: 27889945]
- Cheston C, Flickinger T, Chisolm M. Social media use in medical education: a systematic review. Acad Med 2013;88(6):893-901 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/acm.0b013e31828ffc23]



- 19. Raiman L, Antbring R, Mahmood A. WhatsApp messenger as a tool to supplement medical education for medical students on clinical attachment. BMC Med Educ 2017 Jan 06;17(1):7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12909-017-0855-x] [Medline: 28061777]
- 20. Grover S, Garg B, Sood N. Introduction of case-based learning aided by WhatsApp messenger in pathology teaching for medical students. J Postgrad Med 2020;66(1):17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/jpgm.jpgm 2 19]
- Coleman E, O'Connor E. The role of WhatsApp® in medical education; a scoping review and instructional design model. BMC Med Educ 2019 Jul 25;19(1):279 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12909-019-1706-8] [Medline: 31345202]
- 22. Gon S, Rawekar A. Effectivity of e-learning through WhatsApp as a teaching learning tool. MVP J Med Sci 2017 May 22;4(1):19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.18311/mvpjms/0/v0/i0/8454]
- 23. K M, Jayakumar N, A K, Nasimuddin S, Malaiyan J, G S. Whatsapp enhances medical education: is it the future? Int J Med Sci Public Health 2017;6(2):1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5455/ijmsph.2017.02082016622]
- 24. Telegram FAQ. URL: <u>https://telegram.org/faq%23q-what-is-telegram-what-do-i-do-here</u> [accessed 2022-06-07]
- 25. Soderstrom N, Bjork R. Learning versus performance: an integrative review. Perspect Psychol Sci 2015 Mar;10(2):176-199 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1745691615569000] [Medline: 25910388]
- Roediger HL, Karpicke JD. Test-enhanced learning: taking memory tests improves long-term retention. Psychol Sci 2006 Mar;17(3):249-255 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2006.01693.x] [Medline: 16507066]
- 27. Guest G, Bunce A, Johnson L. How many interviews are enough?: An experiment with data saturation and variability. Field Methods 2016 Jul 21;18(1):59-82 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1525822X05279903]
- Saunders B, Sim J, Kingstone T, Baker S, Waterfield J, Bartlam B, et al. Saturation in qualitative research: exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. Qual Quant 2018;52(4):1893-1907 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8] [Medline: 29937585]
- 29. Burnard P. A method of analysing interview transcripts in qualitative research. Nurse Educ Today 1991 Dec;11(6):461-466 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/0260-6917(91)90009-y] [Medline: 1775125]
- 30. Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care 2007 Dec;19(6):349-357 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/intqhc/mzm042] [Medline: 17872937]
- Sandhu P, de Wolf M. The impact of COVID-19 on the undergraduate medical curriculum. Med Educ Online 2020 Dec;25(1):1764740 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10872981.2020.1764740] [Medline: 32400298]
- Connolly N, Abdalla M. Impact of COVID-19 on medical education in different income countries: a scoping review of the literature. Med Educ Online 2022 Dec;27(1):2040192 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10872981.2022.2040192] [Medline: 35317712]
- 33. Syal A, Arya Y, Gupta M. Impact of COVID-19 on medical undergraduate students' academics and its ramifications. Indian J Med Sci 2021 May 29;73:26-29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.25259/IJMS_404_2020]
- 34. Chandran V, Balakrishnan A, Rashid M, Pai Kulyadi G, Khan S, Devi E, et al. Mobile applications in medical education: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One 2022;17(3):e0265927 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0265927] [Medline: 35324994]
- Katz M, Nandi N. Social media and medical education in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic: scoping review. JMIR Med Educ 2021 Apr 12;7(2):e25892 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25892] [Medline: 33755578]

Abbreviations

LKCMedicine: Lee Kong Chian School of Medicine MCQ: multiple-choice question mLearning: mobile learning TESLA: Telegram Education for Surgical Learning and Application

Edited by N Zary; submitted 26.12.21; peer-reviewed by K Aguirre, L Agrawal; comments to author 16.03.22; revised version received 06.07.22; accepted 02.09.22; published 27.09.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Soon MKS, Martinengo L, Lu J, Car LT, Chia CLK The Use of Telegram in Surgical Education: Exploratory Study JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e35983 URL: <u>https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e35983</u> doi:10.2196/35983 PMID:36099020

©Marcus Khai Siang Soon, Laura Martinengo, Junde Lu, Lorainne Tudor Car, Clement Luck Khng Chia. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (https://mededu.jmir.org), 27.09.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

The Role of Metacognitive Beliefs in Predicting Academic Procrastination Among Students in Iran: Cross-sectional Study

Yahya Safari^{1*}, PhD; Nasrin Yousefpoor^{1*}, MA

Department of General Paramedicine, School of Paramedical Sciences, Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences, Kermanshah, Iran ^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author: Nasrin Yousefpoor, MA Department of General Paramedicine School of Paramedical Sciences Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences Dolatabad Street Kermanshah, 6719875131 Iran Phone: 98 9188349360 Fax: 98 8342223233 Email: <u>n_yousefpoor@yahoo.com</u>

Abstract

Background: Academic procrastination is a challenge that many students face. Metacognitive beliefs are the main cause of academic procrastination because they are one of the main reasons for students' academic failure or progress.

Objective: This study aimed to determine whether and to what extent academic procrastination could be predicted based on students' metacognitive beliefs.

Methods: This descriptive cross-sectional study involved 300 students selected via stratified random sampling. Data were collected using the Procrastination Assessment Scale for Students and the Metacognition Questionnaire-30. The data analysis was done using the Pearson correlation coefficient and regression analysis to estimate the correlation coefficient and predictability of academic procrastination based on metacognitive beliefs.

Results: A significant negative correlation was observed between the subscale of positive beliefs of concern and academic procrastination (*r*=–0.16; *P*<.001). In addition, the metacognitive beliefs of the participants predicted 10% of academic procrastination. The component of positive metacognitive beliefs with the β value of 0.45 negatively and significantly predicted the students' academic procrastination (*P*<.001), whereas the component of negative metacognitive beliefs with the β value of .39 positively and significantly predicted the students' academic procrastination (*P*<.001).

Conclusions: Metacognitive beliefs can predict students' academic procrastination. Therefore, the modification of metacognitive beliefs to reduce procrastination is suggested.

(JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e32185) doi:10.2196/32185

KEYWORDS

procrastination; metacognitive awareness; medical students; academic training

Introduction

Academic procrastination is a challenge faced by many individuals and organizations [1], and it is a major cause of learners' failure to attain academic achievement [2]. A study conducted by Kagan et al [3] involving 265 students from different universities, departments, and classes showed that among students with individual characteristics of perfectionism and compulsive obsession, 67 (25%) showed some a degree of

RenderX

academic procrastination, which disrupted their ability to learn [3]. Academic procrastination could be defined as a student delaying their studies until the night before an exam, which affects the student's academic achievement. In academic settings, students have specific tasks to perform, such as writing term papers; studying for exams; reading assignments; and performing academic, administrative, and attendance tasks. However, for one reason or another, the completion of these tasks is often postponed. The general propensity to engage in such dilatory behavior is called *academic procrastination* [4].

The main consequences of academic procrastination are poor educational performance and the feeling of negative emotions, such as guilt and shame. Notably, procrastination is not always an issue, since not completing a task is in some cases better than doing it incompletely [5]. Academic procrastination emerges as a deliberate delay in a practical course of study and tasks such as reading, article writing, and preparing for an exam. Academic procrastination is an irrational desire to delay the completion of a homework assignment or other academic tasks. Under such circumstances, students lack the motivation for academic activities at certain times despite the intention to complete them. Consequently, they fail to complete assignments to their desired level of quality within the expected time frame, which adversely affects their mental health [6].

Dysfunctional cognitive and metacognitive beliefs are considered to be the main causes of academic procrastination [7]. In general, cognitive approaches emphasize the impact of negative attitudes and beliefs on procrastination, though they fail to explain the efficacy of such beliefs through different mechanisms. Nonetheless, the metacognitive perspective of procrastination could accurately explain these processes [8]. According to Flavell, metacognition is the cognitive knowledge or process that cooperates in the assessment, review, and control of cognition, thereby tuning cognitive performance [9]. Moreover, it could be used to link and combine new information with previously learned data that are to be stored in long-term memory [10].

Most theorists believe there are 2 distinct aspects of metacognition. The first aspect is metacognitive knowledge, which refers to the knowledge one has about their cognitive processes and strategies for learning [11]. The second aspect is metacognitive regulation, which refers to different types of executive actions, such as attention, review, planning, and the identification of performance errors in terms of their impact on cognitive activity [11,12]. Therefore, procrastination is related to metacognition from 2 perspectives. First, procrastination is considered a strategy for regulating cognition. Second, procrastination is associated with negative emotions and is considered a strategy adopted by individuals to avoid and regulate negative emotions [13].

With regard to the performance of students on academic assignments, some researchers have considered cognitive elements to be the strongest predictors of learning, while others have highlighted the role of metacognitive components in this regard [14]. Studies have shown a positive correlation between procrastination and difficulties in emotional regulation [15]. Furthermore, a positive association has been reported between improper emotional regulation strategies (eg, blaming others) and procrastination. Therefore, training on emotional regulation skills could reduce procrastination [16]. Nonetheless, some studies have identified academic procrastination in 80%-90% of students [17].

In a study on this topic, Özer et al [18] reported procrastination in the process of article writing, preparation for exams, and the completion of weekly assignments in 46%, 27%, and 30% of students, respectively. According to Özer and Sackes [19], 38% of students were severe procrastinators, although Walters [11]

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e32185
```

XSL•FO

reported a reverse correlation between adopting certain metacognitive beliefs and procrastination. Furthermore, results obtained by Howell and Watson [20] indicated a reverse correlation between certain metacognitive beliefs and academic procrastination.

Given the previously mentioned findings and the high prevalence of procrastination among students, authorities, educational planners, and those involved in the academic system must adopt strategies for the management and reduction of procrastination in students. This could be a step toward solving the educational problems of learners at different levels of study. This study aimed to determine the role of metacognitive beliefs in the prediction of academic procrastination. The main question of the study is the following: to what extent do metacognitive beliefs predict academic procrastination?

Methods

Ethics Approval

This study was approved by the ethics committee of Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences (IR.KUMS.REC.1396.446), and participants provided written informed consent for participation in this study.

Participants and Setting

This descriptive-analytical cross-sectional study focused on students at Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences (N=4200) from July to August 2020. All students at Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences, including students in the School of Health (n=50), the School of Paramedical Sciences (n=70), the School of Nursing (n=50), the School of Medicine (n=60), the School of Pharmacy (n=40), and the School of Dentistry (n=30) participated in the study. The sample size was estimated to be 300 students via the Morgan table. Participants were selected via stratified random sampling; students were selected from all educational disciplines.

Data Collection and Descriptive Analysis

Data were collected using the Persian version of the Procrastination Assessment Scale for Students (PASS) by Solomon and Rothblum [21] and the Metacognition Questionnaire-30 (MCQ-30) by Wells and Cartwright-Hatton [22]. The PASS was first developed and used by Solomon and Rothblum in 1984. In this 27-item tool, items 2, 4, 6, 11, 15, 16, 21, 23, and 25 are scored reversely. The scale evaluates procrastination in the following three areas: preparing for an exam (items 1-6), completing assignments (items 9-17), and writing papers at the end of a semester (items 20-25). This scale has been used and validated in previous studies, and its reliability has been confirmed with a Cronbach α of .73 [21]. In this study, its internal consistency was estimated to be 0.84, and its reliability was confirmed with a Cronbach α of .64 [22]. This questionnaire was reviewed and approved in a study by Mortazavi et al [23] in Iran, who conducted a confirmatory factor analysis on an ethnically diverse sample of 345 participants. The MCQ-30 is a 30-item self-report tool consisting of 5 subscales, in which items 2, 4, 6, 11, 15, 16, 21, 23, and 25 are scored reversely. The five factors are cognitive confidence, positive beliefs about worry, cognitive

self-consciousness, negative beliefs about the uncontrollability of thoughts and danger, and beliefs about the need to control thoughts. The MCQ-30 showed good internal consistency and convergent validity and acceptable to good test-retest reliability [22].

The data analysis was performed in SPSS (version 20; IBM Corporation) using the Pearson correlation coefficient and regression analysis. The Pearson correlation coefficient was used to estimate the relationships between the study variables. The regression coefficient was used to calculate the predictability of academic procrastination based on metacognitive beliefs.

Results

The mean age of the students was 21.86 (SD 2.70) years. In terms of sex, 150 (50%) of the 300 students were female. The mean total score of procrastination was 63.67 (SD 4.88), and the mean scores of procrastination in the dimensions of preparation for an exam, completing assignments, and completing homework during the semester were found to be 18.53 (SD 3.05), 25.79 (SD 4.08), and 18.62 (SD 1.99), respectively. Table 1 shows the mean scores of the metacognition variable and its dimensions.

Tables 2 and 3 show the correlation coefficients of academic procrastination, metacognitive beliefs, and their subscales. The results indicated a significant negative correlation between the subscale of positive beliefs of concern and academic procrastination (r=-0.16; P<.001). In other words, a higher score for academic procrastination was associated with a lower score for the subscale positive beliefs of concern (Tables 2 and 3).

Table 1. Means and SDs of the total scores for academic procrastination.

In this study, a simultaneous multiple regression analysis was
applied to determine the share of each component of
metacognitive beliefs in determining the variance in academic
procrastination. As shown in model 1, approximately 10% of
the variance in academic procrastination could be predicted
based on metacognitive beliefs (model 1: $R=0.309$; $R^2=0.095$; institution $R=0.020$; $E_{1}=15.62$; $R=0.01$). The E ratio also
Justified $R=0.089$; $F_{298}=15.05$; $P=.001$). The F ratio also
indicated that academic procrastination could be predicted based
on the variable of metacognitive beliefs—something that was
statistically significant (P=.001; Table 4).

The F ratio demonstrated that the regression of the criterion variable (ie, academic procrastination) was significant based on the predictive variables (P=.001); in other words, the components of metacognitive beliefs were considered significant. Among the dimensions of the metacognitive beliefs variable, the elements of positive and negative metacognitive beliefs affected the students' academic procrastination, predicting 10% of their academic procrastination (model 2: $R=0.324; R^2=0.105;$ justified $R=0.090; F_{298}=6.89; P=.001$). On the other hand, the component of positive metacognitive beliefs with the β value of -.45 negatively and significantly predicted the students' academic procrastination (P < .001), while the component of negative metacognitive beliefs with the β value of .39 positively and significantly predicted the students' academic procrastination (P<.001).

According to the obtained β coefficients, the component of positive metacognitive beliefs had the most significant contribution in explaining the variance in the students' academic procrastination (P<.001). In terms of predictive power, the components of positive and negative metacognitive beliefs had the highest and lowest ability to predict procrastination, respectively (Table 5).

Components of procrastination	Score, mean (SD)	Minimum score	Maximum score
Total negligence score	63.67 (4.88)	55	75
Preparation for an exam	18.53 (3.05)	13	23
Completing homework	25.79 (4.08)	18	33
Writing end-of-term papers	18.62 (1.99)	15	25

Table 2. Means and SDs of the total scores for metacognitive beliefs.

Dimensions of metacognitive beliefs	Score, mean (SD)	Minimum score	Maximum score
Positive concerns	18.47 (4.43)	10	29
Negative metacognitive beliefs	19.44 (4.57)	9	28
Low cognitive efficiency	18.80 (4.00)	12	27
Negative metacognitive beliefs about thoughts	18.47 (3.60)	12	26
Cognitive self-awareness	22.68 (4.45)	15	33
Total score	94.47 (4.45)	58	136



Safari & Yousefpoor

Table 3. Correlation analysis (Pearson r and 2-tailed *P* value) among procrastination variables and dimensions of metacognitive beliefs. Correlation is significant at the .01 level.

Variables	Negligence	The total score of metacogni- tive beliefs	Positive concerns	Negative metacognitive beliefs	Low cognitive efficiency	Negative metacognitive beliefs about thoughts	Cognitive self- awareness
Negligence	·		-	*		-	
r	1	-0.40	-0.16	0.10	-0.03	-0.03	-0.05
P value	a	.001	.006	.10	.51	.66	.42
The total score of metac	ognitive beliefs						
r	-0.40	1	0.85	0.84	0.74	0.78	0.79
P value	.001	_	.001	.001	.001	.001	.001
Positive concerns							
r	-0.16	0.85	1	0.63	0.66	0.45	0.59
P value	.006	.001	_	.001	.001	.001	.001
Negative metacognitive	beliefs						
r	0.10	0.84	0.63	1	0.45	0.65	0.62
P value	.10	.001	.001	_	.001	.001	.001
Low cognitive efficiency							
r	-0.03	0.74	0.66	0.45	1	0.45	0.44
P value	.51	.001	.001	.001	—	.001	.001
Negative metacognitive	beliefs about thou	ughts					
r	-0.03	0.78	0.45	0.65	0.45	1	0.49
P value	.66	.001	.001	.001	.001	—	.001
Cognitive self-awareness	s						
r	-0.05	0.79	0.59	0.62	0.44	0.49	1
P value	.42	.001	.001	.001	.001	.001	—

^aNot applicable.

Table 4. β coefficients and *t* test values for academic procrastination.

Criterion variable and predictive variable	B ^a (SD)	β^{b}	t test (df)	P value
Academic procrastination				
Constant	55.70 (2.27)	N/A ^c	24.49 (298)	.001
Metacognitive beliefs	-0.024 (0.017)	.079	-1.42 (298)	.16

^aUnstandardized β coefficient.

^bStandardized beta coefficient.

^cN/A: not applicable.



Table 5.	β coefficients and	t test values	for metacognitive beliefs.
----------	--------------------	---------------	----------------------------

B ^a (SD)	β^{b}	t test (df)	P value
·	·		
64.52 (1.72)	N/A ^c	37.63 (298)	.001
0.454 (0.098)	.412	-4.63 (298)	.001
0.416 (0.092)	.389	4.54 (298)	.001
0.169 (0.091)	.138	1.86 (298)	.06
-0.118 (0.104)	087	-1.14 (298)	.25
-0.068 (0.0082)	062	-0.83 (298)	.41
	B ^a (SD) 64.52 (1.72) 0.454 (0.098) 0.416 (0.092) 0.169 (0.091) -0.118 (0.104) -0.068 (0.0082)	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $

^aUnstandardized β coefficient.

^bStandardized beta coefficient.

^cN/A: not applicable.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study aimed to determine the predictability of academic procrastination based on metacognitive beliefs among students in Iran. A significant negative correlation was observed between the subscale of positive beliefs of concern and academic procrastination (r=-0.16; P<.001). The metacognitive beliefs of the participants predicted academic procrastination. The component of positive metacognitive beliefs with the β value of -.45 negatively and significantly predicted the students' academic procrastination (P<.001), whereas the component of negative metacognitive beliefs with the β value of .39 positively and significantly predicted the students' academic procrastination (P<.001).

Our results showed that a significant negative correlation was observed between the subscale of positive beliefs of concern and academic procrastination (r=-0.16; P<.001). The results of this study are consistent with the findings of Hayat et al [24], who reported that 28.85% of students have a high level of academic procrastination and that academic procrastination among postgraduate students is very common and has a negative impact on their mental health. Academic self-efficacy positively correlated with academic self-control and negatively correlated with academic procrastination, and academic self-control negatively correlated with academic procrastination. Academic self-control had a completely mediating effect on the influence of academic self-efficacy on academic procrastination. Sex variables moderated the influence of academic self-efficacy on academic self-control and thus significantly moderated the mediating effect of academic self-control. Specifically, academic self-control had a stronger mediating effect on the influence of academic self-efficacy on academic procrastination for female postgraduate students [25].

In addition, the metacognitive beliefs of the participants predicted 10% of academic procrastination. The component of positive metacognitive beliefs with the β value of -.45 negatively and significantly predicted the students' academic procrastination (*P*<.001), whereas the component of negative metacognitive beliefs with the β value of .42 positively and significantly predicted the students' academic procrastination the students' academic procrastination (*P*<.001), whereas the component of negative metacognitive beliefs with the β value of .42 positively and significantly predicted the students' academic procrastination

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e32185
```

RenderX

(P<.001). Among the dimensions of the metacognitive beliefs variable, the components of positive and negative metacognitive beliefs affected the prediction of the students' academic procrastination. Since obtaining a higher score on this scale was interpreted as having more negative metacognitive beliefs, a positive correlation was denoted between the 2 variables, indicating that the students with more negative metacognitive beliefs procrastinated more often. Based on the correlation coefficients, a reverse association was also shown, suggesting that those who procrastinated more often had more negative beliefs. In this regard, our findings are in line with the results obtained by studies showing a positive correlation between academic procrastination and metacognitive beliefs [26,27].

According to Özer, PhD (unpublished data, 2010), learning new study skills could reduce procrastination, which might be due to the fact that procrastination is a defect in metacognitive strategies. Throughout the literature, procrastination has been perceived as a failure in self-regulation (ie, metacognitive beliefs) by various researchers [28-30].

Considering the theoretical research background and the results of this study, it could be inferred that the high prevalence of procrastination among students necessitates the attention of education officials and planners toward reducing or correcting academic procrastination. Overall, procrastination is a maladaptive behavior and an inefficient with negative consequences. These findings have implications for the better understanding of academic procrastination and the use of academic interventions to correct this issue.

Based on the findings of this study, the following recommendations could be employed to improve learning and reduce academic procrastination. Given the multidimensional nature of metacognitive variables, the dimensions of procrastination should be evaluated along with these variables. Extensive educational programs could be implemented regarding learning positive and beneficial metacognitive beliefs and avoiding negative and harmful metacognitive beliefs. Special attention should be paid to preventive strategies for procrastination by education authorities, planners, and policy makers. Similar studies should be conducted on students in other educational levels, but such studies should use experimental study designs to increase the generalizability of

the results and determine causal relationships. The concept of academic procrastination should also be assessed at lower levels of education to take proper measures for reducing procrastination and preventing its negative outcomes in the education and future careers of younger students.

Limitations

This study compiles the results of a questionnaire and has its own limitations; there is a possibility of bias, exaggeration in estimating features, or memory errors when responding to a questionnaire. Therefore, measuring each of the variables while performing tasks that are closely related to the real-world situation can provide a more realistic view of the relationships being studied. However, we attempted to gather reliable information. Due to the analysis of correlations between variables, there are limitations in explaining variable relationships causally; therefore, conducting research with an experimental design that examines the interventional effect of metacognitive beliefs about procrastination on reducing academic procrastination to confirm and complete the results of this study would be helpful.

Strengths

We tried to gather and analyze reliable data. A strength of this study was the completion of questionnaires with the presence of the researcher. Furthermore, this topic has not been studied before in Iran.

Conclusions

A significant negative correlation was observed between the subscale of positive beliefs of concern with academic procrastination (r=-0.16; P<.001). The metacognitive beliefs of the participants predicted academic procrastination. The component of positive metacognitive beliefs negatively and significantly predicted the students' academic procrastination (P<.001), whereas the component of negative metacognitive beliefs positively and significantly predicted the students' academic procrastination (P<.001), whereas the component of negative metacognitive beliefs positively and significantly predicted the students' academic procrastination (P<.001). Due to the predictability of procrastination based on metacognitive beliefs, the modification of metacognitive beliefs to reduce procrastination is suggested.

Acknowledgments

This study was conducted with the participation of students at Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences. The authors thank all participants for their time. This study was conducted with the financial support of Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Johnson K, Nishimura B. A study on locus of control, hierarchical position and procrastination. Eur J Manag Sci 2013;10(2668):3121.
- Najimi A, Sharifirad G, Amini MM, Meftagh SD. Academic failure and students' viewpoint: The influence of individual, internal and external organizational factors. J Educ Health Promot 2013;2:22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/2277-9531.112698] [Medline: 24083272]
- 3. Kağan M, Çakır O, İlhan T, Kandemir M. The explanation of the academic procrastination behaviour of university students with perfectionism, obsessive compulsive and five factor personality traits. Procedia Soc Behav Sci 2010;2(2):2121-2125 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/J.SBSPRO.2010.03.292]
- 4. Özer BU, Demir A, Ferrari JR. Reducing academic procrastination through a group treatment program: a pilot study. J Ration Emot Cogn Behav Ther 2013 May 25;31(3):127-135. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10942-013-0165-0</u>]
- Josefsson K, Cloninger CR, Hintsanen M, Jokela M, Pulkki-Råback L, Keltikangas-Järvinen L. Associations of personality profiles with various aspects of well-being: a population-based study. J Affect Disord 2011 Sep;133(1-2):265-273. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2011.03.023] [Medline: 21463898]
- 6. Stead R, Shanahan MJ, Neufeld RWJ. "I'll go to therapy, eventually": Procrastination, stress and mental health. Pers Individ Dif 2010;49(3):175-180 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2010.03.028]
- Dietz F, Hofer M, Fries S. Individual values, learning routines and academic procrastination. Br J Educ Psychol 2007 Dec;77(Pt 4):893-906. [doi: <u>10.1348/000709906X169076</u>] [Medline: <u>17971288</u>]
- 8. Chu AHC, Choi JN. Rethinking procrastination: positive effects of "active" procrastination behavior on attitudes and performance. J Soc Psychol 2005 Jun;145(3):245-264. [doi: <u>10.3200/SOCP.145.3.245-264</u>] [Medline: <u>15959999</u>]
- 9. Safari Y, Meskini H. The effect of metacognitive instruction on problem solving skills in Iranian students of health sciences. Glob J Health Sci 2015 May 17;8(1):150-156 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5539/gjhs.v8n1p150] [Medline: 26234970]
- 10. Veenman MVJ, Van Hout-Wolters BHAM, Afflerbach P. Metacognition and learning: conceptual and methodological considerations. Metacogn Learn 2006 Mar 8;1(1):3-14. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11409-006-6893-0</u>]
- Wolters CA. Understanding procrastination from a self-regulated learning perspective. J Educ Psychol 2003;95(1):179-187 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/0022-0663.95.1.179]
- 12. Mozafari M, Safari Y, Abasifard Z, Safari M, Sharafi K. Assessing dimension of metacognitive skills and its relationship with academic achievement in high school students. Acta Medica Mediterranea 2016;32:899-903.

- Fee RL, Tangney JP. Procrastination: A means of avoiding shame or guilt? J Soc Behav Pers. J Soc Behav Pers 2000;15(5):167-184.
- 14. Çapan BE. Relationship among perfectionism, academic procrastination and life satisfaction of university students. Procedia Soc Behav Sci 2010;5:1665-1671 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2010.07.342]
- 15. Rebetez MML, Rochat L, Van der Linden M. Cognitive, emotional, and motivational factors related to procrastination: a cluster analytic approach. Pers Individ Differ 2015;76:1-6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2014.11.044]
- Bytamar JM, Saed O, Khakpoor S. Emotion regulation difficulties and academic procrastination. Front Psychol 2020;11:524588 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.524588] [Medline: 33250800]
- 17. Eckert M, Ebert DE, Lehr D, Sieland B, Berking M. Overcome procrastination: enhancing emotion regulation skills reduce procrastination. Learn Individ Differ 2016;52:10-18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.lindif.2016.10.001]
- Özer BU, Demir A, Ferrari JR. Exploring academic procrastination among Turkish students: possible gender differences in prevalence and reasons. J Soc Psychol 2009 Apr;149(2):241-257. [doi: <u>10.3200/SOCP.149.2.241-257</u>] [Medline: <u>19425360</u>]
- Özer BU, Saçkes M. Effects of academic procrastination on college students' life satisfaction. In: Procedia Soc Behav Sci. 2011 Presented at: International Conference on Education and Educational Psychology (ICEEPSY 2010); December 2-5, 2010; Kyrenia, Cyprus p. 512-519. [doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2011.02.063]
- 20. Howell AJ, Watson DC. Procrastination: associations with achievement goal orientation and learning strategies. Pers Individ Differ 2007;43(1):167-178 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2006.11.017]
- 21. Solomon LJ, Rothblum ED. Academic procrastination: frequency and cognitive-behavioral correlates. J Couns Psychol 1984 Oct;31(4):503-509. [doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.31.4.503]
- 22. Wells A, Cartwright-Hatton S. A short form of the metacognitions questionnaire: properties of the MCQ-30. Behav Res Ther 2004 Apr;42(4):385-396. [doi: 10.1016/S0005-7967(03)00147-5] [Medline: 14998733]
- 23. Mortazavi F, Mortazavi SS, Khosrorad R. Psychometric properties of the Procrastination Assessment Scale-Student (PASS) in a student sample of Sabzevar University of Medical Sciences. Iran Red Crescent Med J 2015 Sep;17(9):e28328 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5812/ircmj.28328] [Medline: 26473078]
- 24. Hayat A, Kojuri J, Amini M. Academic procrastination of medical students: the role of internet addiction. J Adv Med Educ Prof 2020 Apr;8(2):83-89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.30476/JAMP.2020.85000.1159] [Medline: 32426392]
- 25. Liu G, Cheng G, Hu J, Pan Y, Zhao S. Academic self-efficacy and postgraduate procrastination: a moderated mediation model. Front Psychol 2020;11:1752 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01752] [Medline: 32793073]
- 26. Golestani BT, Shokri M. Relationship between academic procrastination with meta cognitive beliefs. Soc Cogn 2013;2(1):89-100.
- 27. Fernie BA, Spada MM, Nikčević AV, Georgiou GA, Moneta GB. Metacognitive beliefs about procrastination: development and concurrent validity of a self-report questionnaire. J Cogn Psychother 2009 Nov 01;23(4):283-293. [doi: 10.1891/0889-8391.23.4.283]
- 28. Tan CX, Ang RP, Klassen RM, Yeo LS, Wong IYF, Huan VS, et al. Correlates of academic procrastination and students' grade goals. Curr Psychol 2008 Apr 29;27(2):135-144. [doi: <u>10.1007/s12144-008-9028-8</u>]
- 29. Schraw G, Wadkins T, Olafson L. Doing the things we do: a grounded theory of academic procrastination. J Educ Psychol 2007;99(1):12-25. [doi: 10.1037/0022-0663.99.1.12] [Medline: 22489612]
- 30. Tice D, Bratslavsky E. Giving in to feel good: the place of emotion regulation in the context of general self-control. Psychol Inq 2000;11(3):149-159 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1207/s15327965pli1103_03]

Abbreviations

MCQ-30: Metacognition Questionnaire-30 PASS: Procrastination Assessment Scale for Students

Edited by T Leung; submitted 18.07.21; peer-reviewed by A Tannoubi, A Ardekani; comments to author 19.10.21; revised version received 27.01.22; accepted 01.03.22; published 28.07.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Safari Y, Yousefpoor N The Role of Metacognitive Beliefs in Predicting Academic Procrastination Among Students in Iran: Cross-sectional Study JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e32185 URL: <u>https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e32185</u> doi:10.2196/32185 PMID:35900821



©Yahya Safari, Nasrin Yousefpoor. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (https://mededu.jmir.org), 28.07.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Using Mobile Virtual Reality Simulation to Prepare for In-Person Helping Babies Breathe Training: Secondary Analysis of a Randomized Controlled Trial (the eHBB/mHBS Trial)

Beatrice Nkolika Ezenwa^{1*}, MSc, MPH, MD; Rachel Umoren^{2*}, MBChB, MS; Iretiola Bamikeolu Fajolu^{1*}, MBBS, MSc, MD; Daniel S Hippe³, MS; Sherri Bucher⁴, MA, PhD; Saptarshi Purkayastha⁵, PhD; Felicitas Okwako⁶, MBBS, MSc, MD; Fabian Esamai⁶, MD; John B Feltner², MSc; Olubukola Olawuyi¹, BSc, PhD; Annet Mmboga⁶, DN; Mary Concepta Nafula⁶, DN; Chris Paton⁷, BMBS, BMedSci, MBA; Veronica Chinyere Ezeaka¹, MPH, MD

⁶Department of Paediatrics, Alupe University College, Busia, Kenya

⁷Centre for Tropical Medicine, Nuffield Department of Clinical Medicine, Oxford, United Kingdom

*these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Beatrice Nkolika Ezenwa, MSc, MPH, MD Department of Paediatrics College of Medicine University of Lagos Ishaga Road Idi-Araba Lagos, 100254 Nigeria Phone: 234 8051403189 Email: <u>beatriceezenwa@yahoo.com</u>

Abstract

Background: Neonatal mortality accounts for approximately 46% of global under-5 child mortality. The widespread access to mobile devices in low- and middle-income countries has enabled innovations, such as mobile virtual reality (VR), to be leveraged in simulation education for health care workers.

Objective: This study explores the feasibility and educational efficacy of using mobile VR for the precourse preparation of health care professionals in neonatal resuscitation training.

Methods: Health care professionals in obstetrics and newborn care units at 20 secondary and tertiary health care facilities in Lagos, Nigeria, and Busia, Western Kenya, who had not received training in Helping Babies Breathe (HBB) within the past 1 year were randomized to access the electronic HBB VR simulation and digitized HBB Provider's Guide (VR group) or the digitized HBB Provider's Guide only (control group). A sample size of 91 participants per group was calculated based on the main study protocol that was previously published. Participants were directed to use the electronic HBB VR simulation and digitized HBB Provider's Guide or the digitized HBB Provider's Guide or the digitized HBB Provider's Guide alone for a minimum of 20 minutes. HBB knowledge and skills assessments were then conducted, which were immediately followed by a standard, in-person HBB training course that was led by study staff and used standard HBB evaluation tools and the Neonatalie Live manikin (Laerdal Medical).

Results: A total of 179 nurses and midwives participated (VR group: n=91; control group: n=88). The overall performance scores on the knowledge check (P=.29), bag and mask ventilation skills check (P=.34), and Objective Structured Clinical Examination A checklist (P=.43) were similar between groups, with low overall pass rates (6/178, 3.4% of participants). During the Objective Structured Clinical Examination A test, participants in the VR group performed better on the critical step of positioning the head and clearing the airway (VR group: 77/90, 86%; control group: 57/88, 65%; P=.002). The median percentage

¹Department of Paediatrics, College of Medicine, University of Lagos, Lagos, Nigeria

²Department of Pediatrics, University of Washington, Washington, WA, United States

³Clinical Research Division, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Center, Washington, WA, United States

⁴Department of Pediatrics, Indiana University School of Medicine, Indiana, IN, United States

⁵Department of BioHealth Informatics, Indiana University-Purdue University at Indianapolis, Indianapolis, IN, United States

of ventilations that were performed via head tilt, as recorded by the Neonatalie Live manikin, was also numerically higher in the VR group (75%, IQR 9%-98%) than in the control group (62%, IQR 13%-97%), though not statistically significantly different (P=.35). Participants in the control group performed better on the *identifying a helper and reviewing the emergency plan* step (VR group: 7/90, 8%; control group: 16/88, 18%; P=.045) and the *washing hands* step (VR group: 20/90, 22%; control group: 32/88, 36%; P=.048).

Conclusions: The use of digital interventions, such as mobile VR simulations, may be a viable approach to precourse preparation in neonatal resuscitation training for health care professionals in low- and middle-income countries.

(JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e37297) doi:10.2196/37297

KEYWORDS

virtual reality; mobile learning; Helping Babies Breathe; neonatal resuscitation; mobile Helping Babies Survive powered by District Health Information Software 2; neonatal mortality; digital education; health care education; health care worker; medical education; digital intervention

Introduction

Intrapartum asphyxia—the failure to breathe at birth—is a common medical emergency that occurs in the newborn period, and newborns with this condition require neonatal resuscitation to survive. The outcome of neonatal resuscitation depends on the availability of equipment and appropriately trained personnel [1]. The periodic in-service training of health care professionals, such as physicians, nurses, and midwives, on newborn resuscitation has significantly decreased neonatal mortality, which accounts for 46% of under-5 mortality globally [2-7]. Neonatal resuscitation training has largely depended on in-person, daylong workshops and manikin-based simulation exercises that are time-consuming and cost-intensive, resulting in widely spaced intervals for refresher training [4].

Newer models of neonatal resuscitation training involving the use of emerging technologies have been described [8,9]. Virtual reality (VR) is a new technology that has been described as "the learning aid of the 21st century," as the feasibility and applicability of VR have been demonstrated in nearly all aspects of training and education [10,11]. The use of VR has provided engaging, individualized, and incentivized practice opportunities within immersive experiences [12], particularly under conditions like the COVID-19 pandemic, during which social distancing is encouraged.

Mobile VR simulations can be used to teach abstract ideas, illustrate real-world phenomena, and motivate students. [13]. The unpredictability of how and when neonatal resuscitation will be encountered in the clinical setting requires constant preparedness and confidence building, which can be gained via repeated practice (individually, in pairs, or as a small group). Due to the high level of user involvement in VR simulations, users may be exposed to materials more than once, lengthening the time spent actively learning and enhancing skill acquisition and retention. [9,14]. By connecting offline identities, game scenarios, and actual interactions with and within a virtual system, game-based learning enables learners to display abilities and alter behaviors that are related to clinical practice [15-19]. Evidence suggests that simulation games increase posttraining self-efficacy by 20%, declarative knowledge by 11%, procedural knowledge by 14%, and retention by 9% [20].

Although most software simulations require a PC with sufficient graphics capabilities or an advanced VR headset, mobile VR simulations can be delivered on mobile phones via a low-cost VR headset [9,21,22]. Health care professionals in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) now have practically universal access to mobile phones, which encourages the accessibility, scalability, flexibility, and effectiveness of e-learning while lowering marginal costs. For instance, over the past 20 years, mobile subscriptions and broadband penetration have dramatically expanded in Nigeria [23]. According to the Nigerian Communications Commission, in 2020, there were 300 million connected mobile lines and 204 million active subscribers to Global System for Mobile Communications networks in Nigeria, resulting in a teledensity (the number of telephone connections) of 107 for every 100 individuals living in Nigeria [23].

This study involved a secondary analysis of data that were collected during the electronic Helping Babies Breathe (eHBB)/mobile Helping Babies Survive (mHBS) trial [24]. We explored the feasibility and educational efficacy of using mobile VR training and the digitized Helping Babies Breathe (HBB) Provider's Guide, compared to using the digitized HBB Provider's Guide alone, as an approach to precourse preparation for health care professionals attending in-person HBB courses in a low-resource setting. We hypothesized that, as measured via precourse assessments using validated HBB evaluation instruments, health care professionals who used mobile VR simulations and the digitized HBB Provider's Guide before the course would be better prepared for in-person HBB training compared to those who used only the digitized guide without exposure to VR scenarios.

Methods

Study Design

This was a substudy of the prospective randomized controlled trial of an educational intervention, which was described fully elsewhere [24].

Study Population

Health care professionals (nurses or nurse-midwives) who worked in labor, delivery, and newborn care units at 20 secondary and tertiary health care facilities in Lagos, Nigeria,



and Busia, Western Kenya, and had not received training in HBB within the previous 1 year were recruited to participate in the eHBB study [24].

Randomization

Participants were consented and were randomized to receive the eHBB and digitized HBB Provider's Guide (VR group) intervention or the digitized HBB Provider's Guide–only intervention (control group) before a standard in-person HBB course (Figure 1).

Figure 1. CONSORT (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials) flow chart. eHBB: electronic Helping Babies Breathe; HBB: Helping Babies Breathe; VR: virtual reality.



Intervention

The eHBB VR simulations consisted of 3 brief, 3- to 5-minute, interactive 3D simulation scenarios that represented a newborn requiring routine care, some resuscitation, or prolonged resuscitation via positive pressure ventilation (Multimedia Appendix 1). The simulations were accessed using a low-cost VR headset and the eHBB virtual simulation app installed on participants' study phones. The digitized HBB Provider's Guide consisted of a digital version of the standard HBB, Second Edition, Provider's Guide on the mHBS powered by District Health Information Software 2 (DHIS2; mHBS/DHIS2) app that was installed on participants' phones. The VR group had access to the VR intervention and the digitized HBB Provider's Guide. The mobile simulation scenarios were brief, and each could be completed within 3 to 5 minutes. A minimum of 20 minutes was given for the participants to familiarize themselves with their study group materials. Although they were encouraged to familiarize themselves with the eHBB VR simulation, the VR group, at enrollment, was allowed to access all of their study group materials (the eHBB VR simulation and digitized HBB Provider's Guide) without restrictions. The control group only used the digitized HBB Provider's Guide.

Precourse knowledge and skills assessments were then conducted by trained study staff using the following standardized tools: the HBB, Second Edition, knowledge check multiple-choice questionnaire; the bag and mask ventilation (BMV) skills check (a passing score was defined as correctly performing all 14 steps); and the Objective Structured Clinical Examination (OSCE) A checklist (a passing score was defined as correctly performing at least 9 of the 12 steps, including the required actions [items 4, 5, and 9]). The outcomes, which were measured by using the BMV skills check and the OSCE A checklist, were the health care professionals' neonatal

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e37297
```

RenderX

resuscitation skills before the standard in-person HBB, Second Edition, training course. The Neonatalie Advanced manikin (Laerdal Medical) was used for the standardized collection of data on BMV skills. Participants then received standard in-person HBB, Second Edition, training. Postcourse and follow-up evaluations for up to 6 months were described previously [24].

Ethics Approval

This study was approved by the University of Lagos Health Research Ethics Committee (reference number: CMUL/HREC/09/18/445); Moi University Institutional Research Ethics Committee, Indiana University Institutional Review Board (reference number: 1807371465); and University of Washington Institutional Review Board (reference number: STUDY00005297).

Data Analysis

Data were collected in real time by trained research assistants using the mHBS/DHIS2 mobile app [25] on dedicated Android mobile devices, and paper data forms were used as backups. A post hoc data analysis was performed for this study. Data were analyzed by using SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute) and R version 4.0.0 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing) software. BMV performance data on the Neonatalie Live manikin were transmitted from the manikin to an iPad (Apple Inc) via Bluetooth and stored in a secure cloud database. Continuous variables were presented as means with SDs or medians with IQRs, and categorical variables were presented as numbers with percentages. The Kruskal-Wallis test or Wilcoxon rank-sum test was used to compare scores from the knowledge check, BMV skills test, and OSCE A test between groups. The Fisher exact test was used to compare overall test pass rates and pass rates for individual test items of interest. The sample size was

not chosen specifically for this substudy but was initially determined to meet the goals of the primary study—to detect a 20% difference in pass rates on the OSCE B test between groups at the 6-month follow-up evaluation time point with 80% power [24]. Differences were considered significant when the 2-sided P values were <.05.

Results

Demographic Characteristics

Data from 179 health care professionals who were assigned to the VR and control groups were reviewed. Table 1 shows the

Table 1. Demographic characteristics of the study participants

demographic characteristics of the study participants, which were similar between the intervention (VR and digital guide) and control (digital guide only) groups. Most of the participants were female (162/179, 90.5%). Of the 179 participants, only 29 (16.2%) had ever undergone training on HBB, and all previously trained health care professionals were trained with the HBB, First Edition, curriculum. Nearly all of the participants (163/179, 91.1%) owned a smartphone.

The median scores (out of 18) on the precourse knowledge check were similar for both groups (VR group: 15, IQR 14-16; control group: 16, IQR 15-17; P=.29).

Characteristic	Group		
	VR ^a (n=91)	Control (n=88)	
Age (years), mean (SD)	37 (9)	37 (9)	
Sex, n (%)			
Male	9 (10)	8 (9)	
Female	82 (90)	80 (91)	
Profession, n (%)			
Nurse	43 (47)	44 (50)	
Nurse-midwife	48 (53)	44 (50)	
Country, n (%)			
Kenya	44 (48)	42 (48)	
Nigeria	47 (52)	46 (52)	
Ward ^b , n (%)			
Labor or delivery ward	62 (71)	63 (73)	
Postnatal ward	15 (17)	18 (21)	
NBU ^c or NICU ^d	6 (7)	4 (5)	
Operating theater	4 (5)	1 (1)	
Years of postqualification experience b , n (%)			
<5	22 (24)	26 (30)	
5-10	34 (38)	25 (28)	
11-15	11 (12)	13 (15)	
16-20	11 (12)	8 (9)	
>20	12 (13)	16 (18)	
Prior HBB ^e training, n (%)	16 (18)	13 (15)	
Owns a smartphone, n (%)	81 (89)	82 (93)	

^aVR: virtual reality.

^bParticipants with missing values were excluded from the corresponding summary (ward: n=12; years of experience: n=2).

^cNBU: newborn unit.

^dNICU: neonatal intensive care unit.

^eHBB: Helping Babies Breathe.

BMV Skills

RenderX

The overall performance on the precourse BMV skills check was also similar between groups, with a median score (out of

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e37297
```

14) of 4.93 (IQR 3-6) in the VR group and 5.32 (IQR 4-7) in the control group (P=34). Among all participants, 1 participant in the VR group achieved a passing score of 14. There were no statistically significant differences in the pass rates for individual
test items between the VR and control groups, as shown in Table 2.

Table 2.	Precourse	bag and	mask	ventilation	performance.
----------	-----------	---------	------	-------------	--------------

Steps	Group ^a , n (%)		P value
	Virtual reality (n=83)	Control (n=79)	
Place baby on ventilation area	49 (59)	45 (57)	.87
Stand at the baby's head	38 (46)	45 (57)	.16
Check that the mask size is correct	32 (39)	39 (49)	.21
Position the head slightly extended	41 (49)	40 (51)	>.99
Apply the mask to the face	57 (69)	58 (73)	.60
Make a tight seal	25 (30)	20 (25)	.60
Squeeze the bag	25 (30)	16 (20)	.21
Ventilate	22 (27)	20 (25)	>.99
Ventilate at 40 breaths per minute	13 (16)	10 (13)	.66
Reapply mask	39 (47)	44 (56)	.28
Reposition head	36 (43)	40 (51)	.43
Clear mouth and nose of secretions	13 (16)	11 (14)	.83
Open the mouth	2 (2)	1 (1)	>.99
Squeeze the bag harder	17 (20)	19 (24)	.71

^aIn total, 83 of the 91 participants in the virtual reality group and 79 of the 88 participants in the control group had bag and mask ventilation skills check results available.

OSCE A Performance

The median scores (out of 12) on the precourse OSCE A checklist were 5.91 (IQR 4-8) in the VR group and 5.83 (IQR 4-7) in the control group (P=.43). Only 4% (4/90) of the participants in the VR group and 2% (2/88) of the participants in the control group achieved passing scores. Participants' performance on individual test items is shown in Table 3. The two steps that the control group more frequently performed were the *identifying a helper and reviewing the emergency plan* step (VR group: 7/90, 8%; control group: 16/88, 18%; P=.045) and the *washing hands* step (VR group: 20/90, 22%; control group: 32/88, 36%; P=.048). Participants in the VR group performed better on the critical step of positioning the head and clearing the airway (VR group: 77/90, 86%; control group: 57/88, 65%; P=.002). In addition, the VR group tended to

perform better on the *removing the wet cloth* step than the control group (VR group: 34/90, 38%; control group: 22/88, 25%; *P*=.08).

The precourse data from the Neonatalie Live manikin showed that participants in both groups spent a median time of 160 seconds performing BMV, with a median ventilation rate of 29 (VR group: 29.4; control group: 29.3) breaths per minute. The median percentages of ventilations with low pressures (VR group: 4%, IQR 0%-12%; control group: 4%, IQR 0%-17%; P=.27), ventilations with high pressures (VR group: 0%, IQR 0%-9%; control group: 0%, IQR 0%-2%; P=.20), and valid ventilations (VR group: 19%, IQR 2%-59%; control group: 19%, IQR 0%-57%; P=.68) were similar between both groups. The median percentage of ventilations that were performed via head tilt was 75% (IQR 9%-98%) in the VR group and 62% (IQR 13%-97%) in the control group (P=.35).



Table 3. Precourse Objective Structured Clinical Examination A perfect
--

Steps	Group ^a , n (%)		P value
	Virtual reality (n=90)	Control (n=88)	
Identifies a helper and reviews the emergency plan	7 (8)	16 (18)	.045
Prepares the area for delivery	49 (54)	52 (59)	.55
Washes hands	20 (22)	32 (36)	.048
Prepares ventilation area	44 (49)	38 (43)	.46
Dries thoroughly	55 (61)	54 (61)	>.99
Removes wet cloth	34 (38)	22 (25)	.08
Recognizes baby is not crying	51 (57)	49 (56)	>.99
Positions head and clears airway	77 (86)	57 (65)	.002
Stimulates breathing by rubbing the back	23 (26)	24 (27)	.87
Recognizes baby is crying and breathing well	63 (70)	55 (62)	.34
Clamps or ties and cuts the cord	56 (62)	48 (55)	.36
Communicates with mother	46 (51)	40 (45)	.46

^aIn total, 90 of the 91 participants in the virtual reality group and all 88 participants in the control group had Objective Structured Clinical Examination A results available.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study is the first to demonstrate the feasibility and educational efficacy of using mobile VR simulations and digital manuals as an approach to precourse preparation for health care professionals undergoing neonatal resuscitation training in a low-resource setting. The overall precourse performance on knowledge assessments was higher than the overall precourse performance on skills assessments. Although the precourse mobile VR simulation and the reading of a digital manual prior to training did not result in a substantial number of participants achieving a passing score on the HBB skills assessments that were administered before the session, the use of these materials may promote interest in learning. The group that only reviewed the digital manual demonstrated significantly better performance than the VR group on the OSCE A for the *identifying a helper* and reviewing the emergency plan step (P=.045) and washing hands step (P=.048) However, the performance of the critical positioning the head and clearing the airway step via head tilt to open the airway occurred more frequently in the VR group.

A growing body of evidence from well-designed studies supports the use of simulation to enhance clinical performance [1,8,20,26,27]. The use of VR simulation was associated with changes in stress physiology in a study by Chang et al [28]. Our precourse simulation introduces neonatal resuscitation to participants and may promote interest in learning. It may also save costs and shorten the in-person training time for participants who have already had an immersive experience with the HBB course [10,29].

Using mobile VR simulations can help individuals build skills and confidence for cognitive tasks; thus, such simulations complement formal in-person training that focuses on manikin-based psychomotor tasks, such as BMV [9,30]. The VR group performed better on specific cognitive tasks. Though not statistically significant (P values were >.05 for various tasks; Tables 2 and 3), this incremental benefit demonstrates the potential of VR training to support knowledge and performance skills. Those exposed to the VR simulation demonstrated better knowledge of when a child should be suctioned and other cognitive steps, such as removing the wet cloth and clamping and cutting the cord. They were more likely to recognize when the baby was not crying and when the baby was crying and breathing well. These steps are relevant to quickly initiating neonatal resuscitation and appropriately discontinuing resuscitation when the baby has responded, and they are taught at later points in the in-person HBB course curriculum.

Of note, the *identifying a helper and reviewing the emergency plan* step is featured early in the HBB digital guide, as it is a part of preparing for a delivery; thus, it is possible that this concept was more easily recalled by participants in the control group. Although this concept is also presented in the VR simulation, there is no specific action required by the learner, unlike in other more active elements of the simulation. Featuring a conversational helper in the VR simulation may help to emphasize this aspect of preparing for a delivery.

Communication with the mother is an important element of respectful care [31]. There is evidence that even if health care professionals are skilled in managing pregnancy and birth complications, women may refuse to seek care and discourage others from doing so when they have previously experienced disrespectful care [32]. Manikin-based simulations and VR simulations have been used to teach nontechnical skills and have been shown to improve communication attitudes [27,33,34]. We found that participants in the VR group communicated with the mother with greater frequency during the OSCE evaluation, thereby demonstrating that they recognized the importance of prospectively providing information and engaging with the mother via effective

communication, which are essential elements of respectful care [32].

This study demonstrated the feasibility of using mobile VR simulations for precourse training on neonatal resuscitation in a low-resource setting. Computer-based training simulations, such as HeartCode Pediatric Acute Life Support and the Neonatal Resuscitation Program eSim programs, have been used to complement in-person courses in high-resource settings, with participants being assigned to perform the computer-based simulations up to 1 month before attending in-person courses [9,35,36]. Although simulation laboratories and equipment are lacking [37], the broad use of mobile devices in LMICs supports the need for innovations in the design and distribution of simulation education materials on mobile devices for self-directed learning [9,24]. Nearly all of the participants in our study (163/179, 91%) owned a smartphone. Mobile VR simulations are more accessible to learners than manikin-based simulations or computer-based simulations in low-resource settings, where mobile phones are widely used [23,24,38]. As the receptiveness to VR training is high, spending additional time in individualized precourse exposure may improve learners' performance [39-41].

Limitations to This Study

Some limitations may affect the interpretation of our results. First, although it would have been reasonable to conduct a baseline skills assessment prior to and after introducing the digital interventions to participants, this analysis was not preplanned, and due to the logistical constraints posed by

multiple assessments, we performed precourse assessments in both the VR and control groups after their exposure to the digital interventions but prior to the in-person course. Second, although the VR scenarios were brief and could be completed within 3 to 5 minutes, the minimum time (20 minutes) allotted for digital intervention familiarization prior to the precourse knowledge and skills assessments may not have permitted participants to experience the full impact of the interventions. Increasing the pretraining VR exposure time may optimize learning and reduce in-person training time. Finally, mobile VR simulations may be more suitable for gaining cognitive skills and less suitable for gaining psychomotor skills or learning how to perform manual tasks. Nevertheless, this study provides a possible insight into the relative contribution of precourse exposure and the feasibility of undergoing a mobile VR simulation prior to neonatal resuscitation training in an LMIC setting. Future studies should explore the potential for cost savings or shorter in-person training times for participants who have already been exposed (ie, immersive exposure) to the HBB course content prior to the in-person training [10,29].

Conclusions

The use of digital interventions, such as mobile VR, is feasible and may be a viable approach to precourse preparation in neonatal resuscitation training for health care professionals in LMICs. The role of mobile VR simulation should be further evaluated in the context of training health care professionals in low-resource settings, particularly when access to in-person training with manikin-based simulations is limited.

Data Availability

Data are available on reasonable request. Deidentified data are available on request from RU (nestprog@uw.edu).

Conflicts of Interest

RU and CP developed the eHBB VR app. SB and SP developed the mHBS/DHIS2 app. All other coauthors have no conflicts of interest to disclose that are relevant to this article.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Helping Babies Breathe 2 virtual reality app demo (2020). [DOCX File, 70 KB - mededu_v8i3e37297_app1.docx]

References

- Garvey AA, Dempsey EM. Simulation in neonatal resuscitation. Front Pediatr 2020 Feb 25;8:59 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fped.2020.00059] [Medline: 32158737]
- Perin J, Mulick A, Yeung D, Villavicencio F, Lopez G, Strong KL, et al. Global, regional, and national causes of under-5 mortality in 2000-19: an updated systematic analysis with implications for the Sustainable Development Goals. Lancet Child Adolesc Health 2022 Feb;6(2):106-115 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(21)00311-4] [Medline: 34800370]
- Reisman J, Arlington L, Jensen L, Louis H, Suarez-Rebling D, Nelson BD. Newborn resuscitation training in resource-limited settings: A systematic literature review. Pediatrics 2016 Aug;138(2):e20154490. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2015-4490</u>] [Medline: <u>27388500</u>]
- 4. Pammi M, Dempsey EM, Ryan CA, Barrington KJ. Newborn resuscitation training programmes reduce early neonatal mortality. Neonatology 2016;110(3):210-224 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000443875] [Medline: 27222260]
- 5. Matendo R, Engmann C, Ditekemena J, Gado J, Tshefu A, Kinoshita R, et al. Reduced perinatal mortality following enhanced training of birth attendants in the Democratic Republic of Congo: a time-dependent effect. BMC Med 2011 Aug 04;9:93 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-9-93] [Medline: 21816050]

- 6. Neonatal mortality. UNICEF Data. 2021 Dec. URL: <u>https://data.unicef.org/topic/child-survival/neonatal-mortality/</u>[accessed 2022-08-17]
- Niermeyer S. From the Neonatal Resuscitation Program to Helping Babies Breathe: Global impact of educational programs in neonatal resuscitation. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med 2015 Oct;20(5):300-308. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.siny.2015.06.005</u>] [Medline: <u>26265602</u>]
- Bucher SL, Cardellichio P, Muinga N, Patterson JK, Thukral A, Deorari AK, et al. Digital health innovations, tools, and resources to support Helping Babies Survive programs. Pediatrics 2020 Oct;146(Suppl 2):S165-S182. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2020-016915I] [Medline: 33004639]
- Ghoman SK, Patel SD, Cutumisu M, von Hauff P, Jeffery T, Brown MRG, et al. Serious games, a game changer in teaching neonatal resuscitation? A review. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2020 Jan;105(1):98-107 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2019-317011] [Medline: 31256010]
- 10. Rogers S. Virtual reality: The learning aid of the 21st century. Forbes. 2019 Mar 15. URL: <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/solrogers/2019/03/15/virtual-reality-the-learning-aid-of-the-21st-century/?sh=21c1dbd1139b</u> [accessed 2021-11-24]
- 11. Radianti J, Majchrzak TA, Fromm J, Wohlgenannt I. A systematic review of immersive virtual reality applications for higher education: Design elements, lessons learned, and research agenda. Comput Educ 2020 Apr;147:103778 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2019.103778]
- 12. Sheik-Ali S, Edgcombe H, Paton C. Next-generation virtual and augmented reality in surgical education: A narrative review. Surg Technol Int 2019 Nov 10;35:27-35. [Medline: <u>31498872</u>]
- Vishwanath A, Kam M, Kumar N. Examining low-cost virtual reality for learning in low-resource environments. 2017 Jun Presented at: DIS '17: Designing Interactive Systems Conference 2017; June 10-14, 2017; Edinburgh, United Kingdom p. 1277-1281. [doi: 10.1145/3064663.3064696]
- 14. Murphy AA, Halamek LP. Educational perspectives: Simulation-based training in neonatal resuscitation. Neoreviews 2005;6(11):e489-e492. [doi: 10.1542/neo.6-11-e489]
- 15. Waggoner Z. My Avatar, My Self: Identity in Video Role-Playing Games. Jefferson, NC: McFarland & Company; 2009.
- 16. Parsons TD, Rizzo AA. Affective outcomes of virtual reality exposure therapy for anxiety and specific phobias: a meta-analysis. J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry 2008 Sep;39(3):250-261. [doi: 10.1016/j.jbtep.2007.07.007] [Medline: 17720136]
- 17. Seymour NE. VR to OR: a review of the evidence that virtual reality simulation improves operating room performance. World J Surg 2008 Feb;32(2):182-188. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00268-007-9307-9</u>] [Medline: <u>18060453</u>]
- 18. Robb A, White C, Cordar A, Wendling A, Lampotang S, Lok B. A comparison of speaking up behavior during conflict with real and virtual humans. Comput Human Behav 2015 Nov;52:12-21. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.chb.2015.05.043</u>]
- Shorey S, Ng ED. The use of virtual reality simulation among nursing students and registered nurses: A systematic review. Nurse Educ Today 2021 Mar;98:104662. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.nedt.2020.104662</u>] [Medline: <u>33203545</u>]
- 20. Sitzmann T. A meta-analytic examination of the instructional effectiveness of computer-based simulation games. Pers Psychol 2011 May 27;64(1):489-528. [doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6570.2011.01190.x]
- 21. Nagunwa TP, Lwoga ET. Developing an eLearning strategy to implement medical competency based curricula: Experiences from Muhimbili University of Health and Allied Sciences. Int J Educ Dev Using Inf Commun Technol 2012;8(3):7-21 [FREE Full text]
- 22. Umoren RA, Bucher S, Purkayastha S, Ezeaka C, Esamai F, Mairami A, et al. eHBB/mHBS-DHIS2: mobile virtual reality provider training in Helping Babies Breathe. Pediatrics 2020 Jul;146(1_MeetingAbstract):290-292 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.146.1MA4.290]
- 23. Subscriber data. Nigerian Communications Commission. URL: <u>https://www.ncc.gov.ng/statistics-reports/subscriber-data</u> [accessed 2021-11-24]
- 24. Umoren R, Bucher S, Hippe DS, Ezenwa BN, Fajolu IB, Okwako FM, et al. eHBB: a randomised controlled trial of virtual reality or video for neonatal resuscitation refresher training in healthcare workers in resource-scarce settings. BMJ Open 2021 Aug 25;11(8):e048506 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-048506] [Medline: 34433598]
- 25. Bucher S, Meyers E, Kshatriya BSA, Avanigadda PC, Purkayastha S. Development of an innovative mobile phone-based newborn care training application. In: Innovations in Bio-Inspired Computing and Applications. 2019 May 21 Presented at: 9th International Conference on Innovations in Bio-Inspired Computing and Applications (IBICA 2018); December 17-19, 2018; Kochi, India p. 361-374. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-16681-6_36]
- Umoren R, Ezeaka VC, Fajolu IB, Ezenwa BN, Akintan P, Chukwu E, et al. Perspectives on simulation-based training from paediatric healthcare providers in Nigeria: a national survey. BMJ Open 2020 Feb 10;10(2):e034029 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-034029] [Medline: 32047019]
- 27. Bender J, Kennally K, Shields R, Overly F. Does simulation booster impact retention of resuscitation procedural skills and teamwork? J Perinatol 2014 Sep;34(9):664-668. [doi: 10.1038/jp.2014.72] [Medline: 24762413]
- Chang TP, Hollinger T, Dolby T, Sherman JM. Development and considerations for virtual reality simulations for resuscitation training and stress inoculation. Simul Healthc 2021 Dec 01;16(6):e219-e226. [doi: <u>10.1097/SIH.00000000000521</u>] [Medline: <u>33273419</u>]
- 29. Krokos E, Plaisant C, Varshney A. Virtual memory palaces: immersion aids recall. Virtual Real 2018 May 16;23(1):1-15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10055-018-0346-3]

- Horwood C, Haskins L, Luthuli S, McKerrow N. Communication between mothers and health workers is important for quality of newborn care: a qualitative study in neonatal units in district hospitals in South Africa. BMC Pediatr 2019 Dec 16;19(1):496 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12887-019-1874-z] [Medline: 31842824]
- 31. Nassar AK, Al-Manaseer F, Knowlton LM, Tuma F. Virtual reality (VR) as a simulation modality for technical skills acquisition. Ann Med Surg (Lond) 2021 Nov 27;71:102945. [doi: 10.1016/j.amsu.2021.102945] [Medline: 34840738]
- 32. Shakibazadeh E, Namadian M, Bohren MA, Vogel JP, Rashidian A, Pileggi VN, et al. Respectful care during childbirth in health facilities globally: a qualitative evidence synthesis. BJOG 2018 Jul;125(8):932-942 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.15015] [Medline: 29117644]
- Sweigart LI, Umoren RA, Scott PJ, Carlton KH, Jones JA, Truman B, et al. Virtual TeamSTEPPS(®) simulations produce teamwork attitude changes among health professions students. J Nurs Educ 2016 Jan;55(1):31-35. [doi: 10.3928/01484834-20151214-08] [Medline: 26812380]
- 34. Bracq MS, Michinov E, Jannin P. Virtual reality simulation in nontechnical skills training for healthcare professionals: A systematic review. Simul Healthc 2019 Jun;14(3):188-194. [doi: 10.1097/SIH.00000000000347] [Medline: 30601464]
- Sawyer T, Umoren RA, Gray MM. Neonatal resuscitation: advances in training and practice. Adv Med Educ Pract 2016 Dec 23;8:11-19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/AMEP.S109099] [Medline: 28096704]
- 36. Gray MM, Umoren RA, Josephsen J, Chitkara R, Strand M, Ramachandran S, et al. Gaps in neonatal provider performance on standardized simulations: A report from the NRP eSim study. Pediatrics 2020;146(1_MeetingAbstract):375-377 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.146.1MA4.375]
- 37. Turkot O, Banks MC, Lee SW, Dodson A, Duarte S, Kaino M, et al. A review of anesthesia simulation in low-income countries. Curr Anesthesiol Rep 2019 Feb 28;9(1):1-9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40140-019-00305-4]
- Frehywot S, Vovides Y, Talib Z, Mikhail N, Ross H, Wohltjen H, et al. E-learning in medical education in resource constrained low- and middle-income countries. Hum Resour Health 2013 Feb 04;11:4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1478-4491-11-4] [Medline: 23379467]
- 39. Lange AK, Koch J, Beck A, Neugebauer T, Watzema F, Wrona KJ, et al. Learning with virtual reality in nursing education: Qualitative interview study among nursing students using the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology model. JMIR Nurs 2020 Sep 01;3(1):e20249 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/20249] [Medline: 34345791]
- 40. Moore N, Yoo S, Poronnik P, Brown M, Ahmadpour N. Exploring user needs in the development of a virtual reality-based advanced life support training platform: Exploratory usability study. JMIR Serious Games 2020 Aug 07;8(3):e20797 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/20797] [Medline: 32763877]
- 41. Kyaw BM, Saxena N, Posadzki P, Vseteckova J, Nikolaou CK, George PP, et al. Virtual reality for health professions education: Systematic review and meta-analysis by the Digital Health Education Collaboration. J Med Internet Res 2019 Jan 22;21(1):e12959 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12959] [Medline: 30668519]

Abbreviations

BMV: bag and mask ventilation DHIS2: District Health Information Software 2 eHBB: electronic Helping Babies Breathe HBB: Helping Babies Breathe LMIC: low- and middle-income country mHBS: mobile Helping Babies Survive mHBS/DHIS2: mobile Helping Babies Survive powered by District Health Information Software 2 OSCE: Objective Structured Clinical Examination VR: virtual reality

Edited by T Leung; submitted 15.02.22; peer-reviewed by E Andrikopoulou, S Jung, Y Cao, X Wu; comments to author 27.06.22; revised version received 14.07.22; accepted 31.07.22; published 12.09.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Ezenwa BN, Umoren R, Fajolu IB, Hippe DS, Bucher S, Purkayastha S, Okwako F, Esamai F, Feltner JB, Olawuyi O, Mmboga A, Nafula MC, Paton C, Ezeaka VC Using Mobile Virtual Reality Simulation to Prepare for In-Person Helping Babies Breathe Training: Secondary Analysis of a Randomized Controlled Trial (the eHBB/mHBS Trial) JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e37297 URL: <u>https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e37297</u> doi:10.2196/37297 PMID:<u>36094807</u>



©Beatrice Nkolika Ezenwa, Rachel Umoren, Iretiola Bamikeolu Fajolu, Daniel S Hippe, Sherri Bucher, Saptarshi Purkayastha, Felicitas Okwako, Fabian Esamai, John B Feltner, Olubukola Olawuyi, Annet Mmboga, Mary Concepta Nafula, Chris Paton, Veronica Chinyere Ezeaka. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (https://mededu.jmir.org), 12.09.2022. This is an terms of open-access article distributed under the the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Comparing the Psychological Effects of Manikin-Based and Augmented Reality–Based Simulation Training: Within-Subjects Crossover Study

Shannon Toohey¹, MA, MD; Alisa Wray¹, MA, MD; John Hunter², PhD; Ian Waldrop², BA; Soheil Saadat¹, MD, MPH, PhD; Megan Boysen-Osborn¹, MHPE, MD; Gabriel Sudario¹, MD; Jonathan Smart¹, MD; Warren Wiechmann¹, MBA, MD; Sarah D Pressman², PhD

¹Department of Emergency Medicine, University of California, Irvine, Orange, CA, United States ²Department of Psychological Science, University of California, Irvine, Irvine, CA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Shannon Toohey, MA, MD Department of Emergency Medicine University of California, Irvine City Tower, Ste 640, Rt 128-01 Orange, CA, 92868 United States Phone: 1 805 501 9674 Email: <u>stoohey@hs.uci.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Patient simulators are an increasingly important part of medical training. They have been shown to be effective in teaching procedural skills, medical knowledge, and clinical decision-making. Recently, virtual and augmented reality simulators are being produced, but there is no research on whether these more realistic experiences cause problematic and greater stress responses as compared to standard manikin simulators.

Objective: The purpose of this research is to examine the psychological and physiological effects of augmented reality (AR) in medical simulation training as compared to traditional manikin simulations.

Methods: A within-subjects experimental design was used to assess the responses of medical students (N=89) as they completed simulated (using either manikin or AR) pediatric resuscitations. Baseline measures of psychological well-being, salivary cortisol, and galvanic skin response (GSR) were taken before the simulations began. Continuous GSR assessments throughout and after the simulations were captured along with follow-up measures of emotion and cortisol. Participants also wrote freely about their experience with each simulation, and narratives were coded for emotional word use.

Results: Of the total 86 medical students who participated, 37 (43%) were male and 49 (57%) were female, with a mean age of 25.2 (SD 2.09, range 22-30) years and 24.7 (SD 2.08, range 23-36) years, respectively. GSR was higher in the manikin group adjusted for day, sex, and medications taken by the participants (AR-manikin: -0.11, 95% CI -0.18 to -0.03; P=.009). The difference in negative affect between simulation types was not statistically significant (AR-manikin: 0.41, 95% CI -0.72 to 1.53; P=.48). There was no statistically significant difference between simulation types in self-reported stress (AR-manikin: 0.53, 95% CI -2.35 to 3.42; P=.71) or simulation stress (AR-manikin: -2.17, 95% CI -6.94 to 2.59; P=.37). The difference in percentage of positive emotion words used to describe the experience was not statistically significant between simulation types, which were adjusted for day of experiment, sex of the participants, and total number of words used (AR-manikin: -4.0, 95% CI -0.91 to 0.10; P=.12). There was no statistically significant difference between simulation types in terms of the percentage of negative emotion words used to describe the experience between simulation types in terms of the percentage of negative emotion words used to describe the experience (AR-manikin: -0.33, 95% CI -1.12 to 0.46; P=.41), simulation sickness (AR-manikin: 0.17, 95% CI -0.29 to 0.62; P=.47), or salivary cortisol (AR-manikin: 0.04, 95% CI -0.05 to 0.13; P=.41). Finally, preexisting levels of posttraumatic stress disorder, perceived stress, and reported depression were not tied to physiological responses to AR.

Conclusions: AR simulators elicited similar stress responses to currently used manikin-based simulators, and we did not find any evidence of AR simulators causing excessive stress to participants. Therefore, AR simulators are a promising tool to be used in medical training, which can provide more emotionally realistic scenarios without the risk of additional harm.

KEYWORDS

augmented reality; AR; salivary cortisol; galvanic skin conductance; medical simulation; medical education

Introduction

Patient simulators have demonstrated improved learning outcomes in medical training [1-4]. Consequently, over the past decade, the use of simulators has become an increasingly important and prominent part of medical training. These include mechanical manikins (ie, Laerdal SimMan) and the "buddy" system in which a fellow student pretends to be a patient. High-fidelity simulation has been defined as "an opportunity to interact within a realistic clinical environment able to reproduce a wide range of clinical conditions" [5]. The Laerdal SimMan varies by model but is capable of showing respiration, seizures, pupillary changes, auscultatable breath sounds and heart sounds, as well as palpable pulses. However, there is no literature on how realistic these methods are and whether they provoke a realistic emotional response comparable to true emergency medical scenarios in trainees. As such, they may not adequately support the development of critical decision-making behaviors in highly emotional contexts.

To address this lack of realistic emotional context, there has been movement toward using augmented reality (AR) approaches that may substantially improve realism. AR simulation has been increasingly used in medical education over the last decade [6-8]. Most studies regarding AR in medical education focus on the development and initial evaluation of utility and feasibility, particularly in surgical and anatomical education [9-12]. The MedCognition AR system, PerSim, is an augmented reality program used for this study. It uses a HoloLens (Microsoft Corp) headset showing the user a virtual patient who can display various physical exam findings and vitals that are subsequently adjusted by the instructor. Physical exam findings that can be shown include seizures, diaphoresis, retractions, respiratory distress, level of consciousness, and cyanosis, which are not well shown on standard mechanical manikins. HoloLens has been previously shown to be effective in teaching medical students [13].

Problematic here is that it is not known if this increased realism evokes a substantially different stress response in learners than traditional simulation modalities. While a small amount of stress can aid learning outcomes [14], excessive stress could be harmful to the health and well-being of medical trainees. This may be particularly problematic for individuals with certain preexisting psychological traits (eg, psychological disorder and past stressful experiences) that may predispose them to more adverse reactions during training simulation scenarios. There are no existing studies evaluating the psychological or physiological stress response that AR may evoke in learners when used for medical education simulations, and thus, there is a need for systematic evaluation of the educational and safety features of these AR simulations.

There are a variety of ways to assess the physical impact of AR as compared to past manikin approaches. Responses to acute

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e36447
```

stress, physiologically, are most typically mapped by either the sympathetic response (a general physiological fight-or-flight prepares the body change that for action) or hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis activity, which directs a range of hormonal and immune changes in the body [15]. While acute changes are considered adaptive in the face of stress, especially when recovery is swift, at high or prolonged elevated levels, dysfunctions in these systems can lead to health problems. In human studies, HPA axis activity is most typically gauged by salivary cortisol levels, long considered a gold standard marker of acute stress [16]. Similarly, markers of sympathetic activity (eg, galvanic skin responses [GSR]) [17] in response to stressful stimulation have long been considered biomarkers of stress, cognitive load, and attention [18-20].

From the psychological perspective, there are a host of approaches that can assess how AR fares in terms of altering the well-being of those using it. Most obviously, researchers studying acute stressors focus on self-reported measures of acute stress, but also emotional changes such as an increase in negative emotions (eg, fear, anxiety, and sadness) and a decrease in positive emotions (eg, calm and happiness). While some studies have found well-being benefits from the use of certain AR games, the concern is that the negative emotional impact could be severe in medical simulations that depict realistic illness and even death [21,22]. Therefore, we conjectured that assessing both physical and psychological responses to the simulations, as well as less obvious self-report approaches (eg, approaches that detect emotion without overtly asking), is key given the possibility that demand characteristics may alter the ability to identify changes in well-being (eg, medical students may feel uncomfortable admitting feelings of depression or stress, especially in the presence of other students and instructors). This echoes previous calls for multimethod approaches in well-being research [23].

One final important consideration of using emotionally realistic depictions of a traumatic event in AR is the possibility that preexisting psychological experiences may make the simulation more damaging. For example, do individuals coming into a simulation with a history of trauma or depression face potentially aversive psychological or physiological responses, and should these preexisting characteristics be considered risk factors for the use of AR? Past research has not examined this question specifically; however, research has clearly shown that past trauma can be a risk factor for numerous future health and stress concerns [24], and the same can be said for past major stressors and other psychological traits that can similarly predict future disorder [25]. This is thought to be due to individuals with risks such as past traumas resulting in excess stress responses (eg, HPA axis and sympathoadrenal responses), thereby increasing vulnerability to stress-related disease and depression [26-28]. Thus, it is important that with this new approach to teaching, we examine whether certain individuals have excessive stress responses that could be an early indicator of future problems.

XSL•FO

In this study, we hypothesized that the higher-fidelity, more realistic AR simulation would more successfully elicit emotional stress compared to a standard manikin simulator. Specifically, we predicted that the AR simulation would be associated with higher levels of negative emotion and self-rated stress, and lower levels of positive emotion as compared to the manikin simulation. Similarly, we hypothesized that the AR simulation would be tied to higher changes in both GSR and salivary cortisol. Finally, we predicted that preexisting psychological traits would not significantly influence the psychological and physiological responses to the simulation.

Methods

Participants

The study sample consisted of second-year medical students (N=89) at the University of California, Irvine. All 104 students enrolled in Clinical Foundations II were invited to participate in the study via email. Students were evaluated while completing both AR and standard medical simulation cases on mechanical manikins as part of their training. There were no exclusion criteria, and any medical student who wanted to participate was eligible. The participants were compensated for participating with a \$25 Amazon gift card and a free lunch.

Ethics Approval

This study was approved by both the University of California, Irvine Institutional Review Board (HS#2019-5327, approved October 24, 2019) as well as the US Army Medical Research and Material Command Office of Research Protection (e01201.1a, approved March 18, 2020), and the procedures followed were in accordance with the ethical standards of the responsible committee on human experimentation.

Study Design

Study sample size (as well as power) was calculated based on a similar previous study and the median salivary cortisol level differences [12]. Using Mann-Whitney U test and assuming an alpha of .05 and power of 90%, we calculated a sample size of 44. Allowing for data loss, we planned to enroll 72 learners.

The within-subjects crossover study design allowed for comparison of each student's psychologic response and minimized confounding due to variance in the individual psychological responses, as students acted as their own controls. The participants were randomized with a random number generator to complete the first case with either the SimMan or PerSim simulation, and subsequently completed the second case with the other modality.

Procedures

XSL•F() RenderX

Medical students completed similar medical simulation scenarios, 3 weeks apart, on both a manikin-based simulator, SimMan, and on the AR system, PerSim, while measuring psychological parameters and evidence of stress. Participants had all previously been trained on basic operational procedure for the HoloLens headsets, which provided the hardware for the AR simulation. Before participating in the study sessions, the participants were consented and completed a baseline questionnaire from home, which assessed health behaviors, trait affect, and demographic characteristics relevant to controls. Upon arrival on each study day, the participants were instructed as to what to expect (without disclosing the nature of the simulation), outfitted with an ambulatory wrist or hand GSR monitor and provided a resting salivary cortisol sample. Within each study session, students completed 1 of 2 scenarios centered on pediatric resuscitation and subsequent death of the patient: 1 status asthmaticus and 1 pediatric sepsis, both with unstable vital signs requiring acute resuscitation, who ultimately succumbed to their illness regardless of learner actions. These cases were integrated into the medical student curriculum with the objective of covering personal emotional stressors in work and difficult conversations; however, they also allowed maximum specific psychological effects. Scenarios lasted approximately 10 minutes each.

Electrodermal activity was continuously assessed via wrist monitor before, during, and after the scenario to establish baseline, task (stress reactivity), and recovery periods. Additionally, salivary cortisol samples were collected to align with times before, immediately following, and 15 minutes after each simulation. Psychological data (eg, stress and emotion) were collected through surveys administered before and immediately following each simulation session. The postsimulation survey additionally included qualitative debriefing questions related to the passing of the participant and the medical knowledge of the participant.

Measures

Preexisting Psychological Traits

The preexisting psychological traits that could be considered potential risk factors for adverse reactions were assessed via a survey taken at home before participation in the study. These factors included posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), perceived stress, and depression. Posttraumatic stress disorder was assessed self-reported 17-item Posttraumatic with the Stress Disorder-Civilian Checklist, which assesses PTSD symptoms based closely on Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorder, 4th edition criteria [29]. Perceived stress was assessed via the 10-item Perceived Stress Scale [30], which assesses perceptions of stress over the past month. Depression was assessed via the 10-item Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale Revised, which measures the prevalence of depression symptoms over the past week [31].

Self-reported Stress

To measure the perceived stress responses induced from the simulation, slider scales ranging from 1 to 100 were used to capture stress levels before and after the simulation [32]. Participants were asked, "How stressed do you feel right now?" The higher scores indicated more stress.

Emotion

State Affect

To assess the affective responses to these scenarios, we measured state emotion change (from before to after simulation) using items drawn from the positive and negative affect schedule (PANAS) [33]. Positive and negative affect subscales within the PANAS were used to create variables for positive and

negative affect. Mean scores were then calculated for positive and negative affect by using subscales within the PANAS, yielding a positive and negative affect score respectively for each time point.

Positive and Negative Word Use

Positive and negative emotion were also assessed via open-answer (qualitative) debriefing surveys following the simulation experiences. These surveys were coded using the Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count program, a validated text analysis software that is widely used in psychological research [34] to count the types of words used in narrative samples. For this study, we used the default positive and negative emotion dictionaries to procure measures tapping the percentage of words of these types in the open responses from participants. This analysis provides an indirect approach to tap the emotional experience of using study simulations.

Physiological Stress

Salivary Cortisol

Salivary cortisol levels, a known biological correlate of psychological stress [35-37], were monitored throughout the simulations. Samples were collected via the passive drool technique with polypropylene cryovial salivettes at 3 time points that accounted for the lag between biological stress response and hormonal detection in saliva to provide cortisol levels. Timepoints were (1) baseline (before simulation), (2) reactivity (during simulation), and (3) recovery (15 minutes after simulation). Experimental sessions were scheduled between 12 PM and 5 PM to account for the diurnal rhythm of cortisol. Salivettes were stored at -80 °C until batch analysis at the end of data collection at the laboratory of the Institute for Interdisciplinary Salivary Bioscience Research (University of California Irvine, Irvine, CA). Before assaying, the samples were thawed for an hour to return to room temperature. All samples were assayed in duplicate using an expanded-range high-sensitivity salivary cortisol enzyme immunoassay kit (Salimetrics, LLC; State College, PA). The assay range of sensitivity was 0.007 ug/dl to 3.0 ug/dl, and the average intra-assay coefficient of variation was 5.5%.

Galvanic Skin Response

The GSR data were collected via a small unobtrusive device (Shimmer3) that was monitored by the researchers throughout the simulations. The device was placed on a wristband that was fastened to participants' wrists prior to the start of study tasks. To collect GSR data, the device had 2 wires that extended from the hardware and was attached to participants' palms via 2 electrodes and an additional medical tape when needed to ensure secure connection and a good signal.

Researchers monitored the GSR data using Bluetooth connectivity through a laptop and took notes of any artifacts that could cause spikes in GSR data unrelated to the simulation, such as coughing, external noises, and so on [17]. Additionally, researchers made note of participants who had connectivity issues (eg, due to exceptionally sweaty palms). All these potential artifacts were accounted for during the data cleaning process using an electrodermal activity Analysis application from MindWare Technologies. GSR means were used in the

analyses by obtaining the average GSR score for the baseline and reactivity of each simulation session.

Simulation Sickness Questionnaire

Adverse side effects were measured with the Simulator Sickness Questionnaire [38,39], a 16-item validated measurement for simulation side effects that have been previously reported in virtual reality literature [40]. This was scored on a scale of 0 to 16 with mean scores calculated and compared with a 2-tailed t test.

Analytic Strategy

Linear mixed model (LMM) for repeated measurements was used for data analysis by using the "MIXED" command in SPSS statistics software (Version 26.0., IBM Corp). Simulation type and time of measurements were considered as fixed effect variables and the participants as random effect variables. A separate LMM analysis was performed for each dependent variable, adjusting for potential confounders accordingly. The correlation between repeated measurements within subjects was considered as "unstructured." A square root transformation was applied to the Mean GSR and Simulator Sickness Questionnaire, and natural logarithm transformation was applied to cortisol before LMM analysis. A P value of less than .05 was considered statistically significant. The changes in outcome measures are presented as mean change (95% CI; P value). Similarly, the differences in outcome measures between AR and Manikin simulations are presented as mean (AR-manikin: 95% CI of mean difference; P value).

To examine whether perceived stress, depression, and PTSD modify the effect of AR on cortisol and GSR, an LMM analysis was applied to AR data only by including the potential effect modifiers. If the P value of a potential effect modifier was greater than .05, its effect modification on the association between AR and dependent variables was excluded.

We first report the psychological impact of the simulations, followed by the physiological impact. Finally, we briefly examine whether there was evidence of moderation due to preexisting psychological traits.

Results

Of a total of 104 possible participants, 88 (85%) participated. Of these 88 participants, 37 (42%) were male, and 51 (58%) were female medical students with a mean age of 25.2 (SD 2.09, range 22-30) and 24.7 (SD 2.08, range 23-36), respectively.

Psychological Responses to Simulations

Negative affect showed an increase of 4.68 (3.57-5.79; P<.001) with manikin, and 5.08 (3.96-6.21; P<.001) with AR simulation (Table 1). However, the difference between simulation types was not statistically significant, and was adjusted for the day of experiment (AR-manikin: 0.41, 95% CI –0.72 to 1.53; P=.48). Similarly, self-reported stress showed an increase of 12.21 (9.53-14.90; P<.001) with manikin and 12.75 (10.03-15.47; P<.001) with AR simulations (Table 1). However, the difference between simulation types was not statistically significant, and was adjusted for day of experiment and sex of participants (AR-manikin: 0.53, 95% CI –2.35 to 3.42; P=.71). Simulation

stress (Figure 1) was higher on day 1 compared to day 2 (day 2 minus day 1: -5.29, 95% CI -10.06 to -0.52; P=.03; Table 1); however, the difference between the simulation types was not statistically significant and was adjusted for day of experiment and sex of the participants (AR-manikin: -2.17, 95% CI -6.94 to 2.59; P=.37). Stress also reached a higher maximum on day 1 (day 2 minus day 1: -6.60, 95% CI -10.49 to -2.72; P=.001; Table 1), but this was not related to simulation type after adjusting for day and sex (AR-manikin: -3.02, 95% CI -6.83 to 0.80; P=.12). Finally, when examining the open-ended responses to the simulations, there was no statistically significant difference in the percentage of negative

emotion word use between simulation types, adjusted for day of experiment, sex, and the word count for Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count (AR-manikin: 0.33, 95% CI -1.12 to 0.46; P=.41).

The percentage of positive emotion words used in the narrative descriptions was higher on the first day of simulations (day 2 minus day 1: -0.64, 95% CI -1.18 to -0.10; P=.02; Table 1) but there was no statistically significant difference between the simulation types in terms of the percentage of positive emotion words use, which was adjusted for day of experiment, sex of the participants, and total number of words used (AR-manikin: -0.40, 95% CI -0.91 to 0.10; P=.12).

Table 1. Psychologic responses to simulation.

Measurement and simulation		Measurement time				
		Day 1		Day 2		
		Before simulation	After simulation	Before simulation	After simulation	
Negative	e affect, mean (SD)	·	·		·	
	Manikin	14.6 (3.38)	20.5 (5.83)	15.0 (4.35)	18.8 (5.91)	
	AR ^a	13.5 (2.51)	20.7 (6.44)	14.8 (5.20)	18.4 (6.11)	
Self-repo	orted stress, mean (SD)					
	Manikin	44.2 (23.24)	57.8 (23.57)	45.1 (19.82)	56.3 (20.14)	
	AR	38.2 (17.87)	54.3 (19.11)	47.5 (27.12)	58.0 (24.72)	
Simulati	on stress, mean (SD)					
	Manikin	N/A ^b	62.6 (21.23)	N/A	53.1 (23.00)	
	AR	N/A	56.3 (22.28)	N/A	55.1 (22.34)	
Maximu	m stress, mean (SD)					
	Manikin	N/A	72.4 (19.19)	N/A	60.0 (24.16)	
	AR	N/A	64.3 (22.22)	N/A	63.0 (23.29)	
Negative	e emotion words (%), mean (SD)					
	Manikin	N/A	6.2 (3.17)	N/A	7.3 (4.10)	
	AR	N/A	6.4 (2.98)	N/A	6.6 (2.67)	
Positive	emotion words (%), mean (SD)					
	Manikin	N/A	3.0 (1.81)	N/A	2.5 (1.59)	
	AR	N/A	2.7 (1.84)	N/A	2.1 (2.06)	
Galvanic skin response ($\sqrt{\mu}S$), mean (SD)						
	Manikin	12.9 (8.27)	15.3 (7.67)	11.2 (9.50)	13.6 (7.63)	
	AR	8.8 (6.19)	10.6 (6.11)	12.1 (5.68)	14.1 (4.99)	
Cortisol	(ug/dl), mean (SD)					
	Manikin	0.2 (0.11)	0.1 (0.09)	0.1 (0.09)	0.1 (0.06)	
	AR	0.1 (0.10)	0.1 (0.13)	0.2 (0.10)	0.2 (0.11)	
Simulati (SD)	on sickness symptoms score, mean					
	Manikin	N/A	23.0 (20.59)	N/A	30.2 (25.78)	
	AR	N/A	27.4 (20.58)	N/A	28.1 (24.68)	

^aAR: augmented reality.

^bN/A: not applicable.

https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e36447

Figure 1. Simulation stress: day 1 vs day 2 (means measured on self-reported 100-point Likert scale). AR: augmented reality.



Physiological Responses to Simulation

Manikin and AR simulations were associated with increased GSR (mean change in square root of GSR was 0.38 μ S: 0.31-0.46; *P*<.001 and 0.28: 0.20-0.35; *P*<.001, respectively; Table 1). Interestingly, GSR was higher in the manikin group as compared to AR, adjusted for day, sex, and use of any medication by the participants (AR-manikin: -0.11, 95% CI -0.18 to -0.03; *P*=.009).

There was not a statistically significant difference in the mean cortisol level between the simulation groups (Table 1), which was adjusted for the day of experiment, sex of the participants, use of any medication by the participants, and the time past from wakeup to simulation (AR-manikin: 0.04, 95% CI –0.05 to 0.13; P=.41). Overall, cortisol was higher in male participants (male minus female: 0.22, 95% CI 0.03-0.40; P=.02).

Simulation Sickness Responses

There was not a statistically significant difference in simulation sickness symptoms' score between the simulation groups, which was adjusted for day of experiment and sex of the participants (AR-manikin: 0.17, 95% CI -0.29 to 0.62; P=.47).

Moderating Effect of Preexisting Psychological Traits

PTSD (P=.39), baseline perceived stress (P=.09), and baseline reported depression (P=.51) failed to achieve statistical significance when introduced to the model predicting salivary cortisol or GSR based on AR. Thus, we can conclude that these preexisting psychological traits do not predict adverse stress-related outcomes.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The goal of this study was to examine whether more realistic AR simulations would be a cause for concern because of potentially high stress, emotion, or physiological responses,

https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e36447

especially in a dramatic medical context involving the death of a patient. We did not find a statistically significant difference in the participants' psychological and physiological reactions to AR and standard medical manikin training simulations. Both the manikin and AR simulators elicited emotional (ie, a reduction in positive emotion and an increase in negative emotion) and elevated stress responses during and after the simulations. However, these psychological responses did not significantly differ between the simulation types.

Comparison With Prior Work

This finding is consistent with previous studies, which showed that simulation in medical education can elicit a stress response [41-43] as well as a range of emotional and cognitive changes. As these studies suggest, small stress increases are tied to better learning outcomes, which in turn suggests that both modalities of simulation can have a beneficial effect for learners; however, future studies will need to evaluate the actual learning outcomes. Of note, there was some concern that AR might be associated with a dangerously high level of stress because of the added realism and interactive nature; however, it does not seem to be any more stressful than past medical training approaches (ie, manikin here), adding some indication that dangerous levels of stress are not a concern, at least in this simulation. Further subanalysis examining preexisting trauma, perceived stress, and depression did not show statistically significant differences in stress with AR simulation, suggesting that even those with preexisting psychological conditions may not need to be excluded from AR technology in this type of context. Further, stress and negative emotion reported in these simulations do not appear to be at levels that are different compared to other study averages [44-46].

From the physiological stress perspective, this study shows no significant differences between AR and standard manikin simulation technology, except a small difference where the increase in skin conductance in response to the manikin simulator was significantly higher than that of AR—the opposite

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

of what was anticipated. Cortisol differences, however, were not different across the 2 platforms. This suggests that, contrary to expectations, and despite heightened realism and more animated interactions, the AR approach is psychologically and physically comparable to standard manikin-based simulators, and it is perhaps even slightly less physiologically stressful than past learning modalities.

Given the nature of the simulations involving pediatric deaths, it is not surprising that the overall stress increased during and after each simulation. However, students showed decreased stress levels in their second simulation. Previous studies have shown that stress factors in simulation-based training may help with the acquisition of stress management skills [41]. In addition to stress management skills, it could suggest a desensitization to the simulation regardless of type of simulator. Chang et al [47] suggested that VR simulation could be used to desensitize pediatric physicians from stressful situations based on their study evaluating VR stress response and real-life situations. However, Hardernberg et al [48] showed no decreased stress response in nursing students with repeated simulations, which is contradicted with our results. Decreasing levels of stress response could be very useful for educational purposes and future training for many types of medical practitioners who experience high-stress situations.

Strengths and Limitations

This study is limited as it is a single-site study comparing AR simulation to standard manikin-based simulation. While we attempted to look at multiple evaluators of emotional stress (cortisol, self-reported stress, and electrodermal activity), these still may not have fully captured the stress response of the students. Some students had higher levels of sweat on their palms making GSR data less reliable, as the sensors were more difficult to maintain on their hands. Finally, while we controlled for numerous possible confounders of our biological markers (eg, medication, time of day, and sex), there may be other factors unaccounted for, which may have resulted in bias or noise in the data.

Conclusions and Implications

AR simulators elicited similar stress responses to manikin-based simulators suggesting they are comparable tools for medical education. Furthermore, there was no evidence of AR simulators causing excessive stress to participants at a level different from existing simulation methods. Future research should evaluate whether AR simulators increase learning outcomes or help with desensitization or stress management skills with repeated use. AR technology is relatively new and its ability to elicit a stress response when compared to standard manikin simulation technology could help guide future educational practices and research.

Acknowledgments

This research was funded by Medical Research and Development Command of the US Army (USAMRDC) through the Medical Technology Enterprise Consortium (MTEC). USAMRDC is the US Army's medical material developer, with responsibility for medical research, development, and acquisition. It produces medical solutions for the battlefield with a focus on various areas of biomedical research, including military infectious diseases, combat casualty care, military operational medicine, medical chemical and biological defense, and clinical and rehabilitative medicine [49]. MTEC is a biomedical technology consortium collaborating with multiple government agencies under a 10-year renewable Other Transactional Agreement with the USAMRDC. MTEC is managed by Advanced Technology International [50].

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Kim J, Park J, Shin S. Effectiveness of simulation-based nursing education depending on fidelity: a meta-analysis. BMC Med Educ 2016 May 23;16:152 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12909-016-0672-7] [Medline: 27215280]
- Pascual JL, Holena DN, Vella MA, Palmieri J, Sicoutris C, Selvan B, et al. Short simulation training improves objective skills in established advanced practitioners managing emergencies on the ward and surgical intensive care unit. J Trauma 2011 Aug;71(2):330-7; discussion 337. [doi: 10.1097/TA.0b013e31821f4721] [Medline: 21825935]
- Frost DW, Cavalcanti RB, Toubassi D. Instruction using a high-fidelity cardiopulmonary simulator improves examination skills and resource allocation in family medicine trainees. Simul Healthc 2011 Oct;6(5):278-283. [doi: 10.1097/SIH.0b013e3182207d1c] [Medline: 21642903]
- Maddry JK, Varney SM, Sessions D, Heard K, Thaxton RE, Ganem VJ, et al. A comparison of simulation-based education versus lecture-based instruction for toxicology training in emergency medicine residents. J Med Toxicol 2014 Dec;10(4):364-368 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13181-014-0401-8] [Medline: 24844460]
- Masotta V, Dante A, Marcotullio A, Bertocchi L, La Cerra C, Caponnetto V, et al. The concept of high-fidelity simulation related factors in nursing education: a scoping review. In: Methodologies and Intelligent Systems for Technology Enhanced Learning, 10th International Conference. Workshops. Cham, Switzerland: Springer; 2021:119-126.
- Kamphuis C, Barsom E, Schijven M, Christoph N. Augmented reality in medical education? Perspect Med Educ 2014 Sep;3(4):300-311 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40037-013-0107-7] [Medline: 24464832]

- 7. Herron J. Augmented Reality in Medical Education and Training. Journal of Electronic Resources in Medical Libraries 2016 May 24;13(2):51-55. [doi: 10.1080/15424065.2016.1175987]
- 8. Tang KS, Cheng DL, Mi E, Greenberg PB. Augmented reality in medical education: a systematic review. Can Med Educ J 2020 Mar;11(1):e81-e96 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.36834/cmej.61705] [Medline: 32215146]
- Thomas RG, John NW, Delieu JM. Augmented reality for anatomical education. J Vis Commun Med 2010 Mar;33(1):6-15. [doi: <u>10.3109/17453050903557359</u>] [Medline: <u>20297908</u>]
- Nicholson DT, Chalk C, Funnell WRJ, Daniel SJ. Can virtual reality improve anatomy education? A randomised controlled study of a computer-generated three-dimensional anatomical ear model. Med Educ 2006 Nov;40(11):1081-1087. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2929.2006.02611.x] [Medline: 17054617]
- Zahiri M, Nelson CA, Oleynikov D, Siu K. Evaluation of Augmented Reality Feedback in Surgical Training Environment. Surg Innov 2018 Feb;25(1):81-87. [doi: 10.1177/1553350617739425] [Medline: 29115184]
- 12. Shuhaiber JH. Augmented reality in surgery. Arch Surg 2004 Feb;139(2):170-174. [doi: <u>10.1001/archsurg.139.2.170</u>] [Medline: <u>14769575</u>]
- 13. Moro C, Phelps C, Redmond P, Stromberga Z. HoloLens and mobile augmented reality in medical and health science education: A randomised controlled trial. Br. J. Educ. Technol 2020 Dec 02;52(2):680-694. [doi: 10.1111/bjet.13049]
- Demaria S, Bryson EO, Mooney TJ, Silverstein JH, Reich DL, Bodian C, et al. Adding emotional stressors to training in simulated cardiopulmonary arrest enhances participant performance. Med Educ 2010 Oct;44(10):1006-1015. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2923.2010.03775.x] [Medline: 20880370]
- 15. Russell G, Lightman S. The human stress response. Nat Rev Endocrinol 2019 Sep;15(9):525-534. [doi: 10.1038/s41574-019-0228-0] [Medline: 31249398]
- 16. Dickerson SS, Kemeny ME. Acute stressors and cortisol responses: a theoretical integration and synthesis of laboratory research. Psychol Bull 2004 May;130(3):355-391. [doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.130.3.355] [Medline: 15122924]
- 17. Turpin G, Grandfield T. Electrodermal activity. In: Encyclopedia of Stress. Cambridge, MA, US: Academic Press; 2007:899-902.
- Johannessen E, Szulewski A, Radulovic N, White M, Braund H, Howes D, et al. Psychophysiologic measures of cognitive load in physician team leaders during trauma resuscitation. Computers in Human Behavior 2020 Oct;111:106393. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2020.106393]
- Frith CD, Allen HA. The skin conductance orienting response as an index of attention. Biol Psychol 1983 Aug;17(1):27-39. [doi: <u>10.1016/0301-0511(83)90064-9</u>] [Medline: <u>6626635</u>]
- Sharma M, Kacker S, Sharma M. A Brief Introduction and Review on Galvanic Skin Response. IJMRP 2016 Dec 23;2(6):13-17. [doi: <u>10.21276/ijmrp.2016.2.6.003</u>]
- 21. Ellis LA, Lee MD, Ijaz K, Smith J, Braithwaite J, Yin K. COVID-19 as 'Game Changer' for the Physical Activity and Mental Well-Being of Augmented Reality Game Players During the Pandemic: Mixed Methods Survey Study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Dec 22;22(12):e25117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25117] [Medline: 33284781]
- 22. Harley JM, Lajoie SP, Tressel T, Jarrell A. Fostering positive emotions and history knowledge with location-based augmented reality and tour-guide prompts. Learning and Instruction 2020 Dec;70:101163. [doi: 10.1016/j.learninstruc.2018.09.001]
- Diener E, Pressman SD, Hunter J, Delgadillo-Chase D. If, Why, and When Subjective Well-Being Influences Health, and Future Needed Research. Appl Psychol Health Well Being 2017 Jul;9(2):133-167. [doi: <u>10.1111/aphw.12090</u>] [Medline: <u>28707767</u>]
- 24. Westfall NC, Nemeroff CB. The Preeminence of Early Life Trauma as a Risk Factor for Worsened Long-Term Health Outcomes in Women. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2015 Nov;17(11):90. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11920-015-0625-6</u>] [Medline: <u>26384339</u>]
- Wild J, Smith KV, Thompson E, Béar F, Lommen MJJ, Ehlers A. A prospective study of pre-trauma risk factors for post-traumatic stress disorder and depression. Psychol Med 2016 Sep;46(12):2571-2582 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S0033291716000532] [Medline: 27348599]
- 26. Neigh GN, Gillespie CF, Nemeroff CB. The neurobiological toll of child abuse and neglect. Trauma Violence Abuse 2009 Oct;10(4):389-410 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1524838009339758] [Medline: 19661133]
- Starr LR, Hammen C, Conway CC, Raposa E, Brennan PA. Sensitizing effect of early adversity on depressive reactions to later proximal stress: Moderation by polymorphisms in serotonin transporter and corticotropin releasing hormone receptor genes in a 20-year longitudinal study. Dev Psychopathol 2014 Nov;26(4 Pt 2):1241-1254 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S0954579414000996] [Medline: 25422958]
- Andersen SL, Tomada A, Vincow ES, Valente E, Polcari A, Teicher MH. Preliminary evidence for sensitive periods in the effect of childhood sexual abuse on regional brain development. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 2008;20(3):292-301 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1176/jnp.2008.20.3.292] [Medline: 18806232]
- 29. Wilkins KC, Lang AJ, Norman SB. Synthesis of the psychometric properties of the PTSD checklist (PCL) military, civilian, and specific versions. Depress Anxiety 2011 Jul;28(7):596-606. [doi: 10.1002/da.20837] [Medline: 21681864]
- Cohen S, Kamarck T, Mermelstein R. A global measure of perceived stress. J Health Soc Behav 1983 Dec;24(4):385-396. [Medline: <u>6668417</u>]
- 31. Radloff LS. The CES-D Scale. Applied Psychological Measurement 2016 Jul 26;1(3):385-401. [doi: 10.1177/014662167700100306]

- 32. Lesage F, Berjot S, Deschamps F. Clinical stress assessment using a visual analogue scale. Occup Med (Lond) 2012 Dec;62(8):600-605. [doi: 10.1093/occmed/kqs140] [Medline: 22965867]
- Watson D, Clark LA, Tellegen A. Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: the PANAS scales. J Pers Soc Psychol 1988 Jun;54(6):1063-1070. [doi: <u>10.1037//0022-3514.54.6.1063</u>] [Medline: <u>3397865</u>]
- Tausczik YR, Pennebaker JW. The Psychological Meaning of Words: LIWC and Computerized Text Analysis Methods. Journal of Language and Social Psychology 2009 Dec 08;29(1):24-54. [doi: 10.1177/0261927X09351676]
- Takai N, Yamaguchi M, Aragaki T, Eto K, Uchihashi K, Nishikawa Y. Effect of psychological stress on the salivary cortisol and amylase levels in healthy young adults. Arch Oral Biol 2004 Dec;49(12):963-968. [doi: 10.1016/j.archoralbio.2004.06.007] [Medline: 15485637]
- Alberdi A, Aztiria A, Basarab A. Towards an automatic early stress recognition system for office environments based on multimodal measurements: A review. J Biomed Inform 2016 Feb;59:49-75 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2015.11.007] [Medline: 26621099]
- 37. van Eck M, Berkhof H, Nicolson N, Sulon J. The effects of perceived stress, traits, mood states, and stressful daily events on salivary cortisol. Psychosom Med 1996;58(5):447-458. [doi: <u>10.1097/00006842-199609000-00007</u>] [Medline: <u>8902896</u>]
- 38. Sequeira H, Hot P, Silvert L, Delplanque S. Electrical autonomic correlates of emotion. Int J Psychophysiol 2009 Jan;71(1):50-56. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2008.07.009] [Medline: 18723054]
- 39. Bouchard S, Robillard G, Renaud P. Revising the factor structure of the Simulator Sickness Questionnaire. Annual Review of CyberTherapy and Telemedicine 2007:117-122 [FREE Full text]
- 40. Moro C, Štromberga Z, Raikos A, Stirling A. The effectiveness of virtual and augmented reality in health sciences and medical anatomy. Anat Sci Educ 2017 Nov;10(6):549-559. [doi: 10.1002/ase.1696] [Medline: 28419750]
- Andreatta PB, Hillard M, Krain LP. The impact of stress factors in simulation-based laparoscopic training. Surgery 2010 May;147(5):631-639. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.surg.2009.10.071</u>] [Medline: <u>20414972</u>]
- 42. Dias RD, Scalabrini Neto A. Acute stress in residents during emergency care: a study of personal and situational factors. Stress 2017 May;20(3):241-248. [doi: 10.1080/10253890.2017.1325866] [Medline: 28462597]
- Keitel A, Ringleb M, Schwartges I, Weik U, Picker O, Stockhorst U, et al. Endocrine and psychological stress responses in a simulated emergency situation. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2011 Jan;36(1):98-108. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.psyneuen.2010.06.011</u>] [Medline: <u>20650570</u>]
- 44. Cohen S, Janicki-Deverts D. Who's stressed? Distributions of psychological stress in the United States in probability samples from 1983, 2006 and 2009. J Appl Soc Psychol 2012;42:1320-1334. [doi: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.2012.00900.x]
- 45. Cohen S. Perceived stress in a probability sample of the United States. In: The Social Psychology of Health. Thousand Oaks, California, USA: Sage; 1988:31-67.
- 46. Warttig SL, Forshaw MJ, South J, White AK. New, normative, English-sample data for the Short Form Perceived Stress Scale (PSS-4). J Health Psychol 2013 Dec;18(12):1617-1628. [doi: 10.1177/1359105313508346] [Medline: 24155195]
- 47. Chang TP, Beshay Y, Hollinger T, Sherman JM. Comparisons of Stress Physiology of Providers in Real-Life Resuscitations and Virtual Reality-Simulated Resuscitations. Simul Healthc 2019 Apr;14(2):104-112. [doi: <u>10.1097/SIH.000000000000356</u>] [Medline: <u>30730471</u>]
- Hardenberg J, Rana I, Tori K. Evaluating Impact of Repeated Exposure to High Fidelity Simulation: Skills Acquisition and Stress Levels in Postgraduate Critical Care Nursing Students. Clinical Simulation in Nursing 2020 Nov;48:96-102. [doi: 10.1016/j.ecns.2020.06.002]
- 49. The U.S. Army Medical Research and Development Command. URL: https://mrdc.amedd.army.mil/ [accessed 2022-07-04]
- 50. Medical Technology Enterprise Consortium. URL: http://www.mtec-sc.org/ [accessed 2022-07-03]

Abbreviations

AR: augmented reality
GSR: galvanic skin response
HPA: hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal
LMM: linear mixed model
PANAS: positive and negative affect schedule
PTSD: posttraumatic stress disorder



Edited by T Leung; submitted 14.01.22; peer-reviewed by C Moro, J Egger, J Wilkinson; comments to author 17.03.22; revised version received 27.03.22; accepted 23.06.22; published 01.08.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Toohey S, Wray A, Hunter J, Waldrop I, Saadat S, Boysen-Osborn M, Sudario G, Smart J, Wiechmann W, Pressman SD Comparing the Psychological Effects of Manikin-Based and Augmented Reality–Based Simulation Training: Within-Subjects Crossover Study JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e36447 URL: https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e36447 doi:10.2196/36447 PMID:35916706

©Shannon Toohey, Alisa Wray, John Hunter, Ian Waldrop, Soheil Saadat, Megan Boysen-Osborn, Gabriel Sudario, Jonathan Smart, Warren Wiechmann, Sarah D Pressman. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (https://mededu.jmir.org), 01.08.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Viewpoint

Opioid Use Disorder Education for Students and the Future of Opioid Overdose Treatment

Neha Balapal¹, BSc; Amala Ankem², BA; Saishravan Shyamsundar³, BS; Shuhan He², MD

¹City University of New York School of Medicine, New York, NY, United States

²Lab of Computer Science, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, United States

³Geisinger Commonwealth School of Medicine, Scranton, PA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Neha Balapal, BSc City University of New York School of Medicine 160 Convent Avenue New York, NY, 10031 United States Phone: 1 845 536 0837 Email: <u>nbalapa000@csom.cuny.edu</u>

Abstract

Opioid use disorder (OUD) is a major public health concern in the United States. The opioid crisis has taken hundreds of thousands of lives in the past 20 years, and it is predicted to take millions more. With the rising death tolls, it is essential that health care providers are able to use proper tools to treat OUD efficiently and effectively through medication-assisted treatment (MAT), particularly buprenorphine. Despite changes to buprenorphine regulations making it more accessible, clinicians have been slow to use buprenorphine to treat OUD. We believe that training student clinicians in evidence-based MAT and buprenorphine practices will address the training and competence barriers that hinder clinicians from prescribing buprenorphine to treat OUD. Students are in an ideal position to receive and benefit from this training and influence the medical community to better treat OUD.

(JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e37081) doi:10.2196/37081

KEYWORDS

opioid use disorder; students; buprenorphine; education; public health; opioid; health care providers; healthcare providers; medication-assisted treatment; youth; substance use; opioid agonist; overdose

The opioid epidemic and substance use disorders have long been a major public health crisis in the United States. From 1999 to 2019, there have been approximately 500,000 opioid overdose deaths in the United States [1]. The opioid epidemic has had various social and economic effects on US society, all of which have been recently exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic's influence on the lack of access to treatment and mental health challenges of those with opioid use disorder (OUD). Predicted overdose deaths for the upcoming years offer a grim outlook [2] despite the steady decline of opioid prescribing since 2012 and the all-time low reached in 2020 [3]. The United States may see more than 1.2 million OUD overdose deaths in the upcoming decade if urgent action is not taken [4].

Buprenorphine is a US Food and Drug Administration (FDA)–approved medication used as a medication-assisted treatment (MAT) by acting as a partial opioid agonist. It is used to treat OUD along with a comprehensive treatment program that includes various behavioral therapies and counseling.

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e37081
```

Buprenorphine is a key step toward increasing treatment access for patients with OUD [5]. However, the ability of a clinician to prescribe buprenorphine is contingent upon completion of specialized training and obtaining their "X" designation from the Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA-X). The X waiver was necessary in part because training for opioid overdose treatment and prevention using evidence-based MAT practices allows clinicians to be more prepared to treat patients with OUD. Due to the many accessibility barriers to obtaining an X waiver in the past, only about 7% of physicians in the United States have done so, which limits the ability to care for patients with OUD [6]. Ability to care is further limited in rural areas where there are even fewer buprenorphine-waivered clinicians.

Get Waivered (GW) is a project started in 2017 that aims to address the opioid crisis by encouraging and facilitating more clinicians to get their X waiver. GW's work focuses on behavioral nudges to address the barriers identified as to why clinicians do not obtain their X waiver: (1) absence of a social norm, (2) hassle bias in obtaining the waiver, and (3) a lack of

salience in treating OUD [7]. With the COVID-19 pandemic, social distancing practices have limited accessibility to traditional medical education, including the X waiver training courses. Thus, there has been a movement toward online platforms for medical education. To adapt to these circumstances, GW started delivering and hosting free, nationwide, digitally delivered, and interactive X waiver educational training courses. Therefore, clinicians are able to obtain their X waiver using a live, synchronized, and interactive digital platform while learning evidence-based best practices for buprenorphine prescription.

Despite recent policy changes regarding the X waiver, buprenorphine prescription education is still important for clinicians, especially student clinicians (those enrolled in health care training programs). While the legal barriers may be overcome, clinicians still need the opportunity and motivation to prescribe buprenorphine [8]. To have effective change, clinicians must be properly educated on how to use their waiver and be able to look for prescription opportunities. This training needs to start in undergraduate or medical education settings so that it can create a cultural shift [8]. It has been shown that educational interventions in opioid overdose prevention have led to students being more confident and prepared to act [9], and this can be applied to buprenorphine training as well. There is currently no unified approach to teaching student clinicians about buprenorphine administration, but training would provide meaningful education while also increasing the pool of future buprenorphine-prescribing clinicians [10]. Although medical students cannot use their waiver education until entering their residency programs, they still interact with patients with OUD during clerkship and various clinical experiences; their OUD and buprenorphine knowledge can still be vital for encouraging patients to seek treatment, decreasing stigma surrounding OUD, and encouraging superiors to take action [10]. Thus, X waiver education is still a vital component for combating the opioid epidemic.

In the past few years, there have been several changes made in the practical guidelines for obtaining an X waiver. The initial guidelines in place prior to regulatory changes dictated that a physician could give buprenorphine to a patient experiencing opioid withdrawal in a hospital setting, but prescriptions for buprenorphine in an outpatient or clinic setting require an X waiver. The process to obtain an X waiver required the completion of an 8-hour education training course for physicians and a 24-hour education training course for advanced practice clinicians. In 2016, policy changes led to an expansion of the patient limit from 100 patients after the first-year postwaiver completion to 275 patients [11]. These policy changes also expanded X waiver access to include nurse practitioners and physician assistants; the clinician list of people who can now obtain an X waiver include physicians, nurse practitioners, physician assistants, clinical nurse specialists, certified registered nurse anesthetists, and certified nurse midwives. On January 14, 2021, the US Department of Health and Human Services under the Trump administration announced the elimination of the X waiver requirement altogether for buprenorphine prescription for physicians only [12]. This decision was then canceled under the Biden administration due to legal challenges

that may be faced, and the policy was reverted and eventually changed in April 2021 [13]. As of April 28, 2021, practice guidelines dictate that clinicians can apply for exemption and do not need to undergo the educational training requirement of an X waiver. This process involves submitting a state-issued license, valid registration, and a notice of intent to the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration [5]. The alternative notice-of-intent process only applies to clinicians who are treating \leq 30 patients; providers who wish to treat >30 patients still need to undergo the education training course.

While the policy change in April 2021 has allowed for an unprecedented expansion of the buprenorphine waiver program, the results of this increased access are still forthcoming. A recent study [11] found that while the number of clinicians who can prescribe buprenorphine and buprenorphine prescribing increased in California between 2010 and 2018, it has not necessarily been associated with changes in opioid-related health outcomes. There are still many barriers to adequate OUD treatment including lack of training and support among clinicians, care coordination, cost of treatment, and stigma [11]. Furthermore, even though buprenorphine-prescribing clinicians have increased since 2016, many choose not to be publicly listed, which limits access to treatment since many clinicians may not take new patients [14]. New clinicians have been shown to be slow to use their new buprenorphine prescription abilities, often due to a lack of confidence, fear of the prescription being misused, lack of understanding of addiction, and lack of peer pressure. This has led to very few short-term changes from buprenorphine access expansion [15].

It is imperative that student clinicians (especially medical students and residents) obtain X waivers as part of their educational training. Basic OUD prevention and treatment competence among those licensed to prescribe buprenorphine may lead to a large increase in buprenorphine prescribing and improvement of opioid-related health outcomes. These ideas have been recommended by numerous studies that have indicated that lack of training is one of the foremost barriers to buprenorphine prescription [7]. Many competence and training barriers can be addressed through brief short education and networking opportunities, which is what GW offers. In fact, in 2018, the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration started to provide funding for medical schools willing to adjust their curriculum to fulfill waiver training requirements, but only one school has done so [10]. Some recent pilot studies in the United States have shown that integrating waiver training for medical students does increase knowledge, interest, and confidence in diagnosing and treating OUD [16,17], and calls attention to the need for a standardized, nationwide course, as there is currently none. A key advantage of GW courses is that even though the requirements for buprenorphine prescription have been relaxed, GW can provide mentorship and education in a brief, free, virtual, and interactive setting that boosts confidence and arms clinicians with the tools they need to effectively use their X waiver. Clinicians and student clinicians have the opportunity to interact with professional peers from around the country, which facilitates networking and discussion of shared values and interests. Mentorship and education have been mentioned as the key resources to increase

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

buprenorphine prescribing by clinicians themselves [18]. Furthermore, the availability of remote education has opened the unique possibility of bridging the disparity in provider availability between urban and rural areas.

Student clinicians are in an ideal position to receive buprenorphine prescription training since many of them are already learning about OUD as part of their psychiatric training and can easily benefit from education on clinical applications. Additionally, students can be more easily empowered to bring change into the field of medicine since they are already involved in various advocacy and research campaigns. Student clinicians can be molded to bring a new mindset about OUD treatment into their clinical rotations and their future workplaces, and this has already been seen with the rise of social media platforms discussing medical topics and the popularity of "medical influencers." Implementation of GW courses or similar workshops in the curriculum of medical school, nursing school, and residency training programs have the ability to influence a generational change in the perceptions and feasibility of OUD treatment without requiring significant time or money, a vast difference from previous in-person courses. Now that regulatory policies have been relaxed, it is high time to address the other barriers to evidence-based OUD treatment and make meaningful changes. The future of mitigating the opioid crisis lies in using innovative, broad-reaching networks like social media and behavioral nudges to enhance education and connection among clinicians, and GW is in an ideal position to bring about that change.

Acknowledgments

This work was funded by the Foundation for Opioid Response Efforts (FORE).

The views and conclusions expressed in this paper are those of the authors and should not be interpreted as representing the official policies or stance, either expressed or implied, of the FORE. The FORE is authorized to reproduce and distribute reprints for Foundation purposes notwithstanding any copyright notation hereon.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Understanding the opioid overdose epidemic. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2021 Mar 17. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/opioids/basics/epidemic.html</u> [accessed 2021-12-27]
- 2. Provisional drug overdose death counts. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2021 Dec 15. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nvss/vsrr/drug-overdose-data.htm</u> [accessed 2022-01-04]
- 3. US opioid dispensing rate maps. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2021 Nov 10. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/</u><u>drugoverdose/rxrate-maps/index.html</u> [accessed 2022-01-04]
- 4. Humphreys K, Shover CL, Andrews CM, Bohnert ASB, Brandeau ML, Caulkins JP, et al. Responding to the opioid crisis in North America and beyond: recommendations of the Stanford–Lancet Commission. The Lancet 2022 Feb;399(10324):555-604. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(21)02252-2]
- 5. Buprenorphine. SAMHSA. URL: <u>https://www.samhsa.gov/medication-assisted-treatment/</u> medications-counseling-related-conditions/buprenorphine [accessed 2021-12-27]
- 6. Practitioner and program data. SAMHSA. URL: <u>https://www.samhsa.gov/medication-assisted-treatment/practitioner-resources/</u> DATA-program-data [accessed 2022-01-04]
- Martin A, Baugh J, Chavez T, Leifer J, Kao L, Dutta S, et al. Clinician experience of nudges to increase ED OUD treatment. Am J Emerg Med 2020 Oct;38(10):2241-2242. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ajem.2020.03.050</u>] [Medline: <u>32546321</u>]
- Russell HA, Sanders M, Meyer JKV, Loomis E, Mullaney T, Fiscella K. Increasing access to medications for opioid use disorder in primary care: removing the training requirement may not be enough. J Am Board Fam Med 2021 Nov 12;34(6):1212-1215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3122/jabfm.2021.06.210209] [Medline: 34772776]
- Oldfield BJ, Tetrault JM, Wilkins KM, Edelman EJ, Capurso NA. Opioid overdose prevention education for medical students: adopting harm reduction into mandatory clerkship curricula. Subst Abus 2020 Jun 18;41(1):29-34. [doi: 10.1080/08897077.2019.1621241] [Medline: 31211657]
- Stokes DC, Perrone J. Increasing short- and long-term buprenorphine treatment capacity: providing waiver training for medical students. Acad Med 2022 Feb 01;97(2):182-187. [doi: <u>10.1097/ACM.00000000003968</u>] [Medline: <u>33538477</u>]
- Rowe CL, Ahern J, Hubbard A, Coffin PO. Evaluating buprenorphine prescribing and opioid-related health outcomes following the expansion the buprenorphine waiver program. J Subst Abuse Treat 2022 Jan;132:108452 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jsat.2021.108452] [Medline: 34098203]
- 12. HHS expands access to treatment for opioid use disorder. US Department of Health & Human Services. 2021 Jan 14. URL: https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2021/01/14/hhs-expands-access-to-treatment-for-opioid-use-disorder.html [accessed 2022-01-04]

- 13. X-waiver changes axed: Federal Government backtracks on previously announced rescission of waiver requirements. The National Law Review. 2021 Feb 08. URL: <u>https://www.natlawreview.com/article/</u>
- <u>x-waiver-changes-axed-federal-government-backtracks-previously-announced-rescission</u> [accessed 2022-01-04]
 Ghertner R, Ali MM. Increases in providers with buprenorphine waivers in the United States from 2016 to 2019. Psychiatr
- Serv 2020 Sep 01;71(9):971-971. [doi: <u>10.1176/appi.ps.201900635</u>] [Medline: <u>32460681</u>]
 Buprenorphine treatment for opioid use disorder in Philadelphia. The Pew Charitable Trusts. 2021 Sep 14. URL: <u>https://</u>

/www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/reports/2021/09/ buprenorphine-treatment-for-opioid-use-disorder-in-philadelphia [accessed 2022-01-04]

- Robbins JL, Bonuck K, Thuillier P, Buist C, Carney PA. Differences in perceived clinical knowledge uptake among health profession students and licensed clinicians receiving buprenorphine waiver training in Oregon. Subst Abus 2022 Apr 22;43(1):825-833 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/08897077.2021.2010260] [Medline: 35130133]
- Zerbo E, Traba C, Matthew P, Chen S, Holland BK, Levounis P, et al. DATA 2000 waiver training for medical students: Lessons learned from a medical school experience. Subst Abus 2020 Feb 01;41(4):463-467. [doi: 10.1080/08897077.2019.1692323] [Medline: 32031914]
- Stringfellow EJ, Humphreys K, Jalali MS. Removing the X-waiver is one small step toward increasing treatment of opioid use disorder, but great leaps are needed. Health Affairs. 2021 Apr 21. URL: <u>https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/</u> <u>forefront.20210419.311749/abs/</u> [accessed 2022-01-04]

Abbreviations

DEA-X or X waiver: "X" designation from the Drug Enforcement Administration
FDA: US Food and Drug Administration
FORE: Foundation for Opioid Response Efforts
GW: Get Waivered
MAT: medication-assisted treatment
OUD: opioid use disorder

Edited by T Leung; submitted 07.02.22; peer-reviewed by SS Amritphale, L Lafrado, A Ardekani; comments to author 20.05.22; revised version received 10.06.22; accepted 25.06.22; published 18.07.22.

Please cite as:

Balapal N, Ankem A, Shyamsundar S, He S Opioid Use Disorder Education for Students and the Future of Opioid Overdose Treatment JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e37081 URL: <u>https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e37081</u> doi:<u>10.2196/37081</u> PMID:<u>35849432</u>

©Neha Balapal, Amala Ankem, Saishravan Shyamsundar, Shuhan He. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (https://mededu.jmir.org), 18.07.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Informatics in Undergraduate Medical Education: Analysis of Competency Frameworks and Practices Across North America

David Chartash^{1,2}, PhD; Marc Rosenman^{3,4}, MD; Karen Wang², MHS, MD; Elizabeth Chen⁵, PhD

¹School of Medicine, University College Dublin - National University of Ireland, Dublin, Ireland

²Center for Medical Informatics, Yale University School of Medicine, New Haven, CT, United States

³Ann & Robert H Lurie Children's Hospital of Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States

⁴Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, United States

⁵Center for Biomedical Informatics, The Warren Alpert Medical School of Brown University, Providence, RI, United States

Corresponding Author:

David Chartash, PhD Center for Medical Informatics Yale University School of Medicine 300 George Street Suite 501 New Haven, CT, 06511 United States Phone: 1 203 737 5325 Email: <u>dchartas@ieee.org</u>

Abstract

Background: With the advent of competency-based medical education, as well as Canadian efforts to include clinical informatics within undergraduate medical education, competency frameworks in the United States have not emphasized the skills associated with clinical informatics pertinent to the broader practice of medicine.

Objective: By examining the competency frameworks with which undergraduate medical education in clinical informatics has been developed in Canada and the United States, we hypothesized that there is a gap: the lack of a unified competency set and frame for clinical informatics education across North America.

Methods: We performed directional competency mapping between Canadian and American graduate clinical informatics competencies and general graduate medical education competencies. Directional competency mapping was performed between Canadian roles and American common program requirements using keyword matching at the subcompetency and enabling competency levels. In addition, for general graduate medical education competencies, the Physician Competency Reference Set developed for the Liaison Committee on Medical Education was used as a direct means of computing the ontological overlap between competency frameworks.

Results: Upon mapping Canadian roles to American competencies via both undergraduate and graduate medical education competency frameworks, the difference in focus between the 2 countries can be thematically described as a difference between the concepts of clinical and management reasoning.

Conclusions: We suggest that the development or deployment of informatics competencies in undergraduate medical education should focus on 3 items: the teaching of diagnostic reasoning, such that the information tasks that comprise both clinical and management reasoning can be discussed; precision medical education, where informatics can provide for more fine-grained evaluation; and assessment methods to support traditional pedagogical efforts (both at the bedside and beyond). Assessment using cases or structured assessments (eg, Objective Structured Clinical Examinations) would help students draw parallels between clinical informatics and fundamental clinical subjects and would better emphasize the cognitive techniques taught through informatics.

(JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e39794) doi:10.2196/39794

KEYWORDS

RenderX

undergraduate medical education; medical informatics; curriculum; medical education; education; North America; framework; clinical; informatics; Canada; United States; US; teaching; management; cognitive

Introduction

Competency frameworks in undergraduate medical education (UME) are the key components of curricular development. Such frameworks include those developed and promulgated by internal medicine organizations and those that are used by accreditation bodies, applied in both undergraduate and graduate education. Popular competency frameworks in American UME, such as the Reporter-Interpreter-Manager-Educator framework [1], have been enhanced by commentary suggesting the addition of clinical skills relevant to the use of the electronic medical record [2]. While competency frameworks are one facet of the methods that circumscribe learning in medical education, accreditation is another facet. Accreditation serves the purposes of quality assurance and standardization. The Liaison Committee on Medical Education (LCME) standards harmonize undergraduate medical degree programs in both the United States and Canada [3]. The LCME is the primary American accreditor and a joint accreditor with the Committee on Accreditation of Medical Schools in Canada.

Standardization between the countries supports the advancement of medicine and the mobility of practice across North America. For example, as either country develops specialties, competencies can be promulgated into undergraduate and graduate medical education (GME) to best advance the general education of medical students and residents. A recent example of this phenomenon is the creation of the Canadian subspecialty of forensic psychiatry [4]. Forensic psychiatry is now a recognized specialty in both the United States and Canada, necessitating instruction alongside child and geriatric psychiatry as part of general psychiatric education in both undergraduate and GME.

In the United States, the Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME) competencies for residency are a means to describe the components of the GME curriculum. These competencies span both general program requirements [5] as well as those that are specific to a particular discipline of medicine (eg, clinical informatics [6]). Similarly, supported by the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada since 1996, Canadian medical education (both UME and GME) has developed a competency framework setting the standards for medical education and practice. The CanMEDs framework defines a set of roles for the physician, broken up into key and enabling competencies [7]. The general framework is expanded upon by the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada or the Canadian College of Family Physicians for GME in each discipline. Furthermore, a working group from the Royal College and the Association of Faculties of Medicine of Canada has developed recommendations for nondiscipline-specific aspects of medical practice, creating sets of key and enabling competencies under the core CanMEDs roles (eg, eHealth [8]). In UME, a working group from The Association of Faculties of Medicine of Canada [9] was convened to suggest the manner in which the CanMEDs framework can be expanded to include eHealth competencies within the roles of the medical student physician. We noted that the qualifiers of "clinical," "medical," and "biomedical" have been applied to "informatics" as a discipline in the United States, and the broader term "eHealth"

https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e39794

XSL•FO

has been used in Canada. This paper selects a single term to refer to the field, *clinical informatics*, as it aligns with the formal name of the subspecialty certified by the American Board of Preventive Medicine and American Board of Pathology.

As the LCME accredits undergraduate medical programs across the North American continent, it behooves the educator to examine the Canadian approach in contrast to the American approach. Framing informatics as an additive to clinical education is contrary to Canadian efforts to integrate clinical informatics into clinical practice, be it through educational informatics (such as that developed by Ellaway et al [10,11]) or through competencies within UME. Particularly, the latter is most visible through an enabling competency within the role of *Leader* (1.4): "use health informatics to improve the quality of patient care and optimize patient safety." If a goal of medical education is to have a unified general medical curriculum across the schools served by the LCME, it is necessary to spark a conversation about how to reconcile the Canadian role-based framework with that of the American competencies and practice. Furthermore, in reconciling the Canadian and American frameworks, we propose the beginning of an answer to the overarching question of which components of clinical informatics should be taught within UME.

Methods

Phase 1: Mapping of Common Program Requirements and Physician Roles

Overview

Mapping by keyword and content similarity was performed by human judgment of a single author (DC) and adjudicated by the remaining authors (EC, MR, and KW). Enabling competencies and key competencies were selected as the hierarchical levels at which the CanMEDs roles were to be linked to the ACGME competencies. From the 2015 CanMEDs taxonomic framework, enabling competencies are defined as the "essential components of a key competency," while key competencies are defined as "knowledge, skills, and attitudes of a physician." Enabling competencies are 2 hierarchical competency layers below the CanMEDs roles and link to the ACGME framework's subcompetencies, at 1 hierarchical layer below the core competencies. The ACGME subcompetencies expand the core competencies beyond common program requirements. All maps were visualized using the graphviz drawing tools (using the circo filter; version 2.40.1; 20161225.0304).

Phase 1a: Mapping of Common Program Requirements and Physician Roles by Physician Competency Reference Set

Mapping was also performed using the overlap between the 2005 CanMEDs roles and the ACGME 2013 common program requirements. Instead of using keywords and content, this mapping was facilitated based on the quantization of the Physician Competency Reference Set (PCRS) [12], an ontology to which program competencies are submitted to the LCME. The PCRS is a common taxonomy of competencies used by the LCME such that multiple curricular systems across the LCME

can be organized and connected through a common standard [12,13]. Individual CanMEDs enabling competencies and ACGME subcompetencies are assigned one or more PCRS concepts upon submission to the LCME, and the exemplar set provided by the LCME was used to construct the matrix of the overlap computed by the exact match of competencies mapped to each enabling competency or subcompetency.

Phase 2: Mapping of Clinical Informatics and eHealth Competencies

Mapping was performed between the CanMEDs eHealth key competencies and the ACGME clinical informatics subcompetencies using keywords and content in a manner consistent with the human-adjudicated approach in phase 1.

•

Ethics Approval

All data collected for analysis in this paper was obtained from publicly available web resources, and therefore did not necessitate review by an ethics board for any institutions affiliated by this study.

Results

Phase 1: Mapping of Common Program Requirements and Physician Roles

Overview

Figure 1 is a graph of the enabling competency and subcompetency map between the CanMEDs general competencies and ACGME common program requirements. Competencies are mapped by keywords or by content, with 2 examples as follows:

- Keywords: the enabling competency within the role of *health advocate* of "Incorporate disease prevention, health promotion, and health surveillance into interactions with individual patients" is mapped to a subcompetency within the competency called *patient care and procedural skills* of "Residents must be able to provide patient care that is compassionate, appropriate, and effective for the treatment of health problems and the promotion of health." This mapping is via the keywords: "incorporate [...] health promotion" and "provide patient care that is [...] effective for [...] the promotion of health."
- Content: the enabling competency within the role of *scholar* of "engage in collaborative learning to continuously improve personal practice and contribute to collective improvements in practice" is mapped to a subcompetency within the competency of practice-based learning called "participate in the education of patients, families, students, residents and other health professionals." This mapping is based on the similarity between the concept of collaborative learning to improve personal and collective practice, and the concept of participating in the education of students, residents, and other health professionals. While collaborative learning and education are fundamentally not the same concept lexically, they are part of the tasks and practices of teaching broadly. Furthermore, while collaborative learning to collectively improve practice is centered around the individual physician in the CanMEDs role, the act of educating medical students, residents, and other health professionals consists of a similar function: improving practice by improving the care delivered by trainees.

Figure 2 details the enabling competencies from CanMEDs roles that are unmapped to the subcompetencies of the ACGME competencies.



Chartash et al

Figure 1. Explicit subcompetencies or enabling competencies map between CanMEDs roles through general enabling competencies [7] and Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME) common program requirement core competencies [5]. CanMEDs roles are red diamonds, while ACGME competencies are in black boxes, with directional mapping labels. Higher-resolution version of this figure is available in Multimedia Appendix 1.





Figure 2. CanMEDs enabling competencies that are unmapped to Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education subcompetencies. Text-based version of this figure is available in Multimedia Appendix 2.

- Medical Expert
 - Integrate the CanMEDs Intrinsic Roles into their practice of medicine
 - Recognize and respond to the complexity, uncertainty, and ambiguity inherent in medical practice
- Communicator
 - Manage disagreements and emotionally charged conversations
- Leader
 - 1. Use health informatics to improve the quality of patient care and optimize patient safety
 - 2. Set priorities and manage time to integrate practice and personal life
 - 3. Manage a career and a practice
- Scholar
 - 1. Demonstrate a commitment to excellence in all aspects of practice
 - 2. Recognize the influence of role-modeling and the impact of the formal, informal, and hidden curriculum on learners
 - 3. Ensure patient safety is maintained when learners are involved

- 4. Assess and evaluate learners, teachers, and programs in an educationally appropriate manner
- Recognize practice uncertainty and knowledge gaps in clinical and other professional encounters and generate focused questions that address them
- Identify ethical principles for research and incorporate them into obtaining informed consent, considering potential harms and benefits, and considering vulnerable populations
- 7. Pose questions amenable to scholarly inquiry and select appropriate methods to address them
- Professional
 - 1. Recognize and manage conflicts of interest
 - 2. Exhibit professional behaviours in the use of technology-enabled communication
 - Recognize and respond to unprofessional and unethical behaviours in physicians and other colleagues in the health care professions
 - 4. Participate in peer assessment and standard-setting
 - Manage personal and professional demands for a sustainable practice throughout the physician life cycle
 - 6. Promote a culture that recognizes, supports, and responds effectively to colleagues in need

Phase 1a: Mapping of Common Program Requirements and Physician Roles by the PCRS

Figure 3 provides the direct match between the 2005 CanMEDs roles and 2013 ACGME competencies based on their mapping to the PCRS. Each edge is qualified by the PCRS competency, which is mapped to both the role and competency and is directionally assigned from the CanMEDs role to the ACGME competency. As data were available from the Association of American Medical Colleges only for the previous iterations of the CanMEDs roles and ACGME competencies, this method does not present a truly current mapping; however, it provides a method based on a standardized competency framework that we can compare with our own keywords and content approach described earlier. For example, the role of scholar is mapped to the competency of practice-based learning through the PCRS competency of "locate, appraise, and assimilate evidence from scientific studies related to patients' health problems." The role of health advocates is related to the competency of patient care and procedural skills through the PCRS competency of "Perform all medical, diagnostic, and surgical procedures considered essential for the area of practice."

As a means of validation, while PCRS mapping is not equivalent to the mapping that we derived, we can examine the most and least frequent role-competency maps as a way to explore core similarities in practice between the CanMEDs and ACGME frameworks. Similar to the author-derived network in Figure 1, a comparison of the frequency of edges between CanMEDs roles and ACGME competencies in the PCRS mapping shows

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e39794
```

that the connection from *scholar* to *practice-based learning* is the most frequent. At the opposite end of the spectrum, *health advocates* and *patient care and procedural skills* were mapped only once in both graphs.

For scholar to practice-based learning, the mapping is via a subcompetency, under the competency of practice-based learning, called "locate, appraise, and assimilate evidence from scientific studies related to their patients' health problems," as well as via the CanMEDs role of scholar with the enabling competency of "Identify opportunities for learning and improvement by regularly reflecting on and assessing their performance using various internal and external data sources." For health advocate to patient care and procedural skills, the mapping is via a subcompetency, under the competency of patient care and procedural skills, called "competently perform all medical, diagnostic, and surgical procedures considered essential for the area of practice" and via the enabling competency under the role health advocate called "identify the health needs of an individual patient." Scholar to practice-based learning is a clear case of keyword mapping, and health advocate to patient care and procedural skills is more of a case of fuzzy conceptual mapping. The identification of the health needs of an individual patient is a component of performing essential procedures, such as components of the entrustable professional activities of "Form Clinical Questions and Retrieve Evidence to Advance Patient Care" and "Collaborate as a Member of an Interprofessional Team" [14]. The conceptual mapping here is deeper than the keyword overlap of "performing all essential procedures for practice" due to the circumscription

of an area of practice and the determination of essential procedures (both part of the entwined acts of clinical cognition and discourse).

Figure 4 details the PCRS competencies that are not mapped between the CanMEDs roles and ACGME competencies. They primarily involve the comportment and ethic of the individual physician's practice (such as "demonstrate trustworthiness that makes colleagues feel secure when one is responsible for the care of patients" or "recognize that ambiguity is part of clinical health care and respond by utilizing appropriate resources in dealing with uncertainty"). While some of these unmapped PCRS competencies are components of the aforementioned entrustable professional activities (such as trustworthiness), others are unique aspects of the CanMEDs or ACGME frameworks (such as the *medical expert* enabling competency to "recognize and respond to the complexity, uncertainty, and ambiguity inherent in medical practice"), which produce the unique cultures of medicine as practiced in Canada and the United States. However, fundamentally, these unmapped competencies reflect necessary qualities and responsibilities of the physicians.

Figure 3. Exact graphical map between CanMEDs 2005 roles through general enabling competencies [7] and Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME) 2013 common program requirement core competencies [5] detailing the Physician Competency Reference Set competencies. CanMEDs roles are red diamonds, while ACGME core competencies are in black boxes, with directional mapping labels. Higher-resolution version of this figure is available in Multimedia Appendix 3.





Figure 4. Physician Competency Reference Set (PCRS) competencies that are not mapped to either CanMEDs enabling competencies or Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME) subcompetencies such that roles and competencies share a PCRS competency. Text-based version of this figure is available in Multimedia Appendix 4.

- Interpersonal and Communication Skills
 - Demonstrate insight and understanding about emotions and human responses to emotions that allow one to develop and manage interpersonal interactions
 - Demonstrate sensitivity, honesty, and compassion in difficult conversations, including those about death, end of life, adverse events, bad news, disclosure of errors, and other sensitive topics
 - Communicate with other health professionals in a responsive and responsible manner that supports the maintenance of health and the treatment of disease in individual patients and populations
 - 4. Use the knowledge of one's own role and the roles of other health professionals to appropriately assess and address the health care needs of the patients and populations served
 - Work with other health professionals to establish and maintain a climate of mutual respect, dignity, diversity, ethical integrity, and trust
- Knowledge for Practice
 - Contribute to the creation, dissemination, application, and translation of new health care knowledge and practices
 - 2. Demonstrate an investigatory and analytic approach to clinical situations
- Patient Care
 - 1. Perform supervisory responsibilities commensurate with one's roles, abilities, and qualifications
 - Counsel and educate patients and their families to empower them to participate in their care and enable shared decision-making
 - 3. Develop and carry out patient management plans
 - Gather essential and accurate information about patients and their conditions through history-taking, physical examination, and the use of laboratory data, imaging, and other tests
 - 5. Interpret laboratory data, imaging studies, and other tests required for the area of practice
 - Make informed decisions about diagnostic and therapeutic interventions based on patient information and preferences, up-to-date scientific evidence, and clinical judgment
 - 7. Organize and prioritize responsibilities to provide care that is safe, effective, and efficient
 - 8. Provide appropriate referral of patients including ensuring continuity of care throughout transitions between providers or settings, and following up on patient progress and outcomes

Phase 2: Mapping of Clinical Informatics and eHealth Competencies

Figure 5 shows a graphical representation of the specific key competencies and subcompetencies mapped between the CanMEDs roles and ACGME competencies. Competencies are mapped by keywords or content, with the following 2 examples:

- 9. Provide appropriate role modeling
- Provide health care services to patients, families, and communities aimed at preventing health problems or maintaining health
- Personal and Professional Development
 - 1. Demonstrate healthy coping mechanisms to respond to stress
 - 2. Demonstrate self-confidence that puts patients, families, and members of the health care team at ease
 - Demonstrate trustworthiness that makes colleagues feel secure when one is responsible for the care of patients
 - Develop the ability to use self-awareness of knowledge, skills, and emotional limitations to engage in appropriate help-seeking behaviors
 - 5. Manage conflict between personal and professional responsibilities
 - 6. Practice flexibility and maturity in adjusting to change with the capacity to alter one's behavior
 - Provide leadership skills that enhance team functioning, the learning environment, and/or the health care delivery system
 - 8. Recognize that ambiguity is part of clinical health care and respond by utilizing appropriate resources in dealing with uncertainty
- Practice-Based Learning and Improvement
 - Continually identify, analyze, and implement new knowledge, guidelines, standards, technologies, products, or services that have been demonstrated to improve outcomes
 - 2. Obtain and utilize information about individual patients, populations of patients, or communities from which patients are drawn to improve care
- Professionalism
 - Demonstrate a commitment to ethical principles pertaining to provision or withholding of care, confidentiality, informed consent, and business practices, including compliance with relevant laws, policies, and regulations
- Systems-Based Practice
 - Perform administrative and practice management responsibilities commensurate with one's role, abilities, and qualifications
- Keywords: the CanMEDs key competency for the role of *medical expert*, "employ clinical decision support tools as an adjunct to clinical judgment in providing timely, evidence-based, safe interventions," maps based on keywords (clinical decision support and interventions or implementation) to the ACGME subcompetency of *medical*

knowledge called "must demonstrate knowledge of clinical decision design, support, use, and implementation."

• Content: the CanMEDs key competency for the role of *health advocate*, "describe how health and population information can be used for disease surveillance, adverse event tracking, population health monitoring, and risk management," has a link to the ACGME subcompetency within the *curriculum organization and fellow experiences* core competency called "educational assignments should

have a particular focus (or foci), such as: public health informatics." Conceptually, there is a link through the domain of public health informatics and its operationalization of disease surveillance, adverse event tracking, and population health as a matter of praxis.

Figure 6 details the enabling competencies from CanMEDs eHealth roles that are unmapped to the subcompetencies of the ACGME clinical informatics competencies.

Figure 5. Explicit key competencies to subcompetencies map between CanMEDs eHealth Roles [8] and Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME) clinical informatics core competencies [6]. CanMEDs roles are red diamonds, while ACGME core competencies are in black boxes, with directional mapping labels. Higher-resolution version of this figure is available in Multimedia Appendix 5.





Chartash et al

Figure 6. CanMEDs eHealth enabling competencies that are unmapped to Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education clinical informatics subcompetencies. Text-based version of this figure is available in Multimedia Appendix 6.

- Communicator
 - Document patient outcomes and safety considerations in an accurate, complete, timely, and retrievable manner, in compliance with legal, privacy, and regulatory requirements and in the interest of effective and efficient clinical decision-making.
 - Assist patient and their families to identify and make use of information and communication technologies to support their care and manage their health (for example telecommunications, smart phone applications).
- Collaborator
 - Share electronic information with other health care professionals collaboratively for the purpose of integrating and optimizing care and improving outcomes for individuals and populations.
 - 2. Complete the electronic handover of professional responsibility and accountability to another health care professional in a manner that ensures quality, continuity, and patient safety.
- Leader
 - Acknowledge that human-computer interface issues, organizational culture, technological restrictions, and device and infrastructure malfunction may generate errors or distortion of data that negatively affect patient safety. Advocate for and implement harm reduction strategies in the workplace.
 - 2. Understand the terms "health system use" in the Canadian context and "interoperability" with respect to their application to electronic health data and relevance to medical practice.

- Customize the output from digital health records for purpose-driven use to improve patient care.
- Describe the impact of health record interoperability and data exchange on collaborative patient-centred care.
- Health Advocate
 - Employ health informatics to enhance quality of care and service delivery in the context of acute and chronic disease management in community settings.
 - Advocate for balance between an individual's right to privacy and the needs of the health care system when using aggregated health information in decisionmaking.
 - Appreciate that analysis of pooled health and demographic data informs health policy decision-making at local, regional, provincial/ territorial, national, and international levels.
 - 4. Speak out against harmful medical misinformation portrayed in social media.
- Professional
 - Demonstrate that professional judgment prevails over technologies designed to support clinical assessment, interventions, and evaluation.
 - Uphold professional obligations, comply with legislation, and maintain appropriate personal boundaries when engaging in the use of social media platforms and digital technologies to record, convey, and respond to information.

Discussion

History of UME in Clinical Informatics

Early efforts to integrate clinical informatics into UME hit a tipping point in 1998 with the Medical School Objectives Project (MSOP) [15]. The MSOP suggested the integration of technical skills related to the storage, retrieval, and management of information for medical problem-solving and decision-making. More recently, efforts to integrate clinical informatics into UME have used the ACGME clinical informatics competencies as a means to articulate how informatics can help prepare medical students for residency and beyond. Hersh et al [16] note that the competencies required for clinical informatics go beyond the simple information retrieval tasks described in the MSOP and that the definition of clinical informatics has evolved beyond solely the "how, what, when or why of information use" for problem-solving and clinical decision-making. Clinical informatics is not alone as a subspecialty whose content is a useful addition to UME. Other facets of the MSOP, such as public health, epidemiology, and medical ethics, have been suggested as useful additions to UME, most recently under the umbrella of health systems science [17-20]. However, it is important that when adding to the UME curriculum, medical schools attend to the need to integrate additive content into that

of clinical medicine in a manner that supports the development of skills central to medicine: diagnosis and medical decision-making [21].

The use of the ACGME competencies to inform curricular elements was demonstrated by Silverman et al [22] and Hersh et al [23]. These and other previous efforts to integrate clinical informatics into UME curricula at a school level have resulted in a curriculum patterned after 2 sources: the graduate competencies for clinical informatics developed for the ACGME [6] and the core content for clinical informatics developed by the American Medical Informatics Association [24]. In these contexts, informatics serves as an integrating component at the nexus of the domains of clinical care, the health system, and information and communications technology. The resulting categories of clinical informatics content derived from the ACGME competencies were as follows: (1) fundamentals (basic knowledge and common vocabulary for the discipline), (2) clinical decision-making and care process improvement (for the implementation of systems and development of processes supporting clinical care), (3) health information systems (for the development or selection of information systems), and (4) leadership and management of change (in the implementation of clinical information systems). In an effort to refresh the core content of informatics to meet the current generation of technology, and to work toward rewriting the ACGME



competencies and core content, Silverman et al [25] performed a practice analysis and developed a new set of categories (domains): (1) fundamental knowledge and skills, (2) improving care delivery and outcomes, (3) enterprise information systems, (4) data governance and data analytics, and (5) leadership and professionalism. This refresh adds a category (data governance and analytics), as well as modifies the prior focus on clinical decision-making and care process improvement. Furthermore, the shift from decision support as a core category in clinical informatics to a more generalizable focus on systems and processes is a crucial inflection point for the emergence of the discipline of clinical informatics. This shift in clinical informatics broadens its emphasis to include methods or applications work rather than focus on the fundamental clinical problems of medical decision-making. Clinical informatics is now broader than medicine and encompasses the formalized subdisciplines of nursing informatics, public health informatics, and health informatics, and it loses the focus on clinical problem-solving with the absence of a practice focus in medicine. As is alluded to with the inclusion of clinical informatics as a facet of medical education reform within the health systems sciences, this shift further separates informatics from medicine and moves it into a curricular space alongside public health, epidemiology, and medical ethics, purely additive elective components of medical education.

Mapping

Evaluating the mapping, including the detailed unmapped content, we observe that the Canadian competencies focus on physician responsibilities (to both self and patient) in clinical practice, while the American competencies focus on the managerial aspects of medical practice. The American clinical informatics competencies focus on the management and operation of clinical data and information, rather than on patient-facing technology and interactions. The informatics distinction that can be made would be between learning to use a clinical decision support tool rather than having knowledge of the information and data that went into the design and operation of the tool. There are 2 fundamental types of reasoning: clinical or diagnostic, and management. Clinical or diagnostic reasoning is "the integration of clinical information, medical knowledge, and contextual (situational) factors to make decisions about medical care," whereas management reasoning is the "process of making decisions about patient management, including choices about treatment, follow-up visits, further testing, and allocation of limited resources" [26]. The decision-making emphasized in the American competencies is less about "medical care," and more about patient management. For example, the American patient care and procedural skills competency is to "use informatics tools to improve assessment, interdisciplinary care planning, management, coordination, and follow-up of patients." The Canadian medical expert competency is to "adopt a variety of information and communication technologies to deliver patient-centred care and provide expert consultation to diverse populations in a variety of settings." The tasks involving management reasoning (management, care planning, coordination, and follow-up) differ somewhat from those tasks for direct patient care (consultation and patient-centered care). An integrative solution would help

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e39794
```

reconcile the differences between the American and Canadian framings of clinical informatics. Teaching both management and clinical reasoning methods would best serve the current model of reasoning in medicine (suggested by Patel and Bergl [27]), given the inherent complexity of the contextual processes girding medical art and science. The need for such reconciliation is evident in the noted difference between the countries' clinical documentation, where the semantic value of information in the American medical record is driven by compliance and reimbursement rather than by essential clinical information [28].

In thinking toward a better solution for clinical informatics education during undergraduate medical education, it is worth mentioning that a concern raised in curricular deployment is the applicability of the content to clinical practice when it is delivered in the preclerkship curriculum [29]. Curriculum design at multiple universities has resulted in either a threaded or entangled curriculum emphasizing clinical informatics [22,23] or clerkship electives focused on clinical informatics [30]. With entangled curricula, schools typically emphasize epidemiologic or decision science principles that drive the scientific fundamentals of informatics practice, rather than an elective's emphasis on operations and clinical decision support. In addition, when attempting to teach quality improvement (aspects of which are components of the ACGME clinical informatics competencies) during the preclerkship curriculum, informatics has focused on issues of salience to students rather than on fundamental clinical value [31].

Next Steps

Fundamentally, integrating sequenced clinical informatics content to provide experiential engagement beyond the classroom (eg, connecting terminology and standards to other clerkship rotations) and within the academic health sciences center offers a means to ensure that informatics education is not overshadowed by clinical education [32]. We acknowledge the potential challenges of reconciling Canadian and American competencies, both at the political scale of 2 national medical education schemes as well as given the oversight of the LCME. However, as a starting point, future informatics education approaches should integrate both clinical and management reasoning and should emphasize that informatics supports the pragmatic components of clerkship education that reinforce the practice and art of doctoring.

Furthermore, within clinical informatics education, there is a lack of focus on clinical judgment and meta-cognition, both educational outcomes of clinical informatics beyond those of computer use and simple information retrieval [16]. Resolving this lack is crucial, given that in a systematic review of informatics education interventions in medical education, students have been shown to be inadequately trained on extracting, aggregating, or visualizing clinical data, leading to deficits in their practice as physicians looking to work with the electronic medical record [33]. As such, informatics training beyond that initially outlined from existing efforts such as the MSOP (ie, general computer use) is necessary. We recommend the following ways to best support future curricular development:

- 1. Focus clinical and informatics education on the teaching of diagnostic reasoning such that management and clinical or diagnostic reasoning can be discussed in the context of the clinical encounter and health system.
- 2. Develop precision medical education such that informatics-supported educational outcomes can be encouraged (and assessed) via health systems science, distributed learning, and other technology-supported pedagogical platforms [11,34,35].
- 3. Translate clinical and clinical informatics skills into clinical practice through an objective structured clinical examination or other structured assessments familiar to students, such that the formal assessment of informatics training can occur by a method parallel to that of clinical skills, ultimately creating cognitive and pedagogical links between the two for both graduate and postgraduate education.

In teaching reasoning, be it clinical or management-based, an understanding of how physicians shape it in practice is crucial. The curriculum should ensure that the rigor of the logical practice of diagnosis (through differential diagnosis) is enhanced in its complexity rather than via shortcuts [36]. While the oldest empirical examples of this approach demonstrated promise [37,38] and heralded current successes [39,40], the key to these successes has not been in their technological sophistication but in their ability to teach and serve the physician's logical calculus.

This notion to augment clinical practice is behind the suggestion by Hersh et al [41] that a necessary competency to add to clinical informatics should include the use of artificial and augmented intelligence in clinical settings (as well as an understanding of the biases in algorithmic approaches). Such an inclusion of artificial intelligence in the clinical information used for diagnosis has clear links to the notions of Sir Thomas Clifford Allbutt in his seminal work titled *A System of Medicine*. Allbutt [42] suggests that information integration is the pillar of the core acts of medicine, such as diagnosis. Articulating a next step for UME to teach clinical informatics, the focus of using the computer and the electronic medical record should be to facilitate the management of uncertainty through the imprimatur of the physician's clinical guidance. This management of uncertainty would inform medical students that information and evidence are the symbols with which the clinical encounter is interpreted by the physician. Fundamentally, the management of uncertainty strengthens the physician's information-based resilience, fighting against the automation of care, and a technician-executor model of physicianship [43]. With appropriate informatics education, the physician encountering technology would thereby be augmented rather than supplanted. The physician's cognition would not be replaced by "the master algorithm" [44].

Finally, to assess this augmentation, future informatics education should align with the staged assessment mechanisms of medical education rather than those of cognitive theories of learning [45], such that the clinical translatability of the knowledge gained is first and foremost in the students' mind. Shifting to a paradigm of data-driven education that mirrors the current approach to clinical care, effective measurement and assessment [11] are crucial in determining how the (hidden) curriculum with which physicianship is borne is not rendered obsolete by digitization. Therefore, this analysis can be concluded with a final paean to the clinical informatics community in seeking to advance medical education:

Wrap your thoughts in the cloth of logic and reasoning, such that they would slip easily between the wisps of shadow that link the disciplines of medicine and complot with the complexity of that curriculum which is hidden to render the fuller modern physician.

Acknowledgments

The concept of this study originated from the work presented at the Canadian Conference on Medical Education in 2019. The author KW is supported by funding from the National Library of Medicine (R01LM013477 and G08LM013801) and Genentech, Inc (G-89371). This paper was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Data Availability

The data used for this study are available on request, but all the information was obtained from publicly available sources.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Higher resolution version of Figure 1. Explicit subcompetencies or enabling competencies map between CanMEDs roles through general enabling competencies [7] and Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME) common program requirement core competencies [5]. CanMEDs roles are red diamonds, while ACGME competencies are in black boxes, with directional mapping labels.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 29 KB - mededu_v8i3e39794_app1.pdf]



Multimedia Appendix 2

Text-based version of Figure 2. CanMEDs enabling competencies that are unmapped to Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education subcompetencies.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 30 KB - mededu_v8i3e39794_app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3

Higher-resolution version of Figure 3. Exact graphical map between CanMEDs 2005 roles through general enabling competencies [7] and Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME) 2013 common program requirement core competencies [5] detailing the Physician Competency Reference Set competencies. CanMEDs roles are red diamonds, while ACGME core competencies are in black boxes, with directional mapping labels.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 28 KB - mededu_v8i3e39794_app3.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 4

Text-based version of Figure 4. Physician Competency Reference Set (PCRS) competencies that are not mapped to either CanMEDs enabling competencies or Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME) subcompetencies such that roles and competencies share a PCRS competency.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 31 KB - mededu_v8i3e39794_app4.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 5

Higher-resolution version of Figure 5. Explicit key competencies to subcompetencies map between CanMEDs eHealth Roles [8] and Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME) clinical informatics core competencies [6]. CanMEDs roles are red diamonds, while ACGME core competencies are in black boxes, with directional mapping labels. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 14 KB - mededu_v8i3e39794_app5.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 6

Text-based version of Figure 6. CanMEDs eHealth enabling competencies that are unmapped to Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education clinical informatics subcompetencies. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 30 KB - mededu v8i3e39794 app6.pdf]

References

- 1. Pangaro L. A new vocabulary and other innovations for improving descriptive in-training evaluations. Acad Med 1999 Nov;74(11):1203-1207. [doi: 10.1097/00001888-199911000-00012] [Medline: 10587681]
- Stephens MB, Gimbel RW, Pangaro L. Commentary: the RIME/EMR scheme: an educational approach to clinical documentation in electronic medical records. Acad Med 2011 Jan;86(1):11-14. [doi: <u>10.1097/ACM.0b013e3181ff7271</u>] [Medline: <u>21191202</u>]
- Functions and structure of a medical school standards for accreditation of medical education programs leading to the MD degree. Liaison Committee on Medical Education. 2022 Mar. URL: <u>https://lcme.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/2023-24_Functions-and-Structure_2022-03-31.docx</u> [accessed 2022-08-29]
- 4. Bourget D, Chaimowitz G. Forensic psychiatry in Canada: a journey on the road to specialty. J Am Acad Psychiatry Law 2010;38(2):158-162. [Medline: 20542934]
- 5. ACGME Common program requirements (Residency). Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education. 2022 Jan 7. URL: <u>https://www.acgme.org/globalassets/pfassets/programrequirements/cprresidency_2022v3.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-08-29]
- ACGME program requirements for graduate medical education in clinical informatics. Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME). 2021 Jul 1. URL: <u>https://www.acgme.org/globalassets/pfassets/programrequirements/</u> <u>381 clinicalinformatics 2021.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-08-29]
- 7. CanMEDS 2015 Physician Competency Framework. Ottawa, ON, Canada: Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada; 2015.
- 8. Ho K. The CanMEDS 2015 eHealth Expert Working Group Report. Ottawa, ON, Canada: Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada; Feb 2014.
- 9. Ellaway R, Hayward R, Ho K, Hurley K, Littleford J. eHealth Competencies for Undergraduate Medical Education. Canada Health Infoway. 2014. URL: <u>https://www.ehealthresources.ca/sites/default/files/pdf/</u> eHealth%20Competencies%20for%20UME.pdf [accessed 2022-08-29]
- 10. Ellaway RH, Graves L, Greene PS. Medical education in an electronic health record-mediated world. Med Teach 2013 Apr;35(4):282-286. [doi: 10.3109/0142159X.2013.773396] [Medline: 23464893]
- 11. Ellaway RH, Topps D, Pusic M. Data, big and small: emerging challenges to medical education scholarship. Acad Med 2019 Jan;94(1):31-36. [doi: 10.1097/ACM.00000000002465] [Medline: 30256249]
- 12. Ellaway R, Smothers V. ANSI/MEDBIQ CI.10.1-2013 Curriculum Inventory Specifications. MedBiquitous Consortium. 2013. URL: <u>https://groups.medbiq.org/medbiq/display/CurrInv/Specifications+and+Schemas</u> [accessed 2022-08-29]

- 13. Englander R, Cameron T, Ballard AJ, Dodge J, Bull J, Aschenbrener CA. Toward a common taxonomy of competency domains for the health professions and competencies for physicians. Acad Med 2013 Aug;88(8):1088-1094. [doi: 10.1097/ACM.0b013e31829a3b2b] [Medline: 23807109]
- Englander R, Flynn T, Call S, Carraccio C, Cleary L, Fulton TB, et al. Toward defining the foundation of the MD degree: core entrustable professional activities for entering residency. Acad Med 2016 Oct;91(10):1352-1358. [doi: <u>10.1097/ACM.000000000001204</u>] [Medline: <u>27097053</u>]
- 15. Report II Contemporary Issues in Medicine: Medical Informatics and Population Health. Association of American Medical Colleges. 1998. URL: <u>https://www.aamc.org/media/24241/download?attachment</u> [accessed 2022-08-29]
- Hersh WR, Gorman PN, Biagioli FE, Mohan V, Gold JA, Mejicano GC. Beyond information retrieval and electronic health record use: competencies in clinical informatics for medical education. Adv Med Educ Pract 2014 Jul 1;5:205-212 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/AMEP.S63903] [Medline: 25057246]
- 17. Cooke M, Irby DM, O'Brien BC, Shulman LS. Educating Physicians: A Call for Reform of Medical School and Residency. Hoboken, NJ, USA: Jossey-Bass; 2010.
- Gonzalo JD, Baxley E, Borkan J, Dekhtyar M, Hawkins R, Lawson L, et al. Priority areas and potential solutions for successful integration and sustainment of health systems science in undergraduate medical education. Acad Med 2017 Jan;92(1):63-69. [doi: 10.1097/ACM.00000000001249] [Medline: 27254015]
- Gonzalo JD, Dekhtyar M, Starr SR, Borkan J, Brunett P, Fancher T, et al. Health systems science curricula in undergraduate medical education: identifying and defining a potential curricular framework. Acad Med 2017 Jan;92(1):123-131. [doi: 10.1097/ACM.000000000001177] [Medline: 27049541]
- 20. Gonzalo JD, Haidet P, Papp KK, Wolpaw DR, Moser E, Wittenstein RD, et al. Educating for the 21st-century health care system: an interdependent framework of basic, clinical, and systems sciences. Acad Med 2017 Jan;92(1):35-39. [doi: 10.1097/ACM.00000000000951] [Medline: 26488568]
- 21. D'Eon M, Crawford R. The elusive content of the medical-school curriculum: a method to the madness. Med Teach 2005 Dec;27(8):699-703. [doi: 10.1080/01421590500237598] [Medline: 16451890]
- 22. Silverman H, Cohen T, Fridsma D. The evolution of a novel biomedical informatics curriculum for medical students. Acad Med 2012 Jan;87(1):84-90. [doi: 10.1097/ACM.0b013e31823a599e] [Medline: 22104049]
- 23. Hersh W, Biagioli F, Scholl G, Gold J, Mohan V, Kassakian S, et al. Chapter 13 From competencies to competence: model, approach, and lessons learned from implementing a clinical informatics curriculum for medical students. In: Shachak A, Borycki EM, Reis SP, editors. Health Professionals' Education in the Age of Clinical Information Systems, Mobile Computing and Social Networks. Cambridge, MA, USA: Academic Press; 2017:269-287.
- 24. Gardner RM, Overhage JM, Steen EB, Munger BS, Holmes JH, Williamson JJ, AMIA Board of Directors. Core content for the subspecialty of clinical informatics. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2009;16(2):153-157 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1197/jamia.M3045] [Medline: 19074296]
- Silverman HD, Steen EB, Carpenito JN, Ondrula CJ, Williamson JJ, Fridsma DB. Domains, tasks, and knowledge for clinical informatics subspecialty practice: results of a practice analysis. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2019 Jul 01;26(7):586-593 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocz051] [Medline: 31037303]
- Cook DA, Sherbino J, Durning SJ. Management reasoning: beyond the diagnosis. JAMA 2018 Jun 12;319(22):2267-2268. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2018.4385</u>] [Medline: <u>29800012</u>]
- 27. Patel JJ, Bergl PA. Diagnostic vs management reasoning. JAMA 2018 Nov 06;320(17):1818. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.13354] [Medline: 30398597]
- Downing NL, Bates DW, Longhurst CA. Physician burnout in the electronic health record era: are we ignoring the real cause? Ann Intern Med 2018 Jul 03;169(1):50-51. [doi: <u>10.7326/M18-0139</u>] [Medline: <u>29801050</u>]
- 29. Kasper J, Greene JA, Farmer PE, Jones DS. All health is global health, all medicine is social medicine: integrating the social sciences into the preclinical curriculum. Acad Med 2016 May;91(5):628-632. [doi: 10.1097/ACM.000000000001054] [Medline: 26703416]
- Chartash D, Silverman H, Chase H, Elkin P, Quigg R. Medical student instruction in biomedical informatics: experiences and lessons learned. In: Proceedings of the 2016 Educational Forum of the American Medical Informatics Association. 2016 Presented at: AMIA '16; November 12-16, 2016; Chicago, IL, USA URL: https://knowledge.amia.org/multimedia/inspire/2016
- 31. Brown A, Nidumolu A, Stanhope A, Koh J, Greenway M, Grierson L. Can first-year medical students acquire quality improvement knowledge prior to substantial clinical exposure? A mixed-methods evaluation of a pre-clerkship curriculum that uses education as the context for learning. BMJ Qual Saf 2018 Jul;27(7):576-582. [doi: 10.1136/bmjqs-2017-007566] [Medline: 29555723]
- 32. Chartash D, Kochmann M, Rosenman M, Kho A, Finnell J. Cross-institutional collaboration for undergraduate medical education: a case example between Indiana and Northwestern. In: Proceedings of the 2017 Educational Forum of the American Medical Informatics Association. 2017 Presented at: AMIA '17; Nov 6-8, 2017; Washington, DC, USA.
- Rajaram A, Hickey Z, Patel N, Newbigging J, Wolfrom B. Training medical students and residents in the use of electronic health records: a systematic review of the literature. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2020 Jan 01;27(1):175-180 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocz178] [Medline: 31592531]

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e39794
```

- 34. Ellaway RH. Evaluating a virtual learning environment in medical education. The University of Edinburgh. 2006. URL: http://hdl.handle.net/1842/885 [accessed 2022-08-25]
- Spickard A, Ridinger H, Wrenn J, O'brien N, Shpigel A, Wolf M, et al. Automatic scoring of medical students' clinical notes to monitor learning in the workplace. Med Teach 2014 Jan;36(1):68-72. [doi: <u>10.3109/0142159X.2013.849801</u>] [Medline: <u>24195470</u>]
- 36. H EJ. Devices for diagnosis. Ann Intern Med 1961 Oct 01;55(4):702-707. [doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-55-4-702]
- 37. Nash FA. The mechanical conservation of experience, especially in medicine. IRE Trans Med Electron 1960 Oct;ME-7:240-243. [doi: 10.1109/iret-me.1960.5008067] [Medline: 13727826]
- 38. Lipkin M. Correlation of data with a digital computer in the differential diagnosis of hematological diseases. IRE Trans Med Electron 1960 Oct;ME-7:243-246. [doi: 10.1109/iret-me.1960.5008068] [Medline: 13762551]
- Esteva A, Kuprel B, Novoa RA, Ko J, Swetter SM, Blau HM, et al. Dermatologist-level classification of skin cancer with deep neural networks. Nature 2017 Feb 02;542(7639):115-118 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1038/nature21056</u>] [Medline: <u>28117445</u>]
- Haenssle HA, Fink C, Schneiderbauer R, Toberer F, Buhl T, Blum A, Reader study level-Ilevel-II Groups, et al. Man against machine: diagnostic performance of a deep learning convolutional neural network for dermoscopic melanoma recognition in comparison to 58 dermatologists. Ann Oncol 2018 Aug 01;29(8):1836-1842 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdy166] [Medline: 29846502]
- 41. Hersh WR, Ehrenfeld JM. Clinical informatics. In: Skochelak SE, editor. Health Systems Science. 2nd edition. Amsterdam, The Netherlands: Elsevier; 2020:156-171.
- 42. Allbutt TC. Introduction. In: Allbutt TC, editor. A System of Medicine. Volume I. London, UK: MacMillan and Co; 1896.
- 43. Chartash D, Sassoon D, Muthu N. Physicians in the era of automation: the case for clinical expertise. MDM Policy Pract 2019 Aug 17;4(2):2381468319868968 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2381468319868968] [Medline: 31453366]
- 44. Karches KE. Against the iDoctor: why artificial intelligence should not replace physician judgment. Theor Med Bioeth 2018 Apr;39(2):91-110. [doi: 10.1007/s11017-018-9442-3] [Medline: 29992371]
- 45. Miller GE. The assessment of clinical skills/competence/performance. Acad Med 1990 Sep;65(9 Suppl):S63-S67. [doi: 10.1097/00001888-199009000-00045] [Medline: 2400509]

Abbreviations

ACGME: Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education GME: graduate medical education LCME: Liaison Committee on Medical Education MSOP: Medical School Objectives Project PCRS: Physician Competency Reference Set UME: undergraduate medical education

Edited by T Leung; submitted 23.05.22; peer-reviewed by A Kennedy, R Al Tamime, S Zechariah; comments to author 08.07.22; revised version received 02.08.22; accepted 06.08.22; published 13.09.22.

Please cite as:

Chartash D, Rosenman M, Wang K, Chen E Informatics in Undergraduate Medical Education: Analysis of Competency Frameworks and Practices Across North America JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e39794 URL: https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e39794 doi:10.2196/39794 PMID:36099007

©David Chartash, Marc Rosenman, Karen Wang, Elizabeth Chen. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (https://mededu.jmir.org), 13.09.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Use of Social Media for Implementing Diagnoses, Consultation, Training, and Case Reporting Among Medical Professionals to Improve Patient Care: Case Study of WeChat Groups Across Health Care Settings

Lai Sze Tso^{1,2,3,4}, PhD

¹Global Health & Medical Humanities Initiative, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, United States

²Center for Health & Human Development Studies, Sun Yat-Sen University, Guangzhou, China

³Institutt for Kulturstudier og Orientalske Språk-Norges Forskningsråd (IKOS-NFR), University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway
⁴Sociology & Anthropology, Gustavus Adolphus College, Saint Peter, MN, United States

Corresponding Author:

Lai Sze Tso, PhD Sociology & Anthropology Gustavus Adolphus College Beck Hall, 2nd Floor 800 West College Avenue Saint Peter, MN, 56082 United States Phone: 1 507 933 8000 Email: <u>Itso@gustavus.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Health professionals in low- and middle-resource settings have limited access to up-to-date resources for diagnosing and treating illnesses, training medical staff, reviewing newly disseminated guidelines and publications, and preparing data for international disease reporting. A concomitant difficulty in high-resource settings is the need for continuing education and skills up-training in innovative procedures on unfamiliar social media platforms. These challenges can delay both patient care and epidemiological surveillance efforts. To overcome these challenges, health professionals have adapted WeChat Groups to implement timely, low-cost, and high-quality patient care.

Objective: The primary study aim was to describe the processes taken by medical professionals across their diverse physical and virtual networks in adapting a bottom-up approach to collectively overcome resource shortages. The secondary study aim was to delineate the pathways, procedures, and resource/information sharing implemented by medical professionals using an international publicly available popular social media app (WeChat) to enhance performance of facility-based procedures and protocols for improved patient care.

Methods: In-depth interviews, observations, and digital ethnography of WeChat Groups communications were collected from medical professionals in interconnected networks of health care facilities. Participants' WeChat Groups usage and observations of their professional functions in interconnected networks were collected from November 2018 to 2019. Qualitative analysis and thematic coding were used to develop constructs and themes in NVivo. Constructs incorporated descriptions for the implementation and uses of WeChat Groups for professional connections, health care procedures, and patient care. Themes supporting the constructs focused on the pathways and venues used by medical professionals to build trust, to establish and solidify online networks, and to identify requests and resource sharing within WeChat Groups.

Results: There were 58 participants (males 36 and females 22) distributed across 24 health care settings spanning geographical networks in south China. Analysis yielded 4 constructs and 11 themes delineating the bottom-up usage of WeChat Groups among clinicians, technicians, nurses, pharmacists, and public health administrators. Participants used WeChat Groups for collectively training hospital staff in complex new procedures, processing timely diagnoses of biological specimens, staying abreast of latest trends and clinical procedures and symptoms, and contributing to case reporting for emergent illnesses and international surveillance reporting. An unexpected strength of implementing clinical, training, and research support on a popular app with international coverage is the added ability to overcome administrative and geographic barriers in resource distribution. This advantage increased

a network's access to WeChat Groups members both working within China and abroad, greatly expanding the scope of shared resources.

Conclusions: The organic, bottom-up approach of repurposing extant social media apps is low cost and efficient for timely implementation to improve patient care. WeChat's international user base enables medical staff to access widespread professional networks across geographic, administrative, and economic barriers, with potential to reduce health disparities in low-resource settings.

(JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e26419) doi:10.2196/26419

KEYWORDS

mHealth; WeChat; implementation research; low-resource settings; innovative medical technologies; digital health; medical education; social media; mobile health technologies; bottom-up approach

Introduction

Background

Health care facilities in low-and-middle-income countries (LMICs) are continually confronted by the public health conundrum of maintaining and upgrading the skills of medical professionals while concomitantly keeping operating costs manageable. The main problem plaguing staff working in LMIC health facilities is that clinicians, technicians, and researchers have limited access to the most up-to-date facilities and knowledge for completing their work. Other difficulties include the need to collectively train the complement hospital staff in complex new procedures, to provide timely analyses of biological specimens for diagnosis, to keep staff abreast of latest developments in trends and clinical procedures and symptoms, and to conduct case reporting for emergent illnesses and update surveillance for coordinated reports international epidemiological efforts. For medical facilities in high-income countries (HICs), a related problem arises in the difficulties associated with the time and resources to formally train clinicians to deliver professional patient services in new online and social media formats [1].

One of the innovative approaches to dealing with these problems is that medical professionals have organically implemented a bottom-up solution by using existing popular apps to devise a mobile health (mHealth) approach [2-9]. Based on publicly available social media technology, the solutions of medical professionals repurposing extant social media application functions are both low cost and efficient in timely implementation. For example, medical doctors use functions within social networking sites (SNSs) to better communicate with each other [4,7,8], and as is the case with WeChat Groups, to coordinate mHealth solutions with medical colleagues to offer around-the-clock question-and-answer support for recently discharged patients with COVID-19 [5]. Since the advent of mHealth into medicine and patient care as early as the mid-1990s [10], and widespread adaption in the 2000s [11,12], social media and internet-based networking apps have demonstrated their usefulness for improving health management systems and coordination of resources for patients and doctors across a range of health care process and institutional settings in LMICs and HICs [10-16].

Recently, the applicability of social media-based tools is becoming more targeted toward application to overcome

challenges of limited location-based resources and to improve speediness of information sharing for health care procedures. In addressing these emerging areas of innovation and medical development, there are calls by the international research community for more in-depth [4,17] and qualitative evaluation of the mechanisms of adaption [10,13,14,18,19]. Furthermore, in light of recent pandemics, and national implementation of pandemic-fighting measures such as lockdowns in China and in other countries, these applications are even more critical in ensuring the quality and availability of patient-centered care across diverse socioeconomic settings [20]. In the age of swift-moving global pandemic pressures, the increased burden and mobility restrictions on essential workforce mean that such low-cost, quick, and highly adaptable functionalities become even more important in implementing timely medical assessments and treatment in LMICs and HICs. In fact, in the early days of the COVID-19 pandemic, overseas Chinese in Europe used WeChat Groups to access medical care and consultations from doctors in China [21].

This article contributes to public health discourse by describing the ways that medical professionals use WeChat Groups, an internal function of WeChat app, to overcome barriers in cost, time, physical, and bureaucratic restrictions toward improving patient treatment, diagnosis, training, and information sharing and reporting across geographic and institutional boundaries. The impact of these bottom-up innovative adaptions have resulted in improved diagnoses, consultations, and wider circulation of emerging case reporting information both within and outside the physical territory of China for public dissemination to the global medical community. The implications of these findings are pertinent to resource management in fighting pandemics, such as COVID-19 [21], and to coordinating resources speedily and efficaciously across geographic, administrative, and bureaucratic barriers in LMICs and HICs [22].

In China, the predominant social media app is WeChat, boasting the greatest number of users [23,24], with over 1.2 billion regular monthly users at the start of 2020 [25]. As of 2021, WeChat has over 1.25 billion monthly active users internationally, a growth of 500 million users [26]. Along with Facebook, YouTube, WhatsApp, Facebook Messenger, and Instagram, WeChat is among the top most popular social networking apps globally [27,28]. While Facebook and WhatsApp have the greatest presence internationally, a 2013-2014 consumer behavior study of 170,000 internet users
in 32 countries, by Global Web Index (GWI), reported that WeChat is growing faster than rival social media apps in many regions, including in the Americas, that is, Canada (134%), United States (547%), Mexico (2502%), Brazil (1108%), Argentina (835%); in Europe and the Middle East, that is, the United Kingdom (923%), Sweden (152%), Germany (667%), France (778%), Spain (666%), Italy (6587%), Turkey (708%), Saudi Arabia (320%), United Arab Emirates (2716%); and in the Asia-Pacific region, that is, India (1774%), Taiwan (1927%), Singapore (503%), Malaysia (1332%), Indonesia (1094%), the Philippines (2820%), Thailand (191%), and Australia (347%) [29]. WeChat was also the fastest growing app in South Africa (4084%), and the second fastest in Russia (331%), South Korea (259%), and Vietnam (204%) [29]. In fact, WeChat's platform and success serve as South Africa's model for extending technology infrastructure and integrating other countries into one social networking system in Africa [30].

At the start of 2014, WeChat had garnered a strong user base, capturing significant portions of the social media apps market in Malaysia (33%), Hong Kong (32%), India (21%), and Indonesia (18%) [29]. By the end of the same year, WeChat solidified its position, with its user base representing 39% in the Asia-Pacific region and 23% globally of GWI study participants [31]. In 2015, there were 697 million, with over 70 million located outside of China [32], with user interphase support available in over 20 languages, including simplified and traditional Chinese characters, English, Indonesian, Spanish, Portuguese, Turkish, Malaysian, Japanese, Korean, Polish, Italian, Thai, Vietnamese, and Russian [32]. Extending its reach beyond regional neighbors, WeChat is reportedly used on a regular basis in Europe-Russia (1%), Finland (1%), France (2%), Germany (2%), Spain (2%), the United Kingdom (2%), Netherlands (3%), and Italy (3%)—and in the United States (3%), Canada (6%), Brazil (2%), and Australia (5%), according to Statistica's Global Consumer Survey 2020 [33]. By 2021, WeChat became the most popular mobile messenger app in Asia [34].

WeChat is a popular app with a global reach, and its user base and influence as a social media app are growing. WeChat's reach among China's global diaspora is undoubtedly significant and serves as a vital means to maintain international connections, despite the controversial bans in the United States and state-sponsored censorship in China [35,36]. Studies of its comparative impact on people's international information-sharing behaviors, vis-à-vis other prominent social media apps, are underway [37]. Despite its growing influence, the application and adaption of WeChat among health care professionals, along with the implementation of health care innovations, have received less attention. This study contributes to elucidating these processes. As has been illustrated from the start of and throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, connections on social networks have been invaluable for sharing key medical and health care information in a timely manner. Across HICs and LMICs, clinicians are increasingly turning to trusted professional groups on social media to disseminate timely health information across international borders. For example, UK doctors identified a rare blood clot condition for the AstraZeneca COVID-19 vaccination, then turned to WhatsApp to begin

XSL•FO

sharing symptoms, diagnosis, and treatments, posting daily to 500 colleagues located around the world [2]. WeChat's popularity and expansive applications for diverse health care settings have grown greatly since its domestic launch in 2011. This paper contributes to the discussion of how the social media app WeChat contributes to technology transfers in health care innovations among medical and health care professions, particularly for patient-centered care.

WeChat has been used in medical and health care settings to improve patient care in China. Clinicians, health-oriented businesses, medical schools, hospitals, and public health infrastructure have adapted it to facilitate scores of innovative solutions to health care management and patient access [15,23,38-40]. As one of the most prominent and inexpensive apps, it has been adapted institutionally in medical technologies in internet (desktop) and social media (mobile-based) platforms for organizing and coordinating patient care. Among hospitals and health care facilities, WeChat has been adapted by administration in several forms, including a WeChat Media (Guanzhonghao) [38], patient registrations and payment (guahao) [41], and appointments with doctors over smartphone consultation and follow-up (dianhua menzhen). Initial costs for facilities include technology support for establishing the pages, in-house technical support to calibrate internal operating systems to online user interfaces, and supplement compensation for doctors and support medical staff who participate in WeChat initiatives (e-consultations) in addition to their regular clinical duties. The origins and general functionalities of the early adaption of WeChat as a mobile app are described in-depth elsewhere [42]. Reports in English-language medical journals further describe WeChat's versatility and the resulting tangible improvements for a variety of users. Notable examples of the innovative application of WeChat by doctors include their forays to implement pilot randomized controlled trials and feasibility studies [42,43] and to improve patient comprehension of treatment and services by increasing patient-doctor communication [44]. Hospitals have used WeChat to improve patient registration, reduce wait times, and increase timely access of patients to medical staff and health services [41]. Private health care support companies improved the monitoring and collection of personal health data and linkage of health behaviors to medical records and health information [15,16,39]. More recently, WeChat is being incorporated into medical training-implemented in medical and dental schools to organize and train students [45], with a focus on problem-based learning [46,47]; for internship coordination and externship practicums [46]; and to improve the quality of connections between students and their medical instructors for more detailed field evaluation performance assessments [48]. WeChat has also been adapted to indicate health status for patients with COVID-19 and for monitoring public health of the general population [20,22,40].

Despite the institutional applications implemented by medical schools and hospitals, arguably the most exciting development is the emerging bottom-up approach by medical professionals themselves to expedite improvement of services, resource coordination, and information sharing for research purposes. Even before the global push to pitch in for coordinated care on international initiatives to combat COVID-19, medical

professionals organically used WeChat Groups to self-coordinate scarce resources, treatment, diagnosis, training, and information sharing of pertinent medical reporting, beyond the boundaries of the traditional hospital. Specifically, doctors, nurses, clinicians, and laboratory technicians and biomedical researchers collectively use self-invited colleague groups via WeChat Groups-unbounded by geography, country, or hospital affiliation. There are private groups and public groups [49-51]. This article describes the private groups created by health care professionals, where entry and information access is gated (ie, only members of the group are able to post and share information with each other). Depending on the number of participants in the group, parameters allow for between 3 and 500 members [50]. Entry is permitted primarily in 1 of 2 ways: invitations are extended by either the group moderator, or by a current group member, to a new potential member [49-51]. The most well-publicized example of WeChat Groups was the international description of how Li Wenliang, an ophthalmologist in Wuhan, announced to his fellow clinical doctors from his medical school alumni group of the presentation of SARS-like symptoms in the early days of the COVID-19 pandemic [52]. Although this disclosure received great attention on the international media as a shocking introduction into the world of WeChat Groups, long-term WeChat users were already familiar with the "Groups" function of the popular mobile app. It is a means of staying in touch and sharing photos with friends across great physical distances and international borders.

In this vein, this article contributes to this growing body of the use of social media in innovative health care solutions by describing the pathways and mechanisms adapted by health care professionals in China to improve diagnoses, consultation, training, and information sharing using WeChat Groups (weixin quan). Specifically, they use a function known as WeChat Groups to create gated groups among their personal network of medical professionals. By doing so, individual medical professionals improve their professional skills and extend institutional capacities of their primary health care facilities by expanding their access to knowledge and technologies beyond their immediate work environments. Using WeChat, clinicians, laboratory technicians, and health care researchers can access new reports, diagnosis, and improve their medical training.

Objectives

The primary aim of this study was to describe the bottom-up approach adapted by medical professionals across their diverse physical and virtual networks to collectively overcome resource shortages. To accomplish this aim, data collection was focused on delineating the conditions, circumstances, and venues used by medical professionals to connect with other professionals, physically and virtually, before they can begin to ask for and share resources across geographically diverse networks. The secondary aim was to delineate the pathways, procedures, and resource and information-sharing behaviors adapted by medical professionals during the process of repurposing the diverse networks for tasks targeting improvement in patient-centered care. To accomplish this aim, data collection was focused on delineating the specific hospital and health facilities tasks that medical professionals sought assistance for from their social media groups. Specifically, to identify the health care procedures

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e26419
```

XSL•FO

and protocol that medical professions completed by repurposing an international publicly available social media app, to request and share resources to improve patience care.

Methods

Setting and Participants

For this project, data collection of ethnographic observations, interviews, and digital ethnography of WeChat person-to-person messaging and WeChat Groups communications occurred from November 2018 to November 2019. Participant observations, qualitative interviews, and digital ethnography of clinical doctors, laboratory technicians, nurses, and medical researchers were based in hospitals/medical facilities in 5 major metropolitan areas (Guangzhou, Shenzhen, Dongguan, Huizhou, and Qingyuan) across the Greater Bay Area/Pearl River Delta of south China. Health facilities covered specializations in dermatology, surgery, chronic illnesses, clinics for treating sexually transmitted illnesses and diseases, general medicine, and oncology.

Approach

An institutional-level approval for site-based activities was obtained from department/facility administrative leaders. Written and digital copies of project description and informed consent were provided in English and Mandarin. Informed consent for participants was obtained verbally in person and digitally on WeChat. Digital ethnographies of WeChat Groups were compiled in both Chinese and English. Face-to-face interviews and on-site participant observations were conducted in Cantonese, Mandarin, and English.

Study Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Inclusion into the study was determined as follows: (1) employed as a medical/health care professional with experience working in hospital/medical settings or having attended schooling for medical, nursing, pharmacy, laboratory, or health sciences; (2) had prior/current exposure to or application of international transfers of technology, in the form of knowledge, skills, abilities, work competencies, or training; (3) had acquired these knowledge, skills, abilities, and competencies through formal study abroad, overseas training or conference participation, domestic training from international partners, domestic engagement with international working/scholarly partnerships, and training materials; and (4) uses internet-based technologies (ie, social media) to communicate for professional/work interactions. Exclusion from the study was determined as follows: (1) not a trained medical or health care professional despite currently working or formerly having worked in hospital or medical settings; (2) was not exposed to, does not work, or does not follow or use any international guidelines, equipment, reading or training materials, or technologies; (3) not currently nor has ever engaged in any medical or health professional social networks with international connections; or (4) did not use internet-based technologies in any work-related tasks or functions.

Construction of the frame for participant enrollment was a multistep process. To ensure a robust framework for enrollment into the study, prospective participants were contacted through

3 categories of network connection types: formal networks, semiformal networks, and informal networks. In interactions across these 3 network categories, informants were asked if they could help identify potential participants throughout the Greater Bay Area region to encompass major urban centers, semirural peripheries, as well as rural areas. Further, informants were asked to help ensure diversity of participant background by identifying and introducing contacts who have experience working in each of China's 3-tier system of hospital and medical facilities defined primary [53], as level (village/community/township; <100 beds), secondary level (district/county; 100-500 beds), and tertiary-level (comprehensive-city/provincial/national; 500+ beds). At each meeting with informants, and after the conclusion of each participant interview, informants and participants would be asked if they had colleagues or acquaintances to recommend for the study. If the response was positive, then they would be asked if they could ask their contacts, and send along a copy of the researcher's WeChat business card, curriculum vitae, and bilingual copy of the informed consent.

Formal networks were based on institutional connections made through requests at medical establishments, such as medical schools, hospital and hospital administrative systems, medical associations, and government/public health administrative agencies. Major medical establishments in the Greater Bay Area (consisting of Guangdong Province in China, Hong Kong, and Macau) were contacted to obtain institutional support for the study. Support meant that the establishment would provide a liaison to help contact potential participants employed as staff at their home institution, or those that were alumni or active association members (ie, doctors, nurses, pharmacists, laboratory technicians, medical researchers, public health administrators with medical training). During the prospective enrollment process, local leaders and the study liaisons confirmed to potential participants that there would be no adverse impact for participating in the study, and that no data would be shared with their work units or network institution. The approval process involved firstly sharing a copy of the study informed consent, written in English and in Chinese, a digital copy of the researcher's curriculum vitae in English, and a digital copy of the researcher's bilingual business card via WeChat. Next, upon approval from the medical establishment, the institutional liaison assigned to formally support the study would establish appropriate departmental clearance and make connections with potential participants. Finally, institutional support for the study at these sites meant that participants could sit for an interview during normal work hours and at work facilities. At these sites, the institutional liaison conformed to the study inclusion criteria in identifying potential participants. Specifically, inclusion into the study from these formal connections included having worked in their hospital/medical facility as a medical or health professional as current full-time employees. Potential participants were then invited to face-to-face interviews individually on a 1-on-1 basis, sitting for an interview and sharing their WeChat contact information in an enclosed, secure, physical location separate from other colleagues. At the start of the interview, participants were asked if they willingly want to participate in the study, and if they agreed, were presented with

a hard copy of the informed consent. Each participant was asked a series of inclusion questions to verify eligibility.

Semiformal networks were connections made from study participants (originally from the formal networks) who were willing to serve as informants to make introductions to prospective participants from their own social networks. These prospective participants would be personal or professional network contacts, originally met through work, school alumni associations, or some type of professional capacity. They do not have current formal institutional (reporting or administrative) relationships with informants, to ensure that the interviews are not compelled. As semiformal networks did not require institutional support, informants who were already familiar with the interview and participant observation processes assessed which members of their social networks were trained medical and health professionals who fulfilled the inclusion criteria. Serving as informants, these participants would ask their contacts individually. If the prospective agreed to being interviewed, the informant would then send each party a contact card invitation within WeChat. After a prospective participant accepted the invitation to connect on WeChat, a copy of the informed consent and the bilingual business card would be sent. Interviews were then conducted either in-person at a neutral public location, online via WeChat, or in-person at the workplace of the participant.

Informal networks were connections made without the assistance of formal and semiformal informants, primarily through 1-on-1 engagement and interactions at health-oriented conferences, conventions, meetings, and networking events. These events were advertised to or promoted by informants from the formal and semiformal networks, but there were no direct links or contacts from them for connections at these venues. These venues were recommended by informants as professional events they themselves would normally attend, or be invited to, to connect in a professional capacity. At these events, potential participants from well-known health facilities (with operational presence in the Greater Bay Area) were approached, and asked if their organization as an institution, or health professionals from their organization individually, would be interested in participating in the study. At the initial meeting, prospective participants were presented with a hardcopy of the informed consent, and given a hardcopy of the bilingual business card. If they were then interested in participating, they would be asked the series of inclusion questions to verify eligibility. Prospective participants could decide when and where to conduct the face-to-face interview.

During the interview, participants were asked about their use of online social networking, WeChat usage, if they could describe or demonstrate some of the ways they use WeChat and their smartphones to support their medical and health care–related work tasks, and if they would be willing to connect on WeChat for digital communication and continued participation. When individual 1-on-1 connections were then made on WeChat, participants were sent an electronic copy of the study institutional review board approval. To observe participants using WeChat Groups as part of the digital ethnography, throughout the study, participants from formal, semiformal, and informal networks would share invitations with

XSL•FO

Data Management and Analysis

Qualitative data comprising field notes were typed in English and interviews were transcribed into Mandarin and English. These data were inputted and managed in NVivo. Thematic analysis [54,55] was supported by a deductive approach to the data and coded within NVivo. The main themes from interviews and descriptive observations from field notes and interviews were reported across the occupational specialty of participants.

Ethical Approval

This study was conducted in accordance with General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and approved by the University of Oslo Ethics Committee as part of IKOS grant number 275002 (2018).

Results

Overview

Interviews, digital ethnographies, and observations were conducted for 58 people (36 men, 22 women) and were included in the final analysis. Participants included doctors (clinicians, surgeons, and medical researchers), nurses, laboratory technicians, hospital pharmacists, and public health administrators (Table 1).

Table 1. Participant demographics, Guangdong, China, November 2018-2019 (N=58).

Characteristic	Participants
Gender, n (%)	
Male	36 (62)
Female	22 (38)
Medical profession, n (%)	
Doctors ^a	39 (67)
Nurses	3 (5)
Laboratory technicians	7 (12)
Pharmacists	2 (3)
Public health administrators	7 (12)

^aIncludes clinician, surgeons, and researchers.

Field sites included 24 health care facilities from Guangzhou (n=19, 79.2%), Dongguan (n=2, 8.3%), Shenzhen (n=1, 4.2%), Qingyuan (n=1, 4.2%), and Huizhou (n=1, 4.2%). Digital ethnographies were collected from online sources for each site. On-site visits were performed for 13 of the 24 (54.2%) health care facilities for extended interviews and in-person observations.

Constructs and Themes on WeChat Groups to Improve Patient-Centered Care

Analysis of the digital ethnography, field observations, and qualitative interviews revealed 4 construct sets grouped into 11 main themes for categorizing observations from site visits and participant interviews. Results are summarized in Table 2.

Overall, the bottom-up-driven creation of WeChat Groups among medical professionals' networks facilitated participants' skill development and knowledge broadening, leading to the improved ability to provide patient care and enhance specialization in their respective subfields. Specific pathways and mechanisms include establishing and utilizing connections in a widening network, enhanced opportunities in training and continuing education, improved access to knowledge base and equipment for diagnostics and procedures, and higher quality contact and linkage to patient histories. These processes collectively improve patient care via diagnosis, consultations, symptom/history reporting, and treatments, thereby improving quality and frequency of information sharing across diverse settings and geographic boundaries.



Table 2. Constructs and themes for use of WeChat Groups to improve patient care, medical training, and case reporting in health care settings in China, 2018-2019.

Construct	Theme
Establishing and Utilizing Connections in a Widening Net- work (Construct 1)	 Physical mobility improved knowledge of resource location, variety of activities, patient subgroup, disease concentrations (Theme 1) Geographic coverage and bridging administrative boundaries (Theme 2) WeChat Groups connectivity strengthened connections for support and opened up opportunities for information sharing, training venues, and continuing education (Theme 3)
Training and Continuing Education (Construct 2)	 Reading groups to improve skills up-training and continuing education (Theme 4) Access to paywall articles and books outside of China (Theme 5) Reducing barriers to differential access to international conference reporting, surveillance data, and medical treatment guidelines (Theme 6)
Improved Access to Knowledge Base and Equipment for Diagnostics and Procedures (Construct 3)	 Tapping the hive mind for knowledge and resources for diagnostic interpretation (Theme 7) Improved communication, better access to scarce resources located far away, groupmind/collective diagnosis (Theme 8) Research coordination and manuscript preparation (Theme 9)
Higher-Quality Patient Contact and Linkage to Patient Histories (Construct 4)	 Local-to-provincial consultation support (Theme 10) Better initial and follow-up contact and care for patients (Theme 11)

Construct 1: Establishing and Utilizing Connections in a Widening Network

Theme 1: Physical Mobility Improved Knowledge of Resource Location, Variety of Activities, Patient Subgroup, Disease Concentrations

While most participants were based in health facilities in Guangzhou, there was in fact a great deal of mobility among participants. As part of their clinical work, surveillance reporting, and continuing education, medical professionals routinely engaged in intraprovincial travel within Guangdong Province, and across the border to Hong Kong, Macau, and Taiwan. There were several annual medical conventions that were held in Shenzhen and Zhuhai, whereby participants would intermingle and engage with their networks. With frequent contact from these annual international, national, and provincial training meetings, participants could meet other medical professionals in person, learn about facilities and resources of their colleagues, and maintain contact to ask for support in their expanding WeChat Groups connections.

Theme 2: Geographic Coverage and Bridging Administrative Boundaries

Participants described that their professional networks on WeChat Groups extended beyond their home health care facility. WeChat Groups connections were created based on similarities in alma mater via informal alumni networks, professional colleagues in study abroad/medical internship programs, continuing education/professional specializations, formal affiliate hospital programs, and surveillance-reporting administrative structures. Hence, these WeChat Groups connections map onto professional networks that geographically span neighboring hospitals, across city-province connections, extending into the South China region to Hong Kong, Macau,

RenderX

and Taiwan, and reaching into international major research hubs in Japan, the United States, and Europe.

Theme 3: WeChat Groups Connectivity Strengthened Connections for Support and Opened up Opportunities for Information Sharing, Training Venues, and Continuing Education

After meeting in person, participants used these WeChat Groups connections to stay in touch digitally on a regular basis for professional support, sharing training event updates and relevant materials, and coordinating site visits with colleagues in other hospitals and health facilities. This was particularly the case for locations that specialize in certain treatments, procedures, operations, or patient populations. Participants located in more remote locations (away from Guangzhou) learned about the implementation of new technologies and techniques, and asked counterparts to share more information for local skills upgrading and training. Once part of an invited private group within WeChat Groups, it was possible to submit requests for assistance to other people in WeChat Groups that one may not have met in person before.

Construct 2: Training and Continuing Education

Theme 4: Reading Groups to Improve Skills Up-Training and Continuing Education

One of the more novel ways of using WeChat Groups observed in the field is the establishment of thematic reading groups (for English-language materials). Medical professionals, particularly doctors, would identify subject topics they collectively want to learn more about. Then they would share relevant research articles, book chapters, or diagnostic guidelines. On WeChat Groups, common problems in digesting the text were discussed, and supplemental materials would be shared. The materials most often shared among WeChat Groups connections established as reading groups were general public access medical guidelines published online, PDF files of biomedical articles

from online digital research repositories (eg, PubMed), PDF files of paywall-access materials obtained via an institutional account from a WeChat Groups member, digital copies of book chapters or medical textbooks shared by publishers with WeChat Groups members, and professional conference presentations content. Oftentimes, the reading groups would meet in person to collectively read the text to identify new terminology, procedures, and cutting-edge techniques and procedures applicable to clinical duties, biological sampling protocols, and out-patient surgical procedures.

Theme 5: Access to Paywall Articles and Books Outside of China

In recent years, health care facilities in China have gained greater access to medical databases and peer-reviewed journals. The push for open publishing and wider access to PubMed have made it much easier for medical professionals to access information on symptoms and disease development and progression. However, there are still many articles that are behind pricy subscription paywalls, and books that are too expensive for the acquisition budgets of smaller hospitals. Hence, participants turn to different connections in separate WeChat Groups, asking if group members have electronic copies that they can share directly. Participants in government institutions and in primary- and secondary-level rural-based hospitals acknowledge that colleagues in academic settings tend to have better access to these key resources. Within WeChat Groups, members with access to institutional accounts would obtain PDFs by searching for and accessing paywall articles, digital book chapters, and digitized books and textbooks. As these institutional accounts fulfill copyright laws and regulations, the subsequent limited amount of scholarly sharing is generally thought of as covered by the fair use exception for sharing these materials for educational and scholarly purposes.

Theme 6: Reducing Barriers to Differential Access to International Conference Reporting, Surveillance Data, and Medical Treatment Guidelines

Similarly, there seems to be differential access to international surveillance reports and reporting updates to international benchmark guidebooks. Participants indicated that doctors and technicians involved in international research collaborations tend to know about and gain access to international reports more readily than clinicians and public health administrators. As many medical professionals in China (and other LMICs) experience financial and bureaucratic constraints on attending international conferences, colleagues from academic institutions and competitive research–implementation collaborators share the newest guidelines, medications, and treatment regimens for patient care via their participation in various WeChat Groups activities.

For doctors, use of WeChat Groups helped improve their efficiency in patient-oriented care processes by facilitating their work in 3 primary ways. First, by using WeChat Groups, doctors could ask for help in locating descriptions of symptoms on articles posted on PubMed. PubMed is a free online resource as part of the US National Library of Medicine, and consists of search-and-retrievable open-access abstracts and links to millions of high-quality peer-reviewed biomedical and life

```
https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e26419
```

sciences research studies. However, because the interphase is in English, and being unfamiliar with site layout and system navigation, WeChat Groups users may need assistance in acquiring the knowledge and ability to navigate the English language site, to perform content searches and to access the relevant linked articles. Second, WeChat Groups helped doctors, particularly those located in primary and secondary hospitals in rural locations or low-resources settings, access the newest international guidelines on disease symptoms. These doctors are aware that updated content may have been presented at international conferences and national meetings attended by WeChat Groups members with access to greater financial resources. To help them accomplish their diagnostic and clinical work more efficiently by learning about updated guidelines, new clinical biological specimen sampling, and surgical procedures, WeChat Groups members may ask for copies of slides, PDFs, short videos, or presentation papers circulated at these events. Third, in reviewing the guidelines on the WeChat Groups platform, the members would hold discussions on how, where, when, and under which conditions the guidelines can be applied in clinical evaluations of symptoms for patient consultations and laboratory specimens. These mechanisms are now more easily performed via WeChat Groups. Overall, WeChat Groups support more efficient peer-to-peer upskill training of medical professionals for acquiring knowledge and skills delineated in updated guidelines, medications, and treatment regimens for patient consultation and surgical care.

Construct 3: Improved Access to Knowledge Base and Equipment for Diagnostics and Procedures

Theme 7: Tapping the Hive Mind for Knowledge and Resources for Diagnostic Interpretation

It is common practice for medical professionals to take photographs of patients' ailments, unprocessed biosamples, and processed specimens for health record documentation, surveillance and reporting, and research dissemination purposes. The innovative application by medical professionals is the uploading of these photographs to specialist WeChat Groups to support diagnostics and interpretation.

During analyses, the concept of becoming more efficient in accomplishing health care processes arose from interviews and observations of the health care professionals as they carried out their daily work. They described how their use of WeChat Groups helped them become more efficient at their tasks. Turning to WeChat Groups, members can streamline processes and procedures that previously took a great deal of time, required multiple steps, or were just not feasible before the implementation of bottom-up work-arounds using WeChat Groups. This access to a hive-mind approach is a shift in the ways that health professionals conceptualize their "available resources at hand." For example, it is customary for doctors at primary facilities (usually based in rural areas with low resources) to refer patients with unresolved ailments up to secondary (at township or city levels) or tertiary facilities (at provincial centers and regional hubs). Because the doctors, nurses, and laboratory technicians are part of a larger, integrated health care infrastructure, they can now use WeChat Groups to readily share pertinent information on symptoms, treatments,

XSL•FO RenderX

and evaluations of laboratory specimens. Previously, these upstream consultations with higher-level doctors may happen at quarterly in-person check-ins. It is now feasible to directly message the connections in WeChat Groups for support in diagnoses and consultations. For particularly difficult cases, it would be feasible to ask for support and help from WeChat Groups members working in facilities with more advanced equipment, either overseas or at national centers. Knowledge of these international linkages and nodes of resources are often shared at conferences during presentations and at large-scale yearly/quarterly training sessions across multiple hospitals in the same health care system. By connecting with members on WeChat Groups, medical professionals based in primary and secondary hospital settings can more quickly treat their local patients. For particularly difficult cases that required higher levels of access to medical diagnostic equipment or diagnosis evaluations, laboratory staff and medical clinicians would request support from WeChat Groups members based overseas for traineeships in medical and research facilities in locations such as the United States, Europe, and Japan. Hence, despite being based in a rural or low-resource hospital, health professionals are better connected to a wider medical knowledge base and diagnostic services in their home country, with increased access to high-quality Chinese- and English-language medical knowledge and diagnostic resources available abroad.

Theme 8: Improved Communication, Better Access to Scarce Resources Located Far Away, Group-Mind/Collective Diagnosis

Related to the hive minding of resources, if a health facility lacks specific equipment to provide an in-depth analysis, the photographs and accompanying medical information (deidentified of linkable patient data) are shared with members via WeChat Groups. The result being a hive-mind processing for knowledge base assessment and access to equipment at resource-rich locations. This pathway of accessing resources was described by laboratory technicians, whereby they take photographs of biospecimens, and would share the initial reporting with colleagues based in health facilities with more advanced equipment to obtain diagnostic support. This process could be considered an alternate form of telemedicine. Participants described using this process on WeChat Groups to connect with members located in the United States, asking for assistance to help run diagnostics for patients from health facilities in China.

Theme 9: Research Coordination and Manuscript Preparation

An increasingly prevalent concern among medical professionals in China is the growing pressure to produce research concomitant with clinical duties. As promotion and pay become linked to publication and journal prestige in Chinese medical systems, participants began using WeChat Groups to support research coordination and manuscript preparation. Clinically oriented staff and functional departments began to develop resources for sharing literature reviews, guidelines for implementing systematic reviews, sharing results of quantitative and diagnostic analyses, and manuscripts drafts using WeChat Groups.

https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e26419

Construct 4: Higher-Quality Patient Contact and Linkage to Patient Histories

Theme 10: Local-to-Provincial Consultation Support

In China, public hospitals are organized in a tiered hierarchy, with affiliate hospitals at the province, county, and township levels. When dealing with an ailment, many patients tend to try their local hospitals first. However, if the health professionals are unsure of the symptoms, clinical procedures, treatment, or medications, they may contact their colleagues higher-up in their surveillance reporting hierarchy to ask for clarification and assistance.

Theme 11: Better Initial and Follow-Up Contact and Care for Patients

Similar to the in-network patient referral process in US health systems, patients in China can be referred to specialists and departments at a higher-level affiliate hospital. This process can be disorienting for patients, so clinicians at local hospitals may contact their doctors in their surveillance reporting unit to ask for help in treating patients with problematic symptoms. In severe cases, the patients will be referred to the county, city, or provincial hospital. When necessary, doctors will coordinate care for patients in this manner, organizing surgeries and special consultations in affiliate units. The progression up this hierarchy is often used of organizing surgeries for patients. This practice is now becoming commonplace for diagnosis and treatment of infectious diseases and sexually transmitted illnesses and diseases. In this study, participants described how if patients are not able to get enough help in remote locations, or lower-tier locations, they go to Guangzhou. Then, it is possible for doctors to coordinate help with diagnostics and referrals and establish history of symptoms and treatment regimes.

Discussion

Principal Findings

How does WeChat Groups help medical professionals? In many LMICs, hospitals often lack access to the latest medical information and equipment for treating patients. In devising solutions to this dilemma, doctors and their support staff have come up with innovative ways to utilize online technologies and social media networks to overcome barriers in physical infrastructure. These solutions are beneficial to improving patient-centered care in LMICs and HICs alike.

One of the important findings of this study is that the establishment and agentic utility of a professional network for medical professionals are magnified and widened by using WeChat Groups. In fact, WeChat Groups now serve as a vital pathway for doctors, nurses, technicians, pharmacists, and public health administrators to access resources and share important occupation-based knowledge and procedures across geographic and administrative boundaries. This finding builds on reviews published by JMIR about health professionals using SNSs to build virtual communities and engage in professional communication [4,7-9]. It extends on previous findings by documenting the channels and mechanisms used to adapt SNSs [4], showing how doctors have progressed beyond using SNSs

for discussions about medical topics into repurposing apps to better perform health facility-based procedures and protocols [7]. Perhaps most importantly, WeChat Groups support communication across administrative barriers and great geographical distances internationally to improve dissemination of emerging local health crises along trusted member networks. By repurposing SNSs, doctors shared life-saving information on health care procedures to combat COVID-19 [2,5,21,52,56]. To coordinate resources for addressing localized emergencies, it is possible to notify members with differential resources to share them with members working with fewer resources. Willing members share resources and information, overcoming some of the distribution inequities by tapping into richer regions in China and abroad. Participants who have better access to paywall resources or better virtual private network (VPN)-controlled access to international materials can share these resources more easily using WeChat Groups. For example, first during their 1-on-1 interviews participants who reported obtaining information, and later, during participant observations, were observed using WeChat Groups to access World Health Organization (WHO) reports, country-specific Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) updates, including diagnostic guidelines and reports; conference proceedings from international events; and international diagnostic treatment and medication guidelines for illnesses. They requested and shared these materials collectively from WeChat Groups members and connections dedicated to occupational reading, paper writing, and implementing new international procedures.

Participants described how they use WeChat Groups to share information with each other. Using the sharing functionalities within WeChat Groups, health professionals are exchanging materials in English and Chinese, reflecting the internationalization of medical care and China's engagement within the international medical community. Collectively, resources shared include open-source journals, industry-specific guidelines and reports, and paywall subscription products that group members access via their institutional credentials to then share with their colleagues.

Within a large-scale health care structure, such as a comprehensive hospital, there may be several important health facilities/subgroups. From the analysis and results, WeChat Groups offer complementary mechanisms to achieve larger health care goals of improved patient care, lower opportunity costs in time and resources, and quicker sharing of pertinent health-related information. For example, hive-mind group-based diagnosis of images and laboratory results (laboratory technicians); sharing articles, medical papers, and reports for symptoms and diseases (doctors and nurses); textbooks and guidelines used for prepping surgeries and operative care (surgeons); newest diagnosis/screening techniques (clinicians and nurses); better access to international conference materials, guidelines, evidence-based surveillance reports (public health administrators); newer drug information; and wider networks to sell and source medications for hospital's in-house needs (pharmacists). These functions indicate that WeChat Groups not only concretely improve the pathways and mechanism of patient-centered care, but also provide additional opportunities

to improve the timetable, budgeting, and strategic operations of health care facilities.

The description of health and medical professionals using WeChat Groups, and finding it offers an "efficient" approach to carrying out procedures, arose from analysis of the interviews and participant observations. During fieldwork and interviews, clinical doctors and health care professionals who work in hospital settings, namely, laboratory staff, described the efficiency as saving time and labor, and reducing steps to completion of procedural steps in patient care. Participants described increasing their efficiency by tapping into the specialist colleagues via WeChat Groups for help in the diagnosis of samples. For doctors, tapping into their professional contacts facilitated their work in 3 primary ways. First, it helped them locate descriptions of symptoms on articles posted on PubMed. Second, it helped them access the newest international guidelines on disease symptoms and on updated content presented at international conferences attended by WeChat Groups members with access to more financial resources. Third, in reviewing the guidelines on the platform, members would hold discussions about how, where, when, and under which conditions the guidelines can be applied in the clinical evaluations of symptoms for patient consultations and laboratory specimens. These 4 key mechanisms, described by and observed among clinicians and laboratory staff, delineate concrete ways in which using WeChat Groups helped them perform necessary health care procedures more effectively. In sum, health care professionals found this approach to be efficient because it helped in reducing the time from first consultation to diagnosis, checking for continued adherence to newly updated diagnostic and treatment guidelines, and obtaining second opinions from other doctors and health care professionals in their networks who logged more experience and continued medical education training via international conferences, national meetings, and overseas traineeships.

Collectively, clinicians, technicians, and researchers have limited access to the most up-to-date facilities and knowledge for their work. The difficulties include the need to train the hospital staff, provide analyses of biological specimens for diagnosis, and keep staff abreast of latest developments in trends and clinical procedures. Overall, medical professionals use WeChat Groups to access information and resources and support their staff's capacity to share resources across social networks. These functions, both offline and online, are becoming increasing important in the transfer of technologies, skills, and knowledge from HIC into LMIC settings to support equitable global development and improve global health equity. In this vein, clinicians across several disciplines have identified novel ways to utilize WeChat Groups for training of students in multimodal curriculums [46-48]. The solution that organically arose is to use WeChat Groups to effectively pool resources and knowledge from social networks that map beyond the physical limitations of a hospital or single medical facility.

Limitations

This study demonstrates the pathways of information sharing engaged by medical professionals within and outside of China, but is limited in discerning the strength of these interactions.



During the study data collection, participants highlighted the locations and venues where their connections were first made, describing why trust was important for validating linkages, and relating how trust was established for other members in a given professional group established within WeChat Groups. In-person observations, interviews, and digital ethnographies were used to identify the differentiated roles that various members in a group performed. However, one of the limitations of this study is that follow-ups with individual participants were limited, hence information on why individual connections within a group were made is reliant on interview information collected during initial entry into the study. Observations of which individuals were tapped for various types of information, what kind of resources were used to obtain the information, or how the data shared in the online setting of social media transcended into improvements in medical transcription of patient records or offline patient cares services are limited to WeChat Groups chat functions only. Further studies into the next steps of patient care could help improve knowledge of how medical professionals implement tailored services for patients across LMIC settings across geographic barriers.

Another limitation of the study is that there was minimal documentation, interview questions, and participant observations of the technological deficiencies in the functions of WeChat, or the impact of these technological issues on the dynamics of WeChat Groups. For example, in the wider literature, issues such as restrictions on the maximize size of a file upload may have imposed size limitations on information sharing for large files, such as videos clips of presentations. Another technological difficulty was that images and files that are not immediately downloaded and saved onto the hard drive of the smartphone or onto a synced-up account on a computer could be deemed "unavailable" after the regularly scheduled purge. At times, when certain websites or links could not go through due to censorship algorithms, WeChat Groups members would take screenshots of the websites or content, then share the screenshots as a series of photograph images. Overall, these technological deficiencies in WeChat and WeChat Groups had minimal impact, and were readily dealt with in the data collection process because WeChat users in China are accustomed to creative solutions in circumventing restrictions

[56]. As part of the digital ethnography data collection process, when technical issues arose on WeChat or within WeChat Groups, the impacted study participants were directly contacted on WeChat via text message or WeChat call on a 1-on-1 basis, by phone call or email, and alternative methods for sharing large files, for circumventing censorship algorithms, or for resharing the "unavailable" files again, and thus succeeding in completing data collection. Future research could delve into the technological deficiencies and the bottom-up work-arounds developed by health professionals to overcome restrictions in information sharing.

Conclusion

Implementation of new digital technologies in medicine is important in maintaining excellence and innovation in health care across low-, middle-, and high-income settings. Publicly available popular social media apps can help save time and reduce costly staff upskills training, offering an increasingly invaluable option for continuing medical education and eHealth around the world [13]. In the wake of the global pandemic caused by COVID-19, health professionals are increasingly turning to social media messaging apps to share life-saving diagnosis and treatment information across closed international borders [2]. This paper illuminates emergent, ethnographic, and qualitative methodologies to investigate the linkages, actors, and pathways in the sharing of information and resources across spatial differentials. Moreover, these results can help inform feasibility and scalability studies [13,18] by providing evidence-based development of appropriate metrics for future quantitative assessments and evaluations of social media implementation programs. Furthermore, this paper describes the socioeconomic and geospatial disparities experienced in LMICs, and the innovative, bottom-up approaches and concomitant pathways and mechanisms devised by medical professionals to overcome these barriers. These processes of information sharing and internal resource redistribution can improve health equity in international patient-centered care. This paper contributes to efforts in implementing transfers of technologies, knowledge, skills, and abilities to support equitable global development and global health equity in low-resource settings.

Acknowledgments

The author thanks Director Owen Ligang Yang of the Dermatology Hospital at Southern Medical University and Professor Yu Cheng of the Center for Medical Humanities at the Sun Yat-sen University for their unwavering support and guidance for this project. The author extends her gratitude to the gracious staff at each of the health facilities who provided interviews and shared their experiences during the many visits during their work. Their contributions and involvement in the study were invaluable. This study was supported by the Research Council of Norway (Grant Number 275002, 2018; principal investigator: HO Haugen of the Department of Culture Studies and Oriental Languages at the University of Oslo, Project Brokex-Brokering China's Extraversion: An Ethnographic Analysis of Transnational Arbitration). The author also appreciates the opportunity to present early drafts of this manuscript to the Mobile Medical Materials Working Group, and thanks the group members for their feedback. This manuscript has benefited greatly from their suggestions.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.



References

- 1. Slovensky DJ, Malvey DM, Neigel AR. A model for mHealth skills training for clinicians: meeting the future now. Mhealth 2017;3:24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/mhealth.2017.05.03] [Medline: 28736733]
- Boseley S. How UK doctor linked rare blood-clotting to AstraZeneca Covid jab. The Guardian. 2021 Apr 13. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/society/2021/apr/13/how-uk-doctor-marie-scully-blood-clotting-link-astrazeneca-covid-jab-university-college-london-hospital</u> [accessed 2022-06-19]
- Brandt CJ, Søgaard GI, Clemensen J, Søndergaard J, Nielsen JB. Determinants of Successful eHealth Coaching for Consumer Lifestyle Changes: Qualitative Interview Study Among Health Care Professionals. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jul 05;20(7):e237 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9791] [Medline: 29980496]
- 4. Chan WS, Leung AY. Use of Social Network Sites for Communication Among Health Professionals: Systematic Review. J Med Internet Res 2018 Mar 28;20(3):e117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8382] [Medline: 29592845]
- 5. Doctor's WeChat group offers encouragement. China Daily. 2020 Apr 3. URL: <u>https://www.chinadaily.com.cn/a/202004/</u>03/WS5e86885ba310128217284159.html [accessed 2022-06-19]
- Denneson LM, Cromer R, Williams HB, Pisciotta M, Dobscha SK. A Qualitative Analysis of How Online Access to Mental Health Notes Is Changing Clinician Perceptions of Power and the Therapeutic Relationship. J Med Internet Res 2017 Jun 14;19(6):e208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6915] [Medline: 28615152]
- Hazzam J, Lahrech A. Health Care Professionals' Social Media Behavior and the Underlying Factors of Social Media Adoption and Use: Quantitative Study. J Med Internet Res 2018 Nov 07;20(11):e12035 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12035] [Medline: 30404773]
- Rolls K, Hansen M, Jackson D, Elliott D. How Health Care Professionals Use Social Media to Create Virtual Communities: An Integrative Review. J Med Internet Res 2016 Jun 16;18(6):e166 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5312] [Medline: 27328967]
- Rolls K, Hansen M, Jackson D, Elliott D. Why We Belong Exploring Membership of Healthcare Professionals in an Intensive Care Virtual Community Via Online Focus Groups: Rationale and Protocol. JMIR Res Protoc 2016 Jun 13;5(2):e99 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.5323] [Medline: 27296929]
- 10. Waegemann C. mHealth: history, analysis, and implementation. In: M-Health Innovations for Patient-Centered Care. Hershey, PA: IGI Global; 2016:1-19.
- Istepanian R, Jovanov E, Zhang Y. Introduction to the special section on M-Health: beyond seamless mobility and global wireless health-care connectivity. IEEE Trans Inf Technol Biomed 2004 Dec;8(4):405-414. [doi: 10.1109/titb.2004.840019] [Medline: 15615031]
- 12. WHO Global Observatory for eHealth. mHealth: new horizons for health through mobile technologies: second global survey on eHealth. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2011.
- Safi S, Thiessen T, Schmailzl KJ. Acceptance and Resistance of New Digital Technologies in Medicine: Qualitative Study. JMIR Res Protoc 2018 Dec 04;7(12):e11072 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11072] [Medline: 30514693]
- George PP, Zhabenko O, Kyaw BM, Antoniou P, Posadzki P, Saxena N, et al. Online Digital Education for Postregistration Training of Medical Doctors: Systematic Review by the Digital Health Education Collaboration. J Med Internet Res 2019 Feb 25;21(2):e13269 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13269] [Medline: 30801252]
- 15. Gong WJ. Pharma companies in China utilize WeChat for engagement. C3i Solutions. 2016 Oct 4. URL: <u>https://lifesciencescare.hcltech.com/blog/pharma-china-wechat/</u> [accessed 2022-06-20]
- Sturman C. Babylon Health partners with Tencent in a bid to enter the Chinese market. Healthcare-Digital.: Healthcare-Digital.com; 2020 May 17. URL: <u>https://healthcare-digital.com/technology-and-ai/</u> <u>babylon-health-partners-tencent-bid-enter-chinese-market</u> [accessed 2020-10-26]
- Car J, Carlstedt-Duke J, Tudor Car L, Posadzki P, Whiting P, Zary N, Digital Health Education Collaboration. Digital Education in Health Professions: The Need for Overarching Evidence Synthesis. J Med Internet Res 2019 Feb 14;21(2):e12913 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12913] [Medline: 30762583]
- Fasterholdt I, Lee A, Kidholm K, Yderstræde KB, Pedersen KM. A qualitative exploration of early assessment of innovative medical technologies. BMC Health Serv Res 2018 Nov 06;18(1):837 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-018-3647-z] [Medline: 30400921]
- Posadzki P, Bala MM, Kyaw BM, Semwal M, Divakar U, Koperny M, et al. Offline Digital Education for Postregistration Health Professions: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis by the Digital Health Education Collaboration. J Med Internet Res 2019 Apr 24;21(4):e12968 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12968] [Medline: 31017584]
- Kupferschmidt K, Cohen J. Can China's COVID-19 strategy work elsewhere? Science 2020 Mar 06;367(6482):1061-1062. [doi: <u>10.1126/science.367.6482.1061</u>] [Medline: <u>32139521</u>]
- 21. Ma Z. Overseas Chinese get help from physicians back home. China Daily. 2020 Mar 16. URL: <u>https://www.chinadaily.com.cn/a/202003/16/WS5e6ebad1a31012821727f3bd.html</u> [accessed 2020-10-26]
- Liu W, Yue X, Tchounwou PB. Response to the COVID-19 Epidemic: The Chinese Experience and Implications for Other Countries. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Mar 30;17(7):2304 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17072304] [Medline: 32235413]

- 23. Graziani T. WeChat impact report 2018: all the latest WeChat data. WalktheChat. 2018 Jul 4. URL: <u>https://walkthechat.</u> <u>com/wechat-impact-report-2016/</u> [accessed 2020-08-19]
- 24. WeChatWiki. WeChat data, insights and statistics: user profile, behaviours, usages, market trends. WeChatWiki. URL: https://wechatwiki.com/wechat-resources/wechat-data-insight-trend-statistics/ [accessed 2020-08-19]
- 25. Statista Research Department. Number of monthly active WeChat users from 2nd quarter 2011 to 2nd quarter 2020 (in millions) (Chart). Statistica. 2020 Nov 20. URL: <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/255778/</u> <u>number-of-active-wechat-messenger-accounts/</u> [accessed 2021-10-26]
- 26. Thomala L. Number of monthly active WeChat users from 2nd quarter to 2nd quarter 2021 (in millions). Statistica. 2021 Aug 25. URL: <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/255778/number-of-active-wechat-messenger-accounts/</u> [accessed 2021-08-25]
- 27. Global Web Index. WeChat is fastest growing chat app globally between Q1 2013 and Q1 2014 (Chart). GWI. 2014 May 16. URL: <u>https://blog.gwi.com/chart-of-the-day/wechat-rises-to-become-fastest-growing-messaging-app-in-the-last-year/</u>[accessed 2021-10-27]
- 28. Statistica Research Department. Global social networks ranked by number of users. Statistica. 2021 Sep 10. URL: <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/272014/global-social-networks-ranked-by-number-of-users/</u> [accessed 2021-10-29]
- 29. Mander J. WeChat rises to become the fastest growing messaging app in the last year. GWI. 2014 May 16. URL: <u>https://blog.gwi.com/chart-of-the-day/wechat-rises-to-become-fastest-growing-messaging-app-in-the-last-year/</u> [accessed 2021-10-27]
- 30. Velluet Q. South-Africa: We want to create a WeChat for Africa, MTN CEO Ralph Mupita. The Africa Report. URL: <u>https://www.theafricareport.com/81681/south-africa-we-want-to-create-a-wechat-for-africa-mtn-ceo-ralph-mupita/</u>[accessed 2021-10-29]
- 31. Mander J. WeChat retains crown as top mobile messaging app. Global Web Index. 2014 Nov 20. URL: <u>https://blog.gwi.com/</u> <u>chart-of-the-day/wechat-retains-crown-as-top-mobile-messaging-app/</u> [accessed 2021-10-27]
- 32. Negro G. Chinese internet companies go global: online traffic, framing, and open issues. In: Kent M, Ellis K, Xu J, editors. Chinese Social Media: Social, Cultural, and Political Implications. New York, NY: Routledge; 2017:175-190.
- Andre L. 178 Significant WeChat Statistics: 2021 Market Share and Data Analysis. Finances Online Reviews for Business. 2021 Oct 26. URL: <u>https://financesonline.com/wechat-statistics/</u> [accessed 2021-10-30]
- Statistica Research Department. Most popular Asia-based mobile messenger app as of 4th quarter 2020, by number of monthly active users. Statistica. 2021 Apr 07. URL: <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/250548/</u> most-popular-asian-mobile-messenger-apps/ [accessed 2021-10-30]
- 35. Hu K. WeChat US ban cuts off users link to families in China. Reuters: Technology News. 2020 Aug 07. URL: <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-tencent-holdings-wechat-ban/</u> wechat-u-s-ban-cuts-off-users-link-to-families-in-china-idUSKCN253339 [accessed 2020-11-15]
- Wang Y. WeChat is a Trap for China's Diaspora: App's dominance forces people to adopt self-censorship to stay in touch. Foreign Policy. 2020 Aug 14. URL: <u>https://foreignpolicy.com/2020/08/14/</u> wechat-ban-trump-chinese-diaspora-china-surveillance/ [accessed 2021-10-30]
- Riaz M, Sherani. Investigation of information sharing via multiple social media platforms: a comparison of Facebook and WeChat adoption. Qual Quant 2021 Jan 02;55(5):1751-1773. [doi: 10.1007/s11135-020-01079-2]
- 38. 9 Ways the WeChat super app is becoming the front door to Chinese healthcare. Research Briefs. 2020 Feb 19. URL: <u>https://www.cbinsights.com/research/wechat-digital-health-china/</u> [accessed 2020-08-17]
- Zhang X, Wen D, Liang J, Lei J. How the public uses social media wechat to obtain health information in china: a survey study. BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making 2017 Jul 05;17(Suppl 2):66 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-017-0470-0] [Medline: 28699549]
- 40. Liang F. COVID-19 and Health Code: How Digital Platforms Tackle the Pandemic in China. Soc Media Soc 2020 Jul 11;6(3):2056305120947657 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2056305120947657] [Medline: 34192023]
- 41. Xie W, Yang X, Cao X, Liu P. Effects of a comprehensive reservation service for non-emergency registration on appointment registration rate, patient waiting time, patient satisfaction and outpatient volume in a tertiary hospital in China. BMC Health Serv Res 2019 Nov 01;19(1):782 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-019-4652-6] [Medline: 31675973]
- 42. Li T, Ding W, Li X, Lin A. Mobile health technology (WeChat) for the hierarchical management of community hypertension: protocol for a cluster randomized controlled trial. PPA 2019 Aug; Volume 13:1339-1352. [doi: <u>10.2147/ppa.s215719</u>]
- Xu H, Huang S, Qiu C, Liu S, Deng J, Jiao B, et al. Monitoring and Management of Home-Quarantined Patients With COVID-19 Using a WeChat-Based Telemedicine System: Retrospective Cohort Study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jul 02;22(7):e19514 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19514] [Medline: 32568727]
- Liu L, Wei K, Zhang X, Wen D, Gao L, Lei J. The Current Status and a New Approach for Chinese Doctors to Obtain Medical Knowledge Using Social Media: A Study of WeChat. Wireless Communications and Mobile Computing 2018;2018:2329876. [doi: 10.1155/2018/2329876]
- 45. Luan H, Wang M, Sokol RL, Wu S, Victor BG, Perron BE. A scoping review of WeChat to facilitate professional healthcare education in Mainland China. Med Educ Online 2020 Dec 23;25(1):1782594 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10872981.2020.1782594] [Medline: 32573367]

- Zhang W, Li Z, Li Z, WeChat as a Platform for Problem-Based Learning in a Dental Practical Clerkship: Feasibility Study. 46. J Med Internet Res 2019 Mar 19;21(3):e12127 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12127] [Medline: 30888328]
- Zeng F, Deng G, Wang Z, Liu L. WeChat: a new clinical teaching tool for problem-based learning. Int J Med Educ 2016 47. Apr 25;7:119-121 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5116/ijme.5708.e5c4] [Medline: 27111920]
- Wang J, Gao F, Li J, Zhang J, Li S, Xu G, et al. The usability of WeChat as a mobile and interactive medium in 48. student-centered medical teaching. Biochem Mol Biol Educ 2017 Sep 05;45(5):421-425 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/bmb.21065] [Medline: 28581156]
- 49. Arch. How to invite to a group in WeChat. TechJunkie. 2019 Aug 12. URL: https://social.techjunkie.com/wechat-invite-group/ [accessed 2020-10-28]
- 50. Iurlov A. About wechat groups. Wechat-world. URL: http://www.wechat-world.com/wechat-groups-info/ [accessed 2020-10-28]
- WeChat Help Center. Create a group chat for gathering and discussions. WeChat. 2020 Oct 28. URL: https://help.wechat.com/ 51. cgi-bin/micromsg-bin/oshelpcenter?t=help_center/ topic_detail&opcode=2&plat=android&lang=en&id=160527U7VFbI1605277ZjIby&Channel= [accessed 2020-11-25]
- 52. Green A. Li Wenliang. The Lancet 2020 Feb;395(10225):682 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30382-2]
- 53. Wang X, Seyler BC, Han W, Pan J. An integrated analysis of spatial access to the three-tier healthcare delivery system in China: a case study of Hainan Island. Int J Equity Health 2021 Feb 12;20(1):60 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12939-021-01401-w] [Medline: 33579289]
- 54. Verdinelli S, Scagnoli NI. Data Display in Qualitative Research. International Journal of Qualitative Methods 2013 Feb 01;12(1):359-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/160940691301200117]
- 55. Vaismoradi M, Snelgrove S. Theme in Qualitative Content Analysis and Thematic Analysis. Forum: Qualitative Social Research (Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung) 2019 Sep 01;6:Article#23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.17169/fgs-20.3.3376]
- 56. Li S. China's internet users foil censors to keep a Wuhan's doctor's interview online. Wall Street Journal. 2020 Mar 13. URL: https://www.wsj.com/articles/

chinas-internet-users-foil-censors-to-keep-a-wuhan-doctors-interview-online-11584112313 [accessed 2021-10-30]

Abbreviations

CDC: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention **GDPR:** General Data Protection Regulation **HIC:** high-income country LMIC: low-and-middle-income country mHealth: mobile health SNS: social networking site VPN: virtual private network WHO: World Health Organization

Edited by N Zary; submitted 10.12.20; peer-reviewed by Z Li, S Mathews; comments to author 15.03.21; revised version received 31.10.21; accepted 23.12.21; published 29.07.22.

Please cite as: Tso LS

Use of Social Media for Implementing Diagnoses, Consultation, Training, and Case Reporting Among Medical Professionals to Improve Patient Care: Case Study of WeChat Groups Across Health Care Settings JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e26419 URL: https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e26419 doi:<u>10.2196/26419</u> PMID: 35904858

©Lai Sze Tso. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (https://mededu.jmir.org), 29.07.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Assessing Medical Student Readiness to Navigate Language Barriers in Telehealth: Cross-sectional Survey Study

Leena Yin^{1,2*}, MD; Fiona Ng^{3*}, MPH, MD; Mateo Rutherford-Rojas⁴, MA, MATI, CHI; Mia Williams⁵, MS, MD; Susannah Cornes⁶, MD; Alicia Fernandez^{7,8}, MD; Maria E Garcia^{5,9}, MPH, MAS, MD; Elaine C Khoong^{7,8}, MS, MD

⁹Multiethnic Health Equity Research Center, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, United States

^{*}these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Elaine C Khoong, MS, MD Division of General Internal Medicine at Zuckerberg San Francisco General Hospital Department of Medicine University of California, San Francisco San Francisco, CA United States Phone: 1 6282063188 Email: elaine.khoong@ucsf.edu

Abstract

Background: The COVID-19 pandemic has greatly increased telehealth usage in the United States. Patients with limited English proficiency (LEP) face barriers to health care, which may be mitigated when providers work with professional interpreters. However, telehealth may exacerbate disparities if clinicians are not trained to work with interpreters in that setting. Although medical students are now involved in telehealth on an unprecedented scale, no educational innovations have been published that focus on digital care across language barriers.

Objective: The aim of this study is to investigate advanced medical students' confidence in caring for patients with LEP during telehealth encounters.

Methods: We administered a written survey to medical students on clinical clerkships at one US institution in August and September 2020. We assessed students' overall confidence in working with interpreters; confidence in performing 8 clinical tasks during in-person versus telehealth encounters; and frequency of performing 5 different clinical tasks with patients with LEP compared to English-speaking patients during in-person versus telehealth encounters. Wilcoxon signed-rank tests and chi-square tests were used to compare confidence and task performance frequency, respectively, for patients with LEP versus English-speaking patients during telehealth encounters. Students were also asked to identify barriers to care for patients with LEP. The free-response questions were qualitatively analyzed using open coding to identify key themes.

Results: Of 300 medical students surveyed, 121 responded. Furthermore, 72 students answered >50% of questions and were included in the analyses. Compared to caring for patients with LEP during in-person encounters, respondents were less confident in working with interpreters (P<.001), developing trust (P<.001), identifying agenda (P=.005), eliciting preferences for diabetes management (P=.01), and empowering patients in lifestyle modifications (P=.04) during telehealth encounters. During both in-person and telehealth encounters, approximately half of students (40%-78%) reported engaging less frequently in every clinical task with patients with LEP and this was as low as 22% (13/59) for some tasks. Students identified these key barriers to care for

¹School of Medicine, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, United States

²Department of Family Medicine, Swedish Cherry Hill Hospital, Seattle, WA, United States

³Department of Medicine, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, United States

⁴Interpreting, Translation and Language Services, UCSF Health, San Francisco, CA, United States

⁵Division of General Internal Medicine, Department of Medicine, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, United States

⁶Weill Institute for Neurosciences, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, United States

⁷Division of General Internal Medicine at Zuckerberg San Francisco General Hospital, Department of Medicine, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, United States

⁸UCSF Center for Vulnerable Populations at Zuckerberg San Francisco General Hospital, San Francisco, CA, United States

patients with LEP: time pressure, interpretation quality and access, technical difficulties, cultural differences, and difficulty with rapport building.

Conclusions: Advanced medical students were significantly less confident caring for patients with LEP via telehealth than in person. Broader implementation of training around navigating language barriers is necessary for telehealth care, which has rapidly expanded in the United States. Our study identified potential key areas for curricular focus, including creating patient-centered agendas and management plans within the constraints of virtual settings. These developments must take place simultaneously with systems-level improvements in interpreter infrastructure to ensure high-quality care for linguistically diverse patients.

(JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e36096) doi:10.2196/36096

KEYWORDS

interpreters; language barriers; medical students; medical education; limited English proficiency; telehealth; telemedicine; online education; clinician; health care professional

Introduction

In the last two years, we have seen a massive increase in telehealth use as hospitals and clinics work to minimize COVID-19 transmission [1]. In the United States alone, one study estimated that usage has increased by 8336% from prepandemic levels [2]. These changes, which will likely last beyond the pandemic [3], have the potential to broaden access to care and decrease health care costs; however, they may also widen existing disparities [4-6].

Decades of research have shown that patients with limited English proficiency (LEP), who comprise 8% of the US population [7], have poorer health outcomes compared with their English-speaking counterparts. These outcomes, ranging from hospital admission to medication-related adverse events [8], can be partially explained by worse access to care [9-11]. For telehealth, patients with LEP had lower rates of use than proficient English speakers even before the pandemic [12]. This gap has persisted throughout the pandemic-driven telehealth expansion [13,14]. Additionally, patients with LEP who do access care, even in traditional modalities, may continue to outcomes unless experience poorer seen by а language-concordant provider or a provider working with a professional interpreter [15-17], which is not always the case. In one national study, 40% of ambulatory physicians reported never working with professional interpreters for their patients with LEP [18].

Formal training around care for patients with LEP is associated with more frequently engaging with professional interpreters for residents [19] and improved skills during clinical simulations for medical students [20]. However, not all institutions provide training, and for those that do, the curricular content can vary widely from simulated patient cases to online videos [19,21]. Although schools are rapidly developing novel telehealth curricula to prepare their trainees for the changing health care landscape, to the authors' knowledge, no innovations have been published that focus on digital care across language barriers [22-25]. Further, students' baseline confidence and attitudes around virtual care for patients with LEP, which would help guide the development of such curricula, are unknown.

We set out to examine advanced medical students' confidence and attitudes toward caring for patients with LEP via telehealth compared with their experiences caring for these patients in person.

Methods

Study Design and Participants

This was a cross-sectional survey study of medical students, using a modified version of a survey previously used to assess resident physicians' experiences working with patients with LEP during in-person interactions [26]. For the medical student survey, we added questions related to telehealth encounters and removed questions that were outside the scope of care provided by medical students. This survey (Multimedia Appendix 1) included questions about respondent characteristics (year in medical school, languages spoken other than English); clinical experience (time spent on clinical rotations at the time of survey, total number of in-person and telehealth encounters with patients with LEP); and any relevant training for caring for patients with LEP outside of the school curriculum. The current curriculum includes a 1-hour lecture on working with interpreters and a 3-hour simulated encounter involving a patient with LEP in which learners communicated with a standardized patient in Spanish or Chinese (Cantonese) by working with nationally certified health care interpreters.

Survey Administration

This version of the survey was pretested with 2 medical students prior to distribution. The target population of this cross-sectional survey study was third- and fourth-year clerkship medical students at a single US institution. From August to September 2020, we electronically distributed the survey (through Qualtrics) to students who had started clerkships. Our study team sent 4 reminders to encourage participation in the survey, which was voluntary for all students. Students were not required to answer all survey questions.

Primary Outcomes

The survey included questions on students' overall confidence in care of patients with LEP. To explore whether students' confidence would differ when performing clinical tasks of varied complexity, respondents rated their confidence in 8 different clinical tasks for an imagined Amharic-speaking versus English-speaking patient in a telehealth and in-person encounter. These 8 clinical tasks included identifying the patient's agenda, negotiating visit agenda, assessing medication adherence,

developing trust, understanding the patient's beliefs regarding diabetes mellitus (DM), eliciting patient preferences for DM management, empowering the patient in lifestyle modifications for DM, and incorporating patient preferences and goals in action planning. We asked students to rate their confidence working with a patient with LEP compared with an English-speaking patient using a 5-point Likert scale ranging from very confident to not at all confident. At the time of this study, medical student involvement in telehealth was still in its early stages, making objective assessment challenging; thus, we chose confidence as our outcome based on previous studies in this area and in medical education [26-32].

Secondary Outcomes

Respondents also compared how frequently they performed 5 different clinical tasks for patients with LEP compared with English-speaking patients during in-person and telehealth encounters. These tasks included performing teach-back, discussing social history details, determining beliefs regarding the management plan, making a personal connection, and asking about nonmedical interests. Students chose from a 5-point Likert scale (ranging from much less often to much more often with LEP patients).

To identify potential explanations for the quantitative findings, in 2 free-response questions, students were asked for their impressions of barriers to caring for patients with LEP in person and in telehealth settings.

Ethical Considerations

This protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the University of California, San Francisco (#19-29759). All survey responses were completely anonymous. Respondents viewed and agreed with the informed consent statement before proceeding to the first page of survey questions.

Analysis

All statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS software (version 27; IBM Corp). For all tests, we defined significance as 2-sided P<.05.

For our primary outcomes, we used Wilcoxon signed-rank tests to compare students' overall confidence working with interpreters in telehealth versus in-person settings.

For our secondary outcome of task confidence, we used Wilcoxon signed-rank tests to compare confidence in each of

the 8 clinical tasks with patients with and without English proficiency in the telehealth setting, and confidence with care for patients with LEP between in-person and telehealth modalities. For our secondary outcome of relative frequency, we dichotomized the frequency of performing each of the 5 clinical tasks into performing the task less frequently with patients with LEP or equally/more frequently with patients with LEP. We used a chi-square test to compare the relative frequencies of students performing each clinical task during in-person encounters versus telehealth encounters.

We performed bivariate analysis using chi-square tests or Fisher exact tests to identify associations between the outcomes and students' languages spoken or number of total past encounters with patients with LEP.

To explore potential explanations for our quantitative findings, we summarized the emerging themes from written responses to the free-response questions about barriers to care for patients with LEP in telehealth settings. One author (LY) reviewed all the responses and coded the key barriers using a modified grounded theory methodology [33]; a second author (FN) reviewed the coding. Consensus was reached through discussion and any disagreement was adjudicated by a third author (ECK).

Results

Participant Characteristics

A total of 121/300 (40%) medical students responded to the survey. Only respondents who completed at least 50% of survey questions were included in the statistical analysis (n=72; response rate=24%). As not all 72 respondents answered every survey question, we report data using denominators that reflect those who responded to the specific questions analyzed. One respondent had submitted the survey twice. Only data from the survey where this respondent had completed more survey questions were included in the statistical analysis. Among the 72 respondents, 43% (n=31) attended the 3-hour standardized patient encounter approximately 8-9 months prior to completing the survey. Most respondents have had more than 15 in-person encounters with patients with LEP. Conversely, most respondents have had less than 5 telehealth encounters with patients with LEP. Respondent characteristics are provided in Table 1.



Table 1. Characteristics of medical student respondents (N=72).

Characteristic	Participants, n (%)	
Year in medical school ^a		
Third year	25 (35)	
Fourth year and above	46 (65)	
Fluently speaks a non-English language	26 (36)	
Number of encounters with patients with limited English proficiency		
In person		
≤5 encounters	2 (3)	
6-15 encounters	19 (27)	
>15 encounters	51 (71)	
Telehealth		
≤5 encounters	57 (79)	
6-15 encounters	14 (20)	
>15 encounters	1 (1)	

^aSample size (N=71; missing=1).

Primary Outcomes

Overall Confidence in Working With Interpreters

Among the 72 respondents, 61% (44/72) were either confident or very confident working with interpreters in person (Table 2).

In comparison, respondents were significantly less confident in working with interpreters in telehealth encounters; only 30% (21/72) of respondents were confident or very confident (*P*<.001).

Table 2. Respondents' confidence in working with interpreters in different clinical settings.

	In-person encounters (N=72), n (%)	Telehealth encounters (N=72), n (%)
Confidence levels		
Not at all confident	0 (0)	4 (6)
Not confident	3 (4)	8 (11)
Somewhat confident	21 (29)	31 (43)
Confident	29 (40)	15 (22)
Very confident	15 (21)	6 (8)

Confidence in Performing Patient-Centered Clinical Tasks

At least 40% of the 72 respondents reported confidence in performing each of the 8 tasks for an English-speaking patient during a hypothetical telehealth encounter (Figure 1; see Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 2 for complete data). In the telehealth setting, respondents were significantly less confident

when performing each of the 8 clinical tasks with a patient with LEP than with an English-speaking patient (P<.001). Less than 20% of students reported confidence performing each of the 8 tasks with a patient with LEP, except identifying the patient's agenda (23/64, 36%). Respondents felt the least confident in developing trust (6/61, 10%) and understanding the patient's beliefs regarding DM (5/64, 8%) for the patient with LEP.



Figure 1. Confidence performing clinical tasks during telehealth encounters. Comparing medical students' self-reported confidence in performing 8 patient-centered tasks in the telehealth setting when working with patients with LEP versus English-speaking patients. Graphs show the percentage of respondents who were "confident" in performing each of the 8 tasks with either patient in the telehealth setting. Percentages reflect only those who rated their confidence in performing clinical tasks with both patients in the telehealth setting (N=61-64). **P*<.001 (Wilcoxon signed-rank test, see Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 2). DM: diabetes; LEP: limited English proficiency.



Patients With LEP in Telehealth Versus In-Person Settings

Across all 8 tasks, a greater proportion of respondents were not confident in working with patients with LEP in a telehealth encounter compared to an in-person encounter (Figure 2).

Figure 2. Confidence performing clinical tasks when caring for patients with LEP by clinical setting. Comparing medical students' self-reported confidence in performing 8 patient-centered tasks during in-person versus telehealth encounters with patients with LEP. Percentages reflect only those who rated their confidence in performing clinical tasks in both settings with patients who have LEP (N=61-64). **P*<.05 (Wilcoxon signed-rank test, see Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2). DM: diabetes; LEP: limited English proficiency.

data).



Secondary Outcomes

Frequency of Performing Patient-Centered Clinical Tasks

For both in-person and telehealth encounters, more than 40% of respondents reported completing each of the 5 patient-centered clinical tasks less frequently with patients with LEP than with English-speaking patients (Table 3). Specifically, 78% (46/59) and 66% (39/59) of respondents reported asking

about patients' nonmedical interests less frequently when the patient had LEP during in-person and telehealth encounters, respectively. The distribution of relative frequencies for all 5 tasks did not differ by clinical setting (P>.05; see Table S3 in Multimedia Appendix 2 for the chi-square test results).

However, these differences were only significant for developing

trust (P < .001), identifying the patient's agenda (P = .005),

eliciting patient preferences for DM management (P=.01), and

empowering the patient in lifestyle modifications for DM

(P=.04; see Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2 for complete

None of the primary or secondary outcomes discussed above were associated with languages spoken by the respondent or number of previous encounters with patients with LEP (P>.05).

Table 3. Medical students performing clinical tasks less frequently with patients with LEP compared to English-speaking patients.

Task	In-person encounters, n (%)	Telehealth encounters, n (%)
Perform teach-back	30 (52)	31 (53)
Make a personal connection	26 (44)	27 (46)
Determine beliefs about diagnosis and workup	24 (41)	24 (41)
Discuss details of social history	26 (44)	29 (49)
Asking about patients' nonmedical interests	46 (78)	39 (66)



RenderX

JMIR Med Educ 2022 | vol. 8 | iss. 3 |e36096 | p.197 (page number not for citation purposes)

Barriers to Working With Interpreters: Qualitative Results

A total of 54 of the 72 respondents (75%) answered the qualitative survey questions. All mentioned at least one barrier to in-person care for patients with LEP, including time pressure, interpreter quality and access, technical difficulties, cultural

Table 4. Barriers to care for patients with limited English proficiency.

Themes	Respondent	quote
--------	------------	-------

Time

Subtheme 1: Additional time needed when working with an interpreter

"Using [working with] an interpreter inherent[ly] prolongs the length of an appointment, oftentimes by more than double what it would take with an English-speaking patient. As such, certain topics that are deemed less essential are often left out in discussions..."

Subtheme 2: Direct observation and technical difficulties add to sense of time pressure in telehealth visits

"Sometimes I feel like...on the televisit, the preceptor is watching impatiently (usually I have time in the room alone with the patient and interpreter and don't feel as rushed)."

Quality of interpretation

"I speak Spanish and Farsi though I am not certified, so I use [work with] an interpreter each time as required. I have found that occasionally, what I try to communicate is not interpreted as medically desired."

"In Spanish which I'm generally accustomed to the visits are quicker, I can understand the patient, I know how the interpreter will interpret...so there is less to wonder about. In other languages it can be harder to know that everyone is on the same page."

Cultural differences not mitigated by language

"I was in the room with a provider and a Hindi speaking patient. The patient kept shaking head when provider spoke. In their culture, that means yes...But the provider thought it meant no, disagree and so got frustrated."

Access to interpreters: unfamiliar protocols or limited resources

"There are some languages that it is impossible to get an interpreter for in the needed time frame."

"We have really struggled to get ASL interpreters for either in-person or telehealth encounters...Some [Deaf patients] have apparently been told to just bring their own interpreter with them."

Technical difficulties: with audio, video connection, etc

"Some phone interpreters we cannot hear very well and limit the time for discussion."

Building rapport

Subtheme 1: Difficult when speaking through a third party

"I feel that the personal connection that I am able to build with patients is significantly impaired when I am using [working with] an interpreter despite the fact that I try to follow best practices..."

"These barriers are similar but magnified [in telehealth] - it's even harder to assess patient understanding and ... form a bond/connection with the patient."

Subtheme 2: Deprioritized due to time pressure

"When using [working with] an interpreter the consultation tends to take longer and our encounter, therefore, at times must be more focused and big-picture to make sure we are seeing all clinic patients in a timely manner. There is less time to go through all the details in just one encounter."

Navigating own language skills

"...sometimes I have patients say that my Spanish is fine for them... I am just not as fluent as I'd like to be and I worry that patients are too polite to ask for an interpreter after we've already started the visit."

Telehealth only: loss of nonverbal cues and objective data to support communication

"With telehealth encounters, you lose body language, eye contact, gestures between you and the patient...and the ability to use physical exam to add to your assessment (if I have less knowledge about their foot injury, I'm less confident communicating it to the patient...)."



differences, and difficulty with rapport building (Table 4). When asked how these barriers might differ for telehealth encounters, students reported barriers were the same or exacerbated, with specific concerns for the loss of nonverbal cues and physical exam data to inform clinical decision-making as additional barriers. In addition, 24% of respondents (13/54) said they have not had enough telehealth encounters to speak from experience.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Our study found that advanced medical students were significantly less confident caring for patients with LEP via telehealth than in-person settings. Moreover, students were significantly less confident developing trust, identifying an agenda, eliciting preferences for management, and empowering patients in lifestyle modifications when caring for patients with LEP virtually compared to in person.

Prior literature has shown that trainees feel less prepared to care for patients with LEP [34]; our findings demonstrate that, although telehealth is a more novel care modality, this gap persists in the virtual setting, and may even be greater, as indicated by the lower confidence reported by participants in this study. Compared with previous studies, however, a greater percentage of students in our sample were confident or very confident in working with interpreters in person [29]. This may reflect institutional differences in education or patient diversity, or a small sample biased toward participation from students interested in culturally and linguistically appropriate care.

A major strength of our study is the breakdown of confidence into specific clinical tasks based on gradation in the complexity of communication skills. Although students reported a lower overall confidence in providing telehealth to patients with LEP, our study provides insights on which specific aspects of the clinical encounter may be more difficult through telehealth. Specifically, tasks such as developing trust or identifying the patient's agenda and preferences for management may explain the lower confidence while more direct tasks such as assessing medication adherence may be less impacted by the telehealth modality. We found that the overall lower confidence students felt around telehealth care for patients with LEP may be accounted for by some tasks, but not others. According to students' qualitative responses, loss of nonverbal cues in telehealth is a major barrier; lack of ability to read and portray facial expressions, hand gestures, and other emotional signals may explain perceived challenges with developing trust. This loss is felt more acutely in phone encounters, which patients with LEP are more likely to receive [35]. For the more complex tasks that involve eliciting, processing, and applying information from patients with LEP (eg, eliciting preferences, empowering patients), variation in interpretation quality and time pressure may be barriers to confidence.

Limitations

This study is limited by the low response rate, small sample size, and single-institution survey, which may restrict a broader application of our findings. Additionally, like many other studies in the field, we have chosen to use a self-reported measure as a proxy for true proficiency [26-29,34]. Although self-assessment is inconsistently correlated with competency [36], there is evidence that providers tend to overestimate their competence working with interpreters [37], suggesting that medical students may be even less prepared to care for patients with LEP than our results have shown. Finally, there may have been factors that we did not account for, such as length of relationship and familiarity with the interpreter, that may influence student confidence.

Future Directions and Conclusion

In summary, our study demonstrated that self-efficacy and confidence for working with interpreters in the in-person setting were not automatically transferred to the telehealth setting. Additionally, while effective curricula already exist for guiding learners toward best practices for in-person care for patients with LEP, it is unclear whether these curricula are consistently implemented [21]. This lack of education is a possible explanation for why patients with language barriers experience lower quality care [38]. Thus, to better serve our increasingly diversifying patient population, educators should work to adopt these proven curricula while simultaneously building intentional, skills-based sessions [39] that consider the unique challenges that patients with language barriers might face in telehealth encounters. For example, our study highlights several competencies where students may benefit from specific guidance, such as developing patient rapport and cocreating a management plan while working within the constraints of virtual settings. Although this study conducted during the early stages of the COVID-19-driven telehealth expansion used self-competency measures, we recommend that these future interventions be evaluated with knowledge assessments [20], clinical performance scales [40], and other objective tools so we can continue to identify and propagate truly effective curricula.

Finally, it is critical to recognize that provider education is necessary but not sufficient for bridging the gap experienced by linguistically diverse patients [41]. At the policy level, the Joint Commission or other regulatory agencies could develop minimum standards for interpreter quality, including a uniform certification process. Institutions such as universities and hospitals should recruit and support adequate numbers of interpreters as well as bilingual clinicians; this could include appropriate compensation as well as enforcement of universal language access policies across settings. Such steps are essential to ensure that patients with LEP truly receive the best quality of care.

As the COVID-19 pandemic introduces permanent changes to health care delivery, we must ensure that the next generation of providers is prepared to close, not widen, disparities for diverse patient populations.

Acknowledgments

Research reported in this publication was partially supported by the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute of the National Institutes of Health under award numbers K12HL138046 and K23HL157750. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.



Authors' Contributions

LY, FN, ECK, MR, MW, SC, AF, and MEG had substantial contributions to the conception of the work. FN and LY led acquisition and interpretation of the data with guidance from AF and ECK. FN and LY drafted the work and MW, MR, SC, AF, MEG, and ECK revised it critically for important intellectual content.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Survey. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 376 KB - mededu v8i3e36096 app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Supplementary tables. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 129 KB - mededu v8i3e36096 app2.pdf]

References

- Thomas EE, Haydon HM, Mehrotra A, Caffery LJ, Snoswell CL, Banbury A, et al. Building on the momentum: Sustaining telehealth beyond COVID-19. J Telemed Telecare 2022 May;28(4):301-308. [doi: <u>10.1177/1357633X20960638</u>] [Medline: <u>32985380</u>]
- 2. Monthly Telehealth Regional Tracker. Fairhealth. URL: <u>http://www.fairhealth.org/states-by-the-numbers/telehealth</u> [accessed 2021-12-24]
- Patel SY, Mehrotra A, Huskamp HA, Uscher-Pines L, Ganguli I, Barnett ML. Trends in outpatient care delivery and telemedicine during the COVID-19 pandemic in the US. JAMA Intern Med 2021 Mar 01;181(3):388-391 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.5928] [Medline: 33196765]
- 4. Katzow MW, Steinway C, Jan S. Telemedicine and health disparities during COVID-19. Pediatrics 2020 Aug;146(2):e20201586. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2020-1586] [Medline: 32747592]
- Nouri S, Khoong E, Lyles C, Karliner L. Addressing equity in telemedicine for chronic disease management during the Covid-19 pandemic. NEJM Catal Innov Care Deliv. 2020 May 04. URL: <u>https://catalyst.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/CAT.</u> 20.0123 [accessed 2021-12-26]
- Jaffe DH, Lee L, Huynh S, Haskell TP. Health inequalities in the use of telehealth in the United States in the lens of COVID-19. Popul Health Manag 2020 Oct;23(5):368-377. [doi: <u>10.1089/pop.2020.0186</u>] [Medline: <u>32816644</u>]
- 7. Selected social characteristics in the United States. US Census Bureau. URL: <u>https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=dp02&tid=ACSDP5Y2019.DP02</u> [accessed 2021-12-24]
- Diamond L, Izquierdo K, Canfield D, Matsoukas K, Gany F. A systematic review of the impact of patient-physician non-English language concordance on quality of care and outcomes. J Gen Intern Med 2019 Aug;34(8):1591-1606 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-019-04847-5] [Medline: 31147980]
- Lu T, Myerson R. Disparities in health insurance coverage and access to care by English language proficiency in the USA, 2006-2016. J Gen Intern Med 2020 May;35(5):1490-1497 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-019-05609-z] [Medline: 31898137]
- 10. Ponce NA, Hays RD, Cunningham WE. Linguistic disparities in health care access and health status among older adults. J Gen Intern Med 2006 Jul;21(7):786-791 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1525-1497.2006.00491.x] [Medline: 16808783]
- 11. Shi L, Lebrun LA, Tsai J. The influence of English proficiency on access to care. Ethn Health 2009 Dec;14(6):625-642. [doi: 10.1080/13557850903248639] [Medline: 19953393]
- 12. Rodriguez JA, Saadi A, Schwamm LH, Bates DW, Samal L. Disparities in telehealth use among California patients with limited English proficiency. Health Aff (Millwood) 2021 Mar;40(3):487-495. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2020.00823] [Medline: 33646862]
- 13. Eberly LA, Kallan MJ, Julien HM, Haynes N, Khatana SAM, Nathan AS, et al. Patient characteristics associated with telemedicine access for primary and specialty ambulatory care during the COVID-19 pandemic. JAMA Netw Open 2020 Dec 01;3(12):e2031640 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.31640] [Medline: 33372974]
- Eberly LA, Khatana SAM, Nathan AS, Snider C, Julien HM, Deleener ME, et al. Telemedicine outpatient cardiovascular care during the COVID-19 pandemic: bridging or opening the digital divide? Circulation 2020 Aug 04;142(5):510-512 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.048185] [Medline: 32510987]
- 15. Flores G. The impact of medical interpreter services on the quality of health care: a systematic review. Med Care Res Rev 2005 Jun;62(3):255-299. [doi: 10.1177/1077558705275416] [Medline: 15894705]
- Karliner LS, Jacobs EA, Chen AH, Mutha S. Do professional interpreters improve clinical care for patients with limited English proficiency? A systematic review of the literature. Health Serv Res 2007 Apr;42(2):727-754 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1475-6773.2006.00629.x] [Medline: 17362215]

- Parker MM, Fernández A, Moffet HH, Grant RW, Torreblanca A, Karter AJ. Association of patient-physician language concordance and glycemic control for limited-English proficiency Latinos with type 2 diabetes. JAMA Intern Med 2017 Mar 01;177(3):380-387 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2016.8648] [Medline: 28114680]
- Schulson LB, Anderson TS. National estimates of professional interpreter use in the ambulatory setting. J Gen Intern Med 2022 Feb;37(2):472-474. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11606-020-06336-6</u>] [Medline: <u>33140275</u>]
- Lee KC, Winickoff JP, Kim MK, Campbell EG, Betancourt JR, Park ER, et al. Resident physicians' use of professional and nonprofessional interpreters: a national survey. JAMA 2006 Sep 06;296(9):1050-1053. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.296.9.1050</u>] [Medline: <u>16954482</u>]
- 20. Shriner CJ, Hickey DP. Teaching and assessing family medicine clerks' use of medical interpreters. Fam Med 2008 May;40(5):313-315 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 18465276]
- Himmelstein J, Wright WS, Wiederman MW. U.S. medical school curricula on working with medical interpreters and/or patients with limited English proficiency. Adv Med Educ Pract 2018;9:729-733 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/AMEP.S176028] [Medline: 30319306]
- Gordon M, Patricio M, Horne L, Muston A, Alston SR, Pammi M, et al. Developments in medical education in response to the COVID-19 pandemic: A rapid BEME systematic review: BEME Guide No. 63. Med Teach 2020 Nov;42(11):1202-1215. [doi: 10.1080/0142159X.2020.1807484] [Medline: 32847456]
- Mulcare M, Naik N, Greenwald P, Schullstrom K, Gogia K, Clark S, et al. Advanced communication and examination skills in telemedicine: a structured simulation-based course for medical students. MedEdPORTAL 2020 Dec 17;16:11047 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15766/mep_2374-8265.11047] [Medline: 33365390]
- 24. Iancu AM, Kemp MT, Alam HB. Unmuting medical students' education: utilizing telemedicine during the COVID-19 pandemic and beyond. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jul 20;22(7):e19667 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19667] [Medline: 32614776]
- 25. Waseh S, Dicker AP. Telemedicine training in undergraduate medical education: mixed-methods review. JMIR Med Educ 2019 Apr 08;5(1):e12515 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12515] [Medline: 30958269]
- 26. Williams M, Lewis B, Hauer KE, Fernandez A. Let's work together: residents' perceived ability to communicate management of chronic disease with patients with limited English proficiency. In: Journal of General Internal Medicine. 2019 May Presented at: 2019 Annual Meeting of Society of General Internal Medicine; May 2019; Washington, DC URL: <u>https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/s11606-019-05007-5.pdf</u>
- Park ER, Chun MBJ, Betancourt JR, Green AR, Weissman JS. Measuring residents' perceived preparedness and skillfulness to deliver cross-cultural care. J Gen Intern Med 2009 Sep;24(9):1053-1056 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-009-1046-1] [Medline: 19557481]
- Thompson DA, Hernandez RG, Cowden JD, Sisson SD, Moon M. Caring for patients with limited English proficiency: are residents prepared to use medical interpreters? Acad Med 2013 Oct;88(10):1485-1492. [doi: 10.1097/ACM.0b013e3182a3479d] [Medline: 23969358]
- 29. Rodriguez F, Cohen A, Betancourt JR, Green AR. Evaluation of medical student self-rated preparedness to care for limited English proficiency patients. BMC Med Educ 2011 Jun 01;11:26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6920-11-26] [Medline: 21631943]
- Shapiro J, Hollingshead J, Morrison E. Self-perceived attitudes and skills of cultural competence: a comparison of family medicine and internal medicine residents. Med Teach 2003 May;25(3):327-329. [doi: <u>10.1080/0142159031000100454</u>] [Medline: <u>12881060</u>]
- 31. Gottlieb M, Chan TM, Zaver F, Ellaway R. Confidence-competence alignment and the role of self-confidence in medical education: A conceptual review. Med Educ 2022 Jan;56(1):37-47. [doi: 10.1111/medu.14592] [Medline: 34176144]
- 32. Artino AR. Academic self-efficacy: from educational theory to instructional practice. Perspect Med Educ 2012 May;1(2):76-85 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40037-012-0012-5] [Medline: 23316462]
- Chapman AL, Hadfield M, Chapman CJ. Qualitative research in healthcare: an introduction to grounded theory using thematic analysis. J R Coll Physicians Edinb 2015;45(3):201-205. [doi: <u>10.4997/JRCPE.2015.305</u>] [Medline: <u>26517098</u>]
- 34. Weissman JS, Betancourt J, Campbell EG, Park ER, Kim M, Clarridge B, et al. Resident physicians' preparedness to provide cross-cultural care. JAMA 2005 Sep 07;294(9):1058-1067. [doi: 10.1001/jama.294.9.1058] [Medline: 16145026]
- Rodriguez JA, Betancourt JR, Sequist TD, Ganguli I. Differences in the use of telephone and video telemedicine visits during the COVID-19 pandemic. Am J Manag Care 2021 Jan;27(1):21-26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.37765/ajmc.2021.88573] [Medline: 33471458]
- Davis DA, Mazmanian PE, Fordis M, Van Harrison R, Thorpe KE, Perrier L. Accuracy of physician self-assessment compared with observed measures of competence: a systematic review. JAMA 2006 Sep 06;296(9):1094-1102. [doi: 10.1001/jama.296.9.1094] [Medline: 16954489]
- Hudelson P, Perneger T, Kolly V, Perron NJ. Self-assessed competency at working with a medical interpreter is not associated with knowledge of good practice. PLoS One 2012;7(6):e38973 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0038973] [Medline: 22715421]

- 38. Green AR, Ngo-Metzger Q, Legedza ATR, Massagli MP, Phillips RS, Iezzoni LI. Interpreter services, language concordance, and health care quality. Experiences of Asian Americans with limited English proficiency. J Gen Intern Med 2005 Nov;20(11):1050-1056 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1525-1497.2005.0223.x] [Medline: 16307633]
- 39. Jacobs EA, Diamond LC, Stevak L. The importance of teaching clinicians when and how to work with interpreters. Patient Educ Couns 2010 Feb;78(2):149-153. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2009.12.001] [Medline: 20036480]
- 40. Lie D, Bereknyei S, Braddock CH, Encinas J, Ahearn S, Boker JR. Assessing medical students' skills in working with interpreters during patient encounters: a validation study of the Interpreter Scale. Acad Med 2009 May;84(5):643-650. [doi: 10.1097/ACM.0b013e31819faec8] [Medline: 19704202]
- 41. Khoong EC, Fernandez A. Addressing gaps in interpreter use: time for implementation science informed multi-level interventions. J Gen Intern Med 2021 Nov;36(11):3532-3536. [doi: 10.1007/s11606-021-06823-4] [Medline: 33948799]

Abbreviations

DM: diabetes mellitus **LEP:** limited English proficiency

Edited by N Zary; submitted 31.12.21; peer-reviewed by E Thomas, S Sabarguna; comments to author 16.03.22; revised version received 10.05.22; accepted 21.07.22; published 11.08.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Yin L, Ng F, Rutherford-Rojas M, Williams M, Cornes S, Fernandez A, Garcia ME, Khoong EC Assessing Medical Student Readiness to Navigate Language Barriers in Telehealth: Cross-sectional Survey Study JMIR Med Educ 2022;8(3):e36096

URL: <u>https://mededu.jmir.org/2022/3/e36096</u> doi:<u>10.2196/36096</u> PMID:<u>35969421</u>

©Leena Yin, Fiona Ng, Mateo Rutherford-Rojas, Mia Williams, Susannah Cornes, Alicia Fernandez, Maria E Garcia, Elaine C Khoong. Originally published in JMIR Medical Education (https://mededu.jmir.org), 11.08.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Education on https://mededu.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

